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Introduction

UDG Healthcare plc  
is a leading international 
partner of choice delivering 
commercial, clinical, 
communication and 
packaging services to  
the healthcare industry. 
Improving
the lives of patients through our Values: Quality, Partnership, 
Ingenuity, Expertise and Energy. 

Transforming
our business to be fit for purpose for the next phase of our 
development, with investment in our people, our processes  
and our services.

Growing 
our client base and service offering to maximise the return  
to shareholders through organic growth and acquisitions. 
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*   All references to ‘operating profit’ and ‘earnings per share’ 
included in the Strategic Report are stated excluding the 
amortisation of acquired intangible assets, transaction 
costs and exceptional items.

Highlights of the Year

Results reflecting our 
transformative journey

Delivering growth

Profit before tax*

€91.6m
+10%

Ashfield operating profit*

€63.6m
+7%

Aquilant operating profit*

€6.2m
-14%

Sharp operating profit*

€34.4m
+16%

Continuing Group operating profit* (€m)

€104.2m 
+8%

Non-GAAP information
The highlights disclosed above relate to the Group’s continuing operations adjusted for amortisation of acquired intangible 
assets, transaction costs and exceptional items. The Group reports certain financial measures that are not required under 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which represent the generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
under which the Group reports. The Group believes that the presentation of these non-GAAP measures provides useful 
supplemental information which, when viewed in conjunction with our IFRS financial information, provides investors with  
a more meaningful understanding of the underlying financial and operating performance of the Group and its divisions. 
These measures are also used internally to evaluate the historical and planned future performance of the Group’s operations 
and to measure executive management’s performance based remuneration. Reference to these performance measurements 
throughout this report are to the adjusted measurements unless otherwise stated. 

These non-GAAP financial measures are primarily used for the following purposes:
• to evaluate the historical and planned underlying results of our operations;
• to set director and management remuneration; and
• to communicate the Group’s performance to the investment community.

Please see further information and definitions on pages 172 to 176.

Sharp

Ash�eld

Ashfield 

Sharp

Aquilant
Aquilant

Operating margin*

11.1%
+57bps

Proposed dividend

11.55c
+5%

Diluted earnings per share* (EPS)

28.61c
+8% 
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Ash�eld Sharp

At a Glance

What we do
The Group has three divisions delivering  
services to the healthcare industry:

Where we operate
Ashfield
Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, China, 
Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Italy, Japan, 
Norway, Portugal, Republic of Ireland, Spain, Sweden, Turkey, 
United Kingdom, United States

Sharp
Belgium, the Netherlands, Republic of Ireland, United Kingdom, 
United States

Operating margin %

10.9%
% of Group profit

61.0%
Operating margin %

12.9%
% of Group profit

33.0%

Employees 

6,300
Contact centre staff

600
Employees 

1,800
Serialisation projects

35 

A global leader in contract packaging 
and clinical trial supply services  

Services:

Commercial packaging in multiple formats including 
bottling, blistering, biotech and kitting

Clinical trial services from pre-clinical through  
to commercialisation including Interactive Response 
Technology (IRT) 

Packaging design, labelling and printing solutions  
and industry-leading serialisation solution ‘Track and 
Trace’ Compliance

A global leader in commercial, clinical 
and communication services 

Services:

Commercialisation and clinical services including 
sales representatives, nursing services, contact 
centres, and meetings and events

Providing scientific communication content, advisory 
and patient-centred services

Medical information and commercial audit services

Turnover by region (€) Turnover by region (€)

385.5m 44.9m199.0m 221.5m
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Aquilant

What we stand for
Our Values unite us in how we  
deliver our mission and vision.

Aquilant
Republic of Ireland, the Netherlands, United Kingdom

Quality
For us only the best is good enough.

Read more on page 29

Partnership
We build on trust through  
delivering on our promises.

Read more on page 27

Expertise
Together we have a wealth  
of knowledge and skills built  
over many years.

Read more on page 35

Ingenuity
We are committed to solving  
problems and resourceful  
thinking every day.

Read more on page 33

Energy
We achieve our clients’ goals  
with imagination and passion. 

Read more on page 39

Operating margin %

6.7%
% of Group profit

6.0%

Employees

250 
Number of units sold 

3,101,000 

A leading provider of outsourced services 
to the medical and scientific sector 

Services:

Medical and scientific device sales, marketing, 
engineering and distribution in areas such as endoscopy, 
cardiology, radiology, surgical and orthopaedics

Turnover by region (€)

92.2m
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Chairman’s Statement
Peter Gray

Investing  
for growth
Strong organic growth continues and capital  
reinvestment begins in a challenging  
macroeconomic environment.

OVERVIEW
The year to 30 September 2016 has 
been a year of excellent progress,  
with good organic growth continuing 
while all the major announcements 
made late last year were finalised and 
the reinvestment of the capital released 
was begun. 

Revenue growth was 3% in our 
continuing businesses, while adjusted 
profit before tax grew 10% and adjusted 
earnings per share grew 8%. They also 
generated €85.2 million of operating 
cash flow, and the return on capital 
employed (ROCE) in the continuing 
businesses was 13.7% compared to 
13.5% last year (see page 17).

Total earnings per share including 
discontinued businesses increased  
only slightly compared to last year 
arising from the sale of our supply 
chain businesses and pending the 
reinvestment of the proceeds. 
Nonetheless, we are proposing a  
5% increase in the dividend to 11.55 
cents per share as we have excellent 
liquidity, and are confident we will 
increase earnings materially as we 
reinvest our capital. 

From last year’s announcements,  
the sale of our Irish pharmaceutical 
wholesale and distribution businesses 
to McKesson was completed in April, 
releasing €365.5 million in cash after 
all expenses and taxes and generating 
an exceptional profit of €132.1 million. 
In addition, the CEO handover 
occurred in February, which was a  
little earlier than originally announced 
– a pragmatic decision made on the 
grounds that an effective handover had 
at that stage been excellently achieved 
by Liam FitzGerald and Brendan 
McAtamney, and the organisation was 
ready. I will again pay tribute to Liam 
who seamlessly passed the baton to 
Brendan and continued to support and 
assist Brendan up the end of September, 
when he stepped down from the Board, 
as previously announced.

One of the consequences of the  
sale of the Supply Chain business  
in Northern Ireland was that our 
minority investment in Medicare,  
a large pharmacy chain, no longer 
made strategic sense. Thus, we have 
begun a process of disposing of this 
holding and in doing so, the results are 
now treated as discontinued and we 
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be the best reporting currency for 
the future. Unfortunately, currency 
volatility may make comparisons less 
clear in 2017, but for the long term 
we believe this to be the right decision.

GOVERNANCE
During the year we had a review of 
the Board conducted by external 
experts, the second such exercise 
we’ve undertaken in the last three 
years, and were pleased with the 
overall positive assessment. We  
have some work to do to ensure  
that the remit of the Nominations  
& Governance Committee and  
the Risk, Investment & Financing 
Committee are fully understood  
by and communicated to the Board 
(for more detail about this review  
see page 61).

The Board continues to run smoothly 
and effectively, with good, informed 
debate taking place around our major 
decisions. In June, recognising the 
increasing importance of the US 
market, we added a new non-
executive director who is based in the 
US and works in the pharmaceutical 
industry. Nancy Miller-Rich is a 
seasoned executive, who has already 
brought interesting and valuable 
perspectives to our discussions. 

As recently announced, Chris Corbin, 
the founder of Ashfield and head of 
what has become the largest division in 
the Group, has indicated his intention 
to retire in 2019, giving the Group 
plenty of time to ensure a smooth 
succession. He will remain a director 
at least until he steps down in 2019. 

Philip Toomey, Chair of the Audit 
Committee and Senior Independent 
Director, will have been a director  
for nine years in February 2017.  
The Board has determined that he 
remains independent and has asked 
him to remain on the Board for a 
further year. Nonetheless, to avoid  
any negative recommendations  
from proxy voting advisors, we have 
decided to recruit a further non-
executive director, and to appoint a 
new Chair to the Audit Committee. We 
are using an independent recruitment 
consultant to search for international 
and plc experienced, Irish-based, 
financially qualified candidates,  
and expect to announce a further 
appointment in the near future.

We are placing our Remuneration 
Policy, only slightly amended, before 
you at the upcoming AGM. The 
appointment of a new CEO prompted 
us to do considerable work to evaluate 
our pay levels. As a result, we have 
made some amendments which we 
believe are appropriate, taking into 
account there had only been a 1% 
increase in CEO pay over the last  
eight years during which profits grew 
56% and our market capitalisation 
increased by 133%, while the Group’s 
complexity and geographic spread 
developed significantly. The details  
of the changes we have made are set 
out in the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report, and these are supported 
unanimously by the Board.

A lot of attention nowadays is being 
focussed on the importance of culture 
in organisations. We believe that a 
positive, open and honest culture is a 
trademark of our Company and vital 
to our future success. While primary 
responsibility for the creation and 
nurturing of this culture lies with  
the management team, the Board is 
cognisant of its role in supporting this 
and in seeking evidence that the right 
culture is being fostered. By its nature 
this tends to be informal, but we 
intend to do more in this regard in  
the coming year.

OUTLOOK
Excluding currency translation 
impacts arising from recent currency 
volatility, we expect to achieve  
further good organic growth in the 
continuing businesses in 2017 even 
while making significant investments 
in building our management, IT and 
physical infrastructure. The latter are 
designed to ensure the Group has the 
systems and structures necessary to 
support its growth as it expands and 
makes further acquisitions in the 
months and years ahead. With a good 
flow of acquisition opportunities, we 
plan to further enhance earnings as 
we redeploy our available capital.

Peter Gray
Chairman

decided to write down the value  
of our investment.

We are now a more focused Group 
with capital to deploy, and the 
management and Board have put 
considerable work into further 
refining our strategic plans and 
evaluating several significant strategic 
opportunities. As part of this process 
we engaged outside experts to gain 
more insight into the key drivers of  
the markets in which we operate and 
those we plan to enter, to ensure our 
next steps are the best we can take to 
drive growth and build competitive 
advantage. Our first acquisitions 
following the disposal of the Supply 
Chain businesses were Pegasus  
(in April) and STEM Marketing (in 
October) which fit excellently with 
this objective. We are pleased that  
we continue to see a strong flow of 
opportunities, large and not so large, 
some of which are challenging us to 
define our risk appetite more clearly.

Of course further challenges exist 
which are outside our control. The 
UK’s decision to leave the European 
Union (Brexit) has disrupted financial 
markets, and particularly the currency 
markets. With approximately 41%  
of our continuing profits currently 
generated in the UK market, the value 
of these earnings as expressed in Euro 
or US Dollars has been eroded by the 
fall in Sterling, an effect which will 
become more apparent in our results 
in 2017 if rates remain as they are. Of 
course as we invest in new businesses 
we expect the percentage of profits 
earned in the UK to fall, but the 
broader impacts of Brexit are still 
unknown. We do not expect material 
impacts on our trading per se but 
cannot predict how Brexit will impact 
economic growth in the UK itself,  
in Europe and globally. 

Following the sale of the Irish 
businesses, the percentage of our 
profits earned in Euro reduced 
significantly and it thus no longer 
made sense to continue reporting 
our results in that currency. With 
over 50% (and growing) of our 
profits generated in the US, with  
the US being the largest outsourced 
pharmaceutical services market,  
and with a strong flow of acquisition 
opportunities arising there, we 
decided that the US Dollar would 

ROCE
For more  
information  
on ROCE,  
turn to page 17.
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Chief Executive’s Review
Brendan McAtamney

Improving, 
transforming 
and growing
2016 saw the UDG Healthcare Group deliver good underlying 
growth as we continue to transform our business.

OVERVIEW AND MARKET 
I am pleased to present my first  
Chief Executive’s Review and report 
that 2016 has seen the positive 
transformation of UDG Healthcare 
continue. These changes have 
positioned us for continued  
growth into the next phase of  
our development. 

Profit before tax was up 10% and  
EPS was 8% ahead of 2015. The  
sale of our United Drug Supply  
Chain businesses and MASTA to the 
McKesson Corporation has further 
advanced our transition to higher 
margin and higher growth activities. 
We are now focussed on growing  
our Ashfield, Sharp and Aquilant 
divisions by leveraging their strong 
international platforms. We will 
remain focussed on strong organic 
growth and will supplement this with 
complementary asset acquisition. In 
doing so we believe we will continue 
to drive sustainable value creation for  
our shareholders.

Improving 
the lives of patients through Quality,  
Partnership, Ingenuity, Expertise and Energy

Transforming 
our business to be fit for purpose for  
the next phase of our development

Growing 
our client base and service offering  
to maximise the return to shareholders
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The vision of UDG Healthcare is to 
improve the lives of patients around 
the world every day by partnering with 
and providing innovative solutions for 
our pharmaceutical and healthcare 
clients. As we express that vision we 
continue to evolve our strategy, which 
is to capitalise on an increasing trend 
among pharmaceutical and healthcare 
companies to outsource non-core and 
specialist activities on an international 
basis. I am pleased to report that in 
2016 we made significant progress in 
delivering this strategy. Our clients are 
also changing to meet patient needs 
and increasingly looking for us to help 
them deliver more patient-centric 
solutions, frequently in a digital form. 
We are well placed to meet those 
needs in both creative and innovative 
ways given the scale, scope and 
geographic reach of our businesses.

In 2016 we made progress across a 
number of fronts:

• The overall Group adjusted 
operating profit grew by 8%  
and it was very pleasing that  
the two main growth platforms  
of Ashfield and Sharp, which 
account for 90% of overall profit, 
grew by an aggregated 10%. The 
overall Group adjusted operating 
margin also grew significantly  
to 11.1%.

• The disposal of the United  
Drug Supply Chain and MASTA 
businesses was completed  
in April. This means that the 
Group is well positioned, with  
an end of year €128.3 million net 
cash position, to continue our 
corporate development activities 
thereby complementing our 
underlying organic growth.

• We delivered two acquisitions  
in calendar year 2016, Pegasus 
Public Relations, a UK-based 
integrated communications 
agency in April and STEM 
Marketing Limited, a leading 
global provider of commercial 
and medical audits to 
pharmaceutical companies, 
operating in 35 countries, 
in October.

DIVISIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
ASHFIELD
Ashfield has delivered another 
successful year with operating profits 
increasing by 7% across the division. 

Ashfield Commercial & Clinical:
Ashfield has been providing 
outsourced sales force, nursing and 
contact centre solutions for over 20 
years and in the last year significant 
progress has been made in evolving 
our service offer, introducing new 
innovative commercial models and 
winning larger contracts, particularly 
with global clients. 

The US business has secured a 
number of significant new contracts 
and we now work with 12 out of the 
top 15 US pharmaceutical companies. 
Due to the rapid expansion of the 
business, Ashfield’s US headquarters 
will move to a new corporate head 
office in Pennsylvania with larger, 
enhanced office, meeting and 
training facilities, which will ensure 
we are better equipped to meet our 
clients’ needs.

In Europe we had another year of 
incremental profit and margin growth 
with contracts being secured not  
only on a multi-country basis but also 
multi-channel, meaning a variety of 
services being sold in addition to the 
base sales representative offering. 
One of our newer solutions 
introduced was a customer service 
representative model which was 
implemented in a number of countries 
and was seen as a clear differentiator 
for Ashfield versus its competition.

Our Japanese joint venture,  
CMIC Ashfield, which launched  
on 1 October 2014, continues to 
progress strongly and is now the 
second largest contract sales 
organisation in Japan. During 2016, 
the business launched several new 
service offerings including a contact 
centre and a new syndicated sales 
representative offering and both 
have been performing very well. 

Our vision  
is to improve 
the lives of 
patients  
around  
the world, 
every day.

Revenue

€943.1m
+3%

Operating profit

€104.2m
+8%

Adjusted diluted EPS

28.61c
+8%

Net cash

€128.3m
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Ashfield Communications: 
Ashfield Communications had 
another strong year in 2016 with 
significant business wins contributing 
to the positive performance. We have 
continued to broaden our range  
of high value service offerings by  
fully integrating digital solutions, 
increasingly with an additional 
patient-centred approach. Across  
the globe we now have more than 
1,300 employees working in the 
communications group with 
significant expertise in the largest 
disease and therapeutic areas.

The Group acquired Pegasus Public 
Relations Limited in April 2016,  
for an initial consideration of £10.1 
million with an additional £6.7 million 
payable, based on the achievement 
of agreed profit targets over the next 
three years. Pegasus is a UK-based 
integrated communications agency 
complementing the existing services 
provided by Ashfield Communications. 
We are pleased with the performance 
of the business so far, excited by  
the talented new employees joining 
our Group and also the additional 
capability this acquisition brings, 
particularly in the digital and social 
media space.

SHARP
Sharp delivered another year of 
strong performance in 2016 with 
operating profits up by 16% and 
operating margin up to 12.9%.

In the US our strong performance 
was driven by organic growth on the 
back of our market leading position 
in the delivery of packaging solutions 
to our clients. This year saw us 
increase our packaging capacity by 
30% with a $45 million investment in 
Allentown, Pennsylvania, our second 
major expansion within this campus 
since 2014. This new expansion went 
live in June and has enabled us to 
arrange our business around four 
main facilities which allowed the 
creation of centres of excellence  
for Biotech, Blistering, Bottling 
and Clinical.

In Europe the realignment of the  
cost base continued and, whilst  
we had hoped for higher volumes 
flowing through the facilities, we  
saw some improvement, particularly 
in the second half of the year. We 
completed an FDA inspection of our 
Belgian facility where I am pleased  
to say that we were re-certified.  
The Board has also approved a new 
facility for our clinical business in 
South Wales, UK. Both will provide 
strong support for business 
development going forward.

Sharp also continued to invest in 
serialisation in advance of legislative 
requirements in 2017. To date we 
have serialised over three billion units 
across four of our sites and currently 
run 35 programmes for our clients. 

AQUILANT
Aquilant is a leading provider of 
outsourced sales, marketing, 
distribution and engineering services 
to the medical and scientific sectors in 
the UK, Ireland and the Netherlands. 
This year was challenging with 
revenue 8% behind the prior year, 
however, adjusting for the closure of 
Aquilant’s UK laboratory business in 
February 2015 and negative currency 
movements, underlying revenue was 
in line with the prior year. 

Aquilant renewed a number of 
important client contracts during  
the period, added a record 12 new 
agencies to its portfolio, upgraded  
its distribution facilities and drove 
operational efficiencies. Overall  
it continues to trade in line with 
expectations.

OUTLOOK
Looking to the future, UDG 
Healthcare is well positioned to 
sustain its impressive growth record. 

The outlook for growth in the 
healthcare market is positive,  
with global healthcare spending on 
medicines expected to increase to 
$1.4 trillion by 2020*. Underpinning 
this growth is an increasing number  
of molecules being approved, 
particularly with a speciality care 
focus, which results in much more 
healthcare professional engagement 

Chief Executive’s Review (continued)

*  Global Medicines Use in 2020 report, 
IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, 
November 2015.

UDG 
Healthcare is 
well positioned 
to sustain its 
consistent 
growth record.

with the patient. All of these factors 
lead to an increasing trend for 
pharmaceutical and healthcare 
companies to outsource non-core and 
specialist services to larger, global 
partners as they look for increased 
innovation, flexibility and quality.  
This is where UDG Healthcare can 
leverage our market leading positions 
in the key geographies and offer 
differentiated solutions. 

OUR PEOPLE
We share a common set of Values 
across the UDG Healthcare Group – 
Quality, Partnership, Ingenuity, 
Expertise and Energy and they unite 
us in how we deliver our vision and 
strategy. They are part of our DNA  
as an organisation and are a critical 
driver of our growth. 

For us to continue to avail of the 
opportunities that exist we must  
have the best people. This year we 
continued our investment in talent 
development through initiatives  
such as our INSPIRE leadership 
programme which saw close to  
300 executives undertake three  
days of management development.

The Group remains focussed on 
ensuring that scalable infrastructure 
is in place to support the future 
organic and acquisition-led growth 
of the business. To deliver this we 
have launched three projects under 
the ‘Future Fit’ umbrella. The first  
of these is the implementation of  
a Group-wide Human Resource 
Information System, which is 
anticipated to go live during the 
second half of 2017. Two additional 
projects will focus on strengthening 
the Group’s global finance and IT 
infrastructure.

Our continuing investment in talent 
development, improvement in 
best-in-class processes, combined 
with a positive working environment, 
will ensure our people can deliver  
on their potential and help drive the 
business forward. 
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SUPPLY CHAIN 
SERVICES DISPOSAL
We completed the disposal of the 
United Drug, United Drug Sangers, 
TCP and MASTA businesses to the 
McKesson Corporation, a global 
player in the supply chain and 
distribution sector, in April this year. 
As we have said before, it was 
important to the Group that the 
legacy business, that formed the 
cornerstone of UDG Healthcare 
since 1948, landed in a good home 
and we believe that this is the case 
with the McKesson Corporation. It is 
also important to acknowledge the 
significant amount of work required 
to transact an asset disposal of this 
scale and I would like to thank all of 
those individuals involved, from both 
sides of the transaction, as this type 
of work was often done in addition to 
their normal duties. I would also like 
to take this opportunity to wish our 
former supply chain colleagues all 
the very best with their new owners 
and sincerely thank them for their 
significant contribution to the Group 
over the years.

SPECIAL THANKS 
I would like to take this opportunity 
to say thank you on behalf of all the 
employees and management to Liam 
FitzGerald who stepped down from 
the Chief Executive role in February 
and retired from the Board in 
September. In his 16 years at the 
helm, Liam led UDG Healthcare 
through a significant period of 
expansion and has been personally 
very supportive in terms of CEO 
transition support during my first 
year. We wish him every success in 
the next stage of his career.

Also in September, we announced 
that the founder and CEO of 
Ashfield, Chris Corbin, has notified 
the Board of his intention to retire 
from the Group in April 2019. In 
preparation for his retirement, Chris 
will transition to the role of Chairman 
of Ashfield once his successor has 
been appointed and will remain as a 
member of the Board of Directors of 
UDG Healthcare until his retirement. 
I would also like to thank Chris for  
his substantial contribution to the 
success of both the Group and 
Ashfield since joining us in 2000. 

Finally, I am honoured to take on the 
role of Chief Executive, to build on 
the strong foundations which have 
been put in place and to lead this 
great organisation into the next 
phase of its development and future 
success. I would like to thank the 
Chairman, Board, employees and 
shareholders for giving me this 
opportunity and for their support  
in this, my first year. 

Brendan McAtamney
Chief Executive

Strategic highlights  
and progress
• Disposal of the United Drug Supply Chain 

businesses and MASTA completed on 1 April 2016 
resulting in a profit on disposal of €132.1 million. 

• Completed the acquisition of Pegasus in April  
2016 and post year end the acquisition of STEM. 
Both acquisitions are an excellent strategic fit for 
Ashfield, with good growth prospects and a higher 
margin profile. 

• Ashfield’s operating profit increased by 7% 
(underlying growth of 9%), driven by positive 
underlying growth in both Ashfield Commercial  
& Clinical and Ashfield Communications.  

• Sharp’s operating profit increased by 16% 
(underlying growth of 12%) driven by continued 
growth in the US commercial packaging business.  

• Sharp completed the build and fit out of its new 
packaging facility in Allentown, Pennsylvania 
increasing US commercial packaging capacity  
by approximately 30%.
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2011 2020

$624bn

$331bn

Partners

O
ut

so
ur

ci
ng Future

Preferred 
providers for 
multi-country 
deals

2005
Less outsourcing 

but with more  
partners

2015
Increased 

outsourcing 
with less  
partners

Market Opportunity

Global healthcare 
landscape remains 
positive 
The outlook for growth in the healthcare market is 
positive, with global healthcare spending on drugs 
expected to increase to $1.4 trillion by 2020 1. The 
macro trends in healthcare demand are seeing 
increasing number of molecules being developed, with 
an increase in speciality products requiring customised 
strategies for patient engagement. It is estimated that 
225 totally new drugs will come to market by 2020 1. 

Smaller patient populations, orphan drugs, rare 
diseases, continued scientific and medical innovation 
and greater consumer information and empowerment 
are all driving growth and change in the industry.

In addition to the macro growth in the market, there is  
a trend for increased outsourcing by pharmaceutical 
companies. Specifically, they are looking to outsource 
with fewer partners who have global reach, as both  
large and speciality pharmaceutical companies look  
for increased flexibility, consistency and quality.  
This is where UDG Healthcare is well positioned  
to deliver solutions. 

Market access and procurement of products and 
services are also increasingly important and these 
trends point to a positive environment to continue  
to grow our business:

• Volume of medicine used globally will reach  
4.5 trillion doses by 2020 1;

• New drug launches remained at high levels and  
are forecast to increase 22% for the period 2016  
to 2020 on the previous five years 1;

• Spending on speciality medicines continues  
to increase; and

• Clients are outsourcing more with fewer  
partners internationally.

Increasing global  
healthcare spend

Increased outsourcing  
internationally

Total global pharmaceutical 
market value will reach  
€1.4 trillion by 2020 1 

The US will remain a critical market for  
innovative companies.

US sales forecast to reach $624 billion by 2020,  
up from $331 billion in 20112.

Our clients are outsourcing 
more with fewer partners 
internationally

Projection of the amount of outsourcing  
versus number of partners:

1. Global Medicines use in 2020, IMS Institute for Healthcare Informatics, November 2015.
2. Medicines use and spending in the US. A Review of 2015 and outlook to 2020, IMS Institute  

for Healthcare Informatics, April 2016.

$1.4tr
Estimated total global  

pharmaceutical market by 2020 1

Market Opportunity > Business Model > Strategy > KPIs > Risks
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2011-2015 2016-2020

225

184

Speciality disease  
dominates spend

Increase in new  
product approvals

2016-2020 will set a record  
for launches when the 

current innovation rich 
pipeline is approved

Product launches 2011-2015 versus  
projections for 2016-2020 2

Speciality medicines are 
driving growth

By 2020, 28% of global spending will be on speciality 
medicines 1 which involve more patient touch  

points, requiring greater levels of support.

In the US spending on speciality medicines  
doubled over the past five years 2. 

Speciality medicines currently account for 36%  
of total spending and 67% of new brand  

spending growth in the US 2.

Global  
megatrends

$1.4tr
Estimated total global  

pharmaceutical market by 2020 1

x2



12 UDG Healthcare plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2016

STRATEGIC REPORT 

Business Model

Creating  
value, growing 
sustainably
Our business model has our people at its centre 
delivering on our business objectives by living the 
Values we have set for ourselves. These Values of 
Quality, Partnership, Ingenuity, Expertise and Energy 
are at the heart of how we deliver shareholder value 
across our main focus areas.

OUR VALUES IN DETAIL
 
We operate with a Quality and 
governance framework which 
reflects the industry standards 
and allows clients to outsource 
with confidence.

We work in Partnership with 
clients to create a bespoke 
solution to best address  
their objectives.

 
We use our Ingenuity to create 
strong market offerings which 
can provide clients with a range  
of specialist capabilities within 
each of our areas of operation. 

We work with Expertise and 
Energy to support our clients,  
in improving the lives of patients 
around the world. 

We seek to create strong market 
offerings which can provide 
clients with a range of specialist 
capabilities within each of our 
areas of operation.

We work in partnership with  
our clients to create a tailored 
solution to best address their 
objectives. 
 
We operate with a quality and 
governance framework which 
reflects the industry standards 
which ensures clients can 
outsource with confidence. 

We provide specialist skills  
and technical capabilities  
to clients across local and 
international markets. 

This allows us to capitalise  
on the increasing trend for 
pharmaceutical, biotech and 
medtech companies to outsource 
non-core and specialist activities 
on an international basis and 
ensure we can continue to 
demonstrate the energy  
to grow our business and  
deliver shareholder value.

WHAT WE DO 

Outsourced  
healthcare services 
The Group is organised and managed in three separate 
divisions, each focused on providing a specific area of 
specialist services to healthcare companies.

See UDG Healthcare At a Glance on pages 02 and 03

EXTERNAL INFLUENCES

Driven by global  
megatrends 
We seek to capitalise on the increasing trend by 
pharmaceutical, biotech and medtech companies  
to outsource non-core and specialist activities on an 
international basis. This approach is underpinned by 
the key macro trends in the pharmaceutical sector 
which we are well placed to benefit from.

See Market Opportunity on pages 10 and 11

HOW WE DO IT

Delivering sustainable 
growth and achieving  
our goals
 
SUSTAINABLE GROWTH 

PROFIT AND CASH GENERATION
We are focussed across all our businesses on growing 
profits and maximising cash conversion from our 
operations to support the development and execution 
of our strategy.

CAPITAL DEPLOYMENT
Disciplined financial management will allow for  
ongoing reinvestment in the business to sustain  
the growth model and capitalise on the opportunity  
to grow our services.

SHAREHOLDER VALUE
Successful delivery of our strategy results in increased 
shareholder value which can be delivered through 
share price appreciation and dividend growth.

WHAT MAKES US DIFFERENT 

We have a set of core Values which underpin how we 
operate and are at the heart of who we are:

• Quality
• Partnership
• Ingenuity 
• Expertise
• Energy 

Market Opportunity > Business Model > Strategy > KPIs > Risks
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Profit and cash generation

Cash generation
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Cash generation

Capital deployment

Cash generation

Our
people

Partnership

In
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Expertise

Energy

Quality

Ash�eld Sharp Aquilant

See Operational Review on page 30See Operational Review on page 24 See Operational Review on page 36

Increasing global  
healthcare spend

Increased outsourcing  
internationally

Speciality disease 
dominates spend

Increase in new product 
approvals
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Strategy

Our Strategic 
Framework helps 
us to deliver on our 
mission and vision
Our strategy is to capitalise on the increasing  
trend among pharmaceutical, biotech and  
medtech companies to outsource non-core  
and specialist activities on an international basis.

We aim to leverage our existing strong market 
positions, offer innovative solutions and create  
demand for our specialist services, thereby driving 
higher levels of growth and profitability.

We achieve this by focussing on three strategic 
framework pillars which we apply across each  
business unit to deliver our strategy. 

Products and Services

Develop & Expand  
Market-Leading 
Positions
We believe scale in major markets, 
international reach and reputation are  
key to business development success.  
We aim to be a leading operator in each  
of our priority markets and to expand  
our positions in growth markets.

Process

Drive Productivity
We aim to consistently improve our 
operating efficiencies across the Group. 
We do this through benchmarking our 
commercial and financial performance 
against specific Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). 

People

Lead Through People
We are a people-based business operating 
in dynamic healthcare markets that are 
highly regulated and demand high quality 
and compliance standards. We are building 
our culture by living our Values and 
developing our talent by encouraging the 
Ingenuity and Expertise necessary to 
support our client’s ambitions.

See Key Performance Indicators on pages 16 to 18

See Key Performance Indicators on pages 16 to 18

See Key Performance Indicators on pages 16 to 18

Key to strategic linkage in this report

Develop and Expand Market-Leading Positions 

Drive Productivity 

Lead Through People 

Market Opportunity > Business Model > Strategy > KPIs > Risks
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Geographic &  
Services Expansion

Operational  
Excellence

Talent &  
Leadership

Client Focus &  
Commercial Excellence

Margin  
Expansion

Quality &  
Compliance

Supplementary  
Sources of Growth

Capital Deployment

Values Based  
Culture

We will continue to expand our activities 
organically across our core markets of 
the US, Europe and Japan. Our organic 
service development and expansion will 
be enhanced by strategic acquisitions of 
complementary services and capabilities. 
The Group has a track record of 
successfully acquiring and integrating 
businesses to deliver a return on capital 
in excess of 15%.

We drive and measure continuous 
improvement across the Group to ensure 
we offer best-in-class service to our 
clients. We monitor our businesses 
against six financial and three non-
financial KPIs. Our KPIs support  
the execution of our strategy and  
are important drivers of improved 
business performance over the short, 
medium and long term. 

We invest in the development of our 
people, empowering and enabling them 
to be the best they can be. We build, 
attract and encourage entrepreneurial 
leadership teams, often with acquired 
businesses that are capable of delivering 
outstanding performance.

We work in partnership with our clients 
to develop, adapt and create new and 
bespoke solutions to help them achieve 
their objectives. This helps our clients 
succeed in a continuously changing and 
complex operating environment. 

We aim to continually increase  
margins to drive improved profitability. 
Improving productivity and increasing 
operational efficiencies are a key focus 
of our organic growth strategy to drive 
the expansion of business unit, divisional 
and Group margins. 

Our service offerings are underpinned 
by a strong quality and compliance 
structure. This enables our clients to 
outsource with confidence.

We continually aim to innovate and 
improve our service offering to capitalise 
fully on growth opportunities. This 
allows us to differentiate our service 
offering and leverage our market 
positions by enhancing the range of 
capabilities we can offer our clients.

We deploy capital in areas where we 
identify the greatest strategic benefit 
and financial return, while maintaining 
relatively low levels of financial risk in 
the Group. We will invest in scalable 
infrastructure to support the delivery  
of sustainable future growth, ensuring 
there is a robust infrastructure in place 
to manage the existing business and to 
integrate future acquisitions.

Our Values define our culture and unite 
us in delivering our vision of improving 
patients’ lives. We aim to integrate these 
Values into everything we do, from our 
people processes to daily interactions 
with our clients.
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2015 2016

90.0%

185.2%

 

2015 2016

28.61c
26.49c

 

2015 2016

11.1%
10.5%

Key Performance Indicators

FINANCIAL KPI #1

Total Shareholder 
Return (TSR) 

Definition

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN 
(TSR) IS THE TOTAL RETURN  
TO AN INVESTOR, BEING THE 
CAPITAL GAIN PLUS REINVESTED 
DIVIDENDS. THE RETURN IS 
MEASURED AS AN AVERAGE 
RETURN OVER THREE YEARS.

Strategic linkage 

TSR is a key metric used to ensure  
the Group is delivering returns on 
invested capital and maintaining strong 
cash flows to support the combined 
development of the Group and its 
dividend payment. Principally, it is  
used to link Executive Management 
remuneration to shareholder returns  
by linking the vesting and quantum  
of awards under various Long Term 
Incentive Plans to performance relative 
to other FTSE 250 companies.

FINANCIAL KPI #2

Earnings per Share 
(EPS) Growth 

Definition

GROWTH IN DILUTED EPS 
ACHIEVED IN THE YEAR. 

Strategic linkage 

EPS is an important financial measure of 
corporate profitability and the Group’s 
financial progress.

FINANCIAL KPI #3

Operating  
Margin 

Definition

MEASURES OPERATING PROFIT  
AS A PERCENTAGE OF REVENUE.  

Strategic linkage 

Operating margin is a key metric in 
measuring the operating efficiency across 
the Group, divisions and business units. 
Continued improvements in operating 
margin demonstrates the successful 
execution of the Group’s strategy. 

Performance

The overall Group operating margin  
in 2016 increased due to a significant 
improvement in Ashfield and Sharp 
margins offsetting a lower margin 
performance in the Aquilant division. 

Link to Remuneration 

Operating Margin is a key driver  
of Profit Before Tax (PBT) which 
represents a significant element of 
annual bonus potential. 

Performance

The 8% increase in EPS was primarily 
driven by the strong operating results 
from the Ashfield and Sharp divisions. 
These results offset the reduced 
performance from the Aquilant division, 
which was mainly due to 2015 disposals 
and negative currency movements. 
Foreign exchange translation reduced 
EPS growth by 1% from 9% constant 
currency growth to 8% reported growth.

Link to Remuneration 

Adjusted EPS growth is a key measure  
of growth and a driver of TSR, which 
accounts for 50% of LTIP awards made.

Performance

The Group delivered a three year 
average TSR of 90.0% in 2016 compared 
to 185.2% in 2015. The three year 
performance for 2015 included a 
substantial price increase since 2013.

Link to Remuneration 

This is a performance metric for  
the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), 
accounting for 50% of any awards made.

Market Opportunity > Business Model > Strategy > KPIs > Risks
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2015 2016

58%
55%

 

2015 2016

13.7%13.5%

 
 

2015 2016

 

 

€85.2m

€97.6m

Key to strategic linkage in this report

Develop and Expand Market-Leading Positions 

Drive Productivity 

Lead Through People 

FINANCIAL KPI #4

% of Operating  
Profits outside  
Ireland and the UK
Definition

MEASURES THE PERCENTAGE OF 
OPERATING PROFITS GENERATED 
OUTSIDE OF IRELAND AND THE UK. 

Strategic linkage 

Internationalisation of our service 
offering is a key part of the Group’s 
strategy as we have expanded services 
across developed markets. This ongoing 
internationalisation provides significant 
opportunities for future organic and 
acquisitive growth and we will look to 
enter new markets on a selective basis  
in the coming years.

FINANCIAL KPI #5

Operating  
Cash Flow 

Definition

OPERATING CASH FLOW IS  
NET CASH INFLOW FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES OF THE 
CONTINUING GROUP PER THE 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT ON  
PAGE 102. 

Strategic linkage 

The generation of cash from operations 
is a key driver of shareholder returns 
and also enables the Group to invest  
in capital expenditure and acquisitions 
to enhance future growth.

FINANCIAL KPI #6

Return on  
Capital Employed  
(ROCE) 
Definition

ROCE IS PROFIT BEFORE  
INTEREST AND TAX EXPRESSED AS 
A PERCENTAGE OF THE GROUP’S 
NET ASSETS EMPLOYED.  

Strategic linkage 

ROCE is a key financial benchmark 
which measures both the return from, 
and performance of, existing businesses 
and potential investments. The Group 
strives to consistently achieve returns 
well in excess of its cost of capital.

Performance

ROCE of 13.7% is significantly in  
excess of our current cost of capital.  
The increase in ROCE over the year 
reflects the growth in operating profits 
in comparison to 2015. 

Link to Remuneration 

ROCE is significantly influenced by  
PBT and cash flow performance,  
both of which are key annual bonus 
performance metrics.

Performance

The continuing Group has achieved 
operating cash flows of €85.2 million. 
This has reduced from 2015, which had 
a particularly good working capital cash 
flow performance.

Link to Remuneration 

The ratio of operating cash flow  
to operating profit forms the basis  
of a performance metric for the  
Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), 
accounting for 50% of any awards  
made. Operating cash flow is also  
an annual performance metric.

Performance

The non-Irish and UK proportion of  
the Group profitability increased due  
to strong growth in Sharp US and 
Ashfield Europe operating profits. 

Link to Remuneration 

The ability to grow profits outside of  
our home markets of Ireland and the UK 
is a key driver of PBT growth, which is a 
key annual bonus performance metric. 
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2015 2016

13

9

NON-FINANCIAL KPI #2

Health  
and Safety 

Definition

HEALTH AND SAFETY (H&S) AUDITS 
COMPRISE OF A COMPREHENSIVE 
AND RIGOROUS REVIEW OF 
ADHERENCE TO STANDARDS  
AND PRACTICES.

Strategic linkage 

The application and implementation of 
industry standards and best practice 
across our operations is an important 
factor in the delivery of our strategy.

Performance

We have significantly enhanced the 
scope of our H&S auditing in 2016  
and are pleased with our performance 
against our internal benchmarks.

Link to Remuneration 

We will continue to expand the  
scope of H&S assessments across  
the organisation as we strive  
to ensure we are continually  
enhancing our H&S standards.

Key Performance Indicators  
(continued)

Key to strategic linkage in this report

Develop and Expand Market-Leading Positions 

Drive Productivity 

Lead Through People 

NON-FINANCIAL KPI #1

Compliance  
Accreditation  
and Training
Definition

MEASURES THE NUMBER OF 
EMPLOYEES TRAINED THROUGH 
ONLINE TRAINING TOOLS. 

Strategic linkage 

Our staff operate in a highly regulated 
environment where high standards  
are expected and required. We have  
a strong governance ethos and have 
invested in our compliance and quality 
functions to ensure we maintain the 
highest standards. 

Performance

We began to roll out online compliance 
training through our proprietary 
ComplianceCentre in 2015 and 2016  
and have been encouraged by the high 
level of staff engagement achieved. 

Link to Remuneration 

We expect to continue the progress  
in 2017 with the delivery of new  
training and compliance modules.

NON-FINANCIAL KPI #3

Living  
Our Values 

Definition

HOW WE EMBED THE VALUES INTO 
OUR PEOPLE PROCESSES AND THE 
METHOD OF MEASUREMENT FOR 
HOW WE LIVE THE VALUES IN OUR 
ORGANISATION.  

Strategic linkage 

Our Values define our culture for all 
employees and enable our strategy.  
By demonstrating the behaviours 
underpinning our Values, our leaders 
will create a values based culture for  
the benefit of our clients, our people  
and the success of our business. 

Performance

In 2016 we have implemented  
focussed development for our leaders 
based on our Values, through the 
INSPIRE Leadership Development 
Programme. Further leadership 
development will be implemented 
through the continuation of the INSPIRE 
Leadership Development Programme. 
In addition, the Drive Management 
programme, the second programme  
in our leadership development process, 
will be rolled out across all businesses  
in 2017.

Link to Remuneration 

In 2017 we will conduct an Employee 
Engagement Survey to assess 
engagement levels and also to establish 
clear benchmarks for Living the Values. 
We will also continue to create clear 
linkages between team and individual 
performance to be an effective 
demonstration of our Values.

Number of audits completed:

300 leaders
100% of target population 
2016 number of leaders who  
attended INSPIRE Leadership 
Development Programme

>90%
Group average of >90% of the five 
courses on the ComplianceCentre 
completed
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and planning
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Execution  
of mitigation  

plans

Executive monitoring and review

Executive monitoring and review

Risk 
identification 

and assessment 

Risk
Management

Process
Business and functional 

expertise

THE GROUP PRESENTS ITS RISK 
MANAGEMENT PROCESS AND 
VIABILITY STATEMENT IN LINE 
WITH THE UK CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE CODE 
PROVISIONS.

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
Risk management is an increasingly 
important business driver and 
stakeholders have become much 
more concerned about risk. Risk may 
be a driver of strategic decisions;  
it may be a cause of uncertainty in  
the organisation or it may simply be 
embedded in the activities of the 
organisation. An enterprise-wide 
approach to risk management enables 
UDG Healthcare to consider the 
potential impact of all types of risks on 
all processes, activities, stakeholders, 
products and services. 

During the year the Risk Management 
Framework was amended to reduce 
the bureaucracy, centralise the 
register and introduce the executive 
Risk & Viability sub-Committee.  
The Board Committee that reviews 
the Risk Management Process was 
also reviewed during the year and was 
reconstituted as the Risk, Investment 
& Financing Committee. The benefits 
of these changes are increased 
communication directly to business 
leaders and to substantially increase 
transparency into the risk register. 
The responsibility for managing the 
process is consolidated within the role 
of the Risk and Compliance Manager. 
The Risk, Investment & Financing 
Committee continues to report to the 
Board twice a year and the Risk & 
Viability sub-Committee reviews the 
risk register four times per year. 

The focus of the Risk Management 
Process is to build a stronger 
corporate compliance culture.  
This ongoing process for identifying, 
evaluating and managing principal 
risks is cyclical in nature. Risks are 
reviewed to varying degrees of  
depth every three months, six 
months and two years. In order to 
avoid substantial review time being 
spent on low impact, low probability 
risks, the interim reviews (within the 
two-year full review cycle) focuses on 
‘High’ and ‘Extreme’ risks only.  

Risk Management

Effective risk 
management
Effective Risk Management supports individual 
and corporate accountability. It is the capability 
of our organisation to understand, articulate  
and control the nature and level of our 
enterprise risks.

Market Opportunity > Business Model > Strategy > KPIs > Risks



20 UDG Healthcare plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2016

STRATEGIC REPORT 

The Risk and Compliance Manager 
reviews all risks every three months.

GOING CONCERN
The Directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has 
adequate resources to continue  
in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, 
they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the 
financial statements.

VIABILITY STATEMENT
The development of the Group’s 
Viability Statement considers the 
impact of severe events that could 
threaten its future business model. 
The identification and assessment  
of these potential events is facilitated 
by the Group’s Risk Management 
Process, which in turn is underpinned 
by the Group’s risk appetite. Once 
plausible and unacceptable risks  
are identified, plans for mitigation  
are developed and executed. This 
process is monitored and reviewed 
by the Group’s Senior Executive 
Team, with Board oversight.  
The Group’s Principal Risks and 
Uncertainties aggregate the risks 
identified, as well as the mitigation 
plans implemented as part of this 
process, and they include risks that 
may have short-term impacts as well 
as those which may threaten the 
long-term viability of the Group.

In support of the development of a 
robust viability statement a strategic 
review of Ashfield was carried out  
by the Boston Consulting Group 
(BCG). One of the objectives of  

the review was to ensure that the 
strategic direction of Ashfield over 
the next three to five years is aligned 
with global outsourcing trends.  
This allows for more informed 
decision making when considering 
long-term significant acquisitions or 
investments. In parallel the impact  
of continued expansion of capacity  
in Sharp US has been somewhat 
mitigated by the Building 4 project 
which is now complete and expands 
our capacity for future business  
by 30%.

The directors have decided to 
maintain a three-year timeframe  
for the assessment of viability. The 
assessment period has been decided 
with reference to the Group’s current 
position, prospects, strategy, the 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties and 
how these are identified, managed 
and mitigated.

The directors have made a robust 
assessment of the potential impact 
that these risks would have on the 
Group’s business model, future 
performance, solvency or liquidity 
over the assessment period.

The directors review and renew the 
Group’s three-year strategic plan at 
least annually. Progress against the 
strategic plan is reviewed regularly  
by the Board through presentations 
from senior management on the 
performance of their respective 
business units, the assessment  
of market opportunity within  
the healthcare sector and the 
consideration by the Board of its 

ability to fund its strategic ambitions. 
Associated risks are considered 
within the Risk Framework.

The strategic plan has been tested 
for a number of scenarios which 
assess the potential impact of severe 
but plausible risks to the long-term 
viability of the Group. These 
scenarios can be summarised  
as follows:

• the largest site by profit 
generation becomes inoperable 
for an extended period of time 
and produces no contribution in 
2017 and slowly recovers to 50% 
of expected 2017 profitability 
by 2019;

• a large-scale acquisition of 
approximately �300 million 
produces no profit in year 1 
post-acquisition and recovers to  
a profit level of only �10 million  
by 2019; and

• there is significant, defined  
as 20%, adverse movement  
in foreign exchange rates of 
Sterling relative to the US Dollar. 

These scenarios have been 
incorporated into the Risk 
Management Framework and  
are reviewed and managed in line 
with the Group’s risk appetite.

The directors confirm that they have 
a reasonable expectation that the 
Group will continue to operate and 
meet its liabilities, as they fall due,  
for the next three years.

Risk Management (continued)
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Name Risk Mitigation Movement in Year

ACQUISITIONS Acquisitive growth remains a core 
element of the Group’s strategy. A 
failure to execute and properly integrate 
acquisitions, capitalise on the synergies 
they bring and/or maintain and develop 
their talent pool, may adversely affect 
the Group. 

All potential acquisitions are assessed 
and evaluated to ensure the Group’s 
defined strategic and financial criteria 
are met. A discreet integration process  
is developed for each acquisition. This 
process is supported by experienced 
management with a view to achieving 
identified benefits, cultivating talent  
and minimising general and specific 
integration risks.

 
Reduced Risk

 
Integration of Pegasus into 
Ashfield was achieved smoothly 
with no business disruption or 
unexpected leavers.

CLIENT 
DIVERSIFICATION

As the Group’s activities integrate and 
further acquisitions are completed,  
the Group’s client base may become 
more concentrated making the Group 
more susceptible to competitive, client 
merger or procurement led threats.

At each business review we monitor  
our client base and the threats and 
opportunities that may arise, both  
from our clients’ activities and any 
concentration of our client base. The 
impact that any potential acquisition 
may have on client concentration is 
considered as part of the acquisition 
assessment process. 

 No Change

 
The client profile is monitored at 
every business review and there 
has been no material change 
this year. 

REGULATORY The Group has many legal and 
regulatory obligations, including in 
respect of: (a) protection of patient 
information (such as HIPAA); (b) patient 
and employee health and safety; and (c) 
promotional spend. In addition, many  
of the Group’s activities are subject to 
stringent licensing regulations and the 
requirements of regulators (e.g. the 
FDA). A failure to meet any of these 
could result in products and services 
being defective, harming patients and/
or giving rise to very significant liability. 

Maintenance of legal, regulatory and 
quality standards is a core value of  
the Group. We continue to build and 
review our quality and compliance 
management systems to ensure that 
they are fit for purpose in the context  
of the Group’s strategy and its legal and 
regulatory obligations. These reviews 
are supported by corporate audits on 
compliance, quality and environment, 
and health and safety.

 
Reduced Risk

 
The Group continued to achieve 
high standards of audit outcomes 
in existing regulated businesses 
and added a significant number 
of new regulatory approvals in 
previously unregulated business 
units, including recently acquired 
businesses.

PATIENT RISK Throughout the Group medicines  
and medical devices can be packaged, 
supplied or administered directly to 
patients. The risk of inappropriate 
packaging, supply or administration 
could lead to a negative patient 
experience. 

Packaging and supply activity is carried 
out under licence and a contract with 
the marketing authorisation holder 
(MAH). This requires a regulated 
quality management system to ensure 
the integrity of the packaged product 
and the supply chain. Administration  
of medicines to patients is covered  
by a detailed client contract with the 
MAH and the local clinical governance 
framework. All of these processes are 
subject to risk assessment, training, 
management review, internal and 
external audits. 

 No Change

 
The risk to patient safety 
remains high. Mitigations 
initiated this year to improve  
this risk were the increased 
automation of critical data in 
Sharp and the development of 
an updated Clinical Governance 
regime in Ashfield.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
Operational risks

Key to strategic linkage in this report

Develop and Expand Market-Leading Positions 

Drive Productivity 

Lead Through People 
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Name Risk Mitigation Movement in Year

TALENT The success of the Group is built  
upon effective management teams  
that consistently deliver superior 
performance. If the Group cannot 
attract, retain or develop suitably 
qualified, experienced and motivated 
employees, this could have an impact 
on business performance. 

The talent requirements of the  
Group are monitored to ensure its 
management teams meet prevailing 
requirements in skills, competencies 
and performance. Remuneration 
policies, management development, 
succession planning and the systems 
for developing talent inherited from 
our acquisitions have been reviewed 
and the process of building a One UDG 
management development programme 
has started with the Inspire programme 
and will be developed throughout the 
coming years. 

 
Reduced Risk

 
Senior level transitions were 
successfully completed during  
this year. Senior Management 
development and the succession 
planning process have become  
more embedded. 

ORGANISA-
TIONAL DESIGN

The continued growth and evolution of 
the Group requires its organisational 
design and infrastructure to be subject 
to review and successful ongoing 
development. A failure to do so could 
adversely affect the Group’s ability to 
meet its objectives.

At least once per year a thorough 
review on strategy is carried out.  
One element of strategy is whether  
the organisational structure is fit for 
purpose. Each year the growth drivers 
for the business are reviewed against 
the current organisation to establish 
whether change is required. 

 
Reduced Risk

 
The implementation of the 
recommendations from the  
2016 PwC organisational review 
of Ashfield are underway.

IT SYSTEMS The ability of the Group to provide its 
services effectively and competitively  
is dependent on technology and 
information systems that are 
appropriately integrated and that meet 
current and anticipated future business, 
regulatory and security requirements.  
In addition, there is a cyber security risk 
through the use of technology which 
may result in financial or data loss. 

The Group’s technology and information 
systems and infrastructure are the 
subject of an ongoing redesign 
programme to ensure that they are 
capable of meeting the Group’s strategic 
intent and future requirements, whilst 
further mitigating against systems 
failures and the increasing threat of 
external interference.

 
Reduced Risk

 
The Future Fit IT investment 
programme was launched in 
2016. When fully completed,  
it will result in a fit for purpose 
Group IT infrastructure for the 
future requirements of the Group.

BUSINESS 
CONTINUITY

The Group is exposed to risks that, 
should they arise, may give rise to  
the interruption of critical business 
processes that could adversely impact 
the Group or its clients.

The Group is developing and reviewing 
its business continuity risks as part of 
the risk management and the corporate 
audit processes. Mitigation strategies 
and continuity plans are part of a 
structured review process. 

 No Change

 
Complete inventory of all 
Business Continuity Plans is 
complete and Group-wide.

CONTRACTS The underlying terms of the Group’s 
commercial relationships drive the 
profitability of the Group. The nature 
of the Group’s business means that  
the Group could be exposed to  
undue cost or liability if it agrees 
inappropriate terms.

The Group has adopted processes for 
identifying and mitigating against undue 
risks in all prospective commercial 
relationships, supported by personnel 
with expertise and/or experience in key 
commercial risk areas. 

 No Change

 
Contract review continues  
to be a core activity for the 
legal team.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued) 
Operational risks (continued)

Risk Management (continued)
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CONTROLS The Group’s resources and finances 
must be managed in accordance with 
rigorous standards and stringent 
controls. A failure to meet those 
standards or implement appropriate 
controls may result in the Group’s 
resources being improperly utilised  
or its financial statements being 
inaccurate or misleading.

The financial controls of the Group,  
as well as their effectiveness, are 
monitored by the Board in the context 
of the standards to which the Group  
is subject and the expectations of  
its stakeholders. This monitoring is 
supported by a dedicated internal audit 
function. The Group’s financial function, 
systems and controls are also subject  
to periodic review to ensure that they 
remain robust and fit for purpose. 

 No Change

 
The design, implementation  
and monitoring of the Group’s 
financial controls continue to 
receive significant investment 
and focus.

LIQUIDITY The Group is exposed to liquidity, 
interest rate, currency and credit risks.

The management of the financial risks 
facing the Group is governed by policies 
reviewed and approved by the Board. 
These policies primarily cover liquidity 
risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and 
credit risk. The primary objective of the 
Group’s policies is to minimise financial 
risk at a reasonable cost. The Group 
does not trade in financial instruments. 
The Group was in a net cash position at 
30 September 2016. 

 No Change

 
There have been no changes  
in the financial policies during 
the year.

FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE

UDG Healthcare plc’s reporting 
currency and that in which its share 
capital is denominated is the Euro. 
Given the nature of the Group’s 
businesses, exposure arises in the 
normal course of business to other 
currencies, principally Sterling and  
the US Dollar. The Group’s reporting 
currency will change to US Dollar in  
2017, as the US is now the largest 
contributor to Group profits. 

The primary foreign exchange risk 
arises from the fluctuating value of the 
Group’s net investment in different 
currencies. The majority of the Group’s 
activities are conducted in the local 
currency of the country of operation. 
The recent UK vote to leave the 
European Union (Brexit) has increased 
the level of exchange rate volatility. 

 
Increased Risk

 
Brexit has resulted in a 
significant weakening in Sterling 
and continued exchange rate 
volatility is expected in the 
coming year.

Note: The risks associated with the United Drug Supply Chain business in the 2015 Principal Risks & Uncertainties, including the SAP and transaction 
completion risks have been removed following the disposal of the business.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued) 
Financial risks

Key to strategic linkage in this report

Develop and Expand Market-Leading Positions 

Drive Productivity 

Lead Through People 
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Ashfield has had  
a strong year focussed  
on organic growth and  
market development 
Our Commercial and Clinical businesses in Europe, Japan and the  
US have performed well with significant new pan-European and US 
contracts continuing to drive the transformation of the division.  
Our Communications business continues to excel with constant 
focus on innovation. Over the last year we took a leading position  
in patient centricity, providing patient-focussed solutions, which was 
strengthened by the acquisition of Pegasus, an integrated healthcare 
communications agency. 

Chris Corbin, Managing Director of Ashfield

Ashfield
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59.5

42.3

31.8

21.5

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
Ashfield continued to perform well 
during 2016, with net revenue up 5% 
to €469.5 million and operating profit 
up 7% to €63.6 million. Adjusting  
for the negative impact of currency 
movements, the contribution of 
Pegasus profits for six months and 
the 2015 disposal of the non-core 
Speaker Bureau business, Ashfield 
generated 7% net underlying revenue 
growth and underlying operating 
profit growth of 9%. The business 
delivered good organic growth 
across both the Commercial and 
Clinical and the Communications 
segments of the business. Operating 
margin increased to 10.9%, whilst  
net operating margin (allowing for 
pass-through costs) was 13.5%.

Ashfield Commercial and Clinical 
delivered good growth during the 
year with net revenue increasing by 
7% (underlying growth of 8%) and 
operating profit increasing by 8% 
(underlying growth of 9%). This was 
principally due to strong growth  
in Europe supplemented by good 
growth in North America, partly 
offset by a weaker performance  
from the UK Commercial and  
Clinical business which operates  
in a more mature market. 

OVERVIEW

Ashfield is an international healthcare services  
organisation providing solutions to the pharmaceutical  
and healthcare industry, operating across two broad  
areas of activity: commercial & clinical services and 
communications. Ashfield helps improve lives by  
supporting well-informed conversations with  
healthcare professionals, payers and patients. 

Operating profit

€63.6m
+7%

Ashfield Communications also 
delivered good underlying growth 
during the year. Adjusting for the 
negative impact of currency 
movements, the contribution of 
Pegasus profits for six months and 
the 2015 disposal of the non-core 
Speaker Bureau business, net 
underlying revenues grew by 4%  
and underlying operating profit  
grew by 10% during the year. 

Ashfield has continued to transform 
and grow throughout 2016 with 
significant business wins, and the 
development of new service offerings, 
continuing to provide our clients with 
high quality, innovative services. 

In April 2016 we acquired Pegasus,  
an award-winning integrated 
communications agency based in 
Brighton in the UK for a total potential 
consideration of up to £16.8 million, 
complementing the existing services 
provided by Ashfield Communications. 
In October 2016 we completed the 
acquisition of STEM Marketing Limited 
for up to £84 million. It operates in 
35 countries and is a leading global 
provider of commercial and medical 
audits to pharmaceutical companies 
and is an excellent strategic fit for 
our business.

ASHFIELD COMMERCIAL 
Throughout 2016, Ashfield 
Commercial has been continuing  
to grow the business by developing 
and delivering enhanced, high quality 
multi-channel services to suit clients’ 
needs across Europe, the US, Canada 
and Japan. The core areas for growth 
in the commercial business are gaining 
market share in the traditional sales 
force arena, launching innovative 
services and enhancing our multi-
channel contact centre capabilities. 

ABOUT ASHFIELD

Ashfield provides field and contact centre sales teams, 
healthcare communications, strategic consulting, 
in-home and contact centre nurse educators, medical 
information, pharmacovigilance (drug safety) and event 
management services to over 300 healthcare companies 
in 22 countries including the UK, the US, Germany, 
Spain and Japan.

Ashfield is the largest division of UDG Healthcare,  
with over 6,300 employees. Over the last year Ashfield 
has demonstrated strong progress and organic growth 
by taking market share and solidifying market leading 
positions in many of its markets. Ashfield operates in  
two broad areas of activity: commercial and clinical 
services and communications, working with global 
pharmaceutical and healthcare clients. 

Ashfield Commercial provides multi-channel (field- 
based and contact centre) sales solutions, focussing  
on educating healthcare professionals on prescription 
products and medical devices. Ashfield Clinical provides 
multi-channel nurse educators (visiting patient homes  
and in-office telephone services) supporting healthcare 
professionals in educating patients about their disease and 
its treatment, helping to ensure that patients take their 
medications according to approved treatment protocols.

Ashfield Communications is one of the largest global 
healthcare communications groups and is well placed to 
sustain growth. Its agencies and consultancies provide 
extensive medical, marketing and communications 
services to over 140 clients. 

Services include:

• strategy development;
• market research;
• publication planning (medical journals 

and congresses); 
• content services, including medical writing 

support; and
• digital strategy and creative campaigns. 

The client companies we partner with include 
pharmaceutical and biotech (from all top 20, through  
to entrepreneurial start-ups) and those companies  
who provide medical devices, consumer health and 
animal health products. Staff expertise covers all key 
therapy areas, as well as the increasing spectrum of  
rare diseases. Ashfield Communications has continued 
to strengthen and develop its leading position, taking 
market share through constant innovation and 
operational excellence. 

In 2016, UDG Healthcare acquired Pegasus, a UK- 
based integrated healthcare communications agency, 
complementing the existing portfolio of services offered 
by Ashfield Communications.
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and there are a plethora of new  
client partnerships which continue  
to grow and expand. Due to the 
rapid expansion of the business,  
we will be moving to a new premises 
with larger, enhanced office, meeting  
and training facilities in 2017. 

In Europe, we had another year  
of incremental profit and margin 
growth. We have continued to win 
multi-country deals in 2016 with  
large pharmaceutical companies, 
delivering sales and patient support 
programmes. The positive impact  
of these contract wins is expected  
to be seen in the next few years.

Our Japanese joint venture with 
CMIC continues to grow and is  
now the second largest contract  
sales organisation in Japan. During  
2016, the business launched a  
sales contact centre in Japan and 
continued to increase market  
share in the Japanese market. 

ASHFIELD CLINICAL
In 2016, Ashfield Clinical has  
seen an increase in the number of 
Patient Support Programmes and, in 
particular, programmes being rolled 

Ashfield has been providing 
outsourced sales force solutions  
for over 20 years. In the last year 
significant progress has been made 
in developing the outsourced market 
and in gaining market share from  
the competition, particularly in the  
US, Japan and Germany. 

To ensure the business stays  
ahead of the curve, a key priority  
has also been creating innovative 
new services such as the Customer 
Service Representative offering and 
fully integrated field and contact 
centre solutions. The Customer 
Service Representative model works 
alongside the sales representative to 
support healthcare professionals and 
patients and it is designed to enhance 
the patient experience and build on 
the clients’ brand. The integrated 
field and contact centre sales 
resources give clients the 
opportunity to reach a wider  
target audience and reduce costs.

The US business is growing  
rapidly and has secured a number  
of significant new contracts. Ashfield 
now works with 12 out of the top 15 
pharmaceutical companies in the US 

A key priority 
has been 
creating 

innovative  
new services 

such as the 
Customer 

Service 
Representative 

offering and 
integrating  

field and 
contact centre 

solutions.

ASHFIELD 1
2016 
€’m

2015 
€’m

Actual 
Growth

Underlying 
Growth  3

Gross revenue
Commercial & Clinical 445.4 409.6 9% 10%
Communications 139.1 165.7 (16%) 1%
Total gross revenue 584.5 575.3 2% 8%

Net revenue 2

Commercial & Clinical 351.7 330.2 7% 8%
Communications 117.8 118.2 – 4%
Total net revenue 469.5 448.4 5% 7%

Operating profit
Commercial & Clinical 35.2 32.5 8% 9%
Communications 28.4 27.0 5% 10%
Total operating profit 63.6 59.5 7% 9%

Operating margin
Operating margin (on gross revenue) 10.9% 10.3%
Net operating margin (on net revenue) 13.5% 13.3%

1. Excludes MASTA discontinued operations in both 2016 and 2015. This disposal was completed on 1 April 2016.
2. Net revenue represents gross revenue adjusted for revenue associated with pass-through costs for which the Group does  

not earn a margin. There are no pass-through costs in Sharp or Aquilant. 
3. Underlying growth adjusts for the impact of currency translation movements and any acquisition or disposal activity. 
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As an organisation Ashfield has over 
15 years experience of designing, 
building and delivering clinical and 
patient support programmes – 
throughout this period we have 
facilitated over 1 million patient 
interactions and today Ashfield 
employs over 600 nurses. 

In this case study, the client had a 
challenge with a patient group with  
an insidious disease. This particular 
disease can remain asymptomatic  
for years and, in order to achieve 
treatment goals, the client’s 
medication must be taken  
exactly as prescribed. 

Ashfield began to partner with the 
client to create a differentiated Patient 
Support Programme, that was built  
on genuine insights and would help  
to educate and support patients,  
while positively driving adherence 
throughout the whole patient journey 
all the way to a cure. 

Ashfield provided a 24-hour Clinical 
Contact Centre and a nurse team 
which provided a free-of-charge 
service for patients to opt in or out of. 

The programme was designed, 
in collaboration with the client,  
to ensure that the patient understood 
their disease, their treatment and the  
importance of adherence to therapy 

through services such as one-to one 
support and included the use of digital 
resources, physical information and 
personal support. 

Ashfield and the client received 
extremely positive feedback from  
the patients commenting: “Nice to 
know I’m not forgotten about whilst 
on this treatment” and “Really  
find the SMS reminders useful, 
particularly the evening one as  
I would forget otherwise.”

The partnership between Ashfield  
and the client has continued to 
develop with Ashfield now providing 
further services.

OUR VALUES IN ACTION 

Partnership
Ashfield partners  
with client to improve 
patient outcomes
Collaborative approach with clients is a key part  
of how we help them improve patients' lives



Patient 
engagement 

has been a  
key focus area  

for Ashfield  
in 2016.
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engagement assignments on existing 
client accounts while also developing 
opportunities to partner with new 
clients who are building patient-
centric initiatives. 

A constant focus on innovation  
is key to Ashfield’s commitment to 
deliver cutting edge solutions to 
clients. An initiative on behaviour 
change has been launched within the 
organisation, working with academic 
centres, bringing together experts 
from across the agencies, to engage 
patients throughout a product 
life-cycle, ultimately helping address 
challenges with patient adherence  
to treatment protocols. 

Ashfield Healthcare Communications 
K.K. will be launching in Japan early 
in 2017, developing communications 
opportunities working alongside 
Ashfield Commercial in Japan,  
with the advantage of existing Group 
infrastructure. Ashfield is actively 
recruiting in Japan and has already 
started to deliver projects through  
a team in the UK which includes 
bilingual medical writers. 

WHAT’S NEXT?
Ashfield is operating within an exciting 
space with excellent opportunities for 
organic growth and acquisitions to 
strengthen the current service offering 
and add complementary services to 
strengthen our offering for clients. 
Ashfield’s US operations will move  
to a new corporate head office in 
Pennsylvania during 2017. This will 
ensure the business is well placed to 
deliver sustainable growth having 
secured of a number of new contract 
wins during 2016. Within Europe, 
Ashfield’s focus still remains to  
offer the full spectrum of services  
and continuing to expand the 
Communications business providing 
innovative patient centric services  
to clients. We are also focussed on 
continuing to grow our US business 
and avail of the opportunities in 
that market.

People and talent are a critical element 
to both Ashfield Communications and 
the Commercial and Clinical business 
success. Nurturing and attracting the 
right candidates to work with us has 
been a key focus. 

The division will continue to  
focus on international partnerships 
with clients and ensuring the local 
regions are well placed to deliver 
global contracts. There has been  
an increase in the number of clients 
looking for global providers and 
Ashfield is well placed to deliver 
innovative, high quality services  
on behalf of these clients. 

Ashfield’s focus to improve lives has 
been brought to the forefront of the 
organisation through the Ashfield 
Way initiative. Please see page 43 for 
more details. Clients and employees 
remain a critical focus of the Ashfield 
business, ensuring that there is 
constant innovation to enable us  
to provide clients with high quality 
solutions and attracting and retaining 
employees to ensure the delivery  
of projects on behalf of our clients. 
The launch of the Ashfield Way, an 
employee engagement programme, 
across the division has highlighted 
our focus and connected all 
employees with improving lives.  
It has further embedded our Values 
of Quality, Partnership, Ingenuity, 
Expertise and Energy within our 
organisation. It has resonated  
across the organisation with current 
and potential employees as well as 
demonstrating our commitment  
to helping our clients improve  
the lives of patients through the 
commercialisation of their products. 

out across multiple countries. As  
the number of complex, high value 
medications increases, clients require 
patient-led initiatives to support 
compliance and provide real world 
data to support clinical effectiveness.

Ashfield Clinical provides patient-
centred solutions in 22 countries 
including clinical education, 
consumer/patient information and 
service design. In the last year, the US 
Clinical business has experienced 
strong growth. Ashfield currently 
employs over 600 nurses globally  
and is well positioned internationally 
to provide our clients with leading 
Patient Support Programmes. 

ASHFIELD COMMUNICATIONS
Ashfield Communications had 
another strong year in 2016 with 
many significant business wins 
contributing to the performance. 
Two areas of focus, in line with 
market dynamics, have been patient 
engagement and strategic consulting 
services, driven through constant 
innovation and a search for future 
complementary acquisitions.

UDG Healthcare acquired Pegasus,  
a multi-award winning integrated 
communications agency based in 
Brighton, UK, to complement the 
existing portfolio of services offered 
by Ashfield Communications. Pegasus 
is known for its focus on behaviour 
change and its compelling mission of 
‘inspiring healthy decisions’ through 
integrated campaigns, engaging 
multiple audiences from consumers, 
patients and HCPs to influencers and 
other stakeholder groups. 

Pegasus primarily works in the  
UK market, but also delivers an 
increasing number of European and 
global projects for larger clients. Its 
client list reflects the breadth of its 
‘health first, sector second’ ethos. 

Patient Engagement has been  
a key focus area for Ashfield  
in 2016, bringing together all  
current patient-centric services  
and joining-up the innovation drive  
within Ashfield’s Patient Centre  
of Excellence. A dedicated Patient 
Engagement Director has been 
appointed to advise on patient 
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Pegasus is an integrated healthcare 
communications agency and part  
of Ashfield Communications since 
its acquisition in April 2016. 

In this case study, the client had 
recently acquired a brand and  
they were looking to differentiate it 
within a highly competitive market. 
Pegasus was tasked with devising  
and implementing a bold, creative  
and integrated launch campaign  
to make an immediate impact. 

Pegasus worked with the client to 
develop a strategy that would drive 
positive awareness of the product, 
build brand credibility and engage  

the patient to take more control  
of managing their care, driving 
advocacy and recommendation  
of the product. The project began  
with qualitative and quantitative 
research to uncover behavioural 
insights which informed strategic 
recommendations and lead to a  
more powerful creative route. 

A multi-channel range of tactics 
included a high profile case study  
and brand ambassador, an extensive 
library of advisory videos, educational 
website with informative applications, 
press materials and an extensive social 
media campaign. 

The results: The client was extremely 
happy with the high quality planning, 
strategy and execution which led to  
an impressive outcome. It secured 
extensive media coverage and 
engaged over 300,000 consumers, 
successfully enabling the client to 
establish themselves as a credible 
brand within the specialist skincare 
market, increasing sales value by over 
150% and doubling category share. 
Importantly the campaign ultimately 
changed behaviour and helped 
patients who suffer from skincare 
complaints to manage their condition 
more effectively.

OUR VALUES IN ACTION

Quality 
Pegasus improves 
patient outcomes and 
builds market share
Our focus on Quality and Expertise helped raise brand  
awareness for the client with a multi-channel campaign
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Sharp has delivered  
strong growth ahead  
of the market in 2016 
Throughout 2016, Sharp continued to grow faster than the markets  
we operate in by offering and delivering on quality and customer service-
based solutions. We do this through regular and ongoing investment in our 
people, facilities, continuous improvement, equipment and technology.  
Our objective is for every employee to understand the contribution they  
make to building sustainable, long-term relationships with our clients  
which underpins our success.

Through our capacity expansion in Allentown and our ongoing  
investment in serialisation we are continuing to attract new clients  
as the deadlines for track and trace compliance rapidly approach in  
various geographical markets.

Mike O’Hara, Managing Director of Sharp
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Operating profit

€34.4m
+16%

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
Sharp delivered another year of strong 
growth with revenue increasing by 9% 
to €266.4 million and operating profit 
by 16% to €34.4 million. The division 
generated underlying constant 
currency operating profit growth of 
12% and operating margin increased 
to 12.9% during the year.

Sharp US delivered strong growth 
with revenue increasing by 15% 
compared to the prior year and 
operating profit increased by 19%  
to €35.6 million with positive growth 
evident across all packaging formats. 
Operating margin in the US increased 
to 16.1%.

Our strategic focus in 2016 has been 
to differentiate by investing ahead of 
market demand in people, facilities, 
technology, equipment and process 
excellence to meet the increased 
demand expected for technology-
intensive solutions.

OVERVIEW

Sharp is a global leader in contract packaging and clinical  
trial supply services to the pharmaceutical and life science 
industries. Operating from seven locations with nine state- 
of-the-art facilities across the US and Europe, Sharp’s 
employees work together to deliver world-class services  
in the areas of commercial packaging, clinical services, 
packaging and label design, Interactive Response Technology 
(IRT) and serialisation solutions to support the growing needs 
of our global pharmaceutical clients.

A cornerstone of Sharp’s strategic 
focus this year and for future years  
is to strive to deliver a best-in-class 
customer experience and continue  
to develop a culture of Continuous 
Improvement and Operational 
Excellence, as demonstrated by  
the Sharp Edge. The Sharp Edge 
represents a way of doing business 
that ensures the customer is firmly  
at the centre of the organisation  
and our way of working. As we 
demonstrate our core Values, Sharp’s 
customer partnership model means 
we collaborate with our customers 
from drug discovery to delivery. 
 
Our clients expect us to be 
continuously looking for ways to 
innovate and improve on how we  
handle their products, from packaging 
design to recording of product data 
for compliance purposes.

The US Commercial Packaging 
business has seen continued growth 
in demand for our serialisation 
capabilities as well as the on time, on 
budget completion of the expansion 
in capacity at our Allentown campus 
with the opening of our Biotechnology 
Centre of Excellence. 

The Sharp Clinical business 
progressed its position as a full  
service partner to its customers 
through continued enhancement of 
IRT, Enterprise Resource Planning 
(ERP) and digital system integration.

ABOUT SHARP

Sharp provides an integrated portfolio of innovative 
services to the life sciences industry, supporting 
customers from early Phase 1 stage of drug discovery 
through to full commercial launch and delivery. 

Sharp has built an exceptional global reputation for the 
delivery of quality services built on a solid strategy of 
investment in people, facilities, equipment, technology 
and a culture of continuous improvement.

The Commercial Packaging business offers the full 
range of format capabilities including blister, bottle, 
pouch, stick pack, vial labelling, pre-filled syringe 
labelling and assembly, auto-injector pen assembly  
and labelling and thin film strips solutions. 

The Clinical Services business in Sharp provides a full 
range of innovative clinical trial supply and management 
solutions to support clients’ products from formulation 
development & analysis, manufacturing through to 
clinical supplies packaging, labelling, distribution,  
IRT services, Qualified Person auditing and 
comparator sourcing.

Through the Global Design Services team, Sharp 
provides packaging construction and graphic design 
solutions enabling clients to differentiate their products 
and adapt them for different markets and legislative 
requirements. Working in partnership with clients and 
using the latest in 3D design and printing technology, 
we collaborate to develop packaging solutions that 
contribute to optimal compliance, usability and 
production efficiencies. Sharp also holds the unique 
advantage of an in-house, high-speed, multi-colour 
printing facility providing a full service solution for  
its US customer base.

Sharp has continued to consolidate its position as a 
leader in serialisation and ‘track and trace’ technologies 
with a unique track record in the industry. Serialisation is 
the application of a unique identifying serial code to all 
prescription drug packaging which will be required by 
law, in order to ensure traceability through the supply 
chain to avoid counterfeiting and diversion. Sharp has 
successfully delivered serialisation programmes for  
35 Pharma companies, across eight different countries 
and in six different packaging formats. By leveraging  
a robust and proven infrastructure and experienced 
cross-functional team of experts as well as 
collaborations with industry-leading technology 
partners, Sharp will continue to extend its market  
reach in serialisation, which is required in the US under 
legislation by November 2017 and in Europe from 2019.
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In Europe, the rightsizing of our 
Commercial Packaging business  
has been completed and is ideally 
positioned to attract new business 
through both packaging and 
serialisation capability.

The market in Europe for Sharp is 
different to the market conditions of 
Sharp US with Europe being more 
fragmented in terms of jurisdiction 
and regulation. In Belgium and the 
Netherlands Sharp has sought to 
re-align the cost base in the face  
of excess capacity in certain 
packaging formats. 

Having undertaken a challenging 
improvement programme in Sharp 
Europe, the sites have since had 
positive endorsements from both 
customers and regulatory agencies. 
In 2016 Sharp Belgium successfully 
completed an inspection by the  
US Food and Drug Administration 
(FDA), a milestone that is recognised 
in the European market. Despite  
the volume of activity across our 
European facilities remaining below 
requirements, the improved business 
development pipeline in the second 
half of the year means the business  
is well-positioned for growth.

The global market trend towards 
outsourcing in the pharmaceutical 
industry looks set to continue 
through 2017 which will have  
a positive impact on market 
opportunities for Sharp. 

Sharp’s Commercial Packaging 
business continues to show strong 
growth. In anticipation of this 
growth, Sharp invested $45 million  
in a new Biotechnology Centre of 
Excellence for specialty/biologic/
cold chain packaging in 2016, to 
increase packaging capacity to  
meet increased demand from its  
life science customers. The new 
building marks Sharp’s second major 
expansion within the Allentown, 
Pennsylvania campus since 2014.  
It opened on time and on budget  
and is now operational.

Sharp’s core capabilities are aligned 
within each of the Centres of 
Excellence, allowing the organisation 
develop its people as subject matter 
experts positioning for growth with 
our clients, through the delivery of 
the highest standards in performance.

Over the next 12 months we will also 
target the expected growth in the 
clinical services market by investing 
in, and focussing on, our Clinical 
Services business. 

As our UK-based European Clinical 
Services business continues to grow 
we have identified a site for facility 
expansion and planning is underway 
for relocation. This new site will  
allow Sharp Clinical to offer a more 
comprehensive range of services to 
customers in the UK and throughout 
the EU.

Sharp’s Clinical Services business is 
operating in a market that is growing 
up to 10% per annum. Due to new 
regulatory requirements, specialty 
drug therapies and more complex 
clinical studies, contract clinical 
supply companies will need to 
re-invent themselves to respond  
to increasingly complex 
market dynamics. 

It is no longer sufficient for contract 
manufacturers, packagers and 
distribution companies to be 
proficient in one area of clinical trials 
supply. They need to be able to 
manage the entire supply chain 
whether they deliver the services 
themselves, or outsource those 
services not provided internally. 

Our clients 
expect us to  

be continually 
looking for 

ways to 
innovate and 

improve on 
how we handle 
their products.

SHARP
2016 
€’m

2015 
€’m

Actual 
Growth

Underlying 
Growth 1

Revenue
USA 221.5 192.1 15% 12%
EU 44.9 52.0 (14%) (12%)
Total revenue 266.4 244.1 9% 7%

Operating profit/(loss)
USA 35.6 29.9 19% 15%
EU (1.2) (0.3) – –
Total operating profit 34.4 29.6 16% 12%

Operating margin % 12.9% 12.1%

1. Underlying growth adjusts for the impact of currency movements. There was no acquisition or 
disposal activity in 2015 or 2016.
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The Sharp design team collaborated 
with Alkermes on the design and 
construction of the packaged kit  
for the launch of ARISTADA®.  
As an intramuscular injection for  
the treatment of schizophrenia, the 
design and usability of the package 
make important contributions to its 
correct administration and promote 
the proper use of ARISTADA®. The 
Sharp team partnered with Alkermes 
during many stages of the product 
packaging development, including: 
clinical trials, human factor studies, 
packaging samples, tray samples, 
shipment studies, carton design  
and thermoform design. 

The challenge was to create a design 
for a multi-component packaged kit,  
in three different dosage strengths for 
ARISTADA®. A critical deliverable in 
the functionality of the packaging was 

to reinforce and ensure user 
compliance in administration. 
Effective preparation is crucial to 
ensuring efficacy and a successful 
outcome. The packaging presents 
each component of the kit individually 
in a staged sequence to ensure 
compliance with the instructions.

The complete packaged kit, as 
designed by Sharp, is composed  
of an outer carton with reverse tear 
lid, custom-designed interior 
thermoform tray, snap-fit safety 
instruction card, inner sealed section 
housing two or three needles and 
patient information. The packaging 
had to be both accessible and easy to  
use by the healthcare administrator. 
The packaging also had to be cost- 
effective to print and assemble in  
the commercial phase. It also had to  
be optimally designed for shipping,  

distribution and presentation on the 
shelf. The three different dosage level 
packs needed to be identifiable as one 
brand but clearly distinguishable from 
each other.

Sharp began working with Alkermes  
at the clinical trial stage of the product 
and we were able to leverage that 
knowledge when we came to designing 
and building the packaging for the 
launch of the product. The ARISTADA® 
packaging is currently in commercial 
production at our Allentown facility.

OUR VALUES IN ACTION 

Ingenuity
Sharp design and 
construction of 
ARISTADA® kit  
for Alkermes
Expertise, Ingenuity and Partnership together  
ensures success for Alkermes
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Sharp

Operational Review (continued)

Pharmaceutical companies are 
looking for ways to reduce costs  
and lengthy timelines associated  
with clinical trials. We believe  
Sharp Clinical is well positioned  
to meet these exacting demands  
as we can offer an integrated  
service encompassing the full array 
of clinical functions: formulation, 
manufacturing, packaging, 
distribution and IRT services. 

The analytics and data management 
side of clinical trials is becoming  
an increasing focus for our clients. 
We will continue to invest in our IT 
platform which enables us to support 
these complex studies and manage 
the data needed to ensure patients 
receive the right drug on time and 
within the specifications outlined  
in the trial protocol.
 
This infrastructure also allows  
us to support all necessary 
regulatory filings in a timely  
and cost-efficient manner.

We expect market trends will  
bring further opportunity for  
Sharp. As the industry moves 
towards legislative deadlines, the 
growth in the demand for serialised 
packaging solutions is expected to 
drive the demand for outsourced 
packaging and the consolidation  
of contract packaging organisations. 
 
As a leading expert in serialisation, 
Sharp is well positioned to capitalise 
on this trend towards market 
consolidation. Sharp will also continue 
to look for opportunities for capacity 
expansion of contract packaging.

WHAT’S NEXT?
In anticipation of further 
consolidation in the market for 
outsourced manufacturing and 
packaging, Sharp will continue to 
position itself as a leader in the 
industry by looking and acting like 
pharmaceutical through facilities, 
equipment, quality of output, service 
and the Company’s commitment to 
Continuous Improvement.

Sharp will continue to grow by 
differentiating itself through its 
people who deliver excellence in 
operations, quality, IT, customer 
service and business development. 
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Sharp has been the contract 
packaging partner for many  
years for a leading producer of 
prescription flu product in the  
US market. The product is used  
to treat the flu (influenza virus) in 
people two weeks of age and older 
and, as such, it is subject to seasonal 
spikes in demand. 

Our client needed a fast and reliable 
contract packaging partner who could 
respond to these market demands 
without compromising on quality of 
service. Sharp is the only packager  
for this prescription flu product in  
the US market. 

The Sharp team developed a 
custom-built, high-speed, fully-
integrated serialised packaging line  

for the client product that included 
three levels of serialisation, from 
carton, to shipper, to pallet. The new 
line was designed to utilise a fully 
integrated labeller, cartoner and case 
packer. The biggest challenge was to 
maintain the highest level of quality at 
such high speeds for a serialised line –  
on average 120 bottles per minute. 
The automation on the line ensures 
operations run with optimal efficiency 
and compliancy, particularly during 
episodes of high demand such as flu 
season or pandemic situations. 

The Sharp team responsible for 
delivering and executing this unique 
packaging solution reflects the 
expertise and diversity of function  
that many of our clients rely upon 
across our organisation: Engineering, 

Validation, Project Management,  
Tech Services, Operations and Quality 
Assurance. This Sharp team worked 
in concert to ensure the optimal 
customer experience that embodies 
our Values of Partnership and Quality.

Our client’s willingness to invest in this 
bespoke high-speed, integrated line is 
an endorsement of Sharp’s expertise 
and experience in implementing 
serialised solutions. Sharp has been 
working with this pharmaceutical 
client since 1997 and the relationship 
represents an excellent example of the 
client-partner collaboration that Sharp 
strives for and illustrates the best of 
our Values of Quality, Partnership  
and Expertise.

OUR VALUES IN ACTION 

Expertise
Serialisation expertise: 
How Sharp responds to 
market demands 
Our Expertise and commitment to innovation ensured  
we met the market challenges for our client
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Aquilant

Operational Review (continued)

Our people have continued to deliver 
innovative solutions for our client 
base while maintaining a focus on 
long-term strategic goals which will 
position us to take advantage of our 
client’s movement to higher quality 
market services organisations in 
the future
The team is working hard to ensure we are best-in-class when it comes  
to sales compliance, quality of our facilities and service levels. We believe  
this will enable us to capture a larger share of new business opportunities  
in the future.

Sean Coyle, Group Finance Director  
& Managing Director of Aquilant
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Operating profit

€6.2m
-14%

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
Aquilant had a disappointing year 
from a financial perspective where 
the significant movement in Sterling 
relative to both the Euro and US 
Dollar had a negative impact on the 
financial results as reported in Euro. 
Despite recording flat revenue on an 
underlying basis, this resulted in a 
14% decline in profit year-on-year.

Revenue was 8% behind the prior 
year, however, adjusting for the 
closure of Aquilant’s UK laboratory 
business in February 2015 and 
negative currency movements, 
underlying revenue was in line  
with the prior year. 

Reported operating profit was 14% 
behind the prior year primarily due  
to adverse currency movements and 
the timing of capital sales activity. 
Underlying operating profit was  
2% (circa €0.2 million) behind the 
prior year. 

OVERVIEW

Aquilant is a leading market services organisation specialising 
in medical and scientific products and services providing 
outsourced sales, marketing, distribution and engineering 
services to its clients. 

During 2016 Aquilant continued to 
provide customised solutions for 
established brands and niche 
products and was involved in 
launching a number of new products 
for existing clients and new agencies. 
Twelve new agencies were added over 
the course of the year, the highest 
number ever added in a single year, 
and many of these agencies will see 
their first sales in 2017. Our services 
ranged from sales and marketing, 
inbound and outbound logistics, 
warehousing, operations, regulatory 
and quality services.

We continue to service and maintain 
medical and scientific equipment  
on behalf of clients and develop 
sophisticated sales and marketing 
strategies encompassing product 
launch and market development, 
hospital and advocacy development 
and pricing and reimbursement 
strategies.

Areas of operational focus in 2016 
included:

• the development and renewal  
of key principal partnerships and 
distribution agreements, with a 
number of our existing agencies 
secured on long-term multi-year 
contracts; 

• efficiency projects and sales 
effectiveness; and

• investments in key support 
capabilities:
• IT & procurement;
• quality & compliance; and
• warehousing & distribution.

ABOUT AQUILANT

As a market services organisation within the medtech  
and life sciences industries we operate in the Republic  
of Ireland, the UK and the Netherlands to orchestrate 
appropriate solutions for clients, purchasers, clinicians 
and patients. 

In doing so, we deliver on behalf of healthcare 
manufacturers in diverse therapeutic areas, launch  
and develop key markets, create clinical awareness, 
drive adoption of products and related services and 
introduce leading technologies, all with the goal  
of enhancing patient outcomes, whilst maintaining 
budgetary expenditure in very competitive markets.

Aquilant has a specialised tenders administration  
function for sourcing and submitting of sales tenders with 
procurement offices and also maintain customer’s online 
catalogues, online multi-quotes and provide tender usage 
reporting as required.

Other service support offered includes; sales order 
processing, financial billing and correspondence,  
and managing of back orders with suppliers through  
to fulfilment.

Our vision is to be recognised as the most commercially 
innovative patient and customer-focussed market 
service organisation for the medtech and scientific 
sectors and to be seen as the partner of choice for  
sales, quality and distribution expertise.
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Aquilant

Operational Review (continued)

We believe consolidation of the 
distributor base across Europe will 
happen in the coming years as quality 
and regulatory requirements rise.

Our existing agencies are seeking  
an operational and logistics growth 
platform that will service their 
business in multiple geographies  
and provide a single point of contact 
rather than managing multiple 
relationships and this provides 
significant opportunity for growth. 
We continue to develop relationships 
in order to attract principals earlier  
in their product life cycle and assist 
them with getting pricing and 
reimbursement approval, gaining 
product acceptance with key opinion 
leaders and gaining access to the 
national framework in the 
appropriate market.

Increasingly, we are also seeing 
interest from manufacturers seeking 
a single solution for the UK and 
Ireland market, where we are unique 
in having market leading positions.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
At 30 September 2016 the Group  
has classified its joint venture 
arrangement with Magir Limited as a 
discontinued operation and an asset 
held for sale. Magir Limited is the 
holding company for the Medicare 
pharmacy chain in Northern Ireland.

WHAT’S NEXT?
Beyond 2016 the outlook for the 
business is positive, based on the 
strength of the European medtech 
devices market and the migration  
to higher quality service providers. 
Aquilant is ahead of the curve  
from an investment perspective  
in meeting those standards and sees 
the opportunity to grow the number 
of clients we act for as a result.

Twelve new 
agencies were 

added over  
the course of  
the year, the 
highest ever 

added in a 
single year, and 

many of these 
agencies will 
see their first 
sales in 2017.

AQUILANT 1
2016 
€’m

2015 
€’m

Actual 
Growth

Underlying 
Growth 2

Revenue 92.2 99.9 (8%) (1%)

Operating profit 6.2 7.2 (14%) (2%)

Operating margin % 6.7% 7.2%

1. Excludes United Drug Supply Chain Services, United Drug Sangers and TCP Group in 2016 and  
2015 as they are included in discontinued operations with their disposal completed on 1 April 2016. 
Also excludes the Group’s share of profits from the joint venture, Magir Limited, which has been 
classified as a discontinued operation. 

2. Underlying growth adjusts for the impact of currency movements and any acquisition, closure or 
disposal activity.
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Aquilant Interventional have 
represented Vascular Solutions Inc 
(VSI) a US-based medical device 
manufacturer for a number of years. 
We have an excellent relationship 
with VSI and continually grow the 
VSI range year-on-year through our 
Cardiology team in the UK.

In 2015 VSI launched a new catheter 
designed for specialist applications  
in complex coronary interventions. 
The challenge for the Interventional 
Cardiology team was to launch the VSI 
product called Turnpike into the UK 
market as part of a worldwide launch  
by all VSI distributors and to take 
market share from the established 
competitor brand.

The Aquilant team’s understanding  
of the market and product application 
allowed them to launch Turnpike  
in the UK with a high degree of 
confidence. Utilising a mix of key 
opinion leaders to educate on 
Turnpike and with a high focus on  
the application of the product, the 
team quickly started to make inroads 
into UK cardiology suites, driving 
adoption of Turnpike with users.

Key to the successful launch were  
the customer relationships that the 
team have and the trust that has been 
built in the Aquilant team and the  
well regarded VSI brand. This was in 
combination with clinical meetings  
for cardiologists sharing experience  

of using Turnpike in live cases so  
new potential customers could see 
Turnpike used successfully in the 
hands of their peers.

Customer feedback has been 
excellent; we are seeing increased 
volumes of Turnpike used every 
month since launch. Supplier feedback 
is that VSI are delighted with the  
work of the team. This culminated  
in Aquilant Interventional winning  
an award from VSI for highest 
distributor sales worldwide.

OUR VALUES IN ACTION 

Energy 
Award winning  
new product launch  
for Turnpike
Our Energy and Partnership with the customer  
key to successful launch of new product
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Building a responsible  
and ethical Values  
based organisation
In UDG Healthcare we want to build a business that not only provides high 
quality solutions for our clients but one that is ethical and responsible in 
everything that it does. We try and achieve this through the five pillars of 
our CSR Programme. These pillars are very much part of what we are in 
UDG Healthcare and they are embedded throughout all our operations.

Brendan McAtamney
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OVERVIEW

Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR) is a strategic focus area 

for the Group and a contributing 
factor to living our Values. 

We aim to involve employees and inform our stakeholders about how we 
contribute ethically, economically and socially to local communities. Our 

CSR programme also includes our efforts to raise funds for worthy causes 
in our community, improve safety and minimise the environmental impact 
of our activities. This section explains how we look after the wellbeing and 
development of our employees, our investment in our local communities 

and the ways we go about reducing our environmental impact.

People 

We recognise the 
critical role our 

employees play in 
driving success  

through partnering  
with clients in order  

to deliver quality 
solutions to patients. 

Quality & 
Compliance

Quality and 
compliance is at  

the core of what we 
do as a business.  

It is important that 
we provide the best 

quality service for our 
clients and their 

patients and 
demonstrate how 
compliant we are  

as a business. We set 
high standards and 
expect the same in 

return from all  
our stakeholders.

Environment & 
Sustainability 

We all have a 
responsibility  
to protect our 
environment.  

In UDG Healthcare  
we embrace this 

responsibility 
through policy  

and practice enabling 
us to carry out  

our business in a 
sustainable manner.

Community  
Involvement

We want to make  
a difference to the 

communities in which 
we operate and we 

continually 
encourage our 
employees to  

support their local 
communities through 

fundraising and/or 
donating their time  
to worthy causes.

Economic 
Contribution

We have significant 
responsibilities to  

our economic 
stakeholders in all  

the locations where 
we operate. These 

stakeholders benefit 
from our continued 

growth and, similarly, 
we rely on their 

support and 
commitment to 

achieve our long- 
term goals. 

Read more on pages  
42 and 43

Read more on pages  
44 to 47

Read more on pages  
48 and 49

Read more on pages  
50 and 51

Read more on page  
51



“Inspire was 
more than a 

leadership 
course; it was 

an experience. 
A really great, 

positive, 
educational 
experience.  

I’ve never 
before come 

away from  
a programme 
so enthused, 
desperate to 

implement the 
learnings and 
excited about 

the impact.”

Inspire 
Participant
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18%

0.7%

78%

3.3%

57%

34%

9%

UNDERPINNED BY  
EXCELLENCE IN HR

REW
ARD

CULTURE

TALENT

PEOPLE

LEADERSHIP

Corporate Social Responsibility (continued)

BUILDING AND DEVELOPING 
OUR TALENT 
The success of our Group is 
dependent on attracting, retaining 
and developing talented and skilled 
employees. Therefore, ensuring we 
have the depth and breadth of talent 
required to deliver our strategy is a 
key priority.

Our Talent Management process 
incorporates a future focussed 
succession plan that has been 
implemented in all our businesses 
along with a talent calendar which 
includes quarterly updates to the  
CEO by our businesses. These ‘Talent 
Review Conversations’ are now an 
ongoing process and will inform our 
Leadership Development Agenda  
as we integrate career development 
and succession planning.

We recognise that development  
is a core lever for effective talent 
management. Within all of our 
businesses we have a range of activities 
to support the development of our 
people with a curriculum of learning 
that spans Operational Excellence 
within Sharp, Lean Management 
within our Quality function and the 
Ashfield Academy of personal and 
professional development.

ENABLING AND EMPOWERING 
OUR LEADERS
We maintain a strong focus on 
leadership across our Group  
by implementing Leadership 
Development Initiatives and increasing 
opportunities for collaboration across 
our divisions. In 2016 we launched  
the INSPIRE Leadership Development 
Programme. This programme is 
targeted at increasing Leadership 
capability and embedding our Values 
across all our businesses. 100% of our 
target global leadership population 
have now completed the programme.

This year we also commenced the  
roll out of the Drive Management 
Development Programme, again 
grounded in our Values and aimed at 
our first line managers/supervisory 
Groups. In 2017, 100% of the target 
population will have attended  
the programme.

CREATING A VALUES  
BASED CULTURE 
Our culture is based on our Values, 
they define how we act both internally 
and externally with our partners and 
clients. Embedding our Values in  
all our people processes is key to 
ensuring we maintain our Values at the 
forefront of all we do. The message  
is clear across our organisation, our 
Values matter, they define our culture, 
resonate with our clients and will 
enable us deliver our strategy.

PEOPLE 
LEAD THROUGH PEOPLE 
We are a people-based business 
operating in dynamic healthcare 
markets that are highly regulated and 
demand high quality and compliance 
standards. We continuously work  
to adapt, develop and create new 
services and solutions to help 
customers succeed in this complex 
marketplace. We build a culture 
which is based on our Values and 
develop our talent by encouraging 
the Ingenuity and Expertise necessary 
to support our clients ambitions. 

Our Values unite us in delivering  
our vision of improving patients lives. 
We aim to integrate these Values  
into our people processes and into 
everyday interaction with our clients. 
We invest in the development of our 
people, empowering and enabling 
them to be the best they can be. At 
UDG we build, attract and encourage 
entrepreneurial leadership teams, 
often with acquired businesses  
that are capable of delivering 
outstanding performance.

Our People Strategy

UDG Healthcare  
Headcount by Division

UDG Healthcare  
Headcount by Continent

  Ashfield (6,237)
  Sharp (1,441)
 Aquilant (258)
 UDG (52)

 Europe (4,577)
 North America (2,726)
  Asia (685)
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Specific initiatives within our 
divisions have further embedded  
our Values. The Ashfield Way, aims 
to engage people with a strong sense 
of purpose and connection to our 
Values. ‘Our people improve lives’ 
is a stated purpose that has been 
embraced enthusiastically by Ashfield 
employees as being at the heart of 
what they do. Measurement of the 
success of this initiative will take place 
through a scorecard which includes 
Customer Satisfaction, Employee 
Engagement, Financial Performance 
and Impact on Society. 

In our Sharp business the  
‘Sharp Edge’ is a programme of 
activity that is aimed at engaging our 
people in a customer-focussed series  
of initiatives. Again, this is framed 
within the context of the Values and 
very much bringing to life our Values 
of Energy and Ingenuity. 

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION
UDG Healthcare is committed to 
building sustainable change in the 
development of talent that embraces 
the diversity of the world in which  
we live and work. We respect the 
importance of diversity in all its many 
facets as a positive contributor to our 
culture. When new companies join 
UDG they do so on the basis of an 
alignment with our Values but 
equally we embrace the different 
perspectives they bring to our Group.

Within our organisation we recognise 
the importance of gender balance, 
not only as a positive cultural 
dynamic, but as a contributing factor 
to better business decisions at all 
levels in the organisation. In 2016 
UDG Healthcare became supporters 
of the 30% club, an organisation 
committed to moving towards 
improved ratios of female 
participation at senior levels.

All our companies promote, develop 
and attract people on an equal 
opportunities basis, regardless of age, 
sex, sexual orientation, religion, race 
or disability. In the coming year we 
will continue this focus on developing 
the diversity and inclusivity agenda by 
implementing a number of diversity 
awareness initiatives. 

REWARD
We believe in recognising and 
rewarding our people appropriately  
in line with the market and based on 
their performance and contribution  
to the organisation. We also have 
methods of recognising employees 
who demonstrate the Company 
Values in their day-to-day work and 
these have been launched globally. 

The Ashfield Way
Colleagues from across  
the Group participating  
at the Inspire Leadership 
Programme.



Quality is  
one of UDG 
Healthcare’s 

core 
characteristics, 
it defines how 
we approach 

our business on 
a daily basis,  

it defines our 
people and it 

defines our 
standards.
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QUALITY & 
COMPLIANCE
In January 2016, the Quality and 
Compliance functions were combined 
and it now has responsibility for  
quality, risk management, insurance, 
environmental, health & safety, 
compliance and data protection.

Our commitment to Quality is 
embodied in our Values. Values sum 
up what a business believes in and 
practices. Quality is one of UDG 
Healthcare’s core characteristics:  
it defines how we approach  
our business on a daily basis,  
it defines our people and it  
defines our standards.

Our Quality framework, as articulated 
in the Quality Vision, is a model for 
continuous improvement rather than 
a model solely based on compliance. 
All business units have engaged in 
quality assurance processes and  
aim to develop a culture of quality 
across their respective businesses. 
The Quality assurance processes  
are based on regular review and 
continuous improvement enabling  
the development of better 
quality services. 

In the course of the past year there 
have been in excess of 12 Quality 
audits throughout the Group by 
regulators resulting in no serious 
deficiencies. Most significantly  
there was a successful FDA audit  
in Sharp Belgium and successful  
ISO recertification of Aquilant 
Northern Ireland within weeks of  
the completion of the separation 
from United Drug Sangers.

COMPLIANCE
Our Vision and Values are 
underpinned by our desire to 
maintain the highest ethical 
standards in everything that we do. 
This is why we are also committed  
to always meeting our legal and 
regulatory obligations. In our 
Compliance Policy, we set out the 
system we have adopted to help 
ensure that together we can meet 
this commitment. Our policy is an 
overarching system which includes: 
equal responsibility for compliance; 
defined specific roles of the Board; 
management and our employees,  
and also a framework of polices  
and a central compliance training 
resource, the ComplianceCentre. 
This training resource helps manage 
employee compliance with our 
policies and complete our e-learning 
training programmes on Anti-Bribery 
and Corruption, Code of Conduct 
and Confidential Reporting 
amongst others.

MODERN ANTI-SLAVERY
UDG Healthcare is committed  
to acting ethically and with integrity  
in all our business dealings and within 
our supply chain. In accordance with 
our Modern Anti-Slavery Policy,  
we endeavour to carry out our own 
recruitment activities and/or to only 
use reputable employment agencies 
to source labour and we carry out 
appropriate background checks. 

We expect all who have, or seek to 
have, a business relationship with 
UDG Healthcare and/or any division 
within UDG Healthcare, to familiarise 
themselves with our anti-slavery 
policy and to act at all times in a way 
which is consistent with our policy. 

All procurement teams in UDG 
Healthcare also follow a standardised 
sourcing process for the identification, 
selection and management of 
suppliers to the Company and are 
responsible for ensuring that all 
dealings with suppliers, whether 
contractual or not, comply with our 
policy. The Group’s Confidential 
Reporting encourages all our 
employees to report any concerns 
related to the direct activities of the 
organisation or its supply chain, 
including any circumstances that  
may give rise to an enhanced risk  
of slavery or human trafficking.

HEALTH AND SAFETY
At UDG Healthcare we firmly believe 
that people are our most important 
resource. We strive to ensure that 
everyone who works for or with  
us benefits from our commitment  
to health, safety and employee 
support. We foster a culture where 
healthy lifestyles and safe practices 
are encouraged.

We continually engage with our 
employees, customers and key 
stakeholders as we believe this 
engagement helps us learn,  
increases our transparency and 
forges important relationships.

We achieve and build upon this 
commitment to health and safety 
through monitoring performance, 
identifying areas for improvement, 
proactive planning and engagement 
with key stakeholders.

Corporate Social Responsibility (continued)



Duty of care  
to employees 

extends to 
those travelling 

on Company 
business and 

we take this 
seriously.
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Lost Time Accidents (LTAs)

382016

762015

682014

Between 2014 and 2015 there was  
an increase in the number of lost time 
accidents recorded. This may be linked 
to an increase in communication to  
the business on categorisation of 
incidents and how we record lost  
time. Positively, in 2016 we have seen a 
significant reduction in the number of 
lost time accidents recorded. This may 
be linked to the divestment of United 
Drug thereby resulting in a decrease  
in supply chain related risks and also 
due to an increase in proactive incident 
management particularly within the 
Sharp division.

Total number of days lost

8942016

1,1312015

6212014

There was a large increase in the 
number of days lost in 2015, which 
was directly linked to enhancing  
the accuracy of days lost recording 
across the business. Days lost are 
recorded from the first day of 
absence after an accident until the 
employee returns to work. This 
excludes days where the employee  
is not scheduled to work and any 
scheduled annual leave days. In 2016 
we have seen a decrease in the 
number of days lost. This is attributed 
to advances in our health and safety 
incident investigation practices 
allowing us to understand the root 
cause of incidents, which in turn 
helps us to prevent reoccurrences. 

There has been a common theme  
of cause of incident across all years. 

During 2016 the top three causes
of incident were:

• slip/trip/fall;
• strike against something fixed 

or stationery; and
• road traffic accident.

EHS AUDIT
Building on the EHS audit programme 
developed in 2014, separate health 
and safety and environmental audits 
were conducted at eight sites. Five 
additional sites were also re-audited 
across Europe and the US. 

All sites scored higher in the health 
and safety audits, however the 
environmental audits had poorer 
outcomes. This has helped shape 
priorities for 2017. While some sites 
scored exceptionally well as they 
were ISO 14001 approved, other sites 
required further improvement and 
work is underway to ensure the 
recommendations are implemented. 
There was a marked improvement in 
those sites that were re-audited. 

Priorities for improvement include:

• carrying out more risk assessment;
• improving contractor control; and
• development of local 

environmental policies and KPIs.

EMERGENCY TRAVEL  
RESPONSE PROCESS
We are a global company with 
increasing numbers of employees 
travelling on company business.  
At times this travel takes employees 
to places with varying degrees of  
risk especially with recent increased 
unrest across the world. 

We recognise that our duty of care  
to employees extends to those 
travelling on company business  
and we take this seriously. With the 
support of our Senior Executive 
Team, we have developed an easy  
to follow, workable tool and tracking 
mechanism which ensures we are 
aware of employee’s locations when 
travelling. In turn, this ensures that 
we can support our employees and 
minimise any impacts should an 
incident occur.

INCIDENT MANAGEMENT
Environment, Health and Safety 
(EHS) is an umbrella term for the 
laws, rules, guidance and processes 
designed to help protect employees, 
the public and the environment from 
harm. Our EHS responsible people 
oversee environmental protection  
and occupational health and safety  
at work. One of our main objectives 
under EHS protection is prevention  
of incidents or accidents. 

Both a standardised incident report 
and investigation form was developed 
and implemented across the business. 
Standardising these forms ensures we 
record consistent information for all 
incidents and that our investigations 
will be thorough and determine  
root causes. This in turn allows us  
to mitigate against these types of 
incidents from occurring again. 

The total number of incidents include 
near miss reporting, minor injury, lost 
time accidents and fatalities. There 
were no workplace fatalities during 
the year.

Total number of incidents

3332016

3912015

3922014

The figures for 2016 demonstrates a 
considerable decrease in the number 
of incidents across our business 
compared to prior years. 

The accuracy of incident reporting 
across the business has improved 
year-on-year as a result of staff 
training on incident management  
and by enhancing the level of detail 
recorded when reporting incidents.



Our Health and 
Safety network 
is a community  

of practice.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY 
PROMOTION
Following the establishment  
of Divisional Health and Safety 
Committees and the UDG Healthcare 
Health and Safety Network in the 
business last year, processes were 
expanded and branded to improve 
health and safety communication 
within the businesses.

The network is a ‘community of 
practice’ where some initiatives  
are Group-led and others are 
business-led to encourage learning 
and sharing of best practice, but 
ultimately to assist all sites improve 
the management of health and  
safety. In October each year, UDG 
Healthcare’s ‘Health and Safety at 
Work Week’ is a key focus for our 
workplace and is an opportunity for 
us to publicise positive health and 
safety performance at work whilst 
enhancing awareness around risks  
in the business. At UDG Healthcare 
we firmly believe that people are our 
most important resource and we’re 
delighted to support and contribute 
to this week in 2016 with initiatives 
such as:

• focus on ‘health’ in health  
and safety;

• lone working;
• fire safety;
• celebrating the successes of  

our Health and Safety 
committees; and

• Employee Assistance 
Programmes.

International Workers Memorial Day 
is also marked annually and is used  
to promote health and safety and 
travel safety awareness.

DRIVER SAFETY
Driving is an integral part of how we 
conduct our business. The importance 
of driving safety must be part of our 
organisation’s DNA. UDG Healthcare’s 
driver safety programme is designed 
to give our drivers proactive tools to 
create a safety mindset and avoid an 
adverse driving event altogether.

Network of Employers for Traffic 
Safety (NETS) is a collaborative 
group of companies dedicated to  
road safety and sharing lessons 
learned. UDG Healthcare will use  
this network to benchmark driver 
safety performance against similar 
industries, as an opportunity to 
network with road safety peers  
and share best practice.

 
As driver safety is a recognised 
occupational risk to employees, we 
have focused on developing driver 
safety management controls such as a 
driver safety policy and measurement 
of key performance indicators for 
driver-related incidents, collisions  
and mileage travelled. 

It is important we continue to have 
no fatalities and improve the driving 
behaviour of our employees on the 
road in order to protect their safety 
and that of other road users.

People Place Performance

Our stakeholders  Our communities Our commitment

• Managing and 
monitoring fleet 
and driver safety  
in a consistent 
manner across  
the business with 
support from  
the Senior 
Executive Team

• Driver Safety 
Management 
Committee

• Driver Safety 
Training, 
Education and  
Risk Assessment

• Responsibility to 
other road users

• Reducing carbon 
footprint in  
line with our 
Environmental 
Sustainability 
Policy

• Standardising 
policies and 
procedures across 
the business in  
all territories

• Implementing the 
recommendations  
from a 
benchmarking 
survey

• Establishing  
and monitoring 
incident trends

• Implementing  
key performance 
metrics in this  
area which will be 
comparable with 
industry standards  
to help drive better 
performance 
(NETS) going 
forward 

We improve driver safety performance by:
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Pharmaceutical products are 
designed to have a specific  
effect in the human body. 

While this is precisely the intention  
in a patient with a known condition, 
these effects are not desirable in  
the employees who handle these 
pharmaceutical products as part  
of their everyday job.

Recognising the need for a clear and 
accessible hazard communication 
programme, specifically as it applies  
to the products presented in our 
facilities, the Sharp Environmental 
Health and Safety team collaborated  
to develop a system to communicate 
these known health hazards to  
our colleagues.

This employee-driven initiative resulted 
in what is called the Occupational 
Exposure Band (OEB) system.  
The OEB banding is a language-

independent, colour-coding scheme 
which simply and effectively 
communicates the relative severity  
of pharmaceutical products in  
the workplace. 

All pharmaceutical products handled 
by Sharp are subject to our Product 
Safety and Quality Risk Assessment 
(PSQRA) process and are each 
assigned to one of five colour bands 
based on the hazard that they present, 
such as physical form, occupational 
exposure limits, hazard classification, 
etc. The designated colour-coded 
hazard level is clearly displayed, along 
with Personal Protective Equipment 
(PPE) requirements, at the entry point 
into each production room to ensure 
our associates are aware of the hazard 
associated with what that they will  
be handling in that particular room. 
Inside the room, a master OEB poster 
is on display as a further reference for 
hazard information.

Many of Sharp’s customers will visit 
the packaging suite to observe their 
product being packaged. The OEB 
system also informs visitors of the 
necessary gowning/PPE requirement 
to safely visit a packaging suite.

This OEB system – which was 
developed internally by the EHS team 
at Allentown and Conshohocken – 
demonstrates a proactive management 
of safety and is an example of the very 
best of our Values of Ingenuity and 
Energy. The simplicity and accessibility 
of the visual scheme means it can  
be shared and implemented at each 
Sharp location in the US, UK  
and Europe.

OEB1 OEB2 OEB3 OEB4 OEB5

CASE STUDY 

Ingenuity
Communicating 
occupational hazards 
through colour
Using Ingenuity & Energy  
to ensure employee safety
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ENVIRONMENT & 
SUSTAINABILITY
POLICY AND TARGETS  
AND INTENTIONS
We recognise our organisation  
has a direct impact on the quality  
of the environment that surrounds 
us. Environmental performance 
varies across the Group. 

Our journey has begun with  
gaining a better understanding  
of our environmental footprint,  
its impact and how it’s changing. 

Our Environmental Sustainability 
policy was launched in June 2016 and 
identifies our collective commitment 
in respect of Environmental 
Sustainability and is applicable  
to our Group-wide business. 
In order to provide direction to  
the organisation on these key 
environmental areas of focus,  
a detailed guidance document  
was produced. It will be reviewed 
annually in an effort to enhance and 
evolve environmental compliance 
throughout our business. 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
RESPONSIBILITIES
There has been an increase in  
client requests for evidence of the 
environmental performance of our 
Group, in order to improve their 
understanding of environmental  
and social impacts. We see this now 
as part of tendering processes but 
also as part of larger projects such as 
the EU ‘Together for Sustainability’ 
(TfS) Programme in the 
Pharmaceutical sector.

Sharp is taking part in this 
programme which aims to develop 
and implement a global supplier 
engagement programme that 
assesses and improves sustainability 
sourcing practices, including 
ecological and social aspects. In turn, 
this means that suppliers now only 
have to complete one form and 
buyers can access the information 
through a shared platform.

ENERGY EFFICIENCY
The Energy Efficiency Directive or 
‘EED’ came into force on 14 November 
2012 which established a common 
framework of binding measures for  
the promotion of energy efficiency in 
order to ensure the achievement of the 
European Union’s 2020 20% headline 
energy efficiency target. Article 8 of 
the EED requires EU Member States  
to introduce a programme of regular 
energy assessments or ‘audits’ for large 
enterprises. The purpose of the energy 
audit is to provide clear information on 
potential energy savings by reviewing 
the energy consumption profile of 
buildings, industrial operations or 
installations and transportation. 

This applied to most European  
sites within the business. Due to  
the application of this legislation  
in multiple territories, nine sites  
were audited in total (some of which  
were representative of smaller  
office locations), most of which are 
office facilities in leased buildings. 

Our journey 
has begun with 
gaining a better 
understanding 

of our 
environmental 

footprint, its 
impact and 

how it’s 
changing.

The reports were reviewed at  
Group level and, in summary,  
the recommendations and 
opportunities for improvement 
included the following:

• installation of daylight sensor 
controls;

• upgrade the lighting to energy 
efficient LED alternatives;

• improve the maintenance of  
the air conditioning units and 
optimise the temperature set 
points and controls;

• Monitoring & Targeting energy 
data to detect opportunities  
for permanent modifications to  
plant, equipment, buildings and 
operating procedures especially 
for diesel in cars;

• provide staff training and 
awareness in energy efficiency;

• implement driver training on 
eco-friendly driving methods; and

• transport – review existing 
Company fleet.

As part of tracking our footprint  
for 2017, we will assess whether the 
implementation of recommendations 
has delivered on the estimated 
potential reductions.

The policy outlines three main areas of focus:

People Place Performance

Our stakeholders  Our communities Our commitment

• Education, awareness  
and training

• Proactive management 
• Improved motivation 
• Awareness of customers 

and investors’ expectations

• Good neighbour relations 
• Sustainable buildings 
• Measurement and 

communication of 
environmental performance 

• Enhanced corporate image

• Reduced waste volumes  
to landfill

• Reduced carbon footprint 
via improved energy 
consumption controls

• Reduced environmental 
impact from corporate 
transport

• Enhanced hazardous 
substance control  
where applicable
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The highest energy consuming sites in the Group

Division Location Activity

Size
2016

(sq. feet)

Total
2016

(kWh)

Total
2015

(kWh)

Sharp Pennsylvania, US Commercial 
Packaging

870,074 49,710,619 24,320,986 

Sharp Hamont-Achel, BE Commercial 
Packaging

65,000 5,675,930 5,812,359 

Sharp Heerenveen, NL Commercial 
Packaging

110,000 1,552,757 1,489,663 

Ashfield Ashby de la Zouch, UK Office 45,000 1,100,867 1,386,147 

Ashfield Pennsylvania, US Office 51,824 948,769 961,302 

Emissions from the largest car fleets within the Group 

Division Location

No. of 
vehicles 

2016

Total CO2  
produced  

2016

Total 
(km)
2016

Average 
CO2 g/km 

per vehicle
2016

Average  
CO2 g/km  

per vehicle  
2015

Ashfield Ashby de la Zouch, UK 780 2,095,040,530 19,045,823 110 114

Ashfield Hirschberg, Germany 518 1,954,191,813 18,954,334 103 103

Ashfield Madrid, Spain 393 1,552,777,174 13,620,852 114 112

Ashfield Istanbul, Turkey 291 1,063,910,813 8,940,427 119 111

Ashfield Lisbon, Portugal 93 464,210,240 4,463,560 104 111

Ashfield Pennsylvania, US 201 524,929,572 3,439,313 167 161

The process of 
gathering 

environmental 
performance 

data is 
continually 

being enhanced 
throughout the 

Group.

ENERGY AND EMISSIONS 
INFORMATION
The highest energy consuming sites 
across the Group are set out in the 
table below. 

We estimate that these sites account 
for in excess of 75% of the total 
energy consumption in the Group.

As set out in the table, the activity 
carried out differs from one location 
to another. As expected, the energy 
consumption levels are higher in our 
sites within the Sharp division than 
within the sites in our Ashfield division. 

The significant rise in kWh 
consumption in our Sharp Campus in 
Pennsylvania during 2016 is primarily 
due to the extensive refurbishment 
works being completed in a number 
of our packaging plants.

The process of gathering 
environmental performance data  
is continually being enhanced 
throughout the Group.

Emissions from the largest car fleets 
within the Group are also set out in 
the table below. 

We estimate that the car fleets listed 
account for in excess of 75% of the 
total car fleet of the Group. When 
compared to 2015 the average CO2 
emissions (g/km/vehicle) of these 
largest car fleets has marginally 
increased during 2016. 

This estimation is based  
on CO2 emissions as specified by  
the relevant car manufacturers.

The Group reports its greenhouse 
gases emissions and climate change 
strategy to the Carbon Disclosure 
Project (CDP). A key objective  
of the CDP Ireland Network is  
to increase Irish organisations’ 
transparency on environmental 
performance in order to build 
resilience and sustainability.
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Barnardos works directly with the 
children and families who need us 
most, providing services to empower 
them to change their lives and build  
a better future. 

Every day in 40 projects across 
Ireland they work with thousands  
of children and families whose lives 
are marred by issues such as poverty, 
neglect and educational disadvantage. 

LauraLynn is Ireland’s only Children’s 
Hospice. The charity cares for 
children with life-limiting conditions, 
and their families, through their  
hospice in Leopardstown and 
through their homecare team. 
LauraLynn focus on enhancing 
quality of life, physical comfort and 
wellbeing, as well as the emotional, 
social and spiritual aspects of care. 

Irish Children’s Arthritis Network  
are a volunteer charity that supports 
over 300 families in Ireland who have 
a child living with Juvenile Idiopathic 

COMMUNITY 
INVOLVEMENT
As part of our commitment to living 
our Values, UDG Healthcare actively 
encourages employees to support 
their local communities through 
fundraising and/or donating their 
time to worthy causes. Sometimes 
the activity is led by the organisation 
but on many occasions it is our 
employees who instigate projects 
and initiatives. 

CHILDREN’S CHARITIES
Since 2012, UDG Healthcare has 
supported children’s charities  
across the globe, donating in excess 
of €300,000. UDG Healthcare 
continued to support children’s 
charities by donating over €70,000 
during 2016. In Ireland, the three 
charities of choice, were Barnardos 
Ireland, LauraLynn Foundation  
and iCAN, the Irish Children’s 
Arthritis Network. 

Corporate Social Responsibility (continued)

Arthritis (JIA). JIA is a chronic 
autoimmune disease which attacks 
the joints and vital organs. iCAN’s 
primary goal is to raise awareness  
of JIA in Ireland; however they also 
provide a 24-hour helpline.

EMPLOYEE INITIATIVES
For the second consecutive year, 
UDG Healthcare continued its 
support of employee initiatives 
across the globe by making 
donations out of the UDG Healthcare 
CSR Fund to support our employees 
in their charitable endeavours. 
Employees submitted applications 
for support to the Fund as they 
themselves completed multiple 
activities including marathons, 
abseiling, coffee mornings etc. 

UDG Healthcare also undertook to 
give more back to the community  
by encouraging employees to donate 
toys to the children’s toy appeal at 
Christmas, completing the ‘Shoebox 
Appeal’ in aid of children in Africa 
and Syria and by taking part in a food 
drive aiming to donate over 10,000 
non-perishable food items to families 
in need.

All initiatives are well-received by 
employees who enjoy the opportunity 
to donate their time and energy to 
charitable causes.

1. Ashfield Canada –  
10 employees ran 5k  
to raise $4,544 for the QC  
Breast Cancer Foundation. 

2. Ashfield UK Macclesfield 
– Dressing up as their best 
loved children’s Characters 
to raise money for the 
Ronald McDonald House 
in Manchester. 

3. Ashfield Belgium – 
Holding their annual  
BBQ to raise awareness  
of the Ashfield Way whilst 
raising funds for a bike for  
a disabled child.

4. Galliard and Nyxeon 
teams contributed to  
the community through 
volunteering to support 
Friends of Ruskin Park.

5. Employees at Galliard 
and Nyxeon (with team 
mascot Bailey the pup!) 
gathered at London’s 
Regent’s Park on a cold  
and windy April morning to 
take part in a 10K Fun Run 
organised by Médecins 
Sans Frontières/Doctors 
Without Borders (MSF).

6. Staff and friends from 
Sharp Allentown at the 
2016 March of Dimes  
rally in Allentown, PA.

7. London-based 
colleagues volunteering  
in their local park.
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ASHFIELD CARES
In June 2016 we launched Ashfield 
Cares, a new international initiative 
that is part of the Ashfield Way.

Ashfield Cares aims to actively support 
both charitable and non-charitable 
causes, and will assist organisations  
in addressing healthcare, community 
development and educational needs 
through fundraising activities and  
the provision of time and skills. This 
support underpins Ashfield’s pledge  
to harness its extensive resources  
and geographical reach, with the 
determination and support of its 
employees, to make a positive impact 
on the communities and wider society 
it serves. Ashfield Cares uses our  
core Values to embody the division’s 
mission: to improve lives. Since the 

ECONOMIC 
CONTRIBUTION
An integral part of the Group’s 
sustainability is the economic value 
generated from our operations. We 
are cognisant that our continued 
growth and economic performance 
is crucial to our many stakeholders 
and to each of the communities in 
which we operate.  

In the financial year to 30 September 
2016, UDG Healthcare added 
economic value of €583.8 million 
(being revenue of €1,625.9 million 
less €1,042.1 million of input costs 
paid to suppliers). Remuneration  
to employees of €462.0 million, 
corporate taxes of €21.5 million, 
interest paid to lenders of €12.7 
million and dividends paid to 
shareholders of €27.4 million 
resulted in 90% of total value 
generated being redistributed  
to our economic community.

launch, committees have been 
established in approximately 90%  
of the division. During a dedicated 
Ashfield Cares day in June, employees 
across the division pledged to 
volunteer over 480 hours for 30 
different causes across the world  
and raised over £2,000 from 
organised events.

SHARP COMMUNITY SUPPORT
At Sharp we believe in building 
strong, healthy relationships with  
the communities we work in and 
serve, by getting involved with local 
fundraising, projects and organisations.

We support local and national charities 
we believe in, both through financial 
donations and by helping our people  
in sharing their time and skills. At each 

of our sites, we encourage our teams 
to come up with creative new ways  
of contributing and working with  
their community.

Sharp has been a long-time supporter 
of the March of the Dimes Foundation. 
The Foundation focuses on research 
that addresses problems such as 
premature births and polio in children.

Other charities Sharp support include:

• United Way;
• American Cancer Society; and
• MacMillan Cancer Support.

Cost of goods  
& services

€1,042.1mTotal income

€1,625.9m

Employee costs

€462.0m

Dividend to shareholders

€27.4m

Value added

€583.8m

Corporate taxes

€21.5m

Interest

€12.7m

Adjusted profit after tax

€87.6m

UDG 
Healthcare 

remains 
cognisant of 
the fact that 

our continued 
growth and 

economic 
performance is 

crucial to our 
stakeholders 

and our 
communities.
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2014 2015 2016

11.1%
10.5%

8.8%

REVENUE
Revenue from continuing operations 
of €943.1 million for the year was 3% 
ahead of 2015. Underlying revenue 
growth was 7% behind, excluding  
the impact of foreign exchange, 
acquisitions and disposals. Ashfield 
reported revenue 2% ahead of the 
prior year and Sharp reported 
revenue 9% ahead of the prior year. 
Aquilant revenue was 8% down on 
2015 due to the closure of Aquilant’s 
UK laboratory distribution business 
in February 2015 and the significant 
adverse movement in Sterling 
exchange rates.

ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT
Adjusted operating profit from 
continuing operations of €104.2 
million is 8% ahead (9% on a 
constant currency basis) of 2015. 

ADJUSTED OPERATING MARGIN
The adjusted operating margin for 
the continuing businesses for the 
year of 11.1% increased from 10.5%  
in 2015. This continues the upward 
trend in operating margin in recent 
years as the Group focuses on 
operating efficiencies and achieving 
faster growth from businesses with 
higher operating margins. 

ADJUSTED PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Net interest costs for the year of 
€12.6 million are 3% lower than 2015. 
This delivered a profit before tax 
from continuing operations of €91.6 
million which is 10% ahead of 2015 
(11% on a constant currency basis). 

Finance Review
Alan Ralph

Consistent 
growth
Continuing Group EPS was 8% ahead of 2015 at 28.61 cent 
(9% ahead on a constant currency basis). The 5% dividend 
increase to 11.55 cent per share continues our long record 
of consistent dividend growth.

Operating margin –  
Continuing Group



Net cash at  
the end of the 

year was 
€128.3 million.
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OVERVIEW OF RESULTS
The continuing Group delivered an adjusted profit before tax of €104.2 million in 2016, the details of which are disclosed in the table below. 
This is an 8% increase on 2015 (9% increase on a constant currency basis). 

IFRS based 
€’m

Adjustments 1 
€’m

Adjusted  
€’m

Increase  
on 2015  

€’m

Constant 
currency 
increase  
on 2015  

€’m

Continuing operations
Revenue 943.1 – 943.1 3 3
Operating profit 87.8 16.4 104.2 8 9
Profit before tax 75.2 16.4 91.6 10 11
EBITDA 122.3 2.0 124.3 8 8
Diluted earnings per share (cent) 24.78 3.83 28.61 8 9

Discontinued operations 2

Profit after tax 132.0 (115.1) 16.9 (19) (18)
Diluted earnings per share (cent) 53.33 (46.53) 6.80 (19) (19)

Total diluted earnings per share (cent) 78.11 (42.70) 35.41 1 2

Dividend per share (cent) 11.55 – 11.55 5 5

1.  Adjusted operating profit, profit before tax and diluted EPS from continuing operations are stated before the amortisation of acquired intangible assets (€14.4 million, pre-tax) 
and transaction costs (€2.0 million, pre-tax).

 Adjusted profit after tax from discontinued operations is stated after deducting the profit on disposal of the discontinued operations (€132.1 million, net of tax), and adding back 
impairment of the investment in Magir Limited, an asset held for sale (€17.0 million, net of tax). 

2.  The discontinued operations include United Drug Supply Chain Services, United Drug Sangers, TCP Group and MASTA. These operations were included in the Group’s disposal  
which was announced on 18 September 2015 and completed on 1 April 2016. The discontinued operations also include Magir Limited, which is classified as an asset held for sale at 
30 September 2016.

TAXATION
The effective taxation rate on 
continuing operations has increased 
from 21.9% in 2015 to 22.7% in 2016. 
This is because a larger proportion  
of profit has been generated in 
countries with higher taxation rates.

ADJUSTED DILUTED  
EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Earnings per share from continuing 
operations is 8% ahead (9% on a 
constant currency basis) of 2015  
at 28.61 cent. On a combined 
continuing and discontinued basis, 
adjusted diluted earnings per share 
increased by 1% to 35.41 cent. 

FOREIGN EXCHANGE
The Group operates in 23 countries, 
with its primary foreign exchange 
exposure being the translation of 
local income statements and balance 
sheets into Euro for Group reporting 
purposes. The primary non-Euro 
currencies are Sterling and US 
Dollar. The re-translation of overseas 
profits to Euro has reduced constant 
currency EPS growth of 9% to a 
reported EPS growth rate of 8%.

On 4 August 2016 the Group 
announced that due to the growth  
in its US business and the disposal of 
its Irish supply chain businesses, the 
Group will change its presentation 
currency to US Dollar for the 2017 
financial year.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On 1 April 2016 the Group  
disposed of the United Drug Supply 
Chain businesses and MASTA.  
These businesses are reported as 
discontinued operations in 2016  
and 2015. At 30 September 2016 the 
Group has classified its joint venture 
arrangement with Magir Limited as  
a discontinued operation and an 
asset held for sale. The discontinued 
businesses contributed an operating 
profit of €17.6 million to the Group 
made up of six months contribution 
from the disposed businesses and 
twelve months profit from Magir 
Limited. The operating profit of the 
Group’s continuing and discontinued 
businesses of €121.8 million 
increased by 1% in comparison to  
the 2015 operating profit of €120.2 
million. The discontinued businesses 
have also contributed €132.1 million 
of a profit on disposal, offset by a 
€17.0 million reduction in the 
investment in Magir Limited. 
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RETURN ON CAPITAL 
EMPLOYED
The ROCE for continuing operations 
was 13.7%, up from 13.5% at the  
end of 2015. Details on how this  
was calculated are on page 175.

The Group targets ROCE of 15% 
within three years for all investments. 
The Group has invested significantly 
in acquisitions and capital expenditure 
in recent years and we anticipate that 
organic growth in future years will 
increase Group ROCE to 15%.

DIVIDENDS
The directors are proposing a final 
dividend of 8.50 cents per share 
representing an increase of 5% on 
the 2015 final dividend of 8.10 cent 
per share. This represents 5% 
growth in the total dividend for the 
year to 11.55 cent per share. This 
continues the Group’s 30 year history 
of consistently increasing dividends.

Subject to shareholder approval at 
the Company’s 2017 Annual General 
Meeting, the proposed final dividend 
of 8.50 cent per share will be paid  
on 13 February 2017 to ordinary 
shareholders on the Company’s 
register at 5.00 p.m. on 
20 January 2017. 

INVESTOR RELATIONS
UDG Healthcare’s senior management 
team spend a significant amount of 
time meeting with shareholders and 
the international financial community. 
We have invested in dedicated 
investor relations resources and are 
focussed on increasing the awareness 
of the Company among the investor 
and analyst community. 

We communicate regularly with our 
shareholders throughout the year, 
specifically following the release  
of our interim and preliminary 
results, and at the time of major 
developments. During 2016,  
the executive management team 
attended eleven investor conferences 
and conducted over 250 institutional 
investor one-on-one/group 
meetings. In addition, the Group  
held two investor events during the 

CASH FLOW
Net cash increased by €324.1 million 
in the year to €128.3 million 
(30 September 2015: net debt €195.8 
million). The net cash inflow from 
operating activities was €66.9 million 
with €85.2 million being generated 
by continuing operations and an 
outflow of €18.3 million from 
discontinued operations. 

The net cash received from the 
disposal of the United Drug Supply 
Chain businesses and MASTA was 
€373.9 million (pre-transaction costs 
and taxation). €38.4 million was 
invested in our continuing operations 
in property, plant and equipment 
and computer software. This 
includes IT investment to enable our 
businesses to grow in an efficient 
manner and investment in the new 
facility in Sharp US. €12.7 million  
was paid in consideration for the 
acquisition of Pegasus, while the 
Group also paid €15.6 million in 
deferred contingent consideration 
associated with prior year 
acquisitions. Dividend payments of 
€27.4 million relating to the final 
2015 dividend and the 2016 interim 
dividend were made during the year. 
Foreign exchange translation 
reduced cash balances by 
€15.3 million.

BALANCE SHEET
Net cash at the end of the year was 
€128.3 million (€384.1 million cash 
and €255.8 million debt). The net 
cash/(debt) to annualised EBITDA 
ratio is 1.04 times cash (2015: 1.42 
times debt) and net interest is 
covered 10.6 times (2015: 11.4 times) 
by annualised EBITDA. Financial 
covenants in our principal debt 
facilities are based on net debt to 
EBITDA being less than 3.5 times  
and EBITDA interest cover being 
greater than three times.

The Group has maintained its long 
term private placement debt as it 
expects to make acquisitions and 
other capital investments in the 
coming years. At 30 September 2016 
the Group also had €220 million of 
undrawn overdraft and loan facilities. 

Finance Review (continued)

year – in February 2016, the Group 
hosted a site visit to its Sharp 
headquarters in Allentown, 
Pennsylvania, US and in September 
2016, the Group held a Capital 
Markets Day in London.

Our website www.udghealthcare.com, 
is the primary method of 
communication for the majority of 
our shareholders. We publish our 
annual report, preliminary results 
and other public announcements on 
our website. In addition, details of 
our conference calls and presentations 
are available through our website. 

The Board of Directors considers it 
important to understand the views  
of shareholders and receive regular 
updates on investor perceptions. 

Our investor relations department 
provides a point of contact for 
shareholders and full contact details 
are set out in the investor relations 
section of our website. Shareholders 
can also submit an information 
request through the shareholder 
services section of our website.

Alan Ralph
Chief Financial Officer

Earnings per share

28.61c
+8%  
(9% constant 
currency 
growth)

Dividend per share

11.55c
+5%
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However, because they involve known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties  
and other factors including but not 
limited to general economic, political, 
financial and business factors, which 
in some cases are beyond the Group’s 
control, actual results, performance, 
operations or achievements expressed 
or implied by such forward looking 
statements may differ materially from 
those expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements and 
accordingly you should not rely on 
these forward looking statements  
in making investment decisions. 

Except as required by applicable  
law or regulation, neither the Group 
nor any other party intends to update 
or revise these forward looking 
statements after the date these 
statements are published, whether  
as a result of new information, future 
events or otherwise.

FORWARD-LOOKING 
INFORMATION
Some statements in this Annual 
Report are or may be forward 
looking statements. They represent 
expectations for the Group’s 
business, including statements  
that relate to the Group’s future 
prospects, developments and 
strategies, and involve risks and 
uncertainties both general 
and specific. 

The Group has based these 
forward-looking statements on 
assumptions regarding present  
and future strategies of the Group 
and the environment in which it will 
operate in the future. 

30 year history of dividend per share growth (€ cent)

30 year history 
of dividend 

growth.
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Board of Directors

PETER  
GRAY 

BRENDAN 
MCATAMNEY

ALAN  
RALPH

CHRIS  
CORBIN

LINDA  
WILDING

Chairman (62) Chief Executive 
Officer (54)

Chief Financial  
Officer (47)

Managing Director 
Ashfield (61)

Non-Executive 
Director (57)

Biography Peter Gray is Chairman 
and non-executive 
director of UDG 
Healthcare. Peter 
formerly held senior 
executive positions in a 
number of Irish public 
companies, the most 
recent being that of  
Vice Chairman and  
Chief Executive of  
ICON plc, the Irish  
based multinational 
pharmaceutical 
development services 
company. 

Brendan McAtamney  
is the Group Chief 
Executive Officer  
and was appointed  
on 2 February 2016. 
Brendan was the Group’s 
Chief Operating Officer 
since 1 September 2013 
until his appointment as 
Chief Executive. Before 
joining UDG Healthcare, 
Brendan held various 
senior management 
positions with Abbott, 
latterly as Vice President 
Commercial and 
Corporate Officer  
within the Established 
Pharmaceuticals 
division. 

Alan Ralph joined  
UDG Healthcare  
in 1999 and was 
appointed Chief 
Financial Officer  
on 1 June 2013.  
Alan previously had 
responsibility for the 
Supply Chain Services 
division. Alan also held 
various roles throughout 
the Group including 
Managing Director  
of the Pharma Wholesale 
division and Group 
Financial Controller. 
Formerly, Alan  
worked with Banta 
Corporation and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. 

Chris Corbin is 
Managing Director  
of the Ashfield division.  
Chris founded Ashfield 
Healthcare Limited and 
previously held sales 
management positions 
with Parke Davis, Fisons, 
Astra and May & Baker. 
Chris was formerly 
Patron for SETPOINT 
Leicestershire, Chairman 
of Leicestershire 
Business Awards and  
a member of Derbyshire 
Magistrates Bench. 

Linda Wilding’s career 
includes 12 years  
at Mercury Asset 
Management where  
she held the position  
of Managing Director  
in the Private Equity 
division. Prior to this, 
Linda qualified as  
a chartered accountant 
while working with  
Ernst & Young. 

Term of Office Peter was appointed 
Chairman of the Board 
on 7 February 2012 
having served as a 
non-executive director 
since 28 September 
2004.

Brendan was appointed 
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as an 
executive director on 
16 December 2013.

Alan was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as an 
executive director  
on 19 June 2008.

Chris was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as an 
executive director  
on 20 June 2003.

Linda was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as a 
non-executive director 
on 16 December 2013.

Independent Not applicable No No No Yes

External  
Appointments

Peter is currently a 
non-executive director of 
Jazz Pharmaceuticals plc 
and Chairman of two 
other private companies.

Not Applicable Not Applicable Not Applicable Linda is currently  
Chair of the Valuation 
Committee at HgCapital 
Private Equity and 
HgCapital Renewable 
Investments. Linda also 
serves as a non-executive 
director of Imperial 
Innovations Group plc 
and Electra Private 
Equity plc.

Committee  
Membership N   R  A  
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PETER  
GRAY 

BRENDAN 
MCATAMNEY

ALAN  
RALPH

CHRIS  
CORBIN

LINDA  
WILDING

Chairman (62) Chief Executive 
Officer (54)

Chief Financial  
Officer (47)

Managing Director 
Ashfield (61)

Non-Executive 
Director (57)

Biography Peter Gray is Chairman 
and non-executive 
director of UDG 
Healthcare. Peter 
formerly held senior 
executive positions in a 
number of Irish public 
companies, the most 
recent being that of  
Vice Chairman and  
Chief Executive of  
ICON plc, the Irish  
based multinational 
pharmaceutical 
development services 
company. 

Brendan McAtamney  
is the Group Chief 
Executive Officer  
and was appointed  
on 2 February 2016. 
Brendan was the Group’s 
Chief Operating Officer 
since 1 September 2013 
until his appointment as 
Chief Executive. Before 
joining UDG Healthcare, 
Brendan held various 
senior management 
positions with Abbott, 
latterly as Vice President 
Commercial and 
Corporate Officer  
within the Established 
Pharmaceuticals 
division. 

Alan Ralph joined  
UDG Healthcare  
in 1999 and was 
appointed Chief 
Financial Officer  
on 1 June 2013.  
Alan previously had 
responsibility for the 
Supply Chain Services 
division. Alan also held 
various roles throughout 
the Group including 
Managing Director  
of the Pharma Wholesale 
division and Group 
Financial Controller. 
Formerly, Alan  
worked with Banta 
Corporation and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers. 

Chris Corbin is 
Managing Director  
of the Ashfield division.  
Chris founded Ashfield 
Healthcare Limited and 
previously held sales 
management positions 
with Parke Davis, Fisons, 
Astra and May & Baker. 
Chris was formerly 
Patron for SETPOINT 
Leicestershire, Chairman 
of Leicestershire 
Business Awards and  
a member of Derbyshire 
Magistrates Bench. 

Linda Wilding’s career 
includes 12 years  
at Mercury Asset 
Management where  
she held the position  
of Managing Director  
in the Private Equity 
division. Prior to this, 
Linda qualified as  
a chartered accountant 
while working with  
Ernst & Young. 

Term of Office Peter was appointed 
Chairman of the Board 
on 7 February 2012 
having served as a 
non-executive director 
since 28 September 
2004.

Brendan was appointed 
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as an 
executive director on 
16 December 2013.

Alan was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as an 
executive director  
on 19 June 2008.

Chris was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as an 
executive director  
on 20 June 2003.

Linda was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as a 
non-executive director 
on 16 December 2013.

Independent Not applicable No No No Yes

External  
Appointments

Peter is currently a 
non-executive director of 
Jazz Pharmaceuticals plc 
and Chairman of two 
other private companies.

Not Applicable Not Applicable Not Applicable Linda is currently  
Chair of the Valuation 
Committee at HgCapital 
Private Equity and 
HgCapital Renewable 
Investments. Linda also 
serves as a non-executive 
director of Imperial 
Innovations Group plc 
and Electra Private 
Equity plc.

Committee  
Membership N   R  A  

GERARD  
VAN ODIJK

LISA  
RICCIARDI

PHILIP  
TOOMEY

CHRIS  
BRINSMEAD CBE

NANCY  
MILLER-RICH

Non-Executive 
Director (58)

Non-Executive 
Director (56)

Senior Independent 
Non-Executive 
Director (63)

Non-Executive 
Director (57)

Non-Executive 
Director (57)

Biography Gerard van Odijk  
has 25 years experience 
in the European 
healthcare industry  
and was formerly 
President and Chief 
Executive Officer of  
Teva Pharmaceuticals 
Europe. Prior to this, 
Gerard held various 
senior management 
positions with 
GlaxoSmithKline,  
latterly holding the 
position of Senior  
Vice President and  
Area Director Northern 
Europe. Gerard also 
holds a medical degree 
from the University  
of Utrecht. 

Lisa Ricciardi was 
formerly Senior Vice 
President of Foundation 
Medicine, Inc. and prior 
to this was Senior Vice 
President of US and 
International Business 
Development at Medco 
Health Solutions. Lisa 
also held multiple senior 
roles in Pfizer, first in 
operations then leading 
business development 
for over a decade.

Philip Toomey was 
appointed a non-
executive director of 
UDG Healthcare on 
27 February 2008 and 
was appointed Senior 
Independent non-
executive Director on 
14 June 2013. Philip was 
formerly Global Chief 
Operating Officer for  
the financial services 
industry practice  
of Accenture. Philip  
has wide ranging 
international consulting 
experience and was  
a member of the 
Accenture Global 
Leadership Council. 

Chris Brinsmead CBE 
was formerly Chairman  
of AstraZeneca 
Pharmaceuticals UK, 
President of AstraZeneca 
UK and Ireland and 
President of the 
Association of the  
British Pharmaceutical 
Industry (ABPI). 

Nancy Miller-Rich is 
Senior Vice-President, 
Business Development  
& Licensing, Strategy 
and Commercial 
Support for Global 
Human Health at MSD, 
known as Merck in the 
United States and 
Canada. With more than 
thirty years of experience 
in the healthcare 
industry, Nancy’s 
background includes 
sales, marketing, and 
business development 
for MSD, Schering-
Plough, Sandoz  
(now Novartis),  
and Sterling Drug.

Term of Office Gerard was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as a 
non-executive director 
on 16 December 2013. 

Lisa was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as a 
non-executive director 
on 14 June 2013.

Philip was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as a 
non-executive director 
on 27 February 2008.

Chris was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as a 
non-executive director 
on 12 April 2010.

Nancy was appointed  
to the Board of UDG 
Healthcare as a 
non-executive director 
on 20 June 2016.

Independent Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

External  
Appointments

Gerard is currently 
Chairman of Bavarian 
Nordic A/S and 
Chairman of HTL Strefa.

Lisa is currently a 
non-executive director  
of Chimerix, Inc.

Philip is currently a 
non-executive director  
of Kerry Group plc.

Chris is currently a 
non-executive director  
of Cambian Group plc, 
the Wesleyan Assurance 
Society and is a member 
of council at Imperial 
College London.

Not Applicable

Committee  
Membership  A   R  R  R A   R   N R   R   N

Committee Membership Key

 A  Audit Committee

 N  Nominations & Governance Committee

 R  Risk, Investment & Financing Committee

 R  Remuneration Committee

 Indicates Committee Chair
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DEAR SHAREHOLDER,
I am pleased to report that for the year ended 30 September 2016, UDG Healthcare is fully compliant with the requirements of the 2014 UK 
Corporate Governance Code. Specific details on Board effectiveness, independence and meetings are outlined in the remainder of this report. 

Last year we reported that our governance focus was to ensure we take measured risks in growing the Company, charting a sound strategic 
course and ensuring we have the resources to do this in an environment where reward is appropriately balanced, and proper controls and ethical 
practices are in place. This continues to be our modus operandi and we are confident that we will be able to deliver on our strategic ambitions 
within this framework.

As a collaborative Board, we try to ensure our time is spent productively, engaging with the challenges and opportunities of the business, with 
clear lines of responsibility and accountability. For this reason, we reassessed the terms of reference of each of the Committees and realigned 
their responsibilities to ensure important aspects of governance continue to be addressed, without undue reliance on any one Committee while 
ensuring the Board devotes the bulk of its time to operational and strategic oversight.

During 2016, the Company conducted another satisfactory external Board evaluation and further details on the process undertaken and 
recommendations made are on page 61. The outcomes of this evaluation were comprehensive, constructive and very positive. We will continue  
to make improvements and act on the recommendations made. 

Our Board is currently comprised of 10 members, the Chairman, three executive directors and six non-executive directors, three of whom are 
women. We comprise three Irish residents, four UK residents, two US residents and one Dutch resident, have eight members with healthcare 
industry experience and two with other diverse industry experience. Overall, we believe we have good diversity and will continue to add similar 
calibre talent as we evolve. With that in mind, we have a current search ongoing as mentioned in my Chairman’s Statement. 

Lastly, it has been another exceptionally busy year for the Board with the CEO transition, appointment of new auditors, two transactions 
completed and a number of others reviewed. We have also committed to some significant capital expenditure projects to future-proof the 
organisation for growth. 

As always, we continue to engage regularly with our shareholders to ensure we keep abreast of their considerations and concerns and will 
continue to do so in the coming year.

Peter Gray
Chairman

Chairman’s Introduction to Corporate Governance

UDG continues to comply with all aspects  
of governance in pursing its strategic  
priorities and growth ambitions. 

Peter Gray
Chairman
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Corporate Governance

COMPLIANCE WITH THE UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
The 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code (the ‘Code’) sets out the standards for corporate governance to be applied by companies with a listing  
on the London Stock Exchange. UDG Healthcare continues to comply with the provisions in the Code.

This Corporate Governance Report sets out details of how the Company has applied the main principles of the Code. Copies of the Code can be 
found on the Financial Reporting Council’s website (www.frc.org.uk).

LEADERSHIP
BOARD
The Board is responsible for the leadership, oversight and long term success of the Group. The Board has reserved certain items for its review 
including the approval of:

• Group strategic plans; 
• financial statements and budgets; 
• significant acquisitions and disposals; 
• significant capital expenditure; 
• dividends; and
• Board appointments. 

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate with a clear division of responsibility between them. The Board has delegated some  
of its responsibilities to Board Committees, details of which are set out below. 

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established four Committees to assist in the execution of its responsibilities. These Committees are the Audit Committee (chaired 
by Philip Toomey), the Remuneration Committee (chaired by Linda Wilding), the Nominations & Governance Committee (chaired by Peter Gray) 
and the Risk, Investment & Financing Committee (chaired by Chris Brinsmead).

Each Committee has specific terms of reference under which authority is delegated to it by the Board. These terms of reference are reviewed 
annually and are available on the Group’s website. The Chair of each Committee reports to the Board regularly on its activities and also attends 
the AGM and is available to answer questions from shareholders. The current membership of each Committee, details of attendance and each 
member’s tenure are set out in each individual Committee report. 

CHAIRMAN
Peter Gray has served as Chairman of the Board since 7 February 2012. The Chairman leads the Board, ensuring its effectiveness by: 

• providing a sounding board to the Chief Executive;
• setting the agenda, style and tone of Board meetings;
• promoting a culture of openness and debate ensuring constructive relations between executive and non-executive directors;
• ensuring that directors receive accurate, relevant, timely and clear information; 
• ensuring the effective operation, leadership and governance of the Board; and
• ensuring effective communication with shareholders.

UDG HEALTHCARE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

CHAIRMAN – PETER GRAY

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Audit Committee
Chair 
Philip Toomey

Committee Report 
on pages 63 to 66

Remuneration 
Committee
Chair 
Linda Wilding

Committee Report 
on pages 67 to 85

Nominations & 
Governance Committee
Chair 
Peter Gray

Committee Report 
on pages 86 and 87

Risk, Investment & 
Financing Committee
Chair 
Chris Brinsmead

Committee Report 
on pages 88 and 89

Senior  
Executive Team

Quality & Compliance 
sub-Committee 

Risk & Viability  
sub-Committee

CHIEF EXECUTIVE – 
BRENDAN 

MCATAMNEY
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LEADERSHIP CONTINUED
SENIOR INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Philip Toomey has served as Senior Independent non-executive Director (SID) since 14 June 2013. The SID provides a sounding board for the 
Chairman and conducts an annual review of the performance of the Chairman. The SID is available to shareholders who have concerns that 
cannot be addressed through the Chairman, Chief Executive or Chief Financial Officer and is also available to act as an intermediary for directors, 
if necessary.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The role of the non-executive directors is to:

• constructively challenge and debate management proposals;
• examine and review management performance in meeting agreed objectives and targets; 
• assess risk and the integrity of financial information and controls; 
• determine the appropriate levels of remuneration of executive directors and ensure appropriate succession plans are in place; and
• input their knowledge and experience in respect of any challenges facing the Group, and in particular, to the development of strategy  

and strategic plans.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Damien Moynagh was appointed Company Secretary on 21 September 2016. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in ensuring  
the effective operation of the Board and has the following responsibilities:

• to ensure good information flows between the Board and its Committees, senior management and non-executive directors;
• to ensure that Board procedures are followed;
• to facilitate director induction and assist with professional development; and
• to advise the Board on corporate governance obligations and developments in best practice.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Brendan McAtamney was appointed Chief Executive on 2 February 2016. The Chief Executive is responsible and accountable to the Board for  
the management and operation of the Group and for implementing the Group’s strategy and policies as agreed by the Board through the Senior 
Executive Team. The Chief Executive also maintains a close working relationship with the Chairman, shareholders and potential shareholders, 
and major external bodies to promote the culture and Values of the Group.

MEETINGS
The Board met 9 times during the year. Details of directors’ attendance at these meetings are set out below. In the event a director is unavailable 
to attend a Board meeting, he or she can communicate their views on any items to be raised at the meeting through the Chairman.

A B

Chris Brinsmead 9 9
Chris Corbin 9 9
Liam FitzGerald 9 9
Peter Gray 9 9
Brendan McAtamney 9 9
Nancy Miller-Rich 3 3
Gerard van Odijk 9 9
Alan Ralph 9 9
Lisa Ricciardi 9 9
Philip Toomey 9 9
Linda Wilding 9 9

Column A – Number of meetings held during the year when the director was a member.
Column B – Number of meetings attended during the year when the director was a member.

EFFECTIVENESS
BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board is currently comprised of ten directors, three executive directors and seven non-executive directors. Biographical details are set out 
on pages 56 and 57. 

As previously disclosed, Liam FitzGerald stepped down from the Board on 21 September 2016. 

Corporate Governance (continued)
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INDUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT
Non-executive directors are engaged under the terms of a Letter of Appointment, a copy of which is available on request from the Company 
Secretary, and at the Company’s AGM. On appointment, directors receive a full, formal induction and are given briefing materials tailored to 
their individual requirements, to facilitate their understanding of the Group and its operations. New directors meet with Board members and 
senior executive management as part of the induction process. Visits to each of the Group’s main locations are scheduled to provide the director 
with an opportunity to meet divisional management and get insights into the businesses. Non-executive directors also receive additional training 
and presentations from across the businesses to update their knowledge and develop their understanding of the Company.

INDEPENDENCE
The Board has determined that at least half the Board, excluding the Chairman, is comprised of independent non-executive directors. All of the 
non-executive directors are considered to be independent. 

SUCCESSION PLANNING AND DIVERSITY
As noted in the Chairman’s Introduction to Corporate Governance, the Board believes that diversity is an essential foundation for building  
long term sustainability in business and introduces different perspectives into Board debate. This philosophy forms an important element of  
our succession planning when considering new appointments to the Board. Ms. Nancy Miller-Rich was appointed to the Board on 20 June 2016. 
Details of the process leading to this appointment are summarised in the Nominations & Governance Committee Report on pages 86 and 87.

Whilst it is the Group’s policy to ensure the best candidate for the position is selected, the Board will continue to ensure diversity is taken into 
account when considering any new appointments to the Board. 

BOARD EVALUATION
The Board engaged Independent Audit Board Review (‘Independent Audit’) to facilitate an external Board evaluation this year. Independent 
Audit has no other relationship with the Group. Between June and August, a consultant conducted one-to-one interviews with each Board 
member, the Company Secretary and a number of Senior Executives who regularly attend Board and Committee meetings. The consultant also 
attended a two-day Board meeting to observe Board interaction and debate and conducted a review of a collection of Board and Committee 
papers circulated over the prior year. The review focussed on the following key areas:

• succession planning;
• meeting dynamics;
• Board information;
• administration and logistics;
• organisational culture;
• risk framework;
• remuneration; and
• Board Committees.

The output from this review was presented to the Board at its September meeting and indicated that the Board and Committees had many 
strengths, was made up of enthusiastic and committed directors who were overall, a motivated and successful team that continued to operate 
effectively. The agreed action items out of this review are summarised below:

• transparency around the Board succession planning process to be enhanced;
• Board papers relating to Corporate Development activities to be refined with agreed templates established collectively by executive and 

non-executive members;
• meeting logistics to be reviewed and technology to facilitate video-conferencing to be explored;
• the non-executive directors engagement on the promotion of corporate culture to be increased;
• communication between the Committees and Board around risk governance to be expanded; and
• Committee remits to be clarified, particularly the Risk, Investment & Financing Committee and the Nominations & Governance Committee.

The Company Secretary in conjunction with the Chairman of the Board will follow up on these recommendations and ensure they are 
implemented in 2017.

The performance of individual directors was primarily assessed through discussions held by the Chairman with directors on an individual basis. 
The performance of the Chairman was led by the SID and reviewed by the Board in the absence of the Chairman. Feedback was communicated 
by the SID to the Chairman following the review.

The Board will continue to review its performance on an annual basis. 
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ACCOUNTABILITY
The Board is committed to providing a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s position and prospects. 

Responsibility for reviewing the Group’s internal financial control and financial risk management systems and monitoring the integrity of the 
Group’s financial statements has been delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee. Details of how these responsibilities were discharged  
is set out in the Audit Committee Report on pages 63 to 66. 

Responsibility for reviewing the Group’s risk management and risk evaluation procedures has been delegated by the Board to the Risk, 
Investment & Financing Committee. Details of how these responsibilities were discharged is set out in the Risk, Investment & Financing 
Committee Report on pages 88 and 89. 

Following the updates to the UK Corporate Governance Code, in particular in relation to the risk management process and long term viability  
of the Group, the recommendations were also assessed and details of this assessment are laid out on pages 19 to 23.

The Board receives regular updates from the Chair of each Committee.

REMUNERATION
The Board has adopted remuneration policies that are considered sufficient to promote the long term success of the Company whilst ensuring 
that the performance related elements are both stretching and rigorously applied. 

The Company again presents the Directors’ Remuneration Report in accordance with the requirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 and the 
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 (the ‘Regulations’). Details of directors’ 
remuneration and share ownership, as required by the Regulations, are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 67 to 85. 

RELATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
SHAREHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The Board recognises the importance of regular dialogue with shareholders and has an ongoing investor relations programme. While the 
Chairman takes overall responsibility for ensuring that the views of our shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole and that all 
directors are made aware of major shareholders’ issues and concerns, contact with major shareholders is principally maintained by the Chief 
Executive, the Chief Financial Officer and the Group Head of Investor Relations. 

A programme of meetings with institutional shareholders, fund managers and analysts takes place each year. There is regular dialogue with 
institutional shareholders, as well as general presentations at the time of the release of the annual and interim results. The Chairman also  
attends meetings and presentations with shareholders during the year, and seeks to meet major shareholders, and those who request meetings, 
when appropriate. In September 2016, the Senior Independent Director and one other non-executive attended the Group’s Capital Markets Day 
in London, giving investors the opportunity to interact with a number of Board members.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS
Results announcements are released promptly to shareholders. Trading updates were also issued in February and August 2016. In addition, 
information including acquisition details are notified to the stock exchange in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and other 
applicable rules and regulations.

The Group’s website (www.udghealthcare.com) provides the full text of the annual and interim reports, investor presentations, trading updates 
and other stock exchange announcements. 

GENERAL MEETINGS
The Company’s AGM gives shareholders the opportunity to question the Chairman and the Board. The Notice of Annual General Meeting, the 
Form of Proxy and the Annual Report are issued to shareholders at least 20 working days before the meeting. At the meeting, resolutions are 
voted on by a show of hands of those shareholders attending, in person or by proxy. After each resolution has been dealt with, details are given 
of the level of proxy votes cast on each resolution and the number of votes for, against and withheld. If validly requested, resolutions can be voted 
by way of a poll whereby the votes of shareholders present and voting at the meeting are added to the proxy votes received in advance of the 
meeting and the total number of votes for, against and withheld for each resolution are announced. Details of proxy votes received are also made 
available on the Company’s website following the meeting.

A quorum for a general meeting of the Company is constituted by three or more shareholders present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote. 
The passing of resolutions at a meeting of the Company, other than special resolutions, requires a simple majority. To be passed, a special 
resolution requires a majority of at least 75% of the votes cast.

Shareholders have the right to attend, speak, ask questions and vote at general meetings. The Company specifies record dates for general 
meetings, by which date shareholders must be registered on the Company’s register to be entitled to attend. Record dates are specified in the 
Notice of AGM. Shareholders may exercise their right to vote by appointing a proxy, by electronic means or in writing, to vote some or all of their 
shares. The requirements for the receipt of valid proxy forms are set out in the Notice of AGM.

Corporate Governance (continued)
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Audit Committee Report

ATTENDANCE RECORD AND TENURE

Member A B
Committee 

tenure

Philip Toomey (Chair) 7 7 8 years
Gerard van Odijk 7 7 2 years
Linda Wilding 7 6 3 years

Column A – Number of meetings held when director was a member.
Column B – Number of meetings attended when director was a member.

COMPOSITION
On 30 September 2016, the members of the Committee were Philip Toomey (Chair), Linda Wilding and Gerard van Odijk, each of whom are 
considered by the Board to be independent. As set out in the biographical details on pages 56 and 57, the members of the Committee have a 
strong mix of skills, expertise and experience from a wide variety of industries and as a whole, have the relevant competencies for the sector in 
which we operate. The Board has determined that both Philip Toomey, a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland, and Linda 
Wilding, a Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, are the Committee’s financial experts.

MEETINGS
The Committee met seven times during the year ended 30 September 2016. Individual attendance at these meetings, along with the tenure  
of each member, is set out above.

The Chief Executive, the Chief Financial Officer, the Group Finance Director and the Head of Internal Audit alongside representatives of the 
external auditor are invited to attend each meeting of the Committee. In addition, the Chairman of the Board attends meetings at the invitation  
of the Committee. 

The Committee regularly meets separately with the Head of Internal Audit and with the external auditor without others being present.

The Chair of the Committee reports to the Board, as part of a separate agenda item at Board meetings, on all significant matters reviewed by  
the Committee. 

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES
The Committee supports the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to financial reporting and reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal financial control and financial risk management systems. The Committee also monitors and reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal audit function and, on behalf of the Board, manages the appointment and remuneration of the external auditor as well as monitoring 
their performance and independence. The Group has an independent and confidential reporting procedure and the Committee monitors the 
operation of this facility.

Once again, the Board requested that the Committee advise it on the long term viability of the Group. Details of this review and the Group’s 
Viability Statement are contained in the Risk Report on pages 19 to 23.

The activities undertaken by the Committee in fulfilling its key responsibilities in respect of the year to 30 September 2016 are set out overleaf. 

2016 was a busy year for the Audit Committee with  
the focus being on appointing new external auditors  
for the Group from 2017 and enabling a smooth and 
successful transition. 

Philip Toomey
Chair of the Audit Committee
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FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Group’s financial statements are prepared by finance personnel with the appropriate level of qualifications and expertise.

The Committee is responsible for monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements and reviewing the significant financial reporting 
judgements contained therein. 

In respect of the year to 30 September 2016, the Committee reviewed the Group’s Trading Updates issued in February and August 2016, the 
Interim Report for the six months to 31 March 2016 and the Preliminary Announcement and Annual Report for the year to 30 September 2016. 

In carrying out these reviews, the Committee considered:

• whether the Group had applied appropriate accounting policies and practices;
• the consistency of accounting policies both on a year-on-year basis and across the Group;
• whether the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary  

for shareholders to assess the Group’s performance, business model and strategy;
• the clarity and completeness of disclosures and compliance with relevant financial reporting standards and corporate governance and 

regulatory requirements; and
• the significant areas in which judgement had been applied in preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the accounting 

policies are set out on pages 103 to 112.

The significant areas of judgement considered by the Committee in relation to the Financial Statements for the year to 30 September 2016 and 
how these were addressed are outlined below.

In addition, each of these areas received particular focus from the external auditor, who provided detailed analysis and assessment of the matters 
in their report to the Committee.

ACCOUNTING FOR THE DISPOSAL OF THE UNITED DRUG SUPPLY CHAIN BUSINESSES
The Group completed the disposal of the United Drug Supply Chain businesses that form part of the Supply Chain Services division and  
of MASTA which forms part of the Ashfield division on 1 April 2016.

Following discussions with management and the external auditor, the Committee considered the accounting treatment and disclosures  
relating to the reported results of these businesses prior to sale and the profit on disposal of these businesses and was satisfied that this 
treatment was appropriate.

GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT
The Committee considered the carrying value of goodwill in the 2016 financial statements. As part of the annual impairment testing process, 
management prepare detailed models assessing the recoverable amount of each cash generating unit (CGU), based on a value in use approach. 
The Committee reviewed these models and, having considered the underlying judgements and assumptions, were satisfied with the methodology 
used and the result of the assessment. Details of the impairment testing process, including the underlying assumptions, are set out in note 13.

VALUATION OF TRADE RECEIVABLES
The Committee reviewed the judgements applied by management on the level of trade receivable provisioning across the Group. In carrying  
out this review, the Committee discussed the level of recoverability and provisions with management and reviewed reports prepared by the  
Head of Internal Audit and the external auditor.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
The Group has a variety of contractual arrangements across its businesses. The critical area of judgement from a revenue perspective is  
the determination of the proportion to the stage of completion of the related contract to ensure revenue is being recognised in line with  
the accounting policies of the Group. The Committee, through discussions with management, the external auditor and the Head of Internal 
Audit, considered the judgements applied when determining the appropriate revenue recognition profile applied to the relevant contracts. 

Audit Committee Report (continued)
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INTERNAL CONTROL
The Committee is responsible, on behalf of the Board, for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal financial controls and financial  
risk management systems.

In carrying out these responsibilities, the Committee reviewed reports issued by both internal audit and the external auditor and held regular 
discussions with the Head of Internal Audit and representatives of the external auditor. The Committee also reviewed the outcome of an 
assessment of the Group’s internal financial controls which had been co-ordinated by internal audit.

This process, which has been in place throughout the financial year up to the date of the approval of the Annual Report and Financial Statements, 
accords with the FRC Guidance on Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and Business Reporting and is regularly reviewed by 
the Board. This system of internal control is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Committee is responsible for monitoring and reviewing the operation and effectiveness of the internal audit function including its focus, 
plans, activities and resources. 

At the beginning of the financial year, the Committee reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for the year having considered the adequacy 
of staffing levels and expertise within the function. During the year, the Committee received regular reports from the Head of Internal Audit 
summarising findings from the work of internal audit and the responses from management to deal with the findings. The Committee monitors 
progress on the implementation of the action plans on significant findings to ensure these are completed satisfactorily. 

EXTERNAL AUDIT
APPOINTMENT AND INDEPENDENCE
The Committee manages the relationship with the Group’s external auditors on behalf of the Board. 

During the year, the Committee carried out its annual assessment of the external auditor including a review of the external auditor’s internal 
policies and procedures for maintaining independence and objectivity and consideration of their approach to audit quality. The external auditor 
is required to rotate the audit partner responsible for the Group audit every five years. The current audit partner has been in place for five years. 
The Committee also reviewed and approved the external audit plan as presented by the external auditor and assessed the qualifications and 
expertise of their resources. 

Following this review process, the Committee concluded that the external auditor remained independent of the Group and that the audit process 
was effective. As previously disclosed, and in line with guidance within the UK Corporate Governance Code and the recent EU Directive 2014/56/
EU passed by the European Parliament in respect of audit reforms and audit tendering, the Group conducted a formal tender process which was 
completed in July of this year. In view of KPMG’s length of tenure, the Board decided, following a recommendation from the Committee, to appoint 
a new firm to conduct the audit of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2017. As a result, KPMG were not invited to participate in this 
process. The process concluded with the recommendation by the Committee to the Board to appoint EY as the Group’s external auditor from 2017 
onward. This recommendation was accepted by the Board. A resolution proposing this appointment will be presented to shareholders at the 2017 
AGM. The process undertaken to reach this decision was diligent and rigorous and involved written submissions and presentations by each of the 
invited firms.

In accordance with the Group’s policy on the hiring of former employees of the external auditor, the Committee reviews and approves any 
appointment of an individual, within three years of having previously been employed by the external auditor, to a senior managerial position  
in the Group. 

The Committee also reviewed the external auditors’ engagement letter and recommended the level of remuneration of the external auditor to  
the Board having reviewed the scope and nature of the work to be performed. Details of the remuneration of the external auditor are set out in 
note 5 to the financial statements. 

In accordance with SI 312 2016, the Group will rotate its external auditor at least every ten years.

There are no contractual obligations which restrict the Committee’s choice of external auditor.
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EXTERNAL AUDIT CONTINUED
NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The Committee has a formal policy governing the engagement of the external auditor to provide non-audit services. The policy is designed to 
safeguard the objectivity and independence of the external auditor and prevents the provisions of services which would result in the external 
auditor auditing its own firm’s work, conducting activities that would normally be undertaken by management, having a mutuality of financial 
interest with the Group or acting in an advocacy role for the Group. The Group has decided to adopt the EU Directive being that the non-audit 
services payable to the auditors will be no more than 70% of the total average audit fee for the previous three years. 

The external auditor is permitted to provide non-audit services that are not, or are not perceived to be, in conflict with auditor independence, 
provided it has the skill, experience, competence and integrity to carry out the work and is considered by the Committee to be the most 
appropriate to provide such services in the best interests of the Group. The engagement of the external auditor to provide non-audit services 
must be pre-approved by the Committee or entered into pursuant to pre-approved policies and procedures established by the Committee and 
approved by the Board. 

The nature, extent and scope of non-audit services provided to the Group by the external auditor and the economic importance of the Group  
to the external auditor were also monitored to ensure that independence and objectivity was not impaired.

Details of amounts paid to the external auditor for non-audit services are set out in note 5 to the financial statements. 

CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING PROCEDURES
In line with best practice, the Group has an independent and confidential reporting procedure which allows employees to raise any concerns 
about business practice. During the year, the Committee reviewed the operation of the procedures in place to allow employees to raise matters  
in a confidential manner and concluded that this facility was operating effectively.

Philip Toomey
Chair of the Audit Committee

Audit Committee Report (continued)
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

DEAR SHAREHOLDER,
I am pleased to present, on behalf of the Board, our Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 September 2016. 

The Committee continues to monitor best practice developments in remuneration practices and once again presents this year’s Report in 
accordance with the requirements of the UK Companies Act 2006 and the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 (the ‘Regulations’). We also continue to follow the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
including the alignment of remuneration arrangements with the Group’s strategy.

We are submitting a revised Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report (Policy) for shareholder approval at the 2017 AGM (our current Policy has been 
in place for three years). The key features of the Policy remain unchanged. Minor changes have been made for clarity and to reflect evolving market 
practice and shareholders expectations. UDG Healthcare is an Irish incorporated company and is therefore not subject to the UK company law 
requirement to submit its Policy to a binding policy vote. However, the Committee takes corporate governance very seriously and therefore we have 
once again adopted the remuneration report format proscribed under UK law and the Policy will be submitted for an advisory vote.

OVERALL PERFORMANCE AND CONTEXT
The Group delivered a strong financial performance in 2016. Increases of 8% in both operating profits and earnings per share were complemented by 
a very strong operating cash flow performance. The Board has proposed a final dividend of 8.50 cent per share, giving a total dividend for the year of 
11.55 cent per share. This dividend represents an increase of 5% over 2015 and, when combined with a share price appreciation of 27% over the year 
to 30 September 2016, represents a very strong return to shareholders.

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION FOR 2016
ANNUAL BONUS
As set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration, annual bonus targets are primarily set by reference to challenging internal financial targets. 
For the year to 30 September 2016, the financial performance of the Group resulted in an actual bonus achievement of 74% for Brendan 
McAtamney, 76% for Alan Ralph and of 68% for Chris Corbin, being the percentage achieved of their maximum opportunity. Details of this 
assessment are on page 71.

2013 LTIP SCHEME AWARD
The Committee has assessed the performance against targets for the 2013 LTIP scheme awards to 30 September 2016. As set out on page 71, the 
cash flow performance of the Group has been good (€310m) and, as a result, the target for the three year period to 30 September 2016 has been 
met in full and 100% of this element of the award will vest. Relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR) tested against the constituents of the FTSE 
250 index was also strong, ranking the Group at the 88th percentile. As a result, 100% of this element of the award will also vest. Consequently, 
the targets for both elements of the award have been met in full and 100% of the overall award will vest. These awards are subject to a further 
holding period until February 2019. 

The Remuneration Committee recommend the 
Remuneration Policy to shareholders for a second  
time, confident that the Policy continues to allow the 
Group to achieve its strategic objectives. 

Linda Wilding
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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BOARD CHANGES
On 2 February 2016, Brendan McAtamney took over the role of Group Chief Executive Officer and Liam FitzGerald transitioned to a consultant 
and non-executive director role before stepping down from the Board on 21 September 2016.

Brendan’s salary in the role of CEO was set at €600,000 per annum upon appointment. His maximum bonus opportunity remains unchanged  
at 100% of his salary. For 2016 he was granted an LTIP award taking his total LTIP award to 150% of his salary to reflect his promotion to the role 
of CEO with the intention of building a meaningful equity incentive given his relatively short tenure in the Company. 

Liam FitzGerald’s transition terms were in accordance with our Policy and further details are provided on page 75.

EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION FOR 2017
During the year, the Committee reviewed executive remuneration arrangements to ensure that they continued to be aligned with shareholders’ 
interests and the Group’s strategy, and as a result we have agreed an increase in base salary for executive directors of 2.5%, effective from 
1 October 2016 with the exception of Brendan McAtamney whose salary will move to �650,000 per annum.

The salary of the Chief Executive had not been increased significantly in recent years despite the significant increase in profitability, market 
capitalisation and the scale and complexity of the Group and competitiveness of his package against the market. Please see the Chairman’s 
Statement on pages 04 and 05 for further details.

There is no proposed increase to bonus arrangements for executive directors in 2017.

In relation to the LTIP, Brendan McAtamney will participate at 150% of base salary and Alan Ralph will continue to participate at 100% of 
base salary. Due to Chris Corbin’s previously announced retirement plans, he will receive no future awards under the LTIP.

Linda Wilding
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)
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ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
The following table sets out the total remuneration for directors for the year ending 30 September 2016 and the prior year.

Salary and fees (a) Benefits (b) Annual bonus (c) Long term incentives (d) Pensions (e) Total

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Executive directors
Chris Corbin (i) 389 399 61 60 265 259 627 820 184 194 1,526 1,732
Liam FitzGerald (ii) 603 587 65 53 244 412 1,017 1,317 120 235 2,049 2,604
Brendan McAtamney 550 440 41 45 407 309 762 – 138 110 1,898 904
Alan Ralph 422 412 32 33 321 265 714 768 114 275 1,603 1,753

Non-executive directors (iii)

Chris Brinsmead 76 73 – – – – – – – – 76 73
Peter Gray 188 180 – – – – – – – – 188 180
Nancy Miller-Rich 18 – – – – – – – – – 18 –
Gerard van Odijk 66 64 – – – – – – – – 66 64
Lisa Ricciardi 65 64 – – – – – – – – 65 64
Philip Toomey 81 75 – – – – – – – – 81 75
Linda Wilding 78 71 – – – – – – – – 78 71

2,536 2,365 199 191 1,237 1,245 3,120 2,905 556 814 7,648 7,520

(i) Chris Corbin’s salary has been converted to Euro at the average rate for each year (0.7826 for 2016 and 0.7428 for 2015).
(ii) Liam FitzGerald stepped down as Chief Executive on 2 February 2016 but continued in an executive role until 31 March 2016. He then transitioned to a consultant and non-executive 

director role until 21 September 2016. He was paid a fee of €50,000 per month for this role. 
(iii) Variances in non-executive director fees are primarily related to travel allowances. See page 76 for more detail.

Details on the valuation methodologies applied are set out in notes (a) to (e) below. These valuation methodologies are as required by the Regulations 
and are different from those applied within the financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). The total expense relating to the directors recognised within the income statement in respect of long-term incentives is €956,000 
(2015: €945,000) and in respect of pension benefits is €556,000 (2015: €729,000).

NOTES TO DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION TABLE
(a) Salary and fees: This is the amount earned in respect of the financial year, whilst a director.

(b) Benefits: This is the taxable value of benefits paid in respect of the financial year. These benefits principally relate to death, disability and 
medical insurance, club subscriptions, the provision of a company car, or cash allowances taken in lieu of such benefits. 

(c) Annual bonus: This is the total bonus earned under the annual bonus scheme in respect of the financial year. For details of performance 
against targets set for the year see pages 70 to 72.

(d) Long term incentives: For the year ended 30 September 2016, this is the market value of the LTIP awards earned based on performance to 
30 September 2016. These LTIP awards (structured as nominally priced options) were granted in February 2014 and the performance period 
was the three year period from 1 October 2013 to 30 September 2016. They are subject to a further two year holding period and will vest 
during February 2019. These awards are also entitled to dividend equivalents over the vesting period. As the vesting period ends in February 
2019, the value above only includes dividend equivalents earned to 30 September 2016.

 The Committee has assessed performance for these awards and determined that 100% of the original award will vest. See page 73 for details. 
The share price at the date of vesting is not available at this time and therefore the number of shares that will vest has been multiplied by the 
difference between the average share price over the quarter ending 30 September 2016 (Stg£6.08) and the exercise price per share option 
(€0.05) to calculate a representation of the value attributed to these options.

  
 For the year ended 30 September 2015, this is the market value of the LTIP awards that vested during December 2015. These LTIP awards 

(structured as nominally priced options) were granted in December 2012 and the performance period was the three year period from 1 October 
2012 to 30 September 2015. The Committee reviewed actual performance relative to the performance targets in November 2015 and determined 
that 100% of the original award should vest. The difference between the share price at the date of vesting (Stg£5.48) and the exercise price per 
share option (€0.05) was multiplied by the number of options that vested to calculate the value attributed to the options for each director. This 
has been updated from the 2015 report where in accordance with the Regulations the disclosure was based on the average share price over the 
quarter ended 30 September 2015 (Stg£5.07). The value of dividend equivalents accrued over the vesting period and paid at the date of 
vesting is also included.

(e) Pension: Please see pages 74 and 75 for further information.
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DISCUSSION OF INDIVIDUAL REMUNERATION ELEMENTS
The following sections set out details on each element of remuneration for the year to 30 September 2016 and details how we intend to operate 
our policy with respect to each element of remuneration for the year to 30 September 2017. 

SALARY 
The base salaries of executive directors are reviewed annually having regard to personal performance, divisional or Group performance, 
significant changes in responsibilities and competitive market practice in their area of operation as well as the pay and conditions in the wider 
Group. The principal external comparator groups against which executive directors’ reward is currently reviewed include the FTSE 250. Changes 
to base salary are generally effective from 1 October.

On appointment to the role of CEO on 2 February 2016 Brendan McAtamney salary was set at €600,000 per annum (approximately the same 
level as the previous CEO). From 1 October 2016, Brendan’s salary will increase to �650,000 per annum in recognition of the increase in 
profitability, market capitalisation and the scale and complexity of the Group and the competitiveness of his package against the market.

With respect to Chris Corbin and Alan Ralph, the Committee determined that their base salaries for 2017 will increase by 2.5%.

The following table sets out the salaries for the executive directors at the start of each financial year.

1 October  
2016  

€’000

1 October  
2015  

€’000

Brendan McAtamney* €650 €451
Alan Ralph €433 €422
Chris Corbin £312 £304

* The salary for Brendan McAtamney on 1 October 2015 related to his role as Chief Operating Officer. The salary on 1 October 2016 related to his role as Chief Executive Officer.

BENEFITS
Employment related benefits for executive directors principally relate to death, disability and medical insurance, club subscriptions, the provision  
of a company car or cash allowances taken in lieu of such benefits. In the case of recruitment, benefits may include relocation allowances or other 
benefits considered appropriate by the Committee to facilitate recruitment. Any such benefits are in line with our recruitment remuneration policy.

ANNUAL BONUS
Bonus for the year ended 30 September 2016
For the year ended 30 September 2016, the maximum bonus opportunity, as a percentage of salary, was 100% for each of the executive directors. 
The bonus opportunity for on-target performance was 70% for Brendan McAtamney and Alan Ralph and 60% for Chris Corbin. 

The following table sets out the performance targets applied for executive directors for the year ended 30 September 2016.

% of maximum bonus B. McAtamney A. Ralph C. Corbin

Financial targets
Profit 70% 70% 75%
Cash flow 15% 15% 10%

85% 85% 85%

Non-financial targets 15% 15% 15%

100% 100% 100%

The performance targets were set by the Committee at the start of the financial year and comprised both financial and non-financial targets. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)
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Financial performance
Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the Committee reviewed actual performance against the targets set for each executive director.

Based on this review, the Committee determined that the executive directors should be awarded bonuses based on the achievement of financial 
targets as illustrated in the table below.

B. McAtamney  
A. Ralph C. Corbin

Measure Weighting % Actual % Weighting % Actual %

Group basic PBT 40.0 40.0 15.0 15.0
Stretch PBT 30.0 6.0 40.0 8.0
Group cash flow 15.0 15.0 – –
Ashfield PBCIT – – 20.0 20.0
Ashfield Divisional cash flow – – 10.0 10.0

Total bonus for financial performance 85.0 61.0 85.0 53.0

The following table summarises performance against target for each of the financial objectives.

Measure Definition Performance targets Actual performance

Group basic PBT PBT is defined as profit before tax, 
exceptional items, amortisation  
of acquired intangibles and 
transaction costs.

It is measured on a constant 
currency basis to remove foreign 
exchange translation impacts. 

Threshold performance equates  
to €84.5 million or 95% of budget 
PBT for continuing operations. No 
portion of this element of bonus  
is paid where actual PBT is at or 
below threshold performance.

Budget PBT was €88.9 million  
and equates to a pay-out of 100%  
of Group basic PBT bonus. 

Payment between threshold,  
target and maximum performance 
is on a pro-rata basis.

Actual PBT was €91.6 million*  
and equated to 100% of target  
bonus and 20% of the stretch 
element of bonus on a constant 
currency basis.

Stretch PBT Achievement of stretch PBT bonus 
requires PBT of 115% of budget or 
€102.2 million.

Group cash flow Cash flow is defined as net cash 
inflow from operating activities 
excluding exceptional items, 
transactional costs, interest and  
tax, less capital expenditure. 

The Group’s cash flow target is 
based on budgeted cash flow from 
continuing operations. No bonus  
is paid if cash flow does not reach 
the budget target and 100% of 
bonus is paid if budget cash flow  
is reached or exceeded.

Actual cash flow of €74.6 million 
exceeded the budget target of 
€62.7 million, accordingly 100%  
of this element of the bonus  
was achieved.

* Please see page 173 for further details on this calculation.



72 UDG Healthcare plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2016

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Measure Definition Performance targets Actual performance

Ashfield PBCIT Profit is defined as profit before 
allocation of Group overheads, 
exceptional items, amortisation of 
acquired intangibles, transaction 
costs, interest and tax. It is 
measured on a constant currency 
basis to remove foreign exchange 
translation impacts.

Threshold performance for the 
Ashfield divisional profit target 
equates to €70.5 million or 95%  
of budget. No portion of this 
element of bonus is paid where 
actual PBT is at or below threshold 
performance. 

Budget profit was €74.2 million  
and equates to a pay-out of 100%  
of Ashfield’s divisional profit bonus.

Payment between threshold, target 
and maximum performance is on a 
pro-rata basis.

Actual profit was €75.4 million  
and accordingly 100% of this 
element of the bonus was achieved.

Ashfield Divisional cash flow Cash flow is defined as net cash 
inflow from operating activities 
excluding exceptional items, 
interest and tax less capital 
expenditure. 

The Ashfield divisional cash flow 
target is based on budgeted  
cash flow. 

Budget cash flow was €60.2 million  
and equates to a pay-out of 100%  
of Ashfield’s divisional cash  
flow bonus.

No bonus is paid if cash flow does 
not reach the budget target and 
100% of target bonus is paid if this 
level is reached or exceeded.

Actual cash flow was €64.7 million 
and accordingly 100% of this 
element of the bonus was achieved.

Non-financial performance
15% of the annual bonus for each executive director was based on the achievement of personal objectives. These objectives include the 
achievement of operational goals, the executive’s contribution to Group strategy as a member of the Board and specific goals related to their 
functional or business unit role. 2016 objectives were set for each executive at the beginning of the financial year, and performance against these 
objectives was assessed by the Committee at its November 2016 meeting. Brendan McAtamney achieved 13% and Alan Ralph and Chris Corbin 
achieved 15%.

The total bonus payable is therefore 74% of maximum for Brendan McAtamney, 76% of maximum for Alan Ralph and 68% of maximum for Chris 
Corbin. The Committee considers that this level of bonus payout is a fair reflection of the performance achieved during the year and the value 
created for shareholders.

Liam FitzGerald was eligible to earn a bonus for the period to 31 March 2016 based on performance against financial and non-financial goals. The 
Committee assessed performance against these objectives and determined that the payouts should be as follows:

Measure Target Actual 

Group basic PBT 27.5% 27.5%
Stretch PBT 30.0% 11.2%
Organic growth 27.5% 27.5%
Non-financial 15.0% 15.0%

Total bonus 100% 81.2%

81.2% of the maximum bonus achievable was paid in April 2016 (pro-rated based on time in the role) which equates to 40.6% of base salary. 

Bonus for the year ending 30 September 2017
For the year ending 30 September 2017, the maximum bonus opportunity for each individual director remains at 100% of base salary and is 
based on the same balance of financial and non-financial performance measures as for 2016. The bonus opportunity for on-target performance 
will continue to be 70% for Brendan McAtamney and Alan Ralph and 60% for Chris Corbin. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)
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LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (LTIP)
The LTIP was approved by shareholders at the Company’s 2010 AGM.

Awards vesting for which the year to 30 September 2016 is the last year of the performance period
The following table sets out details in respect of the February 2014 LTIP award, for which the final year of performance was the year to 
30 September 2016. 

Targets for performance period  
(1 October 2013 to 30 September 2016) Performance against targets

TSR performance (50% of award) TSR measured against constituents of the  
FTSE 250 Index
Vesting schedule for first 75% for Brendan 
McAtamney and Alan Ralph and first 50% for 
Chris Corbin: 
• Below median = 0%
• At median = 25%
• Upper quartile = 100%
• Pro-rating between points

Vesting schedule for final 25% for Brendan 
McAtamney and Alan Ralph and final 50% for 
Chris Corbin:
• This portion of the LTIP award is subject to the 

same vesting schedule as above. Additionally, 
vesting of this element of the TSR award is 
subject to the following underpin:
• adjusted diluted Earnings Per Share (EPS) 

growth of not less than 5% per annum 
compounded over the performance period.

The relative TSR performance over the three year 
period was at the 88th percentile, and growth in 
the adjusted diluted EPS growth was 9.7% p.a. and 
therefore exceeded the underpin. Accordingly, 
100% of this element of the award will vest in 
February 2019.

Aggregate cash flow performance* 
(50% of award)

Company’s aggregate cash flow performance 
(PBIT to cash conversion rate)
Percentage PBIT to cash conversion rate vesting 
schedule: 
• Below 80% = 0%
• At 80% = 25%
• 100% or above = 100%
• Pro-rating between points

Vesting under the cash flow element is also 
contingent on an aggregate minimum cash flow 
generation by the Company of €264 million over 
the performance period.

The PBIT conversion rate was 109% over the three 
year period, and aggregate cash generation was 
€310 million.

Total 100% of awards will vest during February 2019.

*  In line with the plan rules, for the purposes of assessing the level of LTIP awards that should vest, the impact of exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets has been 
excluded within both PBIT and cash flow for calculation purposes. For the purposes of assessing the achievement of the minimum cash flow generation target over the performance period, 
actual cash generation during this period has been adjusted by eliminating cash generated from acquisitions completed after the target level of €264 million had been set. Similarly, cash 
generated has also been adjusted in respect of disposals completed after the target level of €264 million had been set. 

LTIP awards made during the year to 30 September 2016
The following table sets out details of LTIP awards made during the year to 30 September 2016. 

Number of 
options Date of award

Share price 
at date  

of grant  
Stg£

Face value 
Stg£’000 

Threshold 
vesting  

% 

Maximum 
vesting  

%

Chris Corbin 54,884 3 December 2015 5.54 304 25 100
Brendan McAtamney 57,954 3 December 2015 5.54 321 25 100

77,354 5 February 2016 5.12 396 25 100
Alan Ralph 54,289 3 December 2015 5.54 301 25 100

The above awards will vest five years after the date of grant. The performance period is the three years to 30 September 2018. The awards are in 
the form of nominal value share options over ordinary shares with an exercise price of €0.05 per share. 
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DISCUSSION OF INDIVIDUAL REMUNERATION ELEMENTS CONTINUED
LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (LTIP) CONTINUED
LTIP awards made during the year to 30 September 2016 continued
The market value of the options granted to Chris Corbin and Alan Ralph (number of options multiplied by the share price at the date of grant) 
equated to 100% of their base salary. 

Brendan McAtamney was granted an award of 100% of his base salary in December 2015. He received an additional award upon appointment  
as Chief Executive on 5 February 2016. The performance period and performance conditions relating to this grant mirror those granted in 
December 2015 and the vesting date is 5 February 2021. In line with our shareholder approved Policy the total value of awards granted during  
the year equated to 150% of Brendan’s base salary as CEO on the date of award. The Committee decided that it was in shareholders interests to 
ensure Brendan has a significant equity interest in the Group as soon as possible.

Liam FitzGerald did not receive a 2016 LTIP award.

The following table sets out details of performance measures in respect of the LTIP awards granted during the year.

Targets for performance period (1 October 2015 to 30 September 2018)

TSR performance (50% of award) TSR measured against the FTSE 250 Index 
Vesting schedule for first 75% for Brendan McAtamney and Alan Ralph and first 50% for Chris Corbin  
of the TSR award: 
• Below median = 0% 
• At median = 25% 
• Upper quartile = 100% 
• Pro-rating between points 

Vesting schedule for final 25% for Brendan McAtamney and Alan Ralph and final 50% for Chris Corbin  
of the TSR award: 
• This portion of the LTIP award is subject to the same vesting schedule as above. Additionally, vesting 

of this element of the TSR award is subject to the following underpin: 
• adjusted diluted Earnings per Share (EPS) growth of not less than 5% per annum compounded 

over the performance period.

Aggregate cash flow performance* 
(50% of award)

Company’s aggregate cash flow performance (PBIT to cash conversion rate) 
Percentage PBIT to cash conversion rate vesting schedule: 
• Below 80% = 0% 
• At 80% = 25% 
• 100% or above = 100% 
• Pro-rating between points 

Vesting under the cash flow element is also contingent on an aggregate minimum cash flow generation 
by the Company of €263 million over the performance period.

*  In line with the plan rules, for the purposes of assessing the level of LTIP awards that should vest, the impact of exceptional items and amortisation of acquired intangible assets will be 
excluded within both PBIT and cash flow for calculation purposes. For the purposes of assessing the achievement of the minimum cash flow generation target, cash flows from acquisitions 
shall be excluded and the target shall also be adjusted in respect of lost cash flows from disposals.

The proportion of awards that do not meet the performance criteria will lapse on the scheduled vesting date.

LTIP awards during year to 30 September 2017
Award levels will continue to be between 100% and 150% of base salary. It is intended that performance targets for LTIP awards to be granted 
during the year to 30 September 2017 will continue to be based on the same performance conditions as outlined above. The performance period 
will be the three years to 30 September 2019 and awards meeting their vesting criteria will vest on the fifth anniversary of their grant. 

PENSIONS
Irish and UK tax legislation impose penalty taxes on annual pension contributions and increases in pension fund values accruing to individual 
employees where proscribed maximum amounts are exceeded. The Committee has previously determined that impacted executive directors could 
either continue to accrue pension benefits as previously entitled, or alternatively, accept pension benefits limited by the proscribed maximum amounts 
and receive or accrue a supplementary taxable non-pensionable allowance equal to the cost to the Company of the pension benefit foregone. 
 
The alternative arrangements were accepted by Liam FitzGerald with effect from 8 December 2010 and by Chris Corbin with effect from 5 April 
2011. The amount of the allowance awarded to each director has been set by the Committee such that there is no additional cost to the Company 
from the arrangement. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)
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All pension benefits are determined solely in relation to base salary. Fees paid to non-executive directors are not pensionable.

Brendan McAtamney receives a taxable, non-pensionable cash allowance of 25% of base salary.

Alan Ralph participated in a defined benefit pension plan, which accrued annually to provide up to 55% of his final pensionable salary at retirement. 
This plan was closed to future accrual in December 2015. From January 2016, Alan received a taxable non-pensionable cash allowance in lieu of 
pension of 25% of base salary.

Chris Corbin is a member of a defined contribution scheme with contributions capped at the permitted level under UK tax legislation. The Group 
has accrued a supplementary taxable non-pensionable allowance equal to the cost of the pension contribution foregone. The combined cost of 
these arrangements was Stg£144,000 in 2016. 

Liam FitzGerald was a member of a defined benefit pension scheme and his existing pension fund values were frozen at the permitted levels 
under Irish tax legislation. For the past number of years, Liam has received a taxable non-pensionable cash allowance in lieu of further 
participation in this scheme. During the year Liam accepted an offer made to all members of the plan, to transfer his accrued benefit from the 
defined benefit plan to a privately managed arrangement at a value of 125% of transfer value. There was no increase in his accrued pension 
entitlement from 1 October 2015 to the date of transfer. 

Details of defined benefit pension entitlements

Accumulated  
accrued pension at 
30 September 2016  

€’000 Normal retirement date

Alan Ralph 91 18 September 2029

The normal retirement date of each director is their sixtieth birthday. In the event that a director retires before their sixtieth birthday and receives 
an immediate pension, their pension entitlement shall be reduced on an actuarial basis to reflect earlier payment.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
PAYMENTS TO FORMER DIRECTORS
There were no payments to former directors during the year.

PAYMENTS FOR LOSS OF OFFICE
There were no payments for loss of office during the year.

TRANSITION TERMS FOR LIAM FITZGERALD
Liam FitzGerald stepped down from the role of CEO on 2 February 2016. He remained in an executive role until 31 March 2016 and then transitioned 
to a consultant (supporting CEO transition and ensuring continuity on ongoing M&A transaction activities) and non-executive director role. He 
stepped down from this role and from the Board on 21 September 2016. For the period to 31 March 2016 he continued to be paid his CEO salary and 
receive a bonus based on his performance against financial and non-financial objectives. For the period from 1 April 2016 to 21 September 2016 he 
was paid a consulting fee of €50,000 per month. His outstanding LTIP awards have been pro-rated based on time to 30 September 2016. Previous 
awards continue to be subject to performance assessment at the normal time and any holding periods. He did not receive an LTIP award for 2016. 
He continued to be provided with the use of his company car and health benefits until 30 September 2016. 

MINIMUM SHAREHOLDING REQUIREMENTS
The Committee has adopted guidelines for executive directors to retain substantial long term share ownership. These guidelines specify that 
executive directors should, over a period of five years from the date of appointment, build up and then retain a shareholding in the Company with 
a valuation at least equal to their annual base salary. 

The table below sets out the percentage of base salary held in shares in the Company by each executive director as at 30 September 2016.

Shareholdings at 
30 September 2016 
(% of base salary)

Chris Corbin 3,927
Brendan McAtamney (i) 99
Alan Ralph 301

(i) Chris Corbin and Alan Ralph have met their shareholding guideline. Brendan McAtamney joined the Group on 1 September 2013 and became an executive director on 16 December 2013 
and therefore has until 1 September 2018 to meet the requirement.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Non-executive directors’ fees are set at a level to attract individuals with broad international, commercial and other relevant experience and 
reward them for fulfilling the relevant role. 

The Nominations & Governance Committee completed a benchmarking exercise during 2016 on non-executive director fees and Chairman fees. 
The changes made to the non-executive fee structure are outlined below and took effect from 1 June 2016. All changes were in line with our 
Remuneration Policy, as set out on pages 81 and 82. Non-executive directors receive a basic fee for their role and membership of a Committee. 
Non-executives who serve as chair of one or more Committees are entitled to an additional fee. Membership of multiple Committees does not 
accrue any additional fee. Non-executive directors who travel to/from meetings from Europe receive an additional €500 travel allowance per trip 
and those travelling to/from the US receive an additional €1,000 per trip. The Senior Independent non-executive Director (‘SID’) is also entitled to 
an additional fee of €10,000 per annum.

Non-executive director’ fees:
From 1 June 

2016
Pre 1 June 

2016

Basic fee (including Committee membership) €65,000 €60,000

Committee chair* €15,000 €10,000

SID Fee €10,000 n/a

*  This is an additional fee payable to the Chairs of the Audit, Remuneration, and Risk, Investment & Financing Committee. Peter Gray is Chair of the Nominations & Governance Committee 
and does not receive a separate fee in respect of this role. 

In addition to the basic fee of €65,000, Peter Gray receives a fee of €140,000 in respect of his role as Chairman.

DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING AND SHARE INTERESTS
LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN (LTIP)
Details of outstanding share awards, with performance conditions, granted to directors under the LTIP are set out below.

Number of shares under award

At 
1 October 

2015

Granted 
during the 

year (i)

Exercised 
during the 

year

Lapsed 
during the 

year (ii)

At 
30 September 

2016

Market price 
at date of 

award

Exercise 
price 

€

Market price 
at date of 

vesting 
Date of 
award Vesting date Expiry date

Chris Corbin

69,387 – (69,387) – – €2.30 0.05 £5.37 24.05.12 24.05.15 23.05.19
107,462 – (107,462) – – £2.68 0.05 £5.48 07.12.12 07.12.15 06.12.19

77,212 – – – 77,212 £3.73 0.05 n/a 28.02.14 28.02.19 27.02.21
77,772 – – – 77,772 £3.78 0.05 n/a 17.12.14 17.12.19 16.12.21

– 54,884 – – 54,884 £5.52 0.05 n/a 03.12.15 03.12.20 02.12.22

331,833 54,884 (176,849) – 209,868

Brendan McAtamney

93,911 – – – 93,911 £3.73 0.05 n/a 28.02.14 28.02.19 27.02.21
92,041 – – – 92,041 £3.78 0.05 n/a 17.12.14 17.12.19 16.12.21

– 57,954 – – 57,954 £5.52 0.05 n/a 03.12.15 03.12.20 02.12.22
– 77,354 – – 77,354 £5.12 0.05 n/a 05.02.16 05.02.21 04.02.23

185,952 135,308 – – 321,260

Alan Ralph

64,439 – (64,439) – – €2.30 0.05 £5.37 24.05.12 24.05.15 23.05.19
100,661 – (100,661) – – £2.68 0.05 £5.48 07.12.12 07.12.15 06.12.19
87,973 – – – 87,973 £3.73 0.05 n/a 28.02.14 28.02.19 27.02.21
86,220 – – – 86,220 £3.78 0.05 n/a 17.12.14 17.12.19 16.12.21

– 54,289 – – 54,289 £5.52 0.05 n/a 03.12.15 03.12.20 02.12.22

339,293 54,289 (165,100) – 228,482

(i) Details regarding the grant of awards to directors during the year to 30 September 2016 are set out on page 73.
(ii) During the year, the Committee determined that 100% of the awards granted in February 2014 will vest. 
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EXECUTIVE SHARE OPTION SCHEME (ESOS) 
Details of outstanding share options, with performance conditions, granted to directors under the ESOS are set out below.  
The last awards under this scheme were made in 2009.

Number of shares under award

At 1 October 
2015

Exercised 
during the 

year

Lapsed 
during the 

year 

At 
30 September 

2016
Exercise 

price 

Market price 
at date of 

vesting 
Date of 
award Vesting date Expiry date

Basic tier share options
Chris Corbin

45,000 (45,000) – – €4.06 £5.38 20.06.07 24.11.15 19.06.17

45,000 (45,000) – –

Alan Ralph

45,000 (45,000) – – €3.32 €1.96 23.06.06 23.06.09 22.06.16
45,000 (45,000) – – €4.06 £5.38 20.06.07 24.11.15 19.06.17

90,000 (90,000) – –

Number of shares under award

At 1 October 
2015

Exercised 
during the 

year

Lapsed 
during the 

year 

At 
30 September 

2016
Exercise 

price 

Market price 
at date of 

vesting 
Date of 
award Vesting date Expiry date

Second tier share options
Chris Corbin

40,000 – (40,000) – €3.32 n/a 23.06.06 n/a 22.06.16
40,000 – – 40,000 €4.06 n/a 20.06.07 06.12.16 19.06.17

80,000 – (40,000) 40,000

Alan Ralph

40,000 – (40,000) – €3.32 n/a 23.06.06 n/a 22.06.16
45,000 – – 45,000 €4.06 n/a 20.06.07 06.12.16 19.06.17

85,000 – (40,000) 45,000

Basic tier share options are exercisable when EPS growth exceeds the growth of the Irish Consumer Price Index by 5% compounded, over a 
period of at least three years subsequent to the granting of the share options.

Second tier share options are exercisable when EPS growth exceeds the growth of the Irish Consumer Price Index by 10% compounded, over any 
period of five successive years, subsequent to the granting of the share options. In addition to this requirement, second tier share options may 
only be exercised if EPS growth over the same period places the Company: 

(1)  in the top 25% of companies listed on the ISEQ index, in which case these share options may be exercised in their entirety; 
(2) in the midpoint position of companies listed on the ISEQ index, in which case half of the share options may be exercised;
(3)   between the midpoint and the top 25% of companies listed on the ISEQ index, in which case the proportion of the share options which may 

be exercised increases on a straight line basis; 
(4)  below the midpoint position of companies listed on the ISEQ index, in which case no share options may be exercised.

63.33% of the options granted on 20 June 2007 under the ESOS scheme were deemed to vest on 6 December 2016 by the Remuneration 
Committee, having exercised their discretion in relation to the impact of the disposal of the United Drug Supply Chain businesses during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SECRETARY’S SHAREHOLDING AND SHARE INTERESTS CONTINUED
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE CAPITAL
The beneficial interests, including family interests, of the directors and secretary in office at 30 September 2016 in the ordinary share capital of 
the Company are detailed below. 

30 September 
2016

Ordinary shares

1 October  
2015  

(or date of 
appointment  

if later) 
Ordinary shares

Chris Brinsmead 12,500 15,000
Chris Corbin 1,862,681 1,862,681
Peter Gray 100,000 100,000
Brendan McAtamney 80,000 50,000
Nancy Miller-Rich – –
Gerard van Odijk – –
Alan Ralph 170,688 153,588
Lisa Ricciardi 16,000 16,000
Philip Toomey 84,334 84,334
Linda Wilding 19,304 19,304
Damien Moynagh (Company Secretary) – –

 
There were no changes in the above Directors and Secretary’s interests between 30 September 2016 and 6 December 2016. 
 
The directors and secretary have no beneficial interests in any Group subsidiary or joint venture undertakings.

STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDER VOTING
The Company is committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue and takes shareholder views into consideration when formulating remuneration 
policy and practice. To the extent there are substantial numbers of votes against resolutions in relation to directors’ remuneration, the Company 
will seek to understand the reasons for any such vote and will provide details of any actions in response to such a vote. 

The following tables set out the actual votes at the 2016 AGM in respect of the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year to 30 September 2015. 

Directors’ Remuneration Report For Against Withheld 

Number of votes (millions) 143.9 0.3 0.1
Percentage % 99.7 0.3 – (i)

The following tables set out the actual votes at the 2014 AGM in respect of the last shareholder approved Directors’ Remuneration Policy:

Directors’ Remuneration Report For Against Withheld 

Number of votes (millions) 122.0 1.05 0.95
Percentage % 99 1 – (i)

(i) A vote withheld is not a vote in law and is not counted in the calculation of the percentage votes for and against a resolution.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
The following table details the members of the Committee, their attendance at meetings held during the year to 30 September 2016 and their tenure. 

A B
Committee 

tenure

Linda Wilding (Chair) 8 8 2 years
Chris Brinsmead 8 8 5 years
Peter Gray 8 8 3 years
Lisa Ricciardi 8 8 2 years
Philip Toomey 8 8 7 years

Column A – Number of meetings held when director was a member.
Column B – Number of meetings attended when director was a member.

The Committee’s responsibilities include:

• setting, reviewing and recommending to the Board the remuneration policy for executive directors and certain other senior executives;
• setting, reviewing and approving the remuneration arrangements of executive directors and senior executives; and
• reviewing and approving the rules of any incentive plans subject to final approval by the Board and shareholders.

Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)
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EXTERNAL ADVISORS
The Committee seeks and considers advice from independent remuneration advisors where appropriate. During 2012, following a review 
process, the Committee appointed Deloitte LLP to provide advice on compensation and remuneration matters including advice on best practice 
market developments. During the year to 30 September 2016, fees payable to Deloitte in respect of these services amounted to £23,000. These 
fees were charged on a time and expenses basis. Deloitte is one of the founding members of the Remuneration Consultants Code of Conduct  
and adheres to this Code in its dealings with the Committee is satisfied that the advice provided by Deloitte is objective and independent. The 
Committee is comfortable that the Deloitte engagement team that provide remuneration advice to the Committee do not have connections with 
UDG Healthcare plc that may impair their independence.

During the year, the Group also received advice and services from Deloitte in respect of acquisition due diligence, taxation and information 
technology. The Committee is satisfied that the provision of these services does not constitute a conflict of interest. 

PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND TABLE
The table below summarises the single figure of total remuneration for the Chief Executive for the past eight years as well as how the actual 
awards under the annual bonus and LTIP compare to their respective maximum opportunity. 

Chief Executive

Single figure 
of total 

remuneration 
€’000

Annual 
bonus award 

against 
maximum 

opportunity

LTIP award 
against 

maximum 
opportunity

2016 (i) Brendan McAtamney 1,265 74.0% 100%
Liam FitzGerald 683 81.2% 100%

2015 Liam FitzGerald 2,509 70.2% 100%
2014 Liam FitzGerald 2,371 71.6% 89.2%
2013 Liam FitzGerald 1,709 20.0% 95.5%
2012 Liam FitzGerald 1,697 90.0% 62.5%
2011 Liam FitzGerald 1,223 89.8% 0% (ii)

2010 Liam FitzGerald 1,342 77.5% 0% (ii)

2009 Liam FitzGerald 1,884 0% 89.8%

(i) Liam FitzGerald was CEO until 1 February 2016. Brendan McAtamney was appointed as Group CEO from 2 February 2016. For 2016, Brendan McAtamney participated in the 2010 LTIP. 
Liam FitzGerald also participated in the 2010 LTIP in 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 financial years. Details on the vesting performance of awards under this plan are set out on page 73 and 74. 
In relation to the single figure of total remuneration, both Liam FitzGerald and Brendan McAtamney’s amounts have been pro-rated for their period of service as CEO.

(ii) For the 2011 and 2010 financial years, Liam FitzGerald participated in the ESOS. Awards under this scheme did not meet their performance targets in respect of either financial year. 
Details on the ESOS vesting conditions are set out on page 77. 

The Company became a member of the FTSE 250 Index on 24 December 2012 and the Committee believes that this is the most appropriate 
index against which to compare the performance of the Company. The chart below compares the performance of the Company relative to the 
FTSE 250 Index over the eight year period to 30 September 2016.
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This graph shows the value of £100 invested in UDG Healthcare plc on 30 September 2008 compared with the value of £100 invested in the FTSE 250. Values at each year-end date are 
calculated on a 3-month average basis. 
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH AND TABLE CONTINUED
PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN TOTAL REMUNERATION OF CEO VERSUS AVERAGE EMPLOYEE
Details of the percentage change in the total remuneration of the Chief Executive relative to employees across the Group as at 30 September 
2016 are set out below.

Total%

Chief Executive (22.4%)*
Average employee 1.9%

*  The percentage change in total remuneration of the Chief Executive is calculated on the basis of a time apportioned aggregation of the total remuneration paid to Liam FitzGerald and 
Brendan McAtamney in respect of the period each served in the role, compared to 2015 where Liam FitzGerald occupied the role.

UDG Healthcare is an international company employing almost 8,000 people. The average employee percentage is representative of the 
multi-national and geographical nature of the Group.

An analysis of the overall expenditure on pay and average number of employees is set out within note 30 to the financial statements. 

RELATIVE SPEND ON PAY
The following table sets out the percentage change in adjusted profit before tax, dividends and overall expenditure on pay (as a whole across  
the organisation). 

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000 Change

Adjusted profit before tax 109,150 107,077 1.9%
Dividends 27,386 25,146 8.9%
Overall expenditure on pay 462,020 455,536 1.4%

Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY REPORT
This Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report was approved by shareholders on 4 February 2014 with 99% of shareholders voting in favour of the 
resolution. The Policy took effect from the financial year commencing 1 October 2014. It has been three years since this Policy was submitted to 
shareholders and in accordance with the remuneration reporting regulations will be re-submitted for approval at the AGM on 7 February 2017. 
This revised Policy will apply from this date. As UDG Healthcare is an Irish incorporated company the report will be subject to an advisory rather 
than binding vote.

There are no significant changes to the Policy from that approved by shareholders in 2014. Some minor changes have been made to the Policy for 
clarity and to reflect evolving market practice and shareholder guidance. 

The following table sets out a discussion of each element of the remuneration package for directors. 

Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance metrics

Salary Sufficient to attract and 
retain individuals of the 
necessary calibre to 
execute our business 
strategy by ensuring base 
salaries are competitive in 
the market in which the 
individual is employed. 

Reviewed annually. Changes are 
generally effective from 1 October. 

The review takes into consideration  
the scope and responsibilities of the 
role, the performance and experience 
of the individual, overall business 
performance, increases in the size and 
complexity of the Group and potential 
retention issues.

The principal external 
comparator groups against 
which executive directors’ 
reward is currently reviewed 
include the FTSE 250. 

There is no maximum 
salary. Any salary increases 
will have regard to increases 
awarded to the overall 
employee population, the 
rate of underlying inflation, 
and general market 
conditions as well as 
reflecting changes in scope 
of role and responsibilities.

Individual and business 
performances are 
considered in setting  
base salary.

Benefits Provide competitive 
benefits within the  
market in which the 
individual is employed.

Benefits typically include death, 
disability and medical insurance,  
club subscriptions, the provision of a 
company car or cash allowances taken 
in lieu of such benefits. In the case  
of recruitment, benefits may include 
relocation allowances or other benefits 
which are considered necessary to 
facilitate recruitment in line with our 
recruitment remuneration policy.

There is no maximum 
benefit value. Benefit 
entitlements are  
reviewed periodically.

Not performance related.

Pension Designed to provide 
market competitive 
pension arrangements 
sufficient to attract and 
retain individuals of the 
necessary calibre to 
execute our business 
strategy and to honour 
legacy arrangements. 

Current Irish resident executive 
directors receive a cash allowance  
in lieu of participation in a pension 
scheme. The current UK resident 
executive director’s pension 
entitlement is satisfied through an 
accrual of a supplementary allowance.

Maximum levels of 
contributions for  
any new Executive  
Director is 25% of salary. 
Legacy arrangements for 
individuals are honoured 
and details are provided  
in the Annual 
Remuneration Report.

Related to salary.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY REPORT CONTINUED

Element Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance metrics

Annual 
bonus

Rewards the achievement 
of annual financial  
and strategic business  
targets and individual 
performance.

Annual bonus performance measures 
and weightings for each executive 
director are reviewed at the start of 
each financial year to ensure they 
continue to support the achievement  
of the business strategy and represent 
appropriately stretching financial and 
non-financial targets. Pay-outs are 
determined by the Committee based on 
actual performance against the targets 
set at the start of the financial year.

The Committee has discretion  
to determine appropriate bonus 
entitlement on cessation of employment. 
Bonus amounts will be based on the 
circumstances of the termination, the 
portion of the financial year elapsed and 
performance against targets and of the 
individual and other relevant factors.

Maximum bonus 
opportunity for all 
executive directors is 
currently set at 100%  
of base salary.

Performance is measured 
against clearly defined 
objectives set by the 
Committee. At least 75%  
of the maximum bonus 
opportunity is based  
on financial goals. The 
remainder may be based 
on achievement of personal 
and strategic goals.

For financial performance, 
up to 10% of salary is 
available at threshold 
performance. For 
non-financial targets,  
the minimum level of 
performance equates  
to zero bonus pay-out.

Long Term 
Incentive 
Plan (LTIP)

Designed to incentivise 
execution of the business 
strategy over the longer 
term and align executives 
with shareholders’ 
interests by rewarding 
sustained increase in 
shareholder value and 
strong long term financial 
performance.

Awards are normally made annually by 
the Committee following the release of 
full year financial results. Performance 
targets are set at the time of award 
based on:

(i) delivering long term stretching 
financial performance aligned  
with strategic plans; and

(ii) delivering long term superior 
returns (relative to an appropriate 
peer group) to shareholders.

Performance is normally assessed over 
three financial years. The vesting 
period for awards is five years. 

Dividends or dividend equivalents may 
be paid. 

The Committee has discretion to 
determine appropriate entitlement to 
unvested LTIP awards on cessation of 
employment. Typically, pro-rating for 
time served will apply and performance 
will be tested at the end of the 
performance period as part of the 
normal process. The LTIP scheme  
rules contain provisions in relation to 
change of control. In such a scenario, 
the Committee has discretion to allow 
outstanding awards to vest to the 
extent that performance targets  
have been met. Time pro-rating  
will generally also be applied.

Under the scheme rules, 
the maximum value of 
awards in any one year is 
limited to 150% of base 
salary for each individual.

Up to half of any award 
may be based on a share 
price based measure  
(e.g. TSR) and up to half  
of any award may be based 
on a financial measure  
(e.g. Cash flow). The 
Committee retains 
discretion to introduce 
measures (e.g. strategic) for 
future awards which will 
account for no more than 
one third of the award.

Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)
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SHAREHOLDER GUIDELINES POLICY
The Company operates a shareholding guideline. Executives are generally expected to build and maintain a shareholding of 100% of base salary. 
New executives have a period of time from joining in which to achieve this target.

NOTES TO FUTURE POLICY TABLE
LTIP PLAN LIMITS AND CLAWBACK PROVISIONS
The LTIP scheme rules provide for the granting of awards, up to a maximum of 10% of the Company’s issued share capital over a ten year period, 
taking account of any other share scheme operated by the Company and also provide for a clawback of awards by the Committee, in the event 
that within one year of the awards vesting, the basis on which awards were determined to vest is shown to be manifestly misstated.

ANNUAL BONUS ARRANGEMENTS AND CLAWBACK PROVISIONS
In relation to annual bonuses, the Committee incorporated clawback provisions in the prior year in the event that within 3 years of payment the 
basis upon which a bonus payment was determined or paid, is shown to be manifestly misstated.

LEGACY AWARDS
For the avoidance of doubt, the Committee reserves the right to make any remuneration payments and payments for loss of office (including 
exercising any discretion available to it in connection with such payments) notwithstanding that they are not in line with the policy set out  
above where the terms of the payment were agreed (i) before 4 February 2014 (the date the Company’s first shareholder-approved directors’ 
remuneration policy came into effect (ii) before the policy set out above came into effect, provided that the terms of the payment were consistent 
with the shareholder-approved directors’ remuneration policy in force at the time they were agreed; or (iii) at a time when the relevant individual 
was not a director of the Company and, in the opinion of the Committee, the payment was not in consideration for the individual becoming a 
director of the Company. For these purposes ‘payments’ includes the Committee satisfying awards of variable remuneration and, in relation to  
an award over shares, the terms of the payment are ‘agreed’ at the time the award is granted.

CHOICE OF PERFORMANCE MEASURES
The Committee believes the choice of performance measures for the annual bonus and LTIP represent an appropriate balance between the short 
and long term focus of the Group’s business strategy, as well as an appropriate balance between external and internal assessments of performance. 

DIFFERENCES IN POLICY
Remuneration arrangements throughout the Group are based on the principle that reward should support the business strategy and should be 
sufficient to attract and retain individuals of the calibre capable of executing that strategy, without paying more than is necessary. 

The Group is an international organisation with employees at different levels of seniority in a number of different countries. Accordingly, the manner 
in which the above principle is implemented varies by level of employee and geography in which the employee is located. 

The practice with regard to the remuneration of senior executives immediately below the level of executive director is consistent with the 
remuneration policy for executive directors. These executives all have a significant portion of their remuneration package linked to performance. 
Their financial and non-financial performance targets for annual bonus are cascaded from the targets for the executive directors. They are also 
eligible to participate either in the LTIP or other similar long term incentive plans.

Other senior managers are entitled to participate in appropriate multi-year incentive arrangements and also participate in local bonus plans 
with performance targets aligned with those of executive directors and senior executives. For employees in general, the Group aims to provide 
remuneration packages that are market-competitive in the employee’s country of employment. Where practical, the structure of employees’ 
remuneration cascades from that of executives and senior management. 

DISCRETION
The Committee has retained the discretionary ability to adjust the value of an award under the annual bonus and LTIP schemes, if the award, in 
the Committee’s opinion taking all circumstances into consideration, produces an unfair result. In exercising this discretion, the Committee may 
take into consideration the individual’s or the Group’s performance against non-financial measures. 

CONSIDERATIONS OF CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP
The Committee does not directly consult with employees when formulating executive director pay policy. However, the Committee does take into 
consideration information on pay arrangements for the wider employee population when determining the pay of executive directors. 

SHAREHOLDER CONSIDERATIONS
The Company is committed to ongoing dialogue with shareholders and welcomes feedback on directors’ remuneration. We continue to incorporate 
market developments and shareholder expectations within our remuneration frameworks. 
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REMUNERATION POLICY FOR NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Non-executive directors are not eligible to participate in the annual bonus plan or LTIP and do not receive any benefits other than fees in respect 
of their services to the Company. The Company reimburses the non-executives for reasonable expenses in performing their duties and may settle 
any tax incurred in relation to these.

Non-executive directors receive a basic fee which covers their Board role and membership of a Board Committee. Additional fees are paid for chairing 
the Board and for a Committee, but only one such fee can be received by any one individual. A separate fee is paid for acting as Senior Independent 
Director. An additional modest travel allowance is paid to directors travelling to and from Europe, and to and from the US, for each meeting attended 
in person.

POLICY ON PAYMENT FOR LOSS OF OFFICE
The Company operates the following policy in respect of payments concerning loss of office: 

• notice periods do not exceed 12 months;
• termination payments are negotiable but restricted to a maximum of 12 months’ salary and other contractual benefits;
• the Committee has discretion to determine appropriate bonus amounts and LTIP vesting. Bonus amounts will be determined based on time 

spent and the performance of the individual whilst fulfilling the duties of the role. Typically, for LTIP awards, pro-rating for time served will 
apply and performance will be tested at the end of the performance period as part of the normal process; and

• in any exit payment scenario, the Committee will give due consideration to the circumstances under which the director’s employment terminated. 

APPROACH TO RECRUITMENT REMUNERATION 
In the event of appointing a new executive director, the Committee will align the remuneration package of the new director with the policy set out 
in this Report. However, the Committee retains the discretion to propose remuneration arrangements on hiring a new executive director which  
are outside the policy set out in the future policy table in order to facilitate the hiring of an individual of the calibre required to deliver the Group’s 
business strategy. The intention is to stay within limits on variable pay as set out within the future policy table. However, in any event, the maximum 
level of variable remuneration (i.e. bonus and long term incentive) which may be granted in these circumstances shall not exceed 300% of salary. 

When determining the appropriate remuneration arrangements for a new executive director, the Committee will take account of the impact  
on existing remuneration arrangements for other executive directors when setting the type and quantum of remuneration being offered. The 
Committee may make awards on hiring an external candidate to compensate the individual for variable remuneration arrangements that will  
be forfeited on leaving their previous employer. In doing so, the Committee will take into consideration such factors as performance conditions, 
vesting schedules and the form of the awards being forfeited. To the extent possible, buy-out awards will be made on a basis that closely 
approximates the benefit that the new director could reasonably have expected to receive had they remained with their previous employer. 

SERVICE CONTRACTS
Brendan McAtamney and Alan Ralph’s service contracts can be terminated by either party giving 12 months’ notice. The Company has retained 
the right to make payment to the director in respect of salary and other contractual entitlements in lieu of the notice period. 

Chris Corbin’s service contract can be terminated by either party giving 12 months’ notice. As previously announced, Chris Corbin has informed 
the Board of his intentions to retire from the Group in April 2019.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT
The terms of engagement of non-executive directors are set out in Letters of Appointment. Non-executive directors are currently appointed for 
an initial three year term subject to satisfactory performance and annual re-election by shareholders at Annual General Meetings. The 
appointment can be terminated by either party on giving one month’s notice.

Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)
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 LTIP
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REMUNERATION SCENARIOS 
The chart below shows hypothetical values of the remuneration package for executive directors under three assumed performance scenarios and 
has been constructed based on the Remuneration Policy as set out in this Report and uses the same level of salary, benefits and pensions entitlement 
of each of the executive directors as at 1 October 2016 under all three of the scenarios.

• Minimum remuneration receivable – There is no annual bonus payment and no vesting under the LTIP. 
• Remuneration for expected performance – There is a target bonus pay-out of 70% for Brendan McAtamney and Alan Ralph and 60% for 

Chris Corbin. There is target vesting under the LTIP of 25% of the maximum award.
• Maximum remuneration receivable – There is a maximum bonus pay-out of 100% of base salary for each executive director and maximum 

vesting of 150% of base salary for Brendan McAtamney and 100% for Alan Ralph. As Chris Corbin is no longer receiving any grants under the 
LTIP, this element of remuneration is zero.

The actual amounts earned by executive directors under the above scenarios will depend on share price performance over the vesting period. 
For the purpose of these illustrations, any share price appreciation has been ignored. Chris Corbin’s remuneration has been converted to Euros 
at the average rate for 2016.
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COMPOSITION AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2016
Peter Gray (Chair)
Philip Toomey
Chris Brinsmead

ATTENDANCE RECORD AND TENURE

Member A B
Committee 

tenure

Peter Gray (Chair) 5 5 10 years
Chris Brinsmead 5 5 4 years
Philip Toomey 5 5 7 years

Column A – Number of meetings held when director was a member.
Column B – Number of meetings attended when director was a member.

KEY OBJECTIVE
To ensure the Board is comprised of individuals with the skills, knowledge, experience and expertise that are appropriate for the Group’s requirements. 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES
• to evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of the Board and Committees and make recommendations to the Board 

with regard to any changes;
• to consider succession planning for directors and other senior executives taking into account what skills and expertise are needed for 

the future;
• to identify, and nominate for the approval of the Board, candidates for appointment as directors; 
• to consider the re-appointment of any non-executive director at the conclusion of their specified term of office and recommend their 

re-appointment to the Board; and
• to review Corporate Governance developments and ensure the Group remains compliant with all aspects of governance applicable to it.

MEETINGS
The Committee met five times during the year ended 30 September 2016. Individual attendance at these meetings is set out above.  
The Committee is chaired by the Chairman of the Board and is comprised of non-executive directors only, considered by the Board,  
to be independent. The Chief Executive is present occasionally at the invitation of the Committee.

Nominations & Governance Committee Report

The Nominations & Governance Committee has  
been quite active in 2016 reflecting its involvement  
in succession planning for new Board members and 
reshaping the Board Committees to ensure they continue 
to comply with the highest standards of governance. 

Peter Gray
Chair of the Nominations & Governance Committee
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MAIN ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR 
The committee oversaw the Chief Executive handover which took place a little ahead of schedule in February 2016.

The Committee also undertook a formal, rigorous recruitment process to manage a search for non-executive directors with relevant international 
experience and to ensure the Board continued to have the appropriate balance of skills and experience. Following a detailed briefing from the 
Chairman on behalf of the Committee, Spencer Stuart, an independent executive search firm, identified a list of potential candidates, which  
was reviewed by the Committee, who in turn selected candidates to bring through to the next stage of the process. A one-on-one interview was 
then conducted with each candidate by the Chairman and one other director who then shortlisted the candidates to then go through a further 
interview with the remaining members of the Committee and some other directors. The Committee then invited one of the candidates to  
attend a Board meeting to ensure they were a good cultural fit and to assess their non-executive abilities. Following this, the Committee then 
recommended Ms. Nancy Miller-Rich to the Board as a non-executive director, which was subsequently unanimously approved.

The Committee also continued its review of Board succession planning and has recently appointed an independent consultant in Ireland to 
facilitate a recruitment process to ensure orderly succession for appointments to the Board in recognition of Philip Toomey reaching his nine-year 
tenure in February 2017 and his eventual retirement from the Board. This search is focussed on candidates based in Ireland, having a financial 
background and experience of public companies and governance.

The Committee continues to review all external and internal governance procedures to ensure ongoing compliance and to ensure the Board and 
its Committees are best structured to meet the future needs of our diverse and ever-evolving Group. The Committee conducted a review of the 
Board Committee’s and recommended changes to the remit of each Committee. The key changes are noted below:

• The Nominations & Governance Committee now formally reviews the Group’s ongoing compliance with the corporate governance guidance 
applicable to it and recommends any proposed actions to the Board for its review;

• The Risk, Investment & Financing Committee now formally reviews the Group’s Viability Statement in conjunction with the review of the 
Group’s Risk management process and recommends the statement to the Audit Committee for its review; and

• Two Executive sub-Committees’ were established during the year – the Quality & Compliance sub-Committee and the Risk & Viability 
sub-Committee, with the Chair of each reporting its findings to the Risk, Investment & Financing Committee. The Chairman is a member  
of the Quality & Compliance sub-Committee.

These two new sub-Committees ensure the executive and non-executive Board members are able to oversee the activities of these functions  
as the Group grows and develops into a more global organisation. 

Peter Gray
Chair of the Nominations & Governance Committee
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A significant amount of work was conducted in the  
year to further enhance UDG’s Risk Management  
Process and the Committee is pleased to report  
on this progress within its report. 

Chris Brinsmead
Chair of the Risk, Investment & Financing Committee

Risk, Investment & Financing Committee Report

COMPOSITION AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2016
Chris Brinsmead (Chair)
Gerard van Odijk
Lisa Ricciardi

ATTENDANCE RECORD AND TENURE
The Committee met twice during the year ended 30 September 2016. Individual attendance at these meetings along with the tenure of each 
member is set out below.

Member A B
Committee 

tenure

Chris Brinsmead (Chair) 2 2 5 years
Gerard van Odijk 2 2 3 years
Lisa Ricciardi 2 2 3 years

Column A – Number of meetings held when director was a member. 
Column B – Number of meetings attended when the director was a member. 

KEY OBJECTIVE
To review the risk evaluation and risk management procedures adopted by the Group to ensure relevant risks are identified and managed 
appropriately.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES
• to oversee the Group’s risk management systems and internal controls;
• to oversee the identification and assessment of the Group’s Principal Risks & Uncertainties as well as their associated mitigation strategies, 

and recommend them to the Board for approval;
• to oversee the review of the long term viability of the Group and the development of the Viability Statement for recommendation to the  

Audit Committee;
• to consider, review and approve potential transactions to be made by the Group which have a consideration value of up to €50 million; 
• to consider, review and authorise the commencement of due diligence on potential transactions which have a consideration value of more 

than €50 million;
• to evaluate, and recommend to the Board for approval, any proposed capital expenditure requests exceeding €3 million and any debt and 

equity financing proposals; and
• conduct one year and three year post-acquisition reviews.

MEETINGS
The Committee met twice during the year ended 30 September 2016. Individual attendance at these meetings is set out above. The Committee  
is currently comprised of three independent non-executive directors. The Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer and the Group Head of Quality 
& Compliance are not members of the Committee but attend meetings at the invitation of the Committee.
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MAIN ACTIVITIES DURING THE YEAR 
The effective understanding and management of risk is critical to the short-term success and long-term viability of the Group. It is in that context 
that the Group has incorporated quarterly viability reviews within the Risk Management Process ensuring that the risks associated with what the 
Group does are tackled in the most appropriate way. 

To support this, the Group has developed and implemented a risk management system that facilitates the identification of the principal  
or significant risks that face the Group and which allows those risks and their associated resolutions to be actively amended and monitored.

This system is dynamic and as part of its ongoing development the Group in the past year has focused on a greater facilitation of its risk 
identification and management, as well as an internal review of its effectiveness. As a consequence, the Committee is satisfied that the  
Group’s risk management system is effective.

The Principal Risks & Uncertainties for the Group are set out on pages 21 to 23. 

Two executive sub-Committee’s were established during the year, the Risk & Viability sub-Committee and the Quality & Compliance sub-
Committee, both of which report its annual activities to this Committee. The Chairman of the Board sits on the Quality & Compliance  
sub-Committee.

The process for development of the long-term viability statement was to review the internal elements of the Group and to review key aspects  
of the business environment. Long-term viability forms part of the Group strategy, as one of the objectives of developing a long-term strategy  
is to ensure the viability of the Group. The scenario selection is based on the risks identified in the Principal Risks and Uncertainties. The Committee 
reviewed the process and Statement and recommended it to the Audit Committee for their review and approval.

During the year, the Committee also reviewed the financing agreements in place and completed one year post-acquisition reviews of 
KnowledgePoint360 LLC, Galliard Limited and Nyxeon Limited and three year post-acquisition reviews of Watermeadow Limited, Pharmexx 
GmbH, Bilcare CGS, Drug Safety Alliance LLC and Synopia LLC.

Chris Brinsmead
Chair of the Risk, Investment & Financing Committee 
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Report of the Directors

The directors present their report and audited financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2016.

DIVIDENDS
An interim dividend of 3.05 cent (2015: 2.90 cent) per share was paid on 20 June 2016. Subject to shareholder approval at the Company’s  
2017 AGM, it is proposed to pay a final dividend of 8.50 cent (2015: 8.10 cent) per share on 13 February 2017, to ordinary shareholders on  
the Company’s register at 5.00 p.m. on 20 January 2017, thereby giving a total dividend for the year of 11.55 cent (2015: 11.00 cent) per share. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Nancy Miller-Rich was appointed to the Board on 20 June 2016.

In accordance with the recommendation contained in the 2014 UK Corporate Governance Code, the Board has adopted the practice of annual 
re-election for all directors, unless a director is stepping down from the Board.

COMPANY LISTING AND SHARE PRICE
At 30 September 2016, the Company’s shares were listed solely on the London Stock Exchange. The price of the Company’s shares ranged 
between Stg£4.60 and Stg£6.49, with an average price of Stg£5.69, during the year ended 30 September 2016. The share price at the end  
of the 2016 financial year was Stg£6.41 and the market capitalisation of the Group was Stg£1.58 billion. 

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS
The Company received notification of the following interests of 3% or more in its ordinary share capital:

At 24 November 2016* At 30 September 2016

Ordinary shares 
number

% of issued share 
capital (excluding 

treasury shares)
Ordinary shares 

number

% of issued share 
capital (excluding 

treasury shares)

Fidelity Management & Research 20,844,890 8.42% 20,189,160 8.18%
Blackrock 11,346,635 4.58% 10,947,602 4.44%
Aviva Investors 10,195,640 4.12% 10,434,333 4.23%
Kabouter Management 9,968,921 4.03% 9,382,105 3.80%
Davy Stockbrokers 8,122,962 3.28% 7,740,890 3.14%
M&G Investment Management 7,891,459 3.19% 8,032,854 3.26%

* 24 November is the last practicable date to verify interests before printing this report. 

These entities have indicated that the shareholdings are not ultimately beneficially owned by them.

AUTHORITY TO ALLOT SHARES AND DISAPPLICATION OF PRE-EMPTION RIGHTS
At the AGM held on 2 February 2016, the directors received the authority from shareholders to allot shares up to an aggregate nominal value 
representing approximately one third of the issued share capital of the Company and the power to disapply the statutory pre-emption provisions 
relating to the issue of new equity for cash. The disapplication is limited to the allotment of shares in connection with the exercise of share 
options, any rights issue, any open offer or other offer to shareholders and the allotment of shares up to an aggregate nominal value representing 
approximately 5% of the issued share capital of the Company. The directors also received authority to allot up to 10% of the issued share capital 
of the Company if the issue was related to an acquisition.

These authorities are due to expire at the Company’s 2017 AGM. Consequently, at the forthcoming AGM, shareholders will be asked to renew these 
authorities until the date of the Company’s AGM to be held in 2018 or the date 15 months after this forthcoming AGM, whichever is the earlier.

PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES
At the AGM held on 2 February 2016, authority was granted to the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, to purchase a maximum aggregate of 10% 
of the Company’s shares.

Special resolutions will be proposed at the Company’s 2017 AGM to renew the authority of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, to purchase 
up to 10% of the issued share capital of the Company and in relation to the maximum and minimum prices at which treasury shares (effectively 
shares purchased and not cancelled) may be re-issued off-market by the Company. If granted, the authorities will expire on the earlier of the date 
of the Company’s AGM in 2018 or the date 15 months after this forthcoming AGM.

The directors will only exercise the power to purchase shares if they consider it to be in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as 
a whole.
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TAKEOVER DIRECTIVE 
The Group’s principal banking and loan note facilities include provisions that, in the event of a change of control of the Company, the Group 
could be obliged to repay the facilities together with penalties. Certain customer and supplier contracts and joint venture arrangements also 
contain change of control provisions. Additionally, the Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan and share option schemes contain change of control 
provisions which potentially allow for the acceleration of the exercisability of awards in the event that a change of control occurs with respect to 
the Company.

POLITICAL DONATIONS
No political donations which require disclosure in accordance with the Electoral Acts 1997 to 2012 were made by the Group during the year.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS
The directors believe that they have complied with the requirements of Sections 281 to 285 of the Companies Act 2014 with regard to maintaining 
adequate accounting records by employing accounting personnel with appropriate expertise and by providing adequate resources to the finance 
function. The accounting records of the Company are maintained at the Company’s registered office, 20 Riverwalk, Citywest Business Campus, 
Citywest, Dublin 24, Ireland.

AUDITOR
In accordance with the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code and the EU Audit Regulation 2014, the Audit Committee undertook 
an external audit tender process during 2016. Following this process, the Board approved a recommendation from the Committee to appoint EY 
as the Company’s new Auditor. This appointment will take effect for the year ending 30 September 2017 and is subject to shareholder approval at 
the AGM to be held on 7 February 2017.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The AGM of the Company will be held on 7 February 2017. Your attention is drawn to the letter to shareholders and the Notice of AGM available 
on the Company’s website, www.udghealthcare.com, which sets out details of the matters which will be considered.

MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association set out the objects and powers of the Company and may be amended by a special 
resolution passed by the shareholders at a general meeting of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
UDG Healthcare plc is an Irish registered company and is therefore not subject to the disclosure requirements contained in the UK Companies 
Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013.

A summary of the Group’s business model and strategy is set out on pages 12 to 15 and the Group’s corporate social responsibility policies  
and activities are summarised on pages 40 to 51.

DIRECTORS COMPLIANCE STATEMENT 
(Made in accordance with section 225 of the Companies Act, 2014)

The directors acknowledge that they are responsible for securing compliance by UDG Healthcare plc (the ‘Company’) with its relevant 
obligations as are defined in the Companies Act, 2014 (the ‘Relevant Obligations’).

The directors confirm that they have drawn up and adopted a compliance policy statement setting out the Company’s policies that, in the 
directors’ opinion, are appropriate to the Company with respect to compliance by the Company with its relevant obligations. 

The directors further confirm the Company has put in place appropriate arrangements or structures that are, in the directors’ opinion, designed 
to secure material compliance with its relevant obligations including reliance on the advice of persons employed by the company and external 
legal and tax advisers as considered appropriate from time to time and that they have reviewed the effectiveness of these arrangements or 
structures during the financial year to which this report relates.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and Company Financial Statements, in accordance with applicable 
laws and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and Company Financial statements each year. Under that law, the directors are required  
to prepare the Group Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and have elected to prepare the Company 
Financial Statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2014.

Under company law, the directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group and Company and of their profit and loss for that period. In preparing each of the Group  
and Company Financial Statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state that the Financial Statements comply with IFRS as adopted by the European Union as applied in accordance with the Companies  

Act 2014; and
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the Company will 

continue in business.

The directors are also required by the Transparency (Directive 2004/109/EC) Regulations 2007 and the Transparency Rules of the Central Bank 
of Ireland to include a management report containing a fair review of the business and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing 
the Group.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at any time, the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit and loss of the Company, and which enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements of the Group 
comply with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014. The directors are also responsible for taking all reasonable steps to ensure such records 
are kept by its subsidiaries which enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements of the Group comply with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2014. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and 
financial information included in the Group’s and Company’s website (www.udghealthcare.com). Legislation in Ireland concerning the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT AS REQUIRED BY THE TRANSPARENCY DIRECTIVE AND UK CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
Each of the directors, whose names and functions are listed on pages 56 and 57 of this Annual Report, confirm that, to the best of each person’s 
knowledge and belief:

• as required by the Transparency Regulations:
• The Group Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and, in the case of the Company,  

as applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2014, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position of the Group and 
Company as at 30 September 2016 and of the profit of the Group for the year then ended; and

• The Directors’ report contained in the Annual Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Group and Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; 

• as required by the UK Corporate Governance Code:
• The annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, provides the information necessary to assess the Group’s performance, 

business model and strategy and is fair, balanced and understandable. 

Report of the Directors (continued)
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OTHER INFORMATION
Other information relevant to the Director’s Report may be found in the following sections of the Annual Report:

Information Location in the Annual Report

Principal activities, business review and future developments Chairman’s Statement; Chief Executive’s Review; Operations Reviews 
and Finance Review – pages 4 to 55.

Results Financial Statements – pages 94 to 176.

Corporate Governance Corporate Governance Report – pages 59 to 62.

Directors’ remuneration, including the interests of the directors  
and secretary in the share capital of the Company

Directors’ Remuneration Report – pages 67 to 85.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties Principal Risks and Uncertainties – pages 21 to 23.

Principal Key Performance Indicators Business and Strategy Review – pages 12 to 18.

Financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group  
and the Company 

Financial Statements – note 31.

Company’s capital structure including a summary of the rights  
and obligations attaching to shares

Group Statement of Changes in Equity – page 100;  
and Financial Statements – notes 18, 20 and 21.

Long Term Incentive Plan, share options and equity settled  
incentive schemes

Directors’ Remuneration Report – pages 67 to 85.

Events after the balance sheet date Financial Statements – note 34.

Significant subsidiary undertakings Financial Statements – note 50.

The Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 September 2016 comprises these pages and the sections of the Annual Report referred to under 
‘Other information’ above, which are incorporated into the Directors’ Report by reference.

On behalf of the Board

 
P. Gray    B. McAtamney
Director    Director 

6 December 2016



94 UDG Healthcare plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2016

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

OPINIONS AND CONCLUSIONS ARISING FROM OUR AUDIT
OUR OPINION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IS UNMODIFIED
We have audited the financial statements of UDG Healthcare plc for the year ended 30 September 2016 as set out on pages 98 to 169, which 
comprise the Group Income Statement, the Group and Company Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Group and Company Statements  
of Changes in Equity, the Group and Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Company Cash flow Statements, the Group and Company 
accounting policies and the related notes. Our audit was conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) (UK 
and Ireland).

In our opinion:
• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group as at 30 September 2016 

and of its profit for the year then ended;
• the Company Balance Sheet gives a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Company as at 30 September 2016;
•  the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union; 
•  the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union as applied in 

accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014; and
•  the Group financial statements and Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2014. 

OUR ASSESSMENT OF RISKS OF MATERIAL MISSTATEMENT
The risks of material misstatement detailed in this section of this report are those risks that we have deemed, in our professional judgement, to 
have had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in our audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement 
team. Our audit procedures relating to these risks were designed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole. Our opinion 
on the financial statements is not modified with respect to any of these risks, and we do not express an opinion on these individual risks. 

In arriving at our audit opinion above on the Group financial statements, the risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our 
Group audit were as follows:

COMPLETENESS AND ACCURACY OF ACCOUNTING FOR PROFIT AFTER TAX FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (€132 MILLION) 
Refer to page 64 (Audit Committee Report), page 107 (accounting policy) and pages 120 to 122 (financial disclosures)

The risk
On 1 April 2016, the Group completed the sale of the United Drug Supply Chain Services businesses, which formed part of the Group’s  
Supply Chain Services division, and the MASTA business, which formed part of the Ashfield division for an aggregate cash consideration  
of €407.5 million (‘the Agreement’). 

The results of the businesses disposed of for the six month period ended 31 March 2016 and the profit on disposal are included within profit after 
tax for the year from discontinued operations in the Group’s Income Statement on page 98 in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for 
sale and discontinued operations.

As the extraction of the financial information relating to the businesses which are the subject of the Agreement from the consolidated Income 
Statement and Balance Sheet of the Group is complex and subject to a number of assumptions, there is a risk that the profit after tax from 
discontinued operations may not be accurately stated in the Group Income Statement for the year ended 30 September 2016.

Our response
In this area, our audit procedures included, amongst others, substantively testing, on a sample basis, the extraction of the financial information 
relating to the businesses disposed of from the Group’s consolidated financial information. We performed substantive audit procedures on  
the results of the United Drug Supply Chain Services and MASTA businesses for the six months to 31 March 2016 and their balance sheets at 
31 March 2016 and assessed the appropriateness of any assumptions made by management in relation to the extraction of this information.  
We also considered the costs included in the calculation of the profit on disposal to ensure the costs were directly related to the disposal.  
In addition, we assessed whether the disclosures in note 9 adequately reflected the disclosure requirements of IFRS 5.

ASSESSMENT OF GOODWILL FOR IMPAIRMENT (€345 MILLION)
Refer to page 64 (Audit Committee Report), page 107 (accounting policy) and pages 125 and 126 (financial disclosures)

The risk
Goodwill accounts for 27% of the Group’s total assets at 30 September 2016. There is a risk that the carrying value of goodwill may not be 
recovered from future cash flows. As detailed in the summary of significant accounting policies on page 107, an impairment review of goodwill  
is performed annually by the Group. In the current year, this review indicated that an impairment of goodwill is not required.

There is inherent uncertainty involved in preparing forecasts and discounted future cash flow projections for this purpose and significant judgement 
is involved in relation to the assumptions used in the Group’s goodwill impairment model as set out in the note on goodwill on page 126. 

Independent Auditor’s Report  
to the members of UDG Healthcare plc
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Our response
In this area, our audit procedures included, amongst others, interrogating the Group’s goodwill impairment model, evaluating the assumptions 
and methodologies used by the Group, in particular those relating to revenue growth, operating profit, the discount rate and terminal growth 
rate applied to the forecasted cash flows in the model. We compared the Group’s assumptions, where possible, to externally derived data as well 
as our own assessment in relation to key inputs into the model. We examined the sensitivity analysis performed by management and performed 
our own sensitivity analysis around the key assumptions. We also assessed whether the disclosures in note 13 presented the Group’s assumptions 
in relation to goodwill impairment and the sensitivities of the outcome of the impairment assessment appropriately and reflected the risks 
inherent in the valuation of goodwill.

We compared the market capitalisation of the Group and the book value of the Group’s net assets which indicated that the market capitalisation 
exceeded the book value by €1.1 billion at 30 September 2016.

VALUATION OF TRADE RECEIVABLES (€146 MILLION)
Refer to page 64 (Audit Committee Report), page 111 (accounting policy) and page 130 (financial disclosures).

The risk
The recoverability of the Group’s trade receivables is a significant risk due to the materiality of the balance and diverse nature and geographical 
spread of the continuing Group’s customer base.

Our response
Our audit procedures included testing the Group’s credit control procedures, including the controls around credit terms, and reviewing  
the payment history and financial information pertaining to the customers. We also tested the receipt of cash after the year end relating  
to 30 September 2016 balances and tested the adequacy of the Group’s impairment provisions against trade receivables by assessing the 
judgements made and the historical trading experience with the relevant customers. We have also considered the adequacy of the Group’s 
disclosures on page 130 about the degree of estimation involved in arriving at the impairment provision.

REVENUE RECOGNITION (€943 MILLION)
Refer to page 64 (Audit Committee Report), page 108 (accounting policy) and page 112 (financial disclosures).

The risk
The Group has a number of revenue streams with different revenue recognition policies across all three of its divisions. There is a risk that 
revenue may be recorded on a basis inconsistent with the contractual terms agreed with a customer or not in accordance with the Group’s 
accounting policy regarding recognising revenue gross as principal (reflecting the full sale value with the related cost of sale) or net as agent 
(reflecting only the net amount earned by the Group as a result of the transaction) or revenue may not be recognised in the correct year.

Our response
In this area, our audit procedures included, amongst others, obtaining an understanding of and testing the key controls in respect of the Group’s 
revenue recognition. We examined a sample of contracts with customers to ensure revenue was recognised in accordance with the terms of the 
contracts and the Group’s accounting policies. This included assessing the appropriateness of the recognition of revenue on a gross or net basis. 
We also performed audit procedures at each of the Group’s main trading subsidiaries to ensure that revenue was recognised in the correct year.

OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY AND AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT
The materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set at €3.75 million (2015: €3.4 million). This has been calculated using  
a benchmark of Group profit before taxation, excluding exceptional items in 2015, from continuing operations (of which it represents 5%)  
(2015: 5%), which we have determined, in our professional judgement, to be one of the principal benchmarks within the financial statements 
relevant to members of the Company in assessing financial performance. 

The Group’s accounting policy states that exceptional items are separately disclosed by virtue of their scale and nature in order to highlight 
material items of a non-recurring nature within the Group Income Statement. In our professional judgement, the benchmark used for determining 
materiality is more appropriately determined by excluding these items as this approach results in using a materiality level that is appropriately 
normalised from year to year.

We agreed with the Audit Committee to report to it all corrected and uncorrected misstatements we identified through our audit in excess of 
€180,000, in addition to other audit misstatements below that threshold that we believe warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

We subjected each of the Group’s 47 reporting components, to a combination of full scope audits for Group reporting purposes and specified 
audit procedures. Audits for Group reporting purposes were performed at the majority of the reporting components in the following countries: 
Ireland, UK, US, Germany, Spain, Portugal, Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Turkey, Belgium and the Netherlands. In addition, specified audit 
procedures were performed by component auditors in the US, Canada and Japan. The combination of this work covered 98% of Group revenue, 
98% of Group profit before taxation and 92% of total Group assets.
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OUR APPLICATION OF MATERIALITY AND AN OVERVIEW OF THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT CONTINUED
The Group audit team instructed component auditors as to the significant areas to be covered, including the relevant risks detailed above and 
the information to be reported back. The Group audit team approved each component materiality amount which ranged from €33,000 to  
€3 million, having regard to the mix of size and risk profile of components across the Group. 

The Group engagement partner, director or manager participated by way of conference call at the audit closing meetings for the audit of each  
of the Group’s components. In addition, the Group audit team reviewed the work performed by certain component auditors over the significant 
risk areas.

We have nothing to report on the disclosures of principal risks.
Based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to:

• the Directors’ statement of Principal Risks and Uncertainties on pages 21 to 23, concerning the principal risks, their management, and based 
on that, the directors assessment and expectations of the Group’s continuing operations over 3 years to 2019; and

•  the disclosures in note 1 to the financial statements concerning the use of the going concern basis of accounting.

We have nothing to report in respect of matters on which we are required to report by exception.
ISAs (UK & Ireland) require that we report to you if, based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have identified information in the 
Annual Report that contains a material inconsistency with either that knowledge or the financial statements, a material misstatement of fact, or 
that is otherwise misleading.

In particular, we are required to report to you if:

• we have identified any inconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during our audit and the Directors’ statement that they consider the 
annual report is fair, balanced and understandable and provides information necessary for shareholders to assess the entity’s performance, 
business model and strategy; or 

• the Audit Committee Report does not appropriately disclose those matters that we communicated to the Audit Committee. 

The Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority require us to review:

•  the Directors’ statement, set out on pages 90 to 93, in relation to going concern; and
•  the part of the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 58 to 62 relating to the Company’s compliance with the provisions of the UK 

Corporate Governance Code specified for our review.

In addition, the Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remuneration and transactions 
specified by law are not made. 

Our conclusions on other matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act 2014 are set out below
We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily and properly audited and 
the financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

In our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements and the description in the Directors’ 
Statement on Corporate Governance of the main features of the internal control and risk management systems in relation to the process for 
preparing the Group financial statements is consistent with the Group financial statements. 

In addition, we report in relation to information given in the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 58 to 62 that:

• Based on knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, no material misstatements 
in the information identified above have come to our attention.

•  Based on our work undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion:
 – the description of the main features of the internal control and risk management systems in relation to the voting rights and other matters 

required by the European Communities (Takeover Bids (Directive 2004/25/EC)) Regulations 2006) and specified by the Companies Act 
2014 for our consideration, are consistent with the financial statements and have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014. 

 – The Corporate Governance Statement contains the information required by the Companies Act 2014.

Independent Auditor’s Report  
to the members of UDG Healthcare plc continued
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Basis of our report, responsibilities and restrictions on use
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 92, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the Group 
and Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

An audit undertaken in accordance with ISAs (UK and Ireland) involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. 

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider 
the implications for our report. 

Whilst an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK and Ireland) is designed to provide reasonable assurance of identifying material 
misstatements or omissions it is not guaranteed to do so. Rather, the auditor plans the audit to determine the extent of testing needed to reduce  
to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements does not exceed materiality for the 
financial statements as a whole. This testing requires us to conduct significant audit work on a broad range of assets, liabilities, income and expense 
as well as devoting significant time of the most experienced members of the audit team, in particular the engagement partner responsible for the 
audit, to subjective areas of the accounting and reporting. 

Our report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Roger Gillespie
for and on behalf of KPMG
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
1 Stokes Place
St. Stephen’s Green
Dublin 2
Ireland

6 December 2016
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Group Income Statement 
for the year ended 30 September 2016

Year ended 
30 September 2016

Restated (note 2, 9)  
Year ended 30 September 2015

Continuing operations Note

Total 
2016 

€’000

Pre-
exceptional 

items 
2015 

€’000

Exceptional 
items 

(note 7) 
2015 

€’000

Total 
2015 

€’000

Revenue 3 943,080 919,274 – 919,274 
Cost of sales (658,981) (654,086) (2,092) (656,178)

Gross profit 284,099 265,188 (2,092) 263,096
Selling and distribution expenses (159,820) (151,196) (7,449) (158,645)
Administrative expenses (18,771) (16,074) (1,713) (17,787)
Other operating expenses (16,395) (17,008) (2,216) (19,224)
Transaction costs 29 (1,993) (1,225) – (1,225)
Share of joint ventures’ profit after tax 15 718 292 – 292
Profit on disposal of subsidiary undertakings – – 176 176

Operating profit 5 87,838 79,977 (13,294) 66,683
Finance income 6 4,781 29,510 – 29,510
Finance expense 6 (17,417) (42,569) – (42,569)

Profit before tax from continuing operations 75,202 66,918 (13,294) 53,624
Income tax (expense)/credit 8 (13,888) (16,125) 2,096 (14,029)

Profit for the financial year from continuing operations 61,314 50,793 (11,198) 39,595
Profit after tax for the year from discontinued operations 9 131,958 16,424 (1,146) 15,278

Profit for the financial year 193,272 67,217 (12,344) 54,873

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent 193,272 54,852
Non-controlling interests 23 – 21

193,272 54,873 

Profit attributable to:
Continuing operations 61,314 39,595
Discontinued operations 9 131,958 15,278

193,272 54,873 

Earnings per ordinary share
Basic – continuing operations 11 24.88c 16.21c
Basic – discontinued operations 11 53.56c 6.26c

Basic 11 78.44c 22.47c

Diluted – continuing operations 11 24.78c 16.13c
Diluted – discontinued operations 11 53.33c 6.22c

Diluted 11 78.11c 22.35c

On behalf of the Board

P. Gray  B. McAtamney
Director  Director
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Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 September 2016

Note
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Profit for the financial year 193,272 54,873 
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Remeasurement (loss)/gain on Group defined benefit schemes 30

– Continuing operations (8,468) (3,650)
– Discontinued operations 1,057 26
Deferred tax on Group defined benefit schemes 28

– Continuing operations 539 641
– Discontinued operations (211) (5)

(7,083) (2,988)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
Foreign currency translation adjustment 21

– Continuing operations (45,373) 45,594
– Discontinued operations (7,109) 4,127
Reclassification on loss of control 21 4,640 (165) 
Gain/(loss) on hedge of net investment in foreign operations 21 2,262 (15,636) 
Group cash flow hedges: 
– Effective portion of cash flow hedges – movement into reserve (4,936) 32,287
– Effective portion of cash flow hedges – movement out of reserve (806) (23,677)

Effective portion of cash flow hedges 21 (5,742) 8,610 
– Movement in deferred tax – movement into reserve 617 (4,036)
– Movement in deferred tax – movement out of reserve 101 2,960

Net movement in deferred tax 21 718 (1,076) 

(50,604) 41,454

Other comprehensive (expense)/income, net of tax (57,687) 38,466

Total comprehensive income, net of tax 135,585 93,339

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent 135,585 93,318
Non-controlling interests 21 – 21

135,585 93,339

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Continuing operations 5,250 73,913
Discontinued operations 130,335 19,426

135,585 93,339 
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 September 2016

Equity share 
capital 
€’000

Share 
premium 

€’000

Retained 
earnings 

€’000

Other 
reserves 

(note 21) 
€’000

Total equity 
€’000

At 1 October 2015 12,621 152,164 433,912 10,077 608,774

Profit for the financial year – – 193,272 – 193,272
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Effective portion of cash flow hedges – – – (5,742) (5,742)
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges – – – 718 718
Translation adjustment
– Continuing operations – – – (45,373) (45,373)
– Discontinued operations – – – (7,109) (7,109)
Reclassification on loss of control of subsidiary undertakings – – – 4,640 4,640
Gain on hedge of net investment in foreign operations – – – 2,262 2,262
Remeasurement (loss)/gain on defined benefit schemes
– Continuing operations – – (8,468) – (8,468)
– Discontinued operations – – 1,057 – 1,057
Deferred tax on defined benefit schemes
– Continuing operations – – 539 – 539
– Discontinued operations – – (211) – (211)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year – – 186,189 (50,604) 135,585
Transactions with shareholders:
New shares issued 94 3,920 – – 4,014
Share-based payment expense – – – 1,966 1,966
Dividends paid to equity holders – – (27,386) – (27,386)
Release from share-based payment reserve – – 2,734 (2,734) –

At 30 September 2016 12,715 156,084 595,449 (41,295) 722,953

for the year ended 30 September 2015 (restated)

Equity share 
capital 
€’000

Share 
premium 

€’000

Retained 
earnings 

€’000

Other 
reserves 
(note 21) 

€’000

Attributable 
to owners of 

the parent 
€’000

Non-
controlling 

interests 
€’000

Total equity 
€’000

At 1 October 2014 12,485 147,176 404,212 (30,173) 533,700 (21) 533,679

Profit for the financial year – – 54,852 – 54,852 21 54,873
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Effective portion of cash flow hedges – – – 8,610 8,610 – 8,610
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges – – – (1,076) (1,076) – (1,076)
Translation adjustment
– Continuing operations – – – 45,594 45,594 – 45,594
– Discontinued operations – – – 4,127 4,127 – 4,127
Reclassification on loss of control of subsidiary undertakings – – – (165) (165) – (165)
Loss on hedge of net investment in foreign operations – – – (15,636) (15,636) – (15,636)
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit schemes
– Continuing operations – – (3,650) – (3,650) – (3,650)
– Discontinued operations – – 26 – 26 – 26
Deferred tax on defined benefit schemes
– Continuing operations – – 641 – 641 – 641
– Discontinued operations – – (5) – (5) – (5)

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 51,864 41,454 93,318 21 93,339
Transactions with shareholders:
New shares issued 136 4,988 – – 5,124 – 5,124
Share-based payment expense – – – 1,778 1,778 – 1,778
Dividends paid to equity holders – – (25,146) – (25,146) – (25,146)
Release from share-based payment reserve – – 2,982 (2,982) – – –

At 30 September 2015 12,621 152,164 433,912 10,077 608,774 – 608,774
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Group Balance Sheet
as at 30 September 2016

Note
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

ASSETS
Non-current
Property, plant and equipment 12 122,638 117,903
Goodwill 13 344,521 358,213
Intangible assets 14 97,054 101,693
Investment in joint ventures and associates 15 8,124 23,079
Derivative financial instruments 31 11,814 22,048
Deferred income tax assets 28 3,849 3,984
Employee benefits 30 12,489 13,067

Total non-current assets 600,489 639,987

Current
Inventories 16 49,226 55,017
Trade and other receivables 17 209,472 205,248
Cash and cash equivalents 384,131 214,078
Current income tax assets 4,061 1,612
Derivative financial instruments 31 7,382 4,750
Assets held for sale 9 – 473,820

Total current assets 654,272 954,525

Total assets 1,254,761 1,594,512

EQUITY
Equity share capital 18 12,715 12,621
Share premium 20 156,084 152,164
Other reserves 21 (41,295) 10,077
Retained earnings 22 595,449 433,912

Total equity 722,953 608,774

LIABILITIES
Non-current
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 24 216,923 415,840
Provisions 26 5,451 7,508
Employee benefits 30 18,315 18,303
Deferred income tax liabilities 28 27,782 28,050

Total non-current liabilities 268,471 469,701

Current
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 24 58,133 20,811
Trade and other payables 25 183,190 191,758
Current income tax liabilities 13,070 4,452
Provisions 26 8,944 18,683
Liabilities held for sale 9 – 280,333

Total current liabilities 263,337 516,037

Total liabilities 531,808 985,738

Total equity and liabilities 1,254,761 1,594,512

On behalf of the Board

P. Gray  B. McAtamney
Director  Director
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Group Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 September 2016

2016 2015

Continuing 
operations 

€’000

Discontinued 
operations 

€’000
Total 

€’000

Continuing 
operations 

€’000

Discontinued 
operations 

€’000
Total 

€’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 75,202 132,705 207,907 53,624 18,174 71,798
Finance income (4,781) (7) (4,788) (29,510) (10) (29,520)
Finance expense 17,417 58 17,475 42,569 126 42,695
Exceptional items – – – 13,294 1,335 14,629

Operating profit (pre-exceptional items in 2015) 87,838 132,756 220,594 79,977 19,625 99,602
Share of joint ventures’ profit after tax (718) (1,493) (2,211) (292) (2,190) (2,482)
Depreciation charge 18,032 – 18,032 16,637 7,286 23,923
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 64 (11) 53 45 12 57
Impairment of intangible assets 718 1,031 1,749 – – –
Amortisation of intangible assets 16,395 – 16,395 17,008 1,801 18,809
Share-based payment expense 1,966 – 1,966 1,471 307 1,778
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 3,107 3,523 6,630 121 (3,859) (3,738)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other receivables (8,806) (9,170) (17,976) 6,383 (17,134) (10,751)
(Increase)/decrease in trade payables, provisions and other payables (7,798) (29,104) (36,902) 7,043 38,414 45,457
Exceptional items paid (2,308) – (2,308) (6,359) (1,784) (8,143)
Profit on disposal of discontinued operations – (132,093) (132,093) – – –
Impairment of assets held for sale – 16,961 16,961 – – –
Interest paid (10,983) – (10,983) (12,257) (1) (12,258)
Income taxes paid (12,347) (707) (13,054) (12,189) (2,663) (14,852)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 85,160 (18,307) 66,853 97,588 39,814 137,402

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 597 7 604 429 10 439
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (28,568) (2,306) (30,874) (36,449) (9,242) (45,691)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 392 11 403 501 141 642
Investment in intangible assets – computer software (9,835) (6,051) (15,886) (2,122) (16,858) (18,980)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) (12,736) – (12,736) – – –
Deferred contingent acquisition consideration paid (15,601) – (15,601) (501) – (501)
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings (net of cash and cash equivalents 

disposed) 392,720 (18,787) 373,933 2,169 – 2,169
Investment in joint venture – – – (6,124) – (6,124)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities 326,969 (27,126) 299,843 (42,097) (25,949) (68,046)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares (including share premium thereon) 4,014 – 4,014 5,124 – 5,124
Proceeds from interest-bearing loans and borrowings – – – 11,908 – 11,908
Repayments of interest-bearing loans and borrowings (157,926) – (157,926) (13,573) – (13,573)
Group transfers 2,592 (2,592) – 11,882 (11,882) –
(Decrease)/increase in finance leases (72) – (72) 133 – 133
Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company (27,386) – (27,386) (25,146) – (25,146)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (178,778) (2,592) (181,370) (9,672) (11,882) (21,554)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 233,351 (48,025) 185,326 45,819 1,983 47,802
Translation adjustment (15,273) 9,021
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 214,078 157,255

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 384,131 214,078

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of:
Cash at bank and short term deposits 384,131 214,078
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Notes forming part of the Group Financial Statements 

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
UDG Healthcare plc (the ‘Company’) is a public limited company incorporated in Ireland. The consolidated financial statements of the Company 
for the year ended 30 September 2016 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the ‘Group’) and the Group’s interest 
in joint venture undertakings and associates using the equity method of accounting.

The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2016 are set out below.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by  
the EU. The individual financial statements of the Company (Company financial statements) have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as 
adopted by the EU and as applied in accordance with the Companies Act 2014. The Company has availed of the exemption contained in Section 
304 (2) of the Companies Act 2014 which permits a company which publishes its Company and Group financial statements together to exclude 
the Company Income Statement and related notes that form part of the approved Company financial statements from the financial statements 
presented to its members.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year except for the following new and amended IFRSs and International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) that were adopted by the Group as of 1 October 2015 and that are effective for the Group’s 
financial year ended 30 September 2016 but did not have a material effect on the results or financial position of the Group:
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010–2012 Cycle;
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011–2013 Cycle; and
• IAS 19 Amendment: Defined Benefit Plans; Employee Contributions.

The IASB and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) have issued the following standards, amendments to 
existing standards and interpretations that are not yet effective for the Group:
• Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle: As part of its annual improvements process, the IASB has published non-urgent but 

necessary amendments to IFRS. The topics covered in these revisions are listed below:
 –  IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: Changes in methods of disposal.
 –  IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures (with consequential amendments to IFRS 1): Provides additional guidance to clarify whether  

a servicing contract is continuing involvement in a transferred asset for the purpose of determining the disclosures required.
 –  IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Clarifies that the high quality corporate bonds used in estimating the discount rate for post-employment benefits 

should be denominated in the same currency as the benefits to be paid.
 –  IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting: Clarifies the meaning of ‘elsewhere in the interim report’ and requires a cross-reference.

• Amendments to IFRS 11: Accounting for acquisitions of interests in Joint Operations. This amendment requires the acquirer of an interest  
in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes a business, as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations, to apply all of the principles on 
business combinations accounting in IFRS 3 and other IFRSs except for those principles that conflict with the guidance of IFRS 11. In addition, 
the acquirer shall disclose the information required by IFRS 3 and other IFRSs for business combinations. 

•  IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts (*): Permits a first time adopter of IFRS to continue to use, in its first and subsequent IFRS financial 
statements, its previous GAAP accounting policies for the recognition, measurement, impairment and de-recognition of regulatory deferral 
account balances. 

•  Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation: IAS 16 and IAS 38 both establish the 
principle for the basis of depreciation and amortisation as being the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits of an 
asset. The objective of the amendments is to ensure that preparers do not use revenue-based methods to calculate charges for the depreciation 
or amortisation of items of property, plant and equipment or intangible assets. This is because a revenue-based method reflects a pattern of 
economic benefits being generated from the asset, rather than the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied 
in the asset. 

•  Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41: Bearer plants: IAS 41 currently requires all biological plants related to agricultural activity to be measured 
at fair value less costs to sell. A subset of biological assets known as bearer plants are used solely to grow produce over several periods. The 
IASB have decided that bearer plants should be accounted for in the same way as property, plant and equipment in IAS 16, because their 
operation is similar to that of manufacturing.

•  Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements: This amendment permits the use of the equity method in separate 
financial statements, and apply to the accounting for subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates. 

•  Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (*): Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture: The amendments 
address an inconsistency between the two standards in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate  
or joint venture. The main consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business.  
A partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, even if those assets are housed  
in a subsidiary. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE CONTINUED
• Amendments to IAS 1: Disclosure Initiative: The following narrow scope amendments have been made to IAS 1 under the Disclosure Initiative: 

 – Materiality and aggregation: clarifies that an entity should not obscure useful information by aggregating or disaggregating information.  
It also clarifies that materiality considerations apply to the primary financial statements, notes and any other specific requirements in IFRS, 
so that disclosures specifically required by IFRSs are only required where the information is material. 

 – Statement of financial position, statement of profit or loss, statement of other comprehensive income: clarifies that the line items specified 
by IAS 1 for these statements can be aggregated or disaggregated as relevant. 

 –  Presentation of items of other comprehensive income: clarifies that an entity’s share of other comprehensive income of equity accounted 
associates and joint ventures should be presented in aggregate as single line items based on whether or not the item will subsequently be 
reclassified to profit or loss. 

 –  Notes to the financial statements: clarifies that entities have flexibility when designing the structure of the notes and provides guidance on 
how to determine a systematic order of the notes.

• Clarifications to IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (*): These amendments to the Revenue Standard, which was issued in 
2014, do not change the underlying principles of the Standard but clarify how those principles should be applied. The amendments clarify 
how to: 
 – identify a performance obligation (the promise to transfer a good or a service to a customer) in a contract;
 – determine whether a company is a principal (the provider of a good or service) or an agent (responsible for arranging for the good or 

service to be provided); and
 – determine whether the revenue from granting a licence should be recognised at a point in time or over time.

In addition to the clarifications, the amendments include two additional reliefs to reduce cost and complexity for a company when it first applies 
the new Standard.
• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014) (*): IFRS 9 Financial Instruments issued on 24 July 2014 is the IASB’s replacement of IAS 39’s Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The standard includes requirements for recognition and measurement, impairment, derecognition 
and general hedge accounting. 

• Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative (*): The Amendments to IAS 7 require entities to provide disclosures that enable users to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. An entity applies its judgement when determining the exact form and content of the 
disclosures needed to satisfy this requirement. The Amendments also suggest a number of specific disclosures that may be necessary in order 
to satisfy the above requirement.

• Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses (*): The Amendments clarify that deductible temporary 
differences arise from unrealised losses on debt instruments measured at fair value. This is regardless of whether the instrument is recovered 
through sale or by holding it to maturity or whether it is probable that the issuer will pay all contractual cash flows. Entities are therefore 
required to recognise deferred taxes for temporary differences from unrealised losses of debt instruments measured at fair value if all other 
recognition criteria for deferred taxes are met.

• Amendments to IFRS 2 (*): Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions: The Amendments to IFRS 2: Classification 
and measurement of share-based payment transactions clarify how to account for certain types of share-based payment transactions. They 
specifically provide requirements on the accounting for:
 – the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments;
 – share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations; and
 –  a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled  

to equity-settled.

Once the amendments are applied, the timing and amount of expense recognised for new and outstanding awards could change.
• IFRS 16: Leases (*): The changes under IFRS 16 are significant and will predominantly affect lessees, the accounting for which is substantially 

reformed. The lessor accounting requirements contained in IFRS 16’s predecessor, IAS 17 will remain largely unchanged. The main impact on 
lessees is that almost all leases will go on balance sheet. This is because the balance sheet distinction between operating and finance leases is 
removed for lessees. Instead, under IFRS 16, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. 
The only exemptions are short-term and low-value leases. The standard introduces new estimates and judgemental thresholds that affect  
the identification, classification and measurement of lease transactions. More extensive disclosures, both qualitative and quantitative,  
are also required. 

A number of the standards (*) set out above have not yet been EU endorsed. These standards, interpretations and amendments to existing 
standards will be applied for the purposes of the Group and Company financial statements with effect from their respective effective dates.  
The Group is currently considering the impact of the above interpretations and amendments on future Annual Reports.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION
The Group and Company financial statements, which are presented in Euro and rounded to the nearest thousand, are prepared on a going 
concern basis. The Group and Company financial statements are prepared on an historical cost basis except for the following items which are 
measured at fair value or grant-date fair value:
• derivative financial instruments;
• pension assets; 
• share-based payment arrangements;
• disposal groups held for sale; and 
• deferred contingent consideration.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU requires management to make certain judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements is included in the following notes:
• income tax expense – note 8;
• discontinued operations, disposal and assets and liabilities classified as held for sale – note 9;
• goodwill – note 13;
• intangible assets – note 14;
• inventories – note 16;
• trade and other receivables – note 17;
• provisions – note 26;
• employee benefits (including share-based payments) – note 30; and 
• financial instruments and financial risk – note 31.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by all of the Group’s subsidiaries and joint ventures to all periods presented 
in these financial statements. 

FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro (which is the Company’s functional currency during the year ended 30 September 
2016) and rounded to the nearest thousand.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The Group’s financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

ACCOUNTING FOR SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights to variable returns from its involvement 
with the investee and has the ability to effect these returns through its power over the investee. In assessing control, potential voting rights that 
currently are exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the Group financial 
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Intragroup balances and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions are eliminated in preparing the Group 
financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted joint ventures are eliminated against the investment  
to the extent of the Group’s interest. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is no 
evidence of impairment.

Joint ventures are those entities where the rights are to share in the net assets and over whose activities the Group has joint control, established 
by contractual arrangement and requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operational decisions. An associate is an enterprise over 
which the Group has significant influence, but not control, through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee. 
Joint ventures and associates are included in the financial statements using the equity method of accounting, from the date that joint control and 
significant influence commences, until the date that joint control and significant influence cease. The income statement reflects in operating 
profit, the Group’s share of profit after tax of its joint ventures in accordance with IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. The Group’s interest in its net 
assets is included as investment in joint ventures in the balance sheet at an amount representing the Group’s share of the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets at acquisition plus the Group’s share of post-acquisition retained profits or losses and other comprehensive income  
less dividends received from the joint ventures and goodwill arising on the investment and intercompany transactions that are eliminated. 
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred 
to the Group. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
• the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
• the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
• if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree; less
•  the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are generally 
recognised in profit or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities that the Group incurs in connection with completed 
business combinations are expensed as incurred.

Any deferred contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the deferred contingent consideration is 
classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value  
of the deferred contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s employees  
(acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the 
consideration transferred in the business combination. This determination is based on the market-based value of the replacement awards compared 
with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future service.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS – ACQUIRED
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group in a business combination are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses, when separable or arising from contractual or other legal rights and when they can be measured reliably. 

Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets. Intangible assets 
are amortised over the following range of periods:

Customer relationships  6–15 years
Trade names   5–15 years
Technology   5–10 years
Contract based   8 years

INTANGIBLE ASSETS – COMPUTER SOFTWARE
Computer software, including computer software which is not an integrated part of an item of computer hardware, is stated at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Cost comprises purchase price and any other directly attributable costs. 

Computer software is recognised if it meets the following criteria: 
• an asset can be separately identified;
• it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits; 
• the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and 
• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Costs relating to the development of computer software for internal use are capitalised once the recognition criteria outlined above are met. 
Computer software is amortised over its expected useful life, which ranges from three to ten years, by charging equal instalments to the Income 
Statement from the date the assets are ready for use. 
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment is reported at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation is calculated, on a straight line basis on cost less estimated residual value,  
to write property, plant and equipment off over their anticipated useful lives using the following annual rates:

Land and buildings
– Freehold land   not depreciated
– Freehold buildings   2%–7%
Plant and equipment  10%–20%
Computer equipment  20%–33%
Motor vehicles   20%
Assets under construction  not depreciated

The residual value of assets, if not insignificant, and the useful life of assets is reassessed annually. Gains and losses on disposals are determined 
by comparing the consideration received with the carrying amount at the date of disposal and are included in operating profit.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Non-current assets and disposal groups that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than continuing use are classified as held 
for sale. These assets are shown in the balance sheet at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less any disposal costs. Impairment losses 
on initial classification as assets held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in the income statement.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished from the 
rest of the Group and which:
• represents a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations;
•  is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations; or
•  is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale. 
When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is 
re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

IMPAIRMENT REVIEWS AND TESTING
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories (which are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value) 
and deferred tax assets (which are recognised based on recoverability), are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If such an indication exists, then the asset is tested for impairment.

The recoverable amount of a non-financial asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its fair value less cost to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together 
into the group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the  
’cash generating unit’). Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the 
combination’s synergies. An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at each reporting date.

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is 
considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows  
of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. An impairment loss arising on financial assets is 
recognised in the income statement. Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. 

An impairment loss, other than in the case of goodwill, is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
LEASES
Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are classified as finance 
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in interest-bearing loans and borrowings. 
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are 
depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases where substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made 
under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is based on the first in, first out principle and includes all expenditure 
which has been incurred in the normal course of business in bringing the products to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is 
the estimated selling price of inventory on hand in the ordinary course of business less all costs expected to be incurred in marketing, selling and 
distribution. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the related entity at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the  
date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based on historical cost are not subsequently re-translated. 
Non-monetary assets carried at fair value are subsequently remeasured at the exchange rate at the date fair value was determined. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated into functional currencies at the foreign exchange 
rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income statement, except for qualifying cash 
flow hedges and a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation, which are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are translated to Euro  
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Euro at the 
average exchange rate for the financial period. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign exchange reserve within equity.

When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation 
reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of only 
part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is 
reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of its investment in an associate or joint venture that includes a 
foreign operation while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit  
or loss. 

HEDGE OF NET INVESTMENT IN FOREIGN OPERATION
Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation 
are recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge is effective and are presented within equity in the foreign exchange 
translation reserve. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, such differences are recognised in profit or loss. When the hedged part of a  
net investment is disposed of, the associated cumulative amount in equity is transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment to the profit or loss  
on disposal.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS
Where the Group enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other parties, the Group considers these to be 
insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such. The Group treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liability until such time as it 
becomes probable that the Group will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue represents the fair value of consideration received or receivable (net of returns, trade discounts and rebates) for products and services 
provided in the course of ordinary activity to third party customers in the financial reporting period. The fair value of sales is exclusive of value 
added tax and after allowances for discounts and is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyer, the consideration can be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group. 
Discounts granted to customers are recognised as a reduction in sales revenue at the time of the sale based on management’s estimate of the 
likely discount to be awarded to customers.
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Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the income statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the related contract or fully 
when no further obligations exist on the related service contract. Where the outcome of the contract can be measured reliably, stage of completion 
is measured by reference to services completed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed. Where services are to be performed 
rateably over a period of time, revenue is recognised on a straight line basis over the period of the contract.

When the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, the revenue recognised is the net amount of 
commission earned by the Group.

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
With respect to exceptional items, the Group has applied an income statement format which seeks to highlight significant items within Group results 
for the year. Such items may include restructuring costs, profit or loss on disposal or termination of operations, litigation costs and settlements, 
profit or loss on disposal of investments and impairment of assets. The Group exercises judgement in assessing the particular items which, by virtue 
of their scale and nature, should be disclosed in the income statement and related notes as exceptional items. The Group believes that such a 
presentation provides a more helpful analysis as it highlights material items of a non-recurring nature.

FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and 
gains on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective 
interest method.

Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in the fair value of financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. All borrowing costs are recognised in 
profit or loss using the effective interest rate method.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Pension obligations
A defined contribution pension plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and 
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are 
recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit 
pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior 
years, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually 
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the calculation results in a potential asset for the Group, the recognised asset 
is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to 
the plan. To calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and 
the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. The Group determines the 
net interest expense/(income) on the net benefit liability/(asset) for the year by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit 
obligation at the beginning of the year to the then net benefit liability/(asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability/
(asset) during the year as a result of contributions and benefit payments. The discount rate applied is the yield at the balance sheet date on high 
quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations.

Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss. When the benefits of a plan are changed 
or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately 
in the profit or loss. The Group recognise gains and losses on the settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 

Performance related incentive plans
The Group recognises the present value of a liability for short term employee benefits including costs associated with performance related 
incentive plans in the income statement when an employee has rendered service in exchange for these benefits and a constructive obligation to 
pay those benefits arises.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CONTINUED
Share-based payment transactions
The Group operates a long term incentive plan and share option scheme which allow executive directors and employees acquire shares in the 
Company. All schemes are equity settled arrangements under IFRS 2 Share-based Payment. 

The grant-date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding 
increase in equity, over the period that the employees become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is 
adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that 
the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance 
conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with market-based vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the share-
based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Income tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Taxation is recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it 
relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income, in which case the related tax is recognised directly in equity or 
other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. If the deferred tax arises from initial recognition  
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction does not affect accounting nor  
taxable profit or loss, it is not recognised. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement  
of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can  
be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to 
income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same tax entity or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities  
and assets on a net basis.

The Group is subject to income tax in a number of jurisdictions, and judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision for taxes.  
There are many transactions and calculations during the ordinary course of business, for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain and  
the complexity of the tax treatment may be such that the final tax charge may not be determined until formal resolution has been concluded  
with the relevant tax authority which may take extended time periods to conclude. The ultimate tax charge may, therefore, be different from  
that which initially is reflected in the Group’s consolidated tax charge and provision and any such differences could have a material impact on the 
Group’s income tax charge and consequently financial performance. The determination of the provision for income tax is based on management’s 
understanding of the relevant tax law and judgement as to the appropriate tax charge. Management believe that all assumptions and estimates 
used are reasonable and reflective of the tax legislation in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Where the final tax charge is different 
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences are recognised in the income tax provision in the period in which such 
determination is made.

SEGMENTAL REPORTING
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) 
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments. The Group has determined that it has three 
reportable operating segments: Ashfield, Sharp and Aquilant. 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and deposits, including bank deposits of less than six months’ maturity from the 
commencement date. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are  
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Group and Company cash flow statements.
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
less provision for impairment.

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount  
of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows. The amount of the 
provision is recognised in the Group Income Statement.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising from operating, 
financing and investment activities. In accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments  
for trading purposes. However, derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in the 
income statement, except where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, in which case recognition of any resultant gain or loss depends on the 
nature of the item being hedged, as set out below.

The fair value of interest rate swaps and forward exchange contracts is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate 
the swap or the forward contract at the balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the 
swap counterparties. 

Cash flow hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or a highly 
probable forecasted transaction, the effective part of changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income in the cash flow hedge reserve. When the forecasted transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or 
non-financial liability, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of 
the non-financial asset or liability. In other cases, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and recognised in the income 
statement in the same period or periods during which the hedged item affects profit or loss. The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised 
immediately in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship but the 
hedged forecasted transaction is still expected to occur, then hedge accounting is ceased prospectively and the cumulative gain or loss at that 
point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer 
expected to take place, the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is reclassified immediately to the income statement.

Fair value hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of a change in the fair value of an asset or liability, gains or losses arising from 
the remeasurement of the hedging instrument to fair value are reported in the income statement. In addition, any changes in the fair value of  
the hedged item which is attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and reflected in the income 
statement. Where the adjustment is to the carrying amount of a hedged interest-bearing financial instrument, the adjustment is amortised to the 
income statement with the objective of achieving full amortisation by maturity.

NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and 
other payables. Non-derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

A financial instrument is recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are 
derecognised if the Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if the Group transfers the financial asset to 
another party without retaining control of substantially all risks and rewards of the asset. Purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted 
for at trade date, i.e. the date that the Group commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are de-recognised if the Group’s 
obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled.

INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest-bearing loans and borrowings, other than those accounted for under the fair value hedging model outlined above, are stated at amortised 
cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an 
effective interest basis. Effective interest rate is calculated by taking into account any issue costs and any expected discount or premium on settlement.
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1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED
INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS CONTINUED
Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation which can be measured reliably. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognised 
as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Where share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, including directly attributable costs, net of any 
tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury shares and are presented as a deduction  
from total equity.

2.  PRIOR YEAR RECLASSIFICATION 
RECLASSIFICATION OF WAGES AND SALARY EXPENSES
The Ashfield Division contracts out employees to its customers to work on sales and marketing of their products in the marketplace. Wages and 
salaries paid to these employees in the amount of €51,849,000 have been classified as a cost of sale in the current year. These expenses were 
classified as selling and distribution expenses in 2015 and prior years. The Group considers the classification of this expense as a cost of sale  
to be a more appropriate classification given that Group revenue includes the amounts charged to customers for their services. As a result, 
€72,431,000 of wages and salaries has been reclassified from selling and distribution expenses to cost of sales in 2015 so that the results are 
presented on a consistent basis in both 2016 and 2015. There is no impact on operating profit.

A summary of the impact on the previously reported figures in 2015 is set out below:

As previously
stated 
€’000

Reclassification 
€’000

As restated 
€’000

Cost of sales (583,747) (72,431) (656,178)
Gross profit 335,527 (72,431) 263,096
Selling and distribution expenses (231,076) 72,431 (158,645)
Operating profit 66,683 – 66,683

3. REVENUE

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Goods for resale 268,984 268,105
Services 669,730 648,737
Commission income 4,366 2,432

Total revenue 943,080 919,274

Commission income relates to the sale of products where the Group acts as an agent in the transaction rather than as a principal. Analysis of 
discontinued revenue is set out in note 9.

4.  SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
Segmental information is presented in respect of the Group’s operating segments and geographical regions. The operating segments are based on 
the Group’s management and internal reporting structure. Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis. Segment results, assets 
and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Due to the nature of 
certain liabilities and assets, which are not segment specific, they have not been allocated to a segment but rather have been disclosed in aggregate 
immediately after the relevant segment note. Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets 
that are expected to be used for more than one period and is comprised of property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets.
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OPERATING SEGMENTS
UDG Healthcare is a leading healthcare services provider in the Republic of Ireland, the United Kingdom, North America and Continental 
Europe. IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires the reporting information for operating segments to reflect the Group’s management structure and 
the way financial information is regularly reviewed by the Group’s CODM, which the Group has defined as Brendan McAtamney (Chief Executive 
Officer). The segmental information of the business as presented corresponds with these requirements. Operating profit before transaction 
costs, amortisation of acquired intangible assets and exceptional items (adjusted operating profit) represents the key measure utilised in 
assessing the performance of operating segments. 

The Group’s operations are divided into the following operating segments:

Ashfield – Ashfield is a global leader in commercialisation services for the pharmaceutical and healthcare industry, operating across two broad 
areas of activity: commercial & clinical services, and communications services. It focuses on supporting healthcare professionals and patients at 
all stages of the product life cycle. The division provides field and contact centre sales teams, healthcare communications, patient support, audit, 
advisory, medical information and event management services to over 300 healthcare companies.

Sharp – Sharp is a global leader in contract packaging and clinical trial packaging services for the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, 
operating from state of the art facilities across the US and Europe. Sharp is also a world leader in ’Track and Trace’ serialisation services, which 
will require all prescription drugs to have a unique serial code for authentication and traceability. 

Aquilant – Aquilant is a leading provider of outsourced sales, marketing, distribution and engineering services to the medical and scientific 
sectors in the UK, Ireland and the Netherlands. 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
During the year ended 30 September 2015 the Group announced the proposed disposal of United Drug Supply Chain Services, United Drug 
Sangers, TCP Group and MASTA. On 1 April 2016 the Group completed the disposal of these businesses. The Group has treated these operations 
as discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5. Details of the disposal are included in note 9. The Group has also included the joint venture 
arrangement with Magir Limited as a discontinued operation during the year. Following this change, we have revised our segmental reporting and 
restated the prior year segmental disclosures as required under IFRS 8. 

GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS
The Group operates in four principal geographical regions being the Republic of Ireland, the United Kingdom, North America and Continental 
Europe. In presenting information on the basis of geographical segment, segment revenue is based on the geographical location of the Group’s 
subsidiaries. Segment assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Inter-segment revenue is not material and thus not subject to disclosure.

Continuing operations – 2016

Income statement items

Ashfield 
2016 

€’000

Sharp 
2016 

€’000

Aquilant 
2016 

€’000

Group total 
2016 

€’000

Segment revenue 584,454 266,443 92,183 943,080

Adjusted operating profit* 63,599 34,394 6,220 104,213
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (11,663) (2,719) – (14,382)
Transaction costs (1,993) – – (1,993)

Operating profit 49,943 31,675 6,220 87,838
Finance income 4,781
Finance expense (17,417)

Profit before tax 75,202
Income tax expense (13,888)

Profit for the financial year 61,314

* Excluding amortisation of acquired intangibles, transaction costs and exceptional items.
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4. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION CONTINUED
GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS CONTINUED
Continuing operations – 2015

Ashfield 
2015 

€’000

Sharp 
2015 

€’000

Aquilant 
2015 

€’000

Group total 
2015 

€’000

Segment revenue 575,290 244,076 99,908 919,274 

Adjusted operating profit* 59,501 29,592 7,240 96,333
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (12,290) (2,841) – (15,131)
Exceptional items (4,454) (2,450) (6,390) (13,294)
Transaction costs (1,225) – – (1,225)

Operating profit 41,532 24,301 850 66,683
Finance income 29,510
Finance expense (42,569)

Profit before tax 53,624
Income tax expense (14,029)

Profit for the financial year 39,595

* Excluding amortisation of acquired intangibles, transaction costs and exceptional items.

Balance sheet items

Ashfield 
2016 

€’000

Sharp 
2016 

€’000

Aquilant 
2016 

€’000

Group total 
2016 

€’000

Segment assets 542,121 298,099 110,243 950,463
Unallocated assets 304,298

1,254,761

Segment liabilities (157,033) (47,390) (26,628) (231,051)
Unallocated liabilities (300,757)

(531,808)

Ashfield 
2015 

€’000

Sharp 
2015 

€’000

Aquilant 
2015 

€’000

Restated 
(note 9) 

Group total 
2015 

€’000

Segment assets 539,766 295,034 205,182 1,039,982
Unallocated assets 80,710
Assets held for sale 473,820

1,594,512

Segment liabilities (160,415) (59,339) (25,934) (245,688)
Unallocated liabilities (459,715)
Liabilities held for sale (280,335)

(985,738)

Unallocated assets and liabilities comprises amounts relating to interest-bearing loans and borrowings, derivative financial instruments, current 
income tax, deferred income tax, employee benefits and cash held at Group. The increase in unallocated assets during the year relates to cash 
held at Group.
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Other segmental information

Ashfield 
€’000 

2016

Sharp 
€’000 

2016

Aquilant 
€’000 

2016

Discontinued 
operations

€’000 
2016

Restated 
(note 9) 

Group total 
€’000 

2016

Depreciation 5,657 10,623 1,752 – 18,032

Capital expenditure* 35,655 20,673 2,066 8,357 66,751

Amortisation of acquired intangibles 11,663 2,719 – – 14,382

Amortisation of computer software 1,201 735 77 – 2,013

Impairment of intangibles – – 718 1,031 1,749

Share-based payment expense 1,348 526 92 – 1,966

Ashfield 
€’000 

2015

Sharp 
€’000 

2015

Aquilant 
€’000 

2015

Discontinued 
operations 

€’000 
2015

Restated 
(note 9) 

Group total 
€’000 

2015

Depreciation 5,110 9,760 1,767 7,285 23,922

Capital expenditure* 6,126 31,017 1,425 26,103 64,671

Amortisation of acquired intangibles 12,290 2,841 – 477 15,608

Amortisation of computer software 846 781 250 1,324 3,201

Impairment of goodwill and intangibles – – 2,216 – 2,216

Share-based payment expense 1,022 358 91 307 1,778

* Capital expenditure comprises acquisition of computer software, property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets.

The results and assets of joint ventures and associates are included within the individual business segment in which they are included for internal 
reporting, which relate to the Ashfield division and discontinued operations.

The following represents a geographical analysis of the segment information in accordance with IFRS 8, which requires disclosure of information 
about the country of domicile (Republic of Ireland) and countries with material revenue and non-current assets. The analysis of revenue represents 
continuing operations whilst the analysis of balance sheet items and other segment information includes both continuing and discontinued operations.

Geographical analysis

Republic 
of Ireland 

2016 
€’000

United 
Kingdom 

2016 
€’000

Continental  
Europe 

2016 
€’000

North 
America 

2016 
€’000

Group total 
2016 

€’000

Revenue 32,112 326,929 163,550 420,489 943,080

Segment assets 275,955 423,818 126,990 427,998 1,254,761

Capital expenditure* 7,748 30,564 5,768 22,671 66,751

 
Republic 

of Ireland 
2015 

€’000

United 
Kingdom 

2015 
€’000

Continental 
Europe 

2015 
€’000

North 
America 

2015 
€’000

Group total 
2015 

€’000

Revenue 31,011 345,572 160,828 381,863 919,274

Segment assets 510,632 575,870 125,567 382,443 1,594,512

Capital expenditure* 20,318 11,275 3,569 29,509 64,671

* Capital expenditure comprises acquisition of computer software, property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets.
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5. STATUTORY AND OTHER INFORMATION 

Continuing 
operations 

2016 
€’000

Discontinued 
operations 

2016 
€’000

Continuing 
operations 

2015 
€’000

Discontinued 
operations 

2015 
€’000

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18,032 – 16,637 7,286
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 64 (11) 45 12
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 14,382 – 15,131 477
Amortisation of computer software 2,013 – 1,877 1,324
Operating lease rentals:
– Land and buildings 10,706 319 9,956 606
– Other assets 14,614 770 14,652 1,205
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss (3,031) 4 (1,800) (25)

Details of directors’ remuneration, pension entitlements and interests in share options are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Auditor’s remuneration
Fees payable to member firms of the Group auditors are as follows: 

Description of services
Audit services
– Group* 401 345 
– Company 10 10 
Other assurance services
– Group** 49 89
Tax advisory services
– Group*** – –
Other non-audit services
– Group**** 4 319

464 763 

*  Includes €43,000 (2015: €45,000) in relation to joint ventures.
**  Includes €36,000 (2015: €8,000) in relation to joint ventures.
***  Includes nil (2015: nil) in relation to joint ventures. 
****  Includes €4,000 (2015: €4,000) in relation to joint ventures and nil (2015: €315,000) in respect of services provided in connection with the disposal of the United Drug Supply Chain 

Services businesses and MASTA.

Fees payable to the Group auditors outside of Ireland are as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Audit services* 332 252
Other assurance services 6 91 
Tax advisory services – – 
Other non-audit services – 20 

338 363 

* Includes €19,000 (2015: nil) in relation to joint ventures.
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6. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Finance income
Income arising from cash deposits 640 429
Fair value of deferred contingent consideration 264 –
Fair value of cash flow hedges transferred from equity 806 23,677
Fair value adjustment to fair value hedges – 5,159
Fair value adjustment to guaranteed senior unsecured notes 2,842 –
Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges 229 245

Finance income relating to continuing operations 4,781 29,510

Finance income relating to discontinued operations 7 10

4,788 29,520

 
Finance expense
Interest on overdrafts (29) (114)
Interest on bank loans and other loans:
– Wholly repayable within 5 years (6,986) (7,630)
– Wholly repayable after 5 years (5,118) (5,087)
Interest on finance leases (1) (6)
Unwinding of discount on provisions (1,042) (823)
Fair value of deferred contingent consideration (582) –
Fair value adjustments to fair value hedges (2,842) –
Fair value adjustments to guaranteed senior unsecured loan notes – (5,159)
Foreign currency loss on retranslation of guaranteed senior unsecured loan notes (806) (23,677)
Net finance cost on pension scheme obligations (11) (73)

Finance expense relating to continuing operations (17,417) (42,569)

Finance expense relating to discontinued operations (58) (126)

(17,475) (42,695)

Net finance expense (12,687) (13,175)

7. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS – 2015

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Restructuring costs and other – 7,757
Impairment of assets – 4,308
Onerous leases – 1,405
Profit on disposal of subsidiary undertakings – (176)

Exceptional items relating to continuing operations – 13,294
Exceptional items relating to discontinued operations – 1,335

Net exceptional items – 14,629
Exceptional tax credit – (2,285)

Net exceptional items after taxation – 12,344

There were no exceptional costs during the year.

Restructuring costs and other, for the year ended 30 September 2015, primarily included redundancy costs of €7,411,000 in relation to recently 
acquired and existing Group businesses. The closure of Aquilant Scientific (UK) Limited (a UK based distributor of laboratory equipment)  
was announced on 28 February 2015. This resulted in non-cash impairment charges in respect of goodwill of (€2,216,000) and other assets  
of (€2,092,000). Onerous lease costs were incurred in relation to the recently acquired and existing portfolio of leased properties that are no 
longer in use. Discontinued operations incurred redundancy costs of €1,335,000 during the prior year.
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7. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS – 2015 CONTINUED
On 1 October 2014, the Group disposed of its shareholding in Ashfield KK as part of the Group entering into a joint venture agreement with 
CMIC Holdings Co., Ltd. On 30 November 2014, the Group disposed of its shareholding in Pharmaceutical Trade Services, Inc. On 22 May 2015, 
the Group disposed of its Physicians World Speakers Bureau business, a portfolio of agencies located in the US which was acquired as part of 
KnowledgePoint360 in 2014.

The following table details the (profit)/loss on each of these disposals:

Ashfield KK 
€’000

Pharmaceutical 
Trade Services, Inc.

€’000

Physicians 
World 

Speakers 
Bureau 

€’000
Total 

€’000

Consideration, net of cash disposed 737 (1,080) (1,826) (2,169)
Net (liabilities)/assets on disposal (1,066) 1,037 797 768
Goodwill and intangibles, net of deferred tax – 30 1,038 1,068
Foreign currency translation reserve (146) (19) – (165)
Deferred contingent consideration – (105) – (105)
Disposal costs 266 78 83 427

(Profit)/loss on disposal (209) (59) 92 (176)

Reconciliation to Group Income Statement – year ended 30 September 2015

Cost of 
sales 

€’000

Selling & 
distribution 

expenses 
€’000

Administration 
expenses 

€’000

Other 
operating 
expenses 

€’000

Disposal of 
subsidiary 

undertakings 
€’000

Total 
exceptional 

items 
€’000

Restructuring costs and other – 7,333 424 – – 7,757
Impairment of assets 2,092 – – 2,216 – 4,308
Onerous leases – 116 1,289 – – 1,405
Profit on disposal of subsidiary undertakings – – – – (176) (176)

2,092 7,449 1,713 2,216 (176) 13,294
Restructuring costs relating to discontinued operations 1,335

14,629

Exceptional tax credit (2,285)

12,344

The exceptional items before taxation are analysed by reporting segment in note 4.
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Recognised in the income statement
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Current income tax
Ireland
Adjustment in respect of prior years 251 166 
Current year income tax on profit for the year (2,861) (1,787) 

(2,610) (1,621)

Overseas
Adjustment in respect of prior years 2,079 1,896
Current year income tax on profit for the year (14,776) (16,926)

(12,697) (15,030)

Total current income tax (expense) (15,307) (16,651)

Deferred income tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences:
Property, plant and equipment (2,485) (755) 
Intangible assets 6,810 2,090 
Employee benefits 102 347 
Other items (3,755) (1,956) 

Total deferred income tax credit/(expense) 672 (274)

Income tax (expense) (14,635) (16,925)

The total income tax expense for the financial year is analysed as follows:
Continuing operations (13,888) (14,029) 
Discontinued operations (747) (2,896) 

Income tax (expense) (14,635) (16,925) 

Other items relate to a charge with respect to tax deductible goodwill amortisation of €4,099,000 (2015: €3,812,000) and a credit with respect 
to short term timing differences of €344,000 (2015: €1,856,000).

The pre-exceptional tax charge in 2016 is €14,635,000 (2015: €19,210,000) and the tax related to the exceptional items is nil (2015: credit of 
€2,285,000). 

The deferred income tax expense for the year to 30 September 2016 included a charge of €950,000 in respect of prior years (2015: €447,000).

FACTORS AFFECTING THE TAX CHARGE IN FUTURE YEARS
The UK statutory corporation tax rate will, as a consequence of substantially enacted provisions, reduce to 19% with effect from 1 April 2017 and 
further reduce to 17% from 1 April 2020.

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2016

%
2016 

€’000
2015

%
2015 

€’000

Profit before tax 207,907 71,798
Taxation based on Irish corporation tax rate 12.5 (25,988) 12.5 (8,975)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (5,227) (2,916) 
Tax on income from joint ventures 276 310 
Non-taxable profit on disposal of subsidiaries and joint venture 18,517 – 
Differences in foreign tax rates (3,593) (6,959) 
Adjustments in respect of prior years 1,380 1,615 

(14,635) (16,925)

The Group’s share of joint ventures’ profit after tax includes a tax charge of €894,000 (2015: €744,000).
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9. NET RESULT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, DISPOSAL AND ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE
Profit from discontinued operations after tax included in the Group Income Statement is summarised in the table below:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Profit from discontinued operations after tax 
– United Drug Supply Chain Services businesses and MASTA (a) 15,333 13,088
– Magir Limited (c) 1,493 2,190
Profit on disposal of discontinued operations (b) 132,093 –
Impairment of assets held for sale (c) (16,961) –

Profit from discontinued operations after tax 131,958 15,278

The profit for the year from discontinued operations is fully attributable to the equity holders of the company.

On 18 September 2015 the Group announced the proposed disposal of United Drug Supply Chain Services, United Drug Sangers, TCP Group 
and MASTA for an aggregate cash consideration of €407.5 million before adjustments in respect of working capital, taxation and costs. The 
disposal was approved by shareholders at an EGM on 13 October 2015 and on 1 April 2016 the Group completed the disposal of these businesses. 
The Group has treated these operations as discontinued operations in accordance with IFRS 5. The following table details the results of these 
discontinued operations included in the Group Income Statement:

(a)
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Revenue 682,875 1,409,686
Cost of sales (632,961) (1,311,639)

Gross profit 49,914 98,047
Selling and distribution expenses (33,921) (70,630)
Administrative expenses (2,266) (4,364)
Other operating expenses – (1,801)
Settlement gain on defined benefit pension 2,404 –
Transaction costs – (3,817)

Operating profit 16,131 17,435
Net finance expense (51) (116)

Profit before exceptional items and tax 16,080 17,319

Exceptional items – (1,335)

Profit from discontinued operations before tax 16,080 15,984

Income tax expense (747) (2,896)

Profit from discontinued operations after tax 15,333 13,088

In accordance with IFRS 5, depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangibles has not been charged on the assets 
disposed of during the year. If the assets had continued to be depreciated and amortised, the respective pre-tax charges for the year would have 
been €3,526,000 and €720,000.
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(b)
The following table summarises the consideration received, the profit on disposal of discontinued operations and the net cash flow arising on the 
disposal of these businesses:

Reconciliation of consideration received to cash received 

2016 
€’000

Total consideration 407,500
Working capital and related adjustments (14,780)

Cash received on completion 392,720

Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (18,787)
Disposal related costs paid (8,481)

Net consideration received on completion 365,452

Assets and liabilities disposed of 
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 84,966
Goodwill 14,296
Intangible assets 46,843
Deferred income tax assets 989
Inventories 112,360
Trade and other receivables 219,244

Total assets 478,698

Liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities (343)
Trade and other payables (252,148)
Employee benefits (1,967)
Current income tax liability (633)

Total liabilities (255,091)

Net identifiable assets and liabilities disposed of (223,607)

Recycling of foreign exchange loss previously recognised in foreign currency translation reserve (4,640)

Provision for taxation (5,112)

Profit on disposal of discontinued operations after tax 132,093

(c)
The Group has also treated the joint venture arrangement with Magir Limited as a discontinued operation and asset held for sale in accordance 
with IFRS 5 as the business is no longer a strategic asset following our exit from the Pharma Wholesaling segment of the market and given  
the decision by management to dispose of the shareholding as it is non-core. The comparative Group Income Statement, Group Statement  
of Comprehensive Income and the Group Cash Flow Statement to 30 September 2015 have been restated to show the discontinued operation 
separately from continuing operations. 

The following table details the results of discontinued operations included in the Group Income Statement:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Share of joint venture profit after tax 1,493 2,190
Impairment charge on assets held for sale (16,961) –

Profit from discontinued operations after tax (15,468) 2,190
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9. NET RESULT FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS, DISPOSAL AND ASSETS AND LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 
CONTINUED
The following table details the assets and liabilities classified as held for sale in the Group Balance Sheet:

Carrying 
value 
2016 

€’000

Carrying 
value 
2015 

€’000

Assets
Property, plant, and equipment – 84,867
Goodwill – 15,629
Intangible assets – 40,426
Investment in joint venture and associates – –
Deferred income tax assets – 527
Inventories – 117,155
Trade and other receivables – 215,021
Current income tax asset – 195

Assets held for sale – 473,820

Liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities – (387)
Trade and other payables – (276,682)
Employee benefits – (3,264)
Current income tax liabilities – –

Liabilities held for sale – (280,333)

Net assets – 193,487

10. DIVIDENDS – EQUITY SHARES

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Dividends paid
Final dividend for 2015 of 8.10 cent (2014: 7.43 cent) per share 19,867 18,061
Interim dividend for 2016 of 3.05 cent (2015: 2.90 cent) per share 7,519 7,085 

Total dividends 27,386 25,146

The directors have proposed a final dividend for 2016 of 8.50 cent (2015: 8.10 cent) per share amounting to €20,975,000 (2015: €19,835,000), 
subject to shareholder approval at the upcoming Annual General Meeting. The total dividend for the year is 11.55 cent (2015: 11.00 cent) per share.

The final dividend for 2016 has not been provided for on the balance sheet at 30 September 2016, as there was no present obligation to pay the 
dividend at year end.
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11. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

Continuing 
operations 

2016 
€’000

Discontinued 
operations 

2016 
€’000

Total 
2016 

€’000

Continuing 
operations 

2015 
€’000

Discontinued 
operations 

2015 
€’000

Total 
2015 

€’000

Profit attributable to the owners of the parent 61,314 131,958 193,272 39,595 15,278 54,873
Adjustment for amortisation of acquired intangible assets (net of tax) 7,573 – 7,573 13,108 411 13,519
Adjustment for transaction costs (net of tax) 1,911 – 1,911 1,116 3,817 4,933
Adjustment for exceptional items (net of tax) – – – 11,198 1,146 12,344
Adjustment for profit on disposal (net of tax) – (132,093) (132,093) – – –
Adjustment for impairment of asset held for sale (net of tax) – 16,961 16,961 – – –

Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the parent 70,798 1 16,826 2 87,624 65,017 20,652 85,669

2016 
Number 

of shares

2015 
Number 

of shares

Weighted average number of shares 246,405,955 244,199,334
Number of dilutive shares under options 1,016,938 1,272,001

Weighted average number of shares, including share options 247,422,893 245,471,335

Continuing 
operations 

2016

Discontinued 
operations

2016
Total 
2016

Continuing 
operations 

2015

Discontinued 
operations 

2015
Total 
2015

Basic earnings per share – cent 24.88 53.56 78.44 16.21 6.26 22.47
Diluted earnings per share – cent 24.78 53.33 78.11 16.13 6.22 22.35
Adjusted basic earnings per share – cent 28.73 1 6.83 2 35.56 26.63 8.45 35.08
Adjusted diluted earnings per share – cent 28.61 1 6.80 2 35.41 26.49 8.41 34.90

Non-GAAP information
The Group reports certain financial measures that are not required under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which represent the 
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) under which the Group reports. The Group believes that the presentation of these non-GAAP 
measures provides useful supplemental information which, when viewed in conjunction with our IFRS financial information, provides investors 
with a more meaningful understanding of the underlying financial and operating performance of the Group and its divisions. These measures are 
also used internally to evaluate the historical and planned future performance of the Group’s operations and to measure executive management’s 
performance based remuneration. 

The Group has treated the joint venture arrangement with Magir Limited as a discontinued operation and asset held for sale in accordance with 
IFRS 5. The comparative Group Income Statement, Group Statement of Comprehensive Income and Group Cash Flow to 30 September 2015 
have been restated to reflect this change and as such the 2015 earnings per share calculations have been adjusted.

1.  Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the parent from continuing operations is stated before the amortisation of acquired intangible assets and transaction costs.
2.  Adjusted profit attributable to owners of the parent from discontinued operations is stated after deducting the profit on disposal of the discontinued operations (€132.1m, net of tax),  

and adding back the impairment of the investment in Magir Limited, an asset held for sale (€17.0m, net of tax). 

Treasury shares have been excluded from the weighted average number of shares in issue used in the calculation of earnings per share. 310,671 
(2015: 1,832,921) anti-dilutive share options have been excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

The average market value of the Company’s shares for the purposes of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was based on quoted 
market prices for the year.
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and 
buildings 

2016 
€’000

Plant and 
equipment 

2016 
€’000

Motor 
vehicles 

2016 
€’000

Computer 
equipment 

2016 
€’000

Assets under 
construction 

2016 
€’000

Total 
2016 

€’000

Cost
At 1 October 2015 72,817 86,990 995 20,456 10,017 191,275
Additions in year 7,240 9,036 133 5,764 6,395 28,568
Arising on acquisition 201 137 9 168 – 515
Disposals in year (172) (3,863) (128) (362) – (4,525)
Transfer to assets held for sale – (1,163) – – – (1,163)
Transfer to intangibles – – – (6,671) – (6,671)
Reclassifications 3,471 12,461 (64) 628 (16,496) –
Translation adjustment (3,117) (1,708) (78) (1,699) 84 (6,518)

At 30 September 2016 80,440 101,890 867 18,284 – 201,481

Depreciation
At 1 October 2015 20,929 41,294 666 10,483 – 73,372
Depreciation charge for the year 4,451 9,444 56 4,081 – 18,032
Eliminated on disposal (53) (3,634) (66) (316) – (4,069)
Transfer to assets held for sale – (238) – – – (238)
Transfer to intangibles – – – (5,140) – (5,140)
Reclassifications – 6 (25) 19 – –
Translation adjustment (885) (1,225) (24) (980) – (3,114)

At 30 September 2016 24,442 45,647 607 8,147 – 78,843

Carrying amount 
At 30 September 2016 55,998 56,243 260 10,137 – 122,638

Land and 
buildings

2015 
€’000

Plant and 
equipment

2015 
€’000

Motor 
vehicles

2015
€’000

Computer 
equipment

2015 
€’000

Assets under 
construction

2015 
€’000

Total 
2015 

€’000

Cost
At 1 October 2014 124,883 114,056 1,960 39,158 – 280,057
Disposal of subsidiaries (507) (546) – (330) – (1,383)
Additions in year 8,094 17,055 179 10,589 9,774 45,691
Disposals in year (509) (1,322) (173) (1,478) – (3,482)
Transfer to assets held for sale (64,931) (47,582) (1,796) (28,853) – (143,162)
Reclassifications – (844) 812 32 – –
Translation adjustment 5,787 6,173 13 1,338 243 13,554

At 30 September 2015 72,817 86,990 995 20,456 10,017 191,275

Depreciation
At 1 October 2014 24,270 57,077 1,340 22,923 – 105,610
Depreciation charge for the year 5,204 12,824 198 5,696 – 23,922
Disposal of subsidiaries (28) (371) – (215) – (614)
Eliminated on disposal (23) (1,193) (121) (1,446) – (2,783)
Transfer to assets held for sale (10,117) (29,525) (1,308) (17,345) – (58,295)
Reclassifications – (562) 530 32 – –
Translation adjustment 1,623 3,044 27 838 – 5,532

At 30 September 2015 20,929 41,294 666 10,483 – 73,372

Carrying amount
At 30 September 2015 51,888 45,696 329 9,973 10,017 117,903
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During the year, the cost and associated depreciation of computer software that was previously recognised within property, plant and equipment 
was transferred to intangible assets.

No borrowings are secured on the above assets with the exception of the leased assets noted below.

LEASED PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The Group leases items of property, plant and equipment under a number of finance lease agreements. At 30 September 2016, the carrying 
amount of leased assets included in property, plant and equipment was €166,000 (2015: €254,000) and related depreciation amounted to 
€102,000 (2015: €48,000).

13. GOODWILL

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Cost
At beginning of year 358,213 353,751
Impairment charge (note 7) – (2,216) 
Acquired during the year (note 29) 10,235 –
Goodwill attributable to assets held for sale – (15,629)
Translation adjustment (23,927) 22,307 

At end of year 344,521 358,213

Goodwill arises on acquisitions. The goodwill acquired during the year relates to the Group acquisition of Pegasus Public Relations Limited.

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to cash generating units (CGUs) for the purpose of impairment testing. 
The CGUs represent the lowest level within the Group at which associated goodwill is monitored for management purposes and is not bigger 
than the segments determined in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments. Significant under-performance in any of the Group’s major CGUs 
may give rise to a material write-down of goodwill which would have a substantial impact on the Group’s income and equity. A total of 8 (2015: 8) 
CGUs have been identified.

The carrying value of goodwill and the number of CGUs are analysed between the operating segments in the Group below. 

2016 
€’000

Number of 
CGUs

2015 
€’000

Number of 
CGUs

Ashfield 210,719 5 217,646 5 
Sharp 79,811 2 82,665 2 
Aquilant 53,991 1 57,902 1

344,521 8 358,213 8

In accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, the CGUs to which significant amounts of goodwill (greater than 10% of the total value) have 
been allocated are as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Ashfield Healthcare Communications Group 77,011 83,097
Aquilant Group 53,991 57,902
Sharp Commercial Packaging Group 44,688 45,338 
Ashfield Commercial UK Group 33,224 38,736
Sharp Clinical Services Group 35,123 37,327
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13. GOODWILL CONTINUED
The value in use and excess of value in use over the carrying amount of the above significant CGUs are as follows:

Value in use Excess

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Ashfield Healthcare Communications Group 556,561 377,755 424,724 225,172 
Aquilant Group 180,126 154,877 107,106 72,093 
Sharp Commercial Packaging Group 549,789 384,907 377,947 233,624 
Ashfield Commercial UK Group 177,402 216,359 124,698 161,586
Sharp Clinical Services Group 73,325 80,791 27,077 28,831

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF CASH GENERATING UNITS (CGUs) CONTAINING GOODWILL 
The Group tests goodwill for impairment at each reporting date or whenever there is an indication that the goodwill may be impaired. This testing 
involves determining the CGUs value in use and comparing this to the carrying amount of the CGU. Where the value in use exceeds the carrying 
value of the CGU, the asset is not impaired, but where the carrying amount exceeds the value in use, an impairment loss is recognised to reduce 
the carrying amount of the CGU to its value in use. Estimates of value in use are key judgemental estimates in the financial statements. A number  
of key assumptions have been made as a basis for the impairment tests. In each case, these key assumptions have been made by management 
reflecting past experience and are consistent with relevant external sources of information. 

VALUE IN USE CALCULATIONS
Where a value in use approach is used to assess the recoverable amount of the CGU, calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on 
financial budgets and projections covering a five year period. The cash flow forecasts used for the value in use computations exclude incremental 
profits and other cash flows derived from planned acquisition activities. For individual CGUs, forecasts for up to four years have been approved 
by senior management. The remaining year’s forecasts have been extrapolated using growth rates of 2% to 10% (2015: 3% to 10%) based on  
the historical annual growth experience of individual CGUs. For the purposes of calculating terminal values, a terminal growth rate of 2.5% 
(2015: 2.5%) has been adopted. The value in use of each CGU is calculated using a discount rate representing the Group’s estimated weighted 
average cost of capital, adjusted to reflect risks associated with each CGU. The discount rates range from 6.9% to 7.7% (2015: 7.8% to 8.4%).  
The discount rates used for significant CGUs are detailed in the table below.

2016 2015

Ashfield Healthcare Communications Group 7.4% 8.2%
Aquilant Group 7.0% 8.0%
Sharp Commercial Packaging Group 7.5% 8.2%
Ashfield Commercial UK Group 7.1% 8.2%
Sharp Clinical Services Group 7.5% 8.3%

The key assumptions used for the value in use computations are that the markets will grow in accordance with publicly available data, the Group 
will maintain its current market share, gross margins will be maintained at current levels and overheads will increase in line with expected levels 
of inflation. The cash flow forecasts assume appropriate levels of capital expenditure and investment in working capital to support the growth in 
individual CGUs.

IMPAIRMENT
The Group did not impair goodwill in the current year. In the prior year, the Group announced the closure of Aquilant Scientific (UK) Limited,  
a UK based distributor of laboratory equipment. The closure resulted in a non-cash goodwill impairment charge of €2,216,000.

ADDITIONAL SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS
The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on each of the CGUs. For the purposes of performing sensitivity analysis, each individual discount 
rate was increased by 2% and the terminal growth rate was reduced to 2%. Applying these assumptions did not indicate any additional impairment. 
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer 
software 

€’000

Customer 
relationships 

€’000

Trade 
names 
€’000

Contract 
based 
€’000

Technology 
€’000

Total 
€’000

Cost
At 1 October 2014 39,132 131,796 38,007 17,449 5,212 231,596
Additions 18,980 – – – – 18,980
Eliminated on disposal (974) (100) (949) – – (2,023)
Transfer to assets held for sale (43,287) (1,834) (960) – (190) (46,271)
Translation adjustment 314 8,625 2,633 683 105 12,360

At 30 September 2015 14,165 138,487 38,731 18,132 5,127 214,642
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 6,671 – – – – 6,671
Additions 9,835 – – – – 9,835
Arising on acquisition – 7,849 1,392 – – 9,241
Eliminated on disposal (1,293) – – – – (1,293)
Transfer to assets held for sale (2,156) (2,298) (1,278) – – (5,732)
Translation adjustment (330) (10,052) (3,162) (327) (485) (14,356)

At 30 September 2016 26,892 133,986 35,683 17,805 4,642 219,008

Amortisation
At 1 October 2014 4,600 46,723 24,715 16,957 2,846 95,841
Amortisation of acquired intangibles – 12,478 2,001 294 835 15,608
Amortisation of computer software 3,201 – – – – 3,201
Eliminated on disposal (448) (100) (407) – – (955)
Transfer to assets held for sale (3,637) (1,386) (686) – (136) (5,845)
Translation adjustment 128 2,667 1,542 629 133 5,099

At 30 September 2015 3,844 60,382 27,165 17,880 3,678 112,949
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 5,140 – – – – 5,140
Amortisation of acquired intangibles – 12,018 1,812 253 299 14,382
Amortisation of computer software 2,013 – – – – 2,013
Eliminated on disposal (1,293) – – – – (1,293)
Impairment charge 718 – – – – 718
Transfer to assets held for sale (477) (2,298) (1,278) – – (4,053)
Translation adjustment (43) (4,870) (2,170) (328) (491) (7,902)

At 30 September 2016 9,902 65,232 25,529 17,805 3,486 121,954

Carrying amount
At 30 September 2016 16,990 68,754 10,154 – 1,156 97,054

At 30 September 2015 10,321 78,105 11,566 252 1,449 101,693

The amortisation charge for the year has been charged to other operating expenses in the income statement. Intangible assets are amortised 
over their useful lives, ranging from five to fifteen years, depending on the nature of the asset.
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15. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
The Group’s interest in its joint ventures and associates, all of which are unlisted, is set out below.

€’000

At 1 October 2014 13,525
Share of profit after tax 2,482
Investment in joint ventures 6,124
Translation adjustment 948

At 30 September 2015 23,079
Share of profit after tax – continuing operations 718
Share of profit after tax – discontinued operations 1,493
Transferred to assets held for sale (16,961)
Translation adjustment (205)

At 30 September 2016 8,124

At 30 September 2016 the Group has classified the joint venture arrangement with Magir Limited as an asset held for sale. The share of profit has 
been included in discontinued operations.

The investment in joint ventures and associates is comprised as follows:

2016 
€’000

Non-current assets 548
Cash and cash equivalents 1,436
Other current assets 7,536
Non-current liabilities (1,191)
Current liabilities (5,555)

Group share of carrying amount of net assets 2,774
Goodwill 5,350

8,124

2015 
€’000

Non-current assets 36,589
Cash and cash equivalents 1,773
Other current assets 15,947
Non-current liabilities (22,445)
Current liabilities (16,901)

Group share of carrying amount of net assets 14,963
Adjustment on acquisition of incremental interest (10,394)
Goodwill 18,510

23,079

Included in investment in joint ventures and associates is goodwill with a carrying value of €5,350,000 (2015: €18,510,000). 

2016 2015

Continuing 
operations

€’000

Discontinued 
operations 

€’000
Total 

€’000

Continuing 
operations 

€’000

Discontinued 
operations 

€’000
Total

€’000

Group share of revenue 29,776 34,599 64,375 25,249 36,152 61,401
Group share of expenses, net of tax (29,058) (33,106) (62,164) (24,957) (33,962) (58,919)

Group share of profit after tax 718 1,493 2,211 292 2,190 2,482
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
At 30 September 2016, the Group’s share of authorised but not contracted for capital expenditure was nil.

The following joint venture of UDG Healthcare plc is classified as an asset held for sale.

Name Nature of business
Group 
share

Magir Limited (trading as Medicare) Healthcare and retail organisation 33.9%

Magir Limited has its registered office at  
44 Montgomery Road, Belfast, BT6 9ML.

  
The following joint venture of UDG Healthcare plc is included within the Ashfield Commercial & Medical Services operating segment.

Name Nature of business
Group 
share

CMIC Holdings Co., Ltd Contract sales outsourcing 49.9%

CMIC Holdings Co., Ltd has its registered office at  
7–10–4 Nishi-Gotanda, Shinagawa-ku, Tokyo, Japan

  
All shares held are ordinary shares.

UDG Healthcare plc accounts for Magir Limited and CMIC Holdings Co. Limited as joint ventures on the basis of contractual arrangements 
which establish joint control between the Group and the remaining shareholders. These contractual arrangements outline the requirement for  
all significant strategic, financial and operational decisions to be jointly approved by both parties to the respective agreements.

The Group has considered the impact of IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities in the Group financial statements. Given that neither 
joint venture is individually material to the results or financial position of the Group as at 30 September 2016 or 2015, no separate summary 
information for the respective joint ventures has been disclosed.

16. INVENTORIES

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Raw materials 17,546 19,763 
Work in progress 3,806 5,299 
Finished goods 27,874 29,955

49,226 55,017

In 2016, raw materials, work in progress and finished goods recognised as continuing cost of sales amounted to €188,535,000 (2015: €184,700,000). 

Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence, taking into consideration product obsolescence or perishability (which 
are generally low given the nature of the Group’s inventory) and the purpose for which the inventory is held.

Current replacement cost does not differ materially from historical cost.

At 30 September 2016, the level of consignment inventory within the continuing Group amounted to €2,468,000 (2015: €2,050,000). The level of 
consignment inventory within the discontinued Group amounted to nil (2015: €171,988,000). These represent goods held on behalf of clients at 
locations around the Group, but are not owned by the Group. The risks and rewards associated with consignment inventory are not transferred to 
the Group until the inventory is sold to customers.
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Current
Trade receivables 146,485 147,535 
Other receivables 15,824 18,386
Prepayments and accrued income 47,163 39,327

209,472 205,248

The table below details trade receivables relating to both continuing operations and assets held for sale:     
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Continuing operations 146,485 147,535 
Assets held for sale – 186,718 

146,485 334,253

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographical region was:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Geographical analysis of risk
Republic of Ireland 6,283 141,224 
United Kingdom 30,737 90,065 
Continental Europe 39,150 38,575 
North America 70,315 64,389 

146,485 334,253

 
There is no material concentration of credit risk with regard to individual customers included in Group trade receivables. Details of how the 
Group manages credit risk are set out in note 31.

The ageing of trade receivables at 30 September 2016 and 2015 was:

Gross value 
2016 

€’000

Impairment 
2016 

€’000

Net 
2016 

€’000

Gross value 
2015 

€’000

Impairment 
2015 

€’000

Net 
2015 

€’000

Not past due 124,094 (323) 123,771 307,960 (818) 307,142 
Past due
0–30 days 13,588 (126) 13,462 21,356 (1,969) 19,387 
31–90 days 6,250 (140) 6,110 5,826 (506) 5,320 
91–180 days 2,794 (757) 2,037 3,074 (1,752) 1,322 
+181 days 2,372 (1,267) 1,105 3,174 (2,092) 1,082 

149,098 (2,613) 146,485 341,390 (7,137) 334,253

 
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

At beginning of the year 7,137 6,837
Disposals in year (4,805) –
Bad debts written off during the year (232) (744)
Acquired during the year 56 –
Impairment loss recognised during the year 507 978
Translation adjustment (50) 66

At end of year 2,613 7,137 

Trade receivables are assessed individually for impairment. The Group trades with a large and varied number of customers on credit terms. 
Provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be in a position to collect the associated trade debts. 
Impairments are recorded in the Group Income Statement on identification. The general economic climate being experienced by customers of 
the Group remains consistent with 2015 and is closely monitored by the Group.
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18. EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL

Equity share capital

Number 
of shares 

2016
2016 

€’000

Number 
of shares 

2015
2015 

€’000

Authorised
Ordinary shares of 5 cent each 367,471,934 18,373 367,471,934 18,373 
Redeemable ordinary shares of 5 cent each 7,528,066 377 7,528,066 377 

375,000,000 18,750 375,000,000 18,750

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 5 cent each 246,764,469 12,338 244,879,716 12,244
Redeemable ordinary shares of 5 cent each 7,528,066 377 7,528,066 377

In issue at 30 September 254,292,535 12,715 252,407,782 12,621

The redeemable ordinary shares do not rank for dividends and do not carry voting rights. The redeemable ordinary shares can be redeemed by 
the Company with the agreement of holders of such shares. All redeemable ordinary shares are held by the Group and are treated as treasury 
shares in accordance with the requirements of company law. 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to attend, speak, ask questions and 
have one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. In accordance with the trust deeds, the trustee of the Ashfield Healthcare scheme 
(note 21) refrains from exercising voting rights attached to shares held. At 30 September 2016 there were no shares were held by the trustee 
(2015: 6,183). All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Number of ordinary shares Number of redeemable ordinary shares

2016 2015 2016 2015

In issue at beginning of year 244,879,716 242,152,962 7,528,006 7,528,006
Exercise of share options 1,884,753 2,726,754 – –

In issue at end of year 246,764,469 244,879,716 7,528,006 7,528,006

19. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO UDG HEALTHCARE PLC
The profit recorded in the financial statements of the holding Company for the year ended 30 September 2016 was €93,559,000 (2015: 
€103,934,000). As permitted by Section 340 (2) of the Companies Act 2014, the income statement of the Company has not been separately 
presented in these financial statements.

20. SHARE PREMIUM

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

At 1 October 152,164 147,176
Premium arising on shares issued 3,920 4,988 

At 30 September 156,084 152,164
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21. OTHER RESERVES

Cash flow
hedge 
€’000

Share- 
based

payment 
€’000

Foreign
exchange 

€’000

Treasury
shares 
€’000

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
€’000

Total 
€’000

Balance at 1 October 2015 (4,357) 4,762 15,182 (5,760) 250 10,077
Effective portion of cash flow hedges (5,742) – – – – (5,742)
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges 718 – – – – 718
Share-based payment expense – 1,966 – – – 1,966
Release from share-based payment reserve – (2,734) – – – (2,734)
Gain on hedge of net investment in foreign operations – – 2,262 – – 2,262
Translation adjustment
– Continuing operations – – (45,373) – – (45,373)
– Discontinued operations – – (7,109) – – (7,109)
Reclassification on loss of control – – 4,640 – – 4,640
Release of treasury shares on vesting – (21) – 21 – –

At 30 September 2016 (9,381) 3,973 (30,398) (5,739) 250 (41,295)

Cash flow
hedge 
€’000

Share- 
based

payment 
€’000

Foreign
exchange 

€’000

Treasury
shares 
€’000

Capital 
redemption 

reserve 
€’000

Total 
€’000

At 1 October 2014 (11,891) 5,964 (18,738) (5,758) 250 (30,173)
Effective portion of cash flow hedges 8,610 – – – – 8,610
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges (1,076) – – – – (1,076)
Share-based payment expense – 1,778 – – – 1,778
Release from share-based payment reserve – (2,982) – – – (2,982)
Loss on hedge of net investment in foreign operations – – (15,636) – – (15,636)
Translation adjustment
– Continuing operations – – 45,594 – – 45,594
– Discontinued operations – – 4,127 – – 4,127
Reclassification on loss of control and joint control – – (165) – – (165)
Release of treasury shares on vesting – 2 – (2) – –

At 30 September 2015 (4,357) 4,762 15,182 (5,760) 250 10,077

CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE
The cash flow hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments 
related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE
This reserve comprises amounts expensed in the income statement in connection with share-based payments, net of transfers to retained 
earnings on the exercise, lapsing or forfeiting of share awards.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RESERVE
The currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences from 1 October 2015, arising from the translation of the net assets of 
the Group’s non-Euro denominated operations, including the translation of the profits of such operations from the average exchange rate for the 
year to the exchange rate at the balance sheet date.

The reserve also includes all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of liabilities that hedge the Company’s net investment in 
foreign operations.

CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE
The capital redemption reserve is a legal reserve which has arisen from the Company buying back and cancelling its ordinary shares.
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TREASURY SHARES
Dublin Drug Company Limited
During the year ended 30 September 1998, the Group acquired Dublin Drug Company Limited for consideration of €11,726,000, which at the 
date of its acquisition held 2,225,438 ordinary shares of 32 cent each in UDG Healthcare plc which had a nominal value of €706,000 and at the 
date of their acquisition represented 9.84% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital. Subsequent to the acquisition, these ordinary shares 
were converted into redeemable ordinary shares of 32 cent each.

On 29 January 2002, 1,150,000 of these redeemable ordinary shares of 32 cent each were redeemed at their market value both out of the proceeds 
of a placing in the market of 1,150,000 new ordinary shares of 32 cent each and the distributable reserves of the Company, in accordance with 
Article 3A of the Articles of Association of the Company and Section 207 of the Companies Act 1990, and immediately thereafter were cancelled.

During the year ended 30 September 2003, the Company’s shareholders approved a 7 for 1 split of the ordinary share capital and redeemable 
ordinary share capital of the Company. At 30 September 2012, Dublin Drug Company Limited continued to hold 7,528,066 redeemable ordinary 
shares and they have been treated as treasury shares in the balance sheet in accordance with the requirements of company law.

Ashfield Healthcare Limited
During the year ended 30 September 2005 Ashfield Healthcare Limited acquired 95,000 shares in the Company, on the open market, at a cost of 
€366,000. These shares were allocated to employees subject to the risk of forfeiture should the employee leave the Company during the vesting 
period. As at 30 September 2016, the balance of shares held in the Company was nil (2015: 6,183 shares).

Summary
At 30 September 2016, 7,528,066 (2015: 7,534,249) treasury shares were held by the Group, representing 2.96% (2015: 2.98%) of the issued 
ordinary and redeemable ordinary share capital of the Company.

22. RETAINED EARNINGS

 
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

At beginning of year 433,912 404,212
Net income recognised directly in the income statement 193,272 54,852 
Net income recognised directly in other comprehensive income 
– Remeasurement loss on Group defined benefit liability (7,411) (3,624) 
– Deferred tax on Group defined benefit schemes 328 636 
Dividends paid to equity holders (27,386) (25,146) 
Release from share-based payment reserve 2,734 2,982 

At end of year 595,449 433,912

 
23. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

At 1 October – (21)
Share of profit for the financial year – 21

At 30 September – –

The non-controlling interest related to Verotech AB, a subsidiary of the Group that has been liquidated.
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24. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Non-current
Guaranteed senior unsecured notes 217,085 275,192
Bank borrowings (170) 140,632
Finance leases 8 16 

216,923 415,840

Current
Guaranteed senior unsecured notes 58,248 20,293
Bank borrowings (257) 312
Finance leases 142 206

58,133 20,811

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are repayable as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Bank borrowings, overdrafts and guaranteed senior unsecured notes
Within one year 57,991 20,605
After one but within two years (170) – 
After two but within five years 59,153 258,043 
After five years 157,932 157,781 
Finance leases
Within one year 142 206 
After one but within two years 8 16 

275,056 436,651

Non-current 216,923 415,840
Current 58,133 20,811

275,056 436,651

During 2004, the Group completed a debt financing in the US Private Placement Market. The following notes remain outstanding:

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

5.85% Series ‘C’ guaranteed senior unsecured notes, 2016 – 22,000

– 22,000

In September 2010, the Group completed a US$130 million debt financing in the US Private Placement Market. The following notes remain 
outstanding:

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

4.70% Series ‘A’ guaranteed senior unsecured notes, 2017 65,000 65,000
5.25% Series ‘B’ guaranteed senior unsecured notes, 2020 65,000 65,000

130,000 130,000
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In September 2013, the Group completed a US$140 million and €23 million debt financing in the US Private Placement Market. The following 
notes remain outstanding:

2016 
$’000

2015 
$’000

4.48% Series ‘A’ guaranteed senior unsecured notes, 2023 105,000 105,000
4.59% Series ‘B’ guaranteed senior unsecured notes, 2025 35,000 35,000

140,000 140,000

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

3.45% Series ‘C’ guaranteed senior unsecured notes, 2023 12,000 12,000
3.50% Series ‘D’ guaranteed senior unsecured notes, 2025 11,000 11,000

23,000 23,000

In September 2014, the Group completed a €10 million debt financing in the US Private Placement Market. The following note remains outstanding:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

2.64% Series ‘A’ guaranteed senior unsecured note, 2023 10,000 10,000

10,000 10,000

All the loan notes were issued by United Drug Finance Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary, and have been guaranteed by UDG Healthcare plc 
and other Group undertakings.

US Dollar loan note issuance proceeds were swapped into Euro and the fixed interest rates applicable to the debt were swapped into a mixture of 
fixed and floating rate debt to generate the desired interest profile.

These loans are repayable in full on maturity.

BORROWING FACILITIES
In September 2014, the Group renewed its senior bank debt facility extending the term to November 2019.

At 30 September 2016, the Group had €220,000,000 of undrawn overdraft and loan facilities. Of these facilities, €210,000,000 were committed, 
with a maturity date of November 2019.

At 30 September 2015, the Group had €93,520,000 of undrawn overdraft and loan facilities. Of these facilities, €68,520,000 were committed, 
with a maturity date of November 2019.

COVENANTS
The unsecured loan notes and senior bank facilities are subject to compliance with certain covenants including a leverage covenant (net debt to 
EBITDA) not to exceed 3.5:1 and an interest cover covenant (EBITDA to net interest expense) to be at least 3.0:1. 

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Current
Trade payables 42,456 52,788 
Accruals and deferred income 113,138 105,286 
Other payables 14,639 19,169 
PAYE, VAT and social welfare 12,957 14,515 

183,190 191,758
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26. PROVISIONS

Deferred 
contingent

consideration 
2016 

€’000

Onerous 
leases 

2016 
€’000

Restructuring  
and other costs 

2016 
€’000

Total 
2016 

€’000

Total 
2015 

€’000

At the beginning of the year 22,029 372 3,790 26,191 22,253
Charge/(release) to income statement 318 – (1,238) (920) 10,392
Arising on acquisitions (note 29) 7,565 – – 7,565 –
Utilised during the year (15,601) (50) (2,258) (17,909) (8,644)
Unwinding of discount 1,042 – – 1,042 823
Translation adjustment (1,538) – (36) (1,574) 1,367

At end of year 13,815 322 258 14,395 26,191

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Non-current 5,451 7,508 
Current 8,944 18,683 

14,395 26,191

RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER COSTS
This provision primarily relates to redundancy costs associated with the implementation of the restructuring programme in Sharp Packaging 
Belgium in 2015. This provision is deemed to be due within one year.

DEFERRED CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION
The deferred contingent consideration liability represents the fair value of amounts which may become payable over the period from October 
2016 to April 2019 in connection with the acquisition of subsidiaries. Payment is dependent on achieving predetermined targets based on future 
performance and profitability. During the year, payments were made of €15,601,000 (2015: €501,000) with respect to prior year acquisitions. 
Deferred contingent consideration of €318,000 (2015: nil) in respect of prior year acquisitions was charged following a review of earn out 
targets. The charge was included in the Group Income Statement.

ONEROUS LEASES 
The onerous leases relate to properties that the Group remains committed to following the integration of the businesses acquired in prior years. 
The properties are being proactively managed. In calculating the provisions, the Group made certain estimates and assumptions in assessing  
the amount provided. The provisions were calculated by taking into consideration the committed rental charges associated with the premises  
and the period of time to the earliest date on which the Group can exit from the leases. The cash outflows will be incurred during the period from 
October 2016 to July 2021. 

27. OPERATING LEASES
LEASES AS LESSEE
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals for continuing operations (2015: continuing and discontinued operations) are payable as set out below. 
These amounts represent the minimum future lease payments, in aggregate, the Group is required to make under existing lease agreements.

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Less than one year 21,735 19,420 
Between one and five years 44,948 31,353 
More than five years 25,221 28,156 

91,904 78,929

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial lease period with the 
potential to renew the leases after the initial period.
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28. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The following is an analysis of the movement in the major categories of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the Group for the year 
ended 30 September 2016: 

Property,
plant and

equipment 
€’000

Intangible
assets 
€’000

Retirement
benefit 

obligation 
€’000

Short term 
temporary
differences

and other
differences 

€’000
Total 

€’000

At 1 October 2015 (3,486) (6,758) (2,625) (11,197) (24,066)
Recognised in income statement (2,485) 6,810 102 (3,755) 672
Recognised in other comprehensive income – – 328 718 1,046
Arising on acquisition – (1,571) – – (1,571)
Deferred tax eliminated on disposal – – (1,442) – (1,442)
Exchange differences and other (206) 1,684 (80) 30 1,428

At 30 September 2016 (6,177) 165 (3,717) (14,204) (23,933)

Analysed as:
Deferred tax asset – 381 979 2,489 3,849
Deferred tax liability (6,177) (216) (4,696) (16,693) (27,782)

(6,177) 165 (3,717) (14,204) (23,933)

The following is an analysis of the movement in the major categories of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the Group for the year 
ended 30 September 2015.

Property,
plant and

equipment 
€’000

Intangible
assets 
€’000

Retirement
benefit 

obligation 
€’000

Short term 
temporary
differences

and other
differences 

€’000
Total 

€’000

At 1 October 2014 (3,471) (8,840) (2,380) (6,081) (20,772)
Recognised in the income statement (755) 2,090 347 (1,956) (274)
Recognised in other comprehensive income – – 636 (1,076) (440)
Arising on acquisition (9) – – (84) (93)
Deferred tax on disposals 443 110 (653) (40) (140)
Exchange differences and other 306 (118) (575) (1,960) (2,347)

At 30 September 2015 (3,486) (6,758) (2,625) (11,197) (24,066)

Analysed as:
Deferred tax asset – – 2,288 1,696 3,984
Deferred tax liability (3,486) (6,758) (4,913) (12,893) (28,050)

(3,486) (6,758) (2,625) (11,197) (24,066)

No deferred income tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures as the Group does not anticipate 
additional tax on any ultimate remittance.

At 30 September 2016, there were unrecognised deferred tax assets with respect to trading losses of €8,250,000 (2015: €7,504,000). These 
deferred tax assets were not recognised as the Group has no certainty as to when these losses can be utilised.
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29. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
On 18 April 2016 the Group acquired Pegasus Public Relations Limited, a healthcare communications company based in the UK. The Group  
did not complete any acquisitions in the prior year. The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired in the year ended 30 September 2016 
(excluding net cash acquired), determined on a provisional basis, were as follows:

2016 
Total 

€’000

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 515
Intangible assets – other intangible assets 9,241

Total non-current assets 9,756

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 5,479

Total current assets 5,479

Non-current liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities (1,571)

Total non-current liabilities (1,571)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (3,122)
Current income tax liabilities (476)

Total current liabilities (3,598)

Identifiable net assets acquired 10,066
Intangible assets – goodwill 10,235

Total consideration (enterprise value) 20,301

Satisfied by:
Cash 14,849
Net cash acquired (2,113)

Net cash outflow 12,736
Deferred contingent acquisition consideration 7,565

Total consideration 20,301

Goodwill is attributable to the future economic benefits arising from assets which are not capable of being individually identified and separately 
recognised. The significant factors giving rise to the goodwill include the value of the workforce and management teams within the businesses 
acquired and the enhancement of the competitive position of the Group in the marketplace and the strategic premium paid by UDG Healthcare plc 
to create the combined Group. The goodwill arising from acquisitions that is expected to be tax deductible is nil (2015: nil).

The intangible assets arising on the acquisitions are related to the trade names and customers relationships.

The contractual assets are not materially different from the disclosed trade and other receivables.

The total transaction related costs for completed and aborted acquisitions amounts to €1,993,000 (2015: €1,225,000). These are presented 
separately in the Group Income Statement. 

The fair value of contingent consideration recognised at the date of acquisition is calculated by discounting the expected future payment to 
present value at the acquisition date. In general, for contingent consideration to become payable, pre-defined profit thresholds must be 
exceeded. On an undiscounted basis, the future payments for which the Group may be liable in respect of acquisitions in the current year ranges 
from nil to €7,863,000 (2015: nil).
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The Group’s results for the year ended 30 September 2016 included the following amounts in respect of the businesses acquired during 2016:

2016 
Total 

€’000

Revenue 8,343

Gross profit 2,872
Selling and distribution expenses (1,427)
Other operating expenses* (566)

Operating profit 879
Net interest expense 4

Profit before tax 883
Income tax (177)

Profit after tax 706

* Other operating expenses relate to amortisation of intangible assets.

Had this acquisition been effected on 1 October 2015, the combined continuing Group would have reported total revenues of €951,420,000 and 
profit after interest and tax for the financial year of €62,077,000.

30. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The aggregate employee costs recognised in the income statements are as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Wages and salaries 408,803 392,167
Social security contributions 44,934 42,252
Pension costs – defined contribution schemes 8,105 8,140
Pension costs – defined benefit schemes (1,788) 2,453
Share-based payment expense 1,966 1,778
Redundancy payments (included in exceptional item) – 8,746

462,020 455,536

During the year the Group capitalised employee costs amounting to €1,693,000 (2015: €6,777,000), relating to intangible assets – computer 
software.

The employee benefit expense is analysed as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Continuing operations 443,680 412,957
Discontinued operations 18,340 42,579

462,020 455,536

The average number of employees, including executive directors, during the year was as follows:

2016 
Number

2015 
Number

Marketing, distribution and selling 6,179 6,021 
Operational 1,225 1,171 
Administration 95 120 

7,499 7,312
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30. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CONTINUED
The average number of employees during the year is analysed as follows:

2016 
Number

2015 
Number

Continuing operations 6,990 6,399
Discontinued operations 509 913

7,499 7,312

A further 1,224 (2015: 1,170) personnel are employed in the Group’s joint ventures.

(i) Defined contribution schemes
The Group makes contributions to a number of defined contribution schemes, the assets of which are vested in independent trustees for the 
benefit of members and their dependants.

(ii) Defined benefit schemes
The following amounts were recognised on the balance sheet of the Group in respect of employee benefit schemes as at 30 September:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Employee benefit asset 12,489 13,067
Employee benefit liability (18,315) (18,303)
Liability held for sale – (3,264)

(5,826) (8,500)

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes as at 30 September as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

United States defined benefit scheme (US scheme) 12,489 13,067
Republic of Ireland defined benefit schemes (ROI scheme) (18,315) (18,303)
Northern Ireland defined benefit scheme (NI scheme)* – (3,264)

Net liability (5,826) (8,500)

* This scheme relates to United Drug Sangers which was disposed of on 1 April 2016.

On 1 April 2016 the Group completed the disposal of United Drug Supply Chain Services, United Drug Sangers, TCP Group and MASTA. Under 
the terms of the proposed disposal, the Group will retain responsibility for the funding requirements in respect of the ROI scheme. During the 
year, the Group announced that the pension accrual under the ROI scheme would cease on 31 December 2015.

On completion of the disposal the future funding obligations of the NI scheme ceased to be the responsibility of the Group. 

Each of the defined benefit schemes operated by the Group are funded by the payment of contributions to separately administered trust funds.  
The contributions to the schemes are determined with the advice of independent qualified actuaries obtained at regular intervals using the projected 
unit method of funding. Each defined benefit scheme is independently funded and the assets are vested in the independent trustees for the benefit 
of members and their dependants. The valuations are not available for public inspection but the results are advised to members of the schemes.  
The most recent full actuarial valuations for the principal schemes were conducted as at 31 December 2014 for the ROI schemes and 1 January 2016 
for the US scheme. Assumed medical costs are not a component of the pension obligations of any of the Group’s pension obligations. 
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The principal long-term financial assumptions used by the Group’s actuaries in the computation of the defined benefit liabilities arising on 
pension schemes as at 30 September are as follows:

ROI schemes US scheme NI scheme*

2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014 2016 2015 2014

Increase in salaries n/a 2.75% 2.75% 2.75–4.00% 2.75–4.00% 2.75–4.00% n/a 0.00% 0.00%
Increase in pensions 0–1.75% 0–1.75% 0–1.75% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% n/a 1.80–3.30% 1.90–3.30%
Inflation rate 1.50% 1.75% 1.75% 2.75% 2.75% 2.75% n/a 2.50% 2.50%
Discount rate 1.25% 2.70% 3.00% 3.30% 4.00% 3.90% n/a 4.00% 4.00%

* This scheme relates to United Drug Sangers which was disposed of on 1 April 2016.

The US scheme has an actuarial gain in the year arising from a higher than expected return on assets. In the Republic of Ireland scheme, there is 
no longer a salary increase assumption due to the accrual of pension benefit ceasing from 1 December 2015. 

All schemes used certain mortality rate assumptions when calculating scheme obligations. These are based on advice from published statistics 
and experience in each geographic region. This assumption will continue to be monitored in the light of general trends in mortality experience. 
The average life expectancy of a pensioner at age 65, in years, is as follows: 

ROI schemes US scheme NI scheme*

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Current pensioners
Male 21.2 21.1 21.4 21.4 n/a 22.2
Female 23.7 23.6 25.1 25.1 n/a 24.3

Future pensioners
Male 23.7 23.6 21.9 21.8 n/a 24.1
Female 25.8 25.7 25.8 25.7 n/a 26.2

* This scheme relates to United Drug Sangers which was disposed of on 1 April 2016.

The market value of the assets in the pension schemes at 30 September 2016 were:

%

ROI 
2016 

€’000 %

US 
2016 

€’000

Equities
– Developed markets 49 17,530 45 12,277
– Emerging markets – – 8 2,050
Bonds
– Government 20 7,105 30 8,269
– Non-government 3 1,007 17 4,591
Property 3 903 – –
Cash 25 8,807 – 54

Fair value of scheme assets 100 35,352 100 27,241
Present value of scheme obligations (53,667) (14,752)

Employee benefits (liability)/asset (18,315) 12,489
Deferred income tax asset/(liability) 980 (4,696)

Net (liability)/asset (17,335) 7,793
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30. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CONTINUED
The market value of the assets in the pension schemes at 30 September 2015 were:

%

ROI 
2015 

€’000 %

US 
2015 

€’000 %

NI 
2015 

€’000 %

Total 
2015 

€’000

Equities
– Developed markets 56 21,583 44 11,234 37 8,190 47 41,007
– Emerging markets – – 8 1,890 6 1,356 4 3,246
Bonds
– Government 17 6,443 31 7,815 33 7,419 26 21,677
– Non-government 2 938 17 4,377 16 3,508 10 8,823
Property 3 1,145 – – 8 1,835 3 2,980
Cash 22 8,588 – 57 – 125 10 8,770

Fair value of scheme assets 100 38,697 100 25,373 100 22,433 100 86,503
Present value of scheme obligations (57,000) (12,306) (25,697) (95,003)

Employee benefits (liability)/asset (18,303) 13,067 (3,264) (8,500)
Deferred income tax asset/(liability) 2,288 (4,913) 653 (1,972)

Net (liability)/asset (16,015) 8,154 (2,611) (10,472)

MOVEMENTS IN FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

ROI 
2016 

€’000

US 
2016 

€’000

NI* 
2016 

€’000

Total 
2016 

€’000

ROI 
2015 

€’000

US 
2015 

€’000

NI 
2015 

€’000

Total 
2015

€’000

At beginning of year 38,697 25,373 22,433 86,503 37,638 22,911 20,361 80,910
Interest income on plan assets 973 829 445 2,247 1,124 779 861 2,764
Employer contributions 5,934 – 253 6,187 2,049 – 509 2,558
Employee contributions 21 – 63 84 86 – 127 213
Benefit payments (882) (529) (506) (1,917) (2,448) (186) (586) (3,220)
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 1,227 1,481 1,112 3,820 248 (987) 4 (735)
Settlements (10,618) – – (10,618) – – – –
Disposed – – (22,220) (22,220) – – – –
Translation adjustment – 87 (1,580) (1,493) – 2,856 1,157 4,013

At end of year 35,352 27,241 – 62,593 38,697 25,373 22,433 86,503

* This scheme relates to United Drug Sangers which was disposed of on 1 April 2016.

        
MOVEMENTS IN PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

ROI 
2016 

€’000

US 
2016 

€’000

NI* 
2016 

€’000

Total 
2016 

€’000

ROI 
2015 

€’000

US 
2015 

€’000

NI 
2015 

€’000

Total 
2015

€’000

At beginning of year 57,000 12,306 25,697 95,003 54,166 9,358 23,613 87,137
Current service costs 121 1,968 114 2,203 448 1,771 234 2,453
Interest on scheme obligations 1,338 475 503 2,316 1,588 388 987 2,963
Employee contributions 21 – 63 84 85 – 127 212
Benefit payments (882) (529) (506) (1,917) (2,448) (186) (586) (3,220)
Remeasurement (gain)/loss (1,834) 319 (608) (2,123) (344) 206 (3) (141)
Effect of changes in actuarial assumptions 12,512 179 663 13,354 3,505 (456) (19) 3,030
Settlements (14,281) – – (14,281) – – – –
Curtailment gain (328) – – (328) – – – –
Disposed – – (24,187) (24,187) – – – –
Translation adjustment – 34 (1,739) (1,705) – 1,225 1,344 2,569

At end of year 53,667 14,752 – 68,419 57,000 12,306 25,697 95,003

* All liabilities and information associated with the NI Scheme is attributable to United Drug Sangers which was disposed of on 1 April 2016.
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The remeasurement loss on the plan assets and present value of the defined benefit obligation is as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Return on plan assets excluding interest income 3,820 (735)
Remeasurement loss on experience variations 2,123 141
Effect of changes in acturial assumptions:
– Changes in demographic assumptions – (72)
– Changes in financial assumptions (13,354) (2,958)

Total included in Group statement of comprehensive income (7,411) (3,624)

HISTORICAL INFORMATION

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

2014 
€’000

2013 
€’000

2012 
€’000

Fair value of scheme assets 62,593 86,503 80,910 67,341 62,013

Present value of scheme obligations 68,419 95,003 87,137 72,039 70,445

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION EXPENSE RECOGNISED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT

ROI 
2016 

€’000

US 
2016 

€’000

NI* 
2016 

€’000

Total 
2016 

€’000

Current service costs (121) (1,968) (114) (2,203)
Settlements 3,663 – – 3,663
Curtailment gain 328 – – 328
Interest cost on scheme obligations (1,338) (475) (503) (2,316)
Interest income on scheme assets 973 829 445 2,247

3,505 (1,614) (172) 1,719

* This scheme relates to United Drug Sangers which was disposed of on 1 April 2016.

Accrual of pension benefits within the ROI schemes ceased within effect from 31 December 2015.
 
During the current year, a general offer was made to the current members of the ROI schemes to transfer their accrued benefits from the 
schemes in exchange for a fixed monetary amount. Acceptance of the offer was at the discretion of individual members and resulted in a 
settlement gain of €3,663,000. Related professional fees amounted to €238,000, resulting in a net income statement gain of €3,425,000. 
€2,404,000 of this gain related to discontinued operations.

The employee benefit credit/(expense) is analysed as:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Continuing operations (750) (2,292)
Discontinued operations 2,469 (360)

Total 1,719 (2,652)

ROI 
2015 

€’000

US 
2015 

€’000

NI 
2015 

€’000

Total 
2015 

€’000

Current service costs (448) (1,771) (234) (2,453)
Interest cost on scheme obligations (1,588) (388) (987) (2,963)
Interest on scheme assets 1,124 779 861 2,764

(912) (1,380) (360) (2,652)

The tax effect relating to these items is disclosed in note 28.

The cumulative remeasurement loss recognised in other comprehensive income is €34,377,000 (2015: €26,966,000). The expected employer’s 
contribution for the year ended 30 September 2017 is €1,518,000. 
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30. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CONTINUED
SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR PRINCIPAL ASSUMPTIONS USED TO MEASURE SCHEME LIABILITIES
There are inherent uncertainties surrounding the financial assumptions adopted in calculating the actuarial valuation of the Group’s defined 
benefit pension schemes. The following table analyses, for the Group’s pension schemes, the estimated impact on plan obligations resulting from 
changes to key actuarial assumptions, whilst holding all other assumptions constant. 

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on ROI plan liabilities Impact on US plan assets

Discount rate Increase/decrease by 0.25% ≈/Ω by 5.4% ≈/Ω by 2.2%
Price inflation Increase/decrease by 0.25% Ω/≈ by 3.2% Ω/≈ by 0.0%
Mortality Increase by one year Ω by 4.0% Ω by 0.3%

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Executive Share Option Plan/Executive Share Option Scheme expense 355 388
Long Term Incentive Plan expense 1,602 1,387
Ashfield In2Focus share scheme expense 9 3

1,966 1,778

€956,000 (2015: €945,000) of the total share-based payment expense recognised in the income statement relates to the directors.

EXECUTIVE SHARE OPTION PLAN/EXECUTIVE SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company’s Executive Share Option Plan (ESOP) was established during 2010. Under the ESOP share options may be granted to 
management which may entitle them to purchase shares in the Company so as to provide an incentive to perform strongly over an extended 
period and to encourage alignment of their interests with those of shareholders. Share options granted under the ESOP are exercisable  
for a period of four years from the third anniversary of the grant date, if adjusted diluted EPS growth is not less than the movement in the  
Irish Consumer Price Index, plus 3% compounded, over the performance period. There were no share options granted under the ESOP  
in the current year (2015: 310,671). In accordance with the terms of the ESOP, share options granted are exercisable at the market price  
of the underlying share on the last dealing day preceding the date of grant.

The terms of the former Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS) are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 61 to 78.
The measurement requirements of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment have been implemented in respect of share options that were granted after 
7 November 2002. 

A summary of the details in respect of share options granted under the ESOP during the prior year is set out below.

2015

Grant date 28 September 2015
Fair value at grant date €1.74
Share price at grant date €6.94
Exercise price €6.94
Expected volatility 23.26%
Expected life 4.5 years
Risk-free interest rate 1.873%
Valuation model Black Scholes
Performance period 3 years
Vesting period 3 years
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The number and weighted average exercise price of outstanding share options under the ESOP/ESOS are as follows:

Weighted 
average
exercise

price
2016 

€

Number of
share options

2016 
‘000

Weighted 
average
exercise

price
2015 

€

Number of
share options

2015 
‘000

Outstanding at beginning of year 4.15 3,880 3.24 6,732
Forfeited during the year 4.23 (555) 3.72 (378)
Exercised during the year 3.30 (1,197) 2.34 (2,178)
Lapsed during the year 3.64 (532) 3.48 (607)
Granted during the year – – 6.94 311

Outstanding at end of year 4.50 1,596 4.15 3,880

Exercisable at end of year 2.75 445 2.24 724

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of share options during the year was €7.31 (2015: €5.27). The weighted average 
remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 30 September 2016 was 4.57 years (2015: 4.00 years).

At 30 September 2016, the range of exercise prices of outstanding share options was from €2.09 to €6.94 (2015: €2.09 to €6.94).

ANALYSIS OF ESOP/ESOS SHARE OPTIONS OUTSTANDING AT YEAR END
Share option by exercise price:

Exercise
price 

£

Number of 
options 

2016 
‘000

Number of 
options 

2015 
‘000

5.13 311 311
2.68 31 243
3.73 840 1,210

Total – Sterling denominated 1,182 1,764

Exercise
price 

€

Number of 
options 

2016 
‘000

Number of 
options 

2015 
‘000

2.09 284 634
3.32 – 495
4.06 130 987

Total – Euro denominated 414 2,116

Total options outstanding 1,596 3,880
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30. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CONTINUED
LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN
The Company’s Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was established during 2010. The terms of share options granted under the LTIP during the year 
are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 61 to 78. During the year 858,432 (2015: 628,532) share options were granted under 
the LTIP. In accordance with the terms of the LTIP, share options awarded are exercisable at the nominal value of the underlying share as at the 
date of grant.

A summary of the details in respect of share options granted under the LTIP in 2016 and 2015 is set out below.

2016 
Market

based
awards

2016 
Non-market

based
awards

2016 
Market

based
awards

2016 
Non-market

based
awards

2016 
Market

based
awards

2016 
Non-market

based
awards

2016 
Market

based
awards

Grant date
31 May 

2016
31 May 

2016
31 May 

2016
5 February 

2016
5 February 

2016
3 December 

2015
3 December 

2015
Fair value at grant date €5.36 €7.65 €5.87 €6.62 €4.09 €7.62 €4.79
Share price at grant date €7.70 €7.70 €7.70 €6.66 €6.66 €7.67 €7.67
Exercise price €0.05 €0.05 €0.05 €0.05 €0.05 €0.05 €0.05
Expected volatility 25.54% 25.54% 25.54% 28.86% 28.86% 27.88% 27.88%
Expected Life 5 years 5 years 5 years 6 years 6 years 6 years 6 years
Risk-free interest rate 0.897% 0.897% 0.897% 0.980% 0.980% 1.472% 1.472%

Valuation model
Monte Carlo

Simulation
Monte Carlo

Simulation
Monte Carlo

Simulation Black Sholes
Monte Carlo

Simulation Black Sholes
Monte Carlo

Simulation
Performance period 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years
Vesting period 3 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years 5 years

2015 
Non-market

based
awards

2015 
Market

based
awards

Grant date
17 December

2014 
17 December

2014
Fair value at grant date €4.71 €2.60
Share price at grant date €4.80 €4.80
Exercise price €0.05 €0.05
Expected volatility 21.66% 21.66%
Expected Life 5 years 5 years
Risk-free interest rate 0.130% 0.130%

Valuation model Black Scholes
Monte Carlo

Simulation 
Performance period 3 years 3 years
Vesting period 5 years 5 years

The number and weighted average exercise price of outstanding share options under the LTIP are as follows:

Weighted 
average
exercise

price
2016

€

Number of
share options

2016
‘000

Weighted 
average
exercise

price
2015

€

Number of
share options

2015 
‘000

Outstanding at beginning of year 0.05 1,958 0.05 1,962
Forfeited during the year 0.05 (49) 0.05 –
Exercised during the year 0.05 (688) 0.05 (549)
Lapsed during the year 0.05 – 0.05 (84)
Granted during the year 0.05 858 0.05 629

Outstanding at end of year 0.05 2,079 0.05 1,958

Exercisable at end of year 0.05 116 0.05 298

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 30 September 2016 was 5.39 years (2015: 6.07 years).

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of share options during the year was €7.23.
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ASHFIELD HEALTHCARE UK SHARE SCHEME
Details of the Ashfield Healthcare UK share scheme are set out in note 21 and the number of outstanding shares under the scheme are as follows:

Number of 
shares

2016
‘000

Number of 
shares

2015
‘000

At beginning of year 6 6
Released during year (6) –

At end of year – 6

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK
Fair values versus carrying amounts
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet are as follows:

30 September 2016

Cash flow 
hedges 
€’000

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss 
€’000

Receivables 
€’000

Liabilities at 
amortised 

cost 
€’000

Total 
carrying 

value 
€’000

Fair value 
€’000

Trade and other receivables (note 17) – – 209,472 – 209,472 209,472
Derivative financial assets 15,636 3,560 – – 19,196 19,196
Cash and cash equivalents – – 384,131 – 384,131 384,131

15,636 3,560 593,603 – 612,799 612,799

Trade and other payables (note 25) – – – 183,190 183,190 183,190
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (note 24) – – – 274,906 274,906 277,983
Finance lease liabilities (note 24) – – – 150 150 150
Deferred contingent consideration (note 26) – 13,815 – – 13,815 13,815

– 13,815 – 458,246 472,061 475,138

30 September 2015

Cash flow 
hedges 
€’000

Fair value 
through 

profit or loss 
€’000

Receivables 
€’000

Liabilities at 
amortised 

cost 
€’000

Total 
carrying 

value 
€’000

Fair value 
€’000

Trade and other receivables (note 17) – – 205,248 – 205,248 205,248
Derivative financial assets 20,396 6,402 – – 26,798 26,798
Cash and cash equivalents – – 214,078 – 214,078 214,078

20,396 6,402 419,326 – 446,124 446,124 

Trade and other payables (note 25) – – – 191,758 191,758 191,758
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (note 24) – – – 436,429 436,429 440,237
Finance lease liabilities (note 24) – – – 222 222 222
Deferred contingent consideration (note 26) – 22,029 – – 22,029 22,029

– 22,029 – 628,409 650,438 654,246

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value disclosed in the above tables have been determined using the 
methods and assumptions set out below. 

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES
For receivables and payables, the carrying value less impairment provision is deemed to reflect fair value, where appropriate.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
For cash and cash equivalents, the nominal amount is deemed to reflect fair value. 

INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (EXCLUDING FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES)
The fair value of interest-bearing loans and borrowings is based on the fair value of the expected future principal and interest cash flows 
discounted at interest rates effective at the balance sheet date and adjusted for movements in credit spreads.

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES
For finance lease liabilities, fair value is the present value of future cash flows discounted at current market rates.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK CONTINUED
VALUATION TECHNIQUES AND SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS
Fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value
The Group has adopted the following fair value hierarchy in relation to its financial instruments that are carried in the balance sheet at the fair 
values at the year end:
• Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 – inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (as prices) or 

indirectly (derived from prices); and
• Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The following table sets out the fair value of all financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value:

Fair value measurement as at 30 September 2016

Level 1 
€’000

Level 2 
€’000

Level 3 
€’000

Total 
€’000

Assets measured at fair value
Designated as hedging instruments
Cross currency interest rate swaps – 19,196 – 19,196

– 19,196 – 19,196

Liabilities measured at fair value
At fair value through profit or loss
Deferred contingent consideration – – 13,815 13,815

– – 13,815 13,815

Fair value measurement as at 30 September 2015

Level 1 
€’000

Level 2 
€’000

Level 3 
€’000

Total 
€’000

Assets measured at fair value
Designated as hedging instruments
Cross currency interest rate swaps – 26,948 – 26,948
Interest rate swaps – (150) – (150)

– 26,798 – 26,798

Liabilities measured at fair value
At fair value through profit or loss
Deferred contingent consideration – – 22,029 22,029

– – 22,029 22,029

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivative financial assets
2016

€’000
2015

€’000

Current 7,382 4,750
Non-current 11,814 22,048

19,196 26,798

Derivative financial liabilities

Non-current – –

– –

Net derivative financial asset 19,196 26,798
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Summary of derivatives:

Amount of 
financial

assets/liabilities
as presented in

the balance sheet
€’000

Related 
amounts 

not offset
in the 

balance sheet
€’000

2016
Net

€’000

Amount of 
financial

assets/liabilities
as presented in

the balance sheet
€’000

Related 
amounts 

not offset
in the 

balance sheet
€’000

2015
Net

€’000

Derivative financial assets 19,196 – 19,196 26,798 – 26,798 
Derivative financial liabilities – – – – – –

All derivatives entered into by the Group are included in Level 2 and consist of interest rate swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps. The fair 
values of cross currency interest rate swaps and interest rate swaps are calculated at the present value of the estimated future cash flows based 
on the terms and maturity of each contract using forward currency rates and market interest rates as applicable for a similar instrument at the 
measurement date. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Group 
entity and counterparty where appropriate.

The fair value of interest rate swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to 
terminate the swap at the balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates.

The swaps are a mixture of fixed to fixed and fixed to floating rate swaps. The Group classifies the fixed to floating swaps as fair value hedges  
and has stated them at their fair value with a corresponding opposite adjustment to the underlying debt for the risk being hedged. Both of these 
adjustments are recorded within the income statement and to the extent they do not offset, this represents the ineffective portion of the fair value 
hedge. The fair value of these swaps at 30 September 2016 was a net asset of €3,561,000 (2015: net asset of €6,402,000).

The fixed to fixed rate cross currency interest rate swaps are classified as cash flow hedges and are stated at their fair value. The fair value of 
these swaps at 30 September 2016 was a net asset of €15,636,000 (2015: net liability of €20,396,000), and the effective portion of this 
adjustment was accounted for in the cash flow hedge reserve. 

The interest element of the cash flow hedges will be recognised in the income statement in the periods to 30 September 2025, as the associated 
interest on the hedged debt is recognised.

DEFERRED CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION
Deferred contingent consideration is included in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Details of the movement in the year are included in note 26. 
The fair value is determined considering the expected payment, discounted to present value using a risk adjusted discount rate. The expected 
payment is determined separately in respect of each individual earnout agreement taking into consideration the expected level of profitability  
of each acquisition. The provision for deferred contingent consideration is in respect of acquisitions completed during 2012, 2014 and 2016.

The significant unobservable inputs are:
• forecasted average annual net revenue growth rate 6% (2015: 9%);
• forecast average EBIT growth rate 10% (2015: 2%); and
•  risk adjusted discount rate 6.5 – 8.2% (2015: 6.5%).

INTER-RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SIGNIFICANT UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The estimated fair value would increase/(decrease) if:
•  the annual net revenue growth rate was higher/(lower);
•  the EBIT growth rate was higher/(lower); and
•  the risk adjusted discount rate was lower/(higher).

For the fair value of deferred contingent consideration, a reasonably possible change to one of the significant unobservable inputs at 
30 September 2016, holding the other inputs constant, would have the following effects: 

Increase 
€’000

Decrease 
€’000

Effect of change in assumption on income statement:
Annual EBIT growth rate (1% movement) – –
Annual net revenue growth rate (1% movement) – –
Risk-adjusted discount rate (1% movement) 97 (101)
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK CONTINUED
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Board consider capital to consist of equity (share capital, share premium and retained earnings) and long-term debt. The Board’s policy is to 
maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain the ongoing development of the Group. The 
directors periodically review the capital structure of the Group, considering the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. 
The Board monitor the return on equity generated by the Group and the level of dividends paid to shareholders. There were no changes to the 
Board’s approach to capital management during the year. 

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Capital and reserves attributable to the equity holders of the Company 722,953 608,774
Net debt – 195,775

Capital and net debt 722,953 804,549

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s multinational operations expose it to different financial risks that include foreign exchange rate risks, credit risks, liquidity risks and 
interest rate risks. The Group has a risk management programme in place which seeks to limit the impact of these risks on the financial performance 
of the Group. The Board has determined the policies for managing these risks as set out below.

CREDIT RISK
The Group has detailed procedures for monitoring and managing the credit risk related to its trade receivables based on experience, customer’s 
track record and historic default rates. Individual credit limits are generally set by customer and credit is only extended above such limits in 
defined circumstances. 

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents the best estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other receivables 
(note 17). Where the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible, the amount is considered irrecoverable and is written 
off directly against the receivable. 

At the balance sheet date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of each financial asset.

INTEREST RATE RISK
The majority of the Group’s ongoing operations are financed from a mixture of cash generated from operations and borrowings. Other than the 
US Dollar private placement borrowings which are secured at fixed interest rates, borrowings are initially secured at floating interest rates and 
interest rate risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements are used to manage interest rate risk when 
considered appropriate having regard to the interest rate environment.

A reduction of one hundred basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased profit before tax by the amounts shown 
below assuming all other variables including foreign currency rates remain constant. An increase of one hundred basis points on the same basis 
would reduce profit before tax by €316,000 (2015: €1,807,000).

Effect of reduction of one hundred basis points:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Profit before tax 396 459
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CURRENCY RISK
Structural currency risk
A significant element of the Group’s operations are carried out in the UK and the US and as a result the Group is exposed to structural currency 
fluctuations in respect of Sterling and the US Dollar. Where practical, the Group finances investments through borrowings denominated in the 
same currency in which the related cash flows will be generated. To the extent that the non-Euro denominated assets and liabilities of the Group 
do not offset, the Group is exposed to structural currency risk. Such movements are reported through the Group statement of other 
comprehensive income.

Sterling and US Dollar denominated profits are translated into Euro at the average rate of exchange for the financial year. The average rate  
at which Sterling profits were translated during the year was Stg£0.7826 = €1 (2015: Stg£0.7428 = €1) and Dollar profits were translated at 
US$1.1109 = €1 (2015: US$1.1482 = €1). 

The Group is also subject to translational currency risk on the translation of profits earned in the UK and the US.

Transactional currency risk
The Euro is the principal currency of the Group’s Irish and Continental European businesses, Sterling is the principal currency for the Group’s  
UK businesses and the US Dollar is the principal currency for the Group’s US businesses. The Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an 
acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot and forward rates where necessary. Details of the Group’s transactional foreign 
currency risk at 30 September 2016 and 2015 arising from foreign currency transactions are set out in the table below.

Euro 
2016 

€’000

Sterling 
2016 

€’000

USD 
2016 

€’000

CHF 
2016 

€’000

Total 
2016 

€’000

Cash and cash equivalents 1,505 139 2,252 53 3,949
Trade receivables 6,489 204 6,838 8 13,539
Trade and other payables (2,984) (984) (3,117) (111) (7,196)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings – – – – –
Derivative financial liabilities – – – – –

5,010 (641) 5,973 (50) 10,292

Euro 
2015 

€’000

Sterling 
2015 

€’000

USD 
2015 

€’000

CHF 
2015 

€’000

Total 
2015 

€’000

Cash and cash equivalents 3,897 2,012 3,607 65 9,581
Trade receivables 7,774 373 4,771 – 12,918
Trade and other payables (2,614) (1,702) (1,626) (202) (6,144)
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings – – (141,480) – (141,480)
Derivative financial liabilities – – (150) – (150)

9,057 683 (134,878) (137) (125,275)

The interest-bearing loans and borrowings included in the table above are designated as hedges of the Group’s net investment in foreign 
operations. Gains and losses arising on translation are taken to the foreign exchange reserve.

As set out in note 24, the Group has US$270 million (2015: US$292 million) of US Dollar denominated debt financing from the US Private 
Placement Market. The US Dollar proceeds were swapped into Euro and the fixed interest rates applicable to the debt were swapped into  
a mixture of fixed and floating rate debt. 

Sensitivity analysis on transactional currency risk
For the purposes of performing sensitivity analysis on transactional currency risk, financial assets and liabilities outstanding at the balance sheet 
date denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of individual entities, have been aggregated by currency and the impact of a 
5% strengthening of the Euro against the relevant currency calculated. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, 
remain constant.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK CONTINUED
CURRENCY RISK CONTINUED
Sensitivity analysis on transactional currency risk continued
US Dollar: 
Based on the value of US Dollar denominated financial assets and liabilities held by individual entities with a functional currency other than the 
US Dollar, a 5% strengthening of the Euro against the US Dollar at 30 September 2016 and 30 September 2015 would have increased/(reduced) 
equity and profit after tax by the amounts shown below:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Equity – 6,744 
Profit after tax (245) (264) 

Sterling:
Based on the value of Sterling denominated financial assets and liabilities held by individual entities with a functional currency other than Sterling, 
a 5% strengthening of the Euro against Sterling at 30 September 2016 and 30 September 2015 would not have had a material effect on equity or 
profit after tax of the Group.

FUNDING AND LIQUIDITY
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group uses a combination of long and 
short term debt and cash and cash equivalents to meet its liabilities as they fall due. This is in addition to the Group’s strong cash flow generation. 
The Group believes it has sufficient cash resources and bank debt facilities at its disposal, which provides flexibility in financing existing operations, 
acquisitions and other developments.

The following are the undiscounted contractual maturities of financial instruments, including interest payments and excluding the impact of 
netting arrangements:

30 September 2016

Carrying 
amount 

€’000

Contractual 
cash flow 

€’000

6 months 
or less 
€’000

6–12 
months 

€’000

Between 
1–2 years 

€’000

Between 
2–5 years 

€’000

More than 
5 years 
€’000

Non-derivative financial instruments
Other loans and borrowings (509) (508) (169) (169) (170) – –
Bank overdraft 82 85 85 – – – –
Finance leases 150 154 142 4 8 – –
Floating rate unsecured guaranteed senior notes 27,916 25,079 171 12,353 184 12,371 –
Fixed rate unsecured guaranteed senior notes 247,417 268,322 4,235 45,426 6,847 57,390 154,424
Trade and other payables 183,190 183,190 183,190 – – – –
Provisions 14,395 15,117 1,074 7,965 4,440 1,638 –
Derivative financial instruments
Cash flow hedges (15,636) (18,053) (285) (3,056) (461) (3,861) (10,390)
Fair value hedges (3,560) (3,661) (25) (1,803) (27) (1,806) –

453,445 469,725 188,418 60,720 10,821 65,732 144,034

30 September 2015

Carrying 
amount 

€’000

Contractual 
cash flow 

€’000

6 months 
or less 
€’000

6–12 
months 

€’000

Between 
1–2 years 

€’000

Between 
2–5 years 

€’000

More than 
5 years 
€’000

Non-derivative financial instruments
Other loans and borrowings 140,944 151,472 1,798 1,143 2,285 146,246 –
Finance leases 222 233 16 201 16 – –
Floating rate unsecured guaranteed senior notes 49,015 43,796 267 18,521 12,598 12,410 –
Fixed rate unsecured guaranteed senior notes 246,470 274,016 4,235 4,235 48,985 57,416 159,145
Trade and other payables 191,758 191,758 191,758 – – – –
Provisions 26,191 26,440 6,477 9,712 10,251 – –
Derivative financial instruments
Cash flow hedges (20,396) (24,687) (266) (305) (4,428) (5,262) (14,426)
Fair value hedges (6,402) (6,574) (40) (2,780) (1,891) (1,863) –

627,802 656,454 204,245 30,727 67,816 208,947 144,719
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MATURITY PROFILE OF NET DEBT
In respect of income-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities, the following table indicates their effective interest rates at 
the balance sheet date and the periods in which they mature.

30 September 2016
Effective

interest rate
Total 

€’000

Less than 
1 year 
€’000

Between 
1–2 years 

€’000

Between 
2–5 years 

€’000

More than 
5 years 
€’000

Cash at bank and short term deposits 0.06% 384,131 384,131 – – –

Other loans and borrowings 7.0% 427 257 170 – –

Finance leases 0.68% (150) (142) (8) – –

Floating rate unsecured guaranteed senior notes 1.40% (27,916) (13,557) – (14,359) –
Fixed rate unsecured guaranteed senior notes 3.79% (247,417) (44,691) – (44,794) (157,932)

Total loan notes (275,333) (58,248) – (59,153) (157,932)

Total before derivatives 109,075 325,998 162 (59,153) (157,932)
Derivatives 19,196 6,573 3,376 6,481 2,766

Net cash/(debt) 128,271 332,571 3,538 (52,672) (155,166)

30 September 2015
Effective

interest rate
Total 

€’000

Less than 
1 year 
€’000

Between 
1–2 years 

€’000

Between 
2–5 years 

€’000

More than 
5 years 
€’000

Cash at bank and short term deposits 0.32% 214,078 214,078 – – –

Other loans and borrowings 1.85% (140,944) (312) – (140,632) –

Finance leases 5.48% (222) (206) (16) – –

Floating rate unsecured guaranteed senior notes 1.34% (49,015) (20,293) (14,101) (14,621) –
Fixed rate unsecured guaranteed senior notes 3.79% (246,470) – (53,462) (35,641) (157,367)

Total loan notes (295,485) (20,293) (67,563) (50,262) (157,367)

Total before derivatives (222,573) 193,267 (67,579) (190,894) (157,367)
Derivatives 26,798 4,785 6,954 6,952 8,107

Net debt (195,775) 198,052 (60,625) (183,942) (149,260)

The effect of the derivatives included above has been to swap US Dollar denominated debt to Euro denominated debt and to partially swap fixed 
rate interest into floating rate interest.

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure authorised but not contracted for amounted to €26,582,000 (2015: €29,701,000) at the balance sheet date with respect to 
continuing operations. This primarily relates to the capacity expansion in the Group’s US packaging facility and the Group’s investment in Future 
Fit IT initiatives. 

33. RELATED PARTIES
The Group trades in the normal course of business with its joint venture undertakings. The aggregate value of these transactions is not material 
in the context of the Group’s financial results. Magir Limited, the Group’s joint venture investment, has been classified as an asset held for sale 
at 30 September 2016. The Group has provided a guarantee to Magir’s bankers for an amount of Stg£10,750,000 and a loan, gross of interest, 
of Stg£10,639,000. 

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures requires the disclosure of compensation paid to the Group’s key management personnel. Key management 
personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group. UDG Healthcare 
plc classifies directors, the Company Secretary and members of its senior executive team as key management personnel. The senior executive team 
is the body of senior executives that formulates business strategy along with the directors, follows through on implementation of that strategy and 
directs and controls the activities of the Group on a day to day basis. 
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33. RELATED PARTIES CONTINUED
In addition to the executive directors, the following individuals were members of the executive team at 30 September 2016: 

Name Title

Sean Coyle Managing Director of Aquilant and Group Finance Director
Eleanor Garvey Group Head of Quality and Compliance
Eimear Kenny Group Head of Human Resources
Liam Logue Head of Corporate Development
Mike O’Hara Managing Director of Sharp 
Damien Moynagh General Counsel and Company Secretary

REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Salaries and other short term benefits 8,080 8,036
Post employment benefits 892 1,083
Share-based payment (calculated in accordance with the principles disclosed in note 30) 1,517 1,539

10,489 10,658

Details of the remuneration of the Group’s individual directors, together with the number of UDG Healthcare plc shares owned by them and their 
outstanding share options, are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

34. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
On 21 October 2016 the Group acquired STEM Marketing Limited, a leading global provider of commercial, marketing and medical audits  
to pharmaceutical companies. The acquisition consideration of Stg£84 million was comprised of an upfront payment of Stg£50 million with 
Stg£5 million payable in UDG Healthcare plc shares. A potential earn out of Stg£24 million cash with Stg£5 million in UDG Healthcare plc shares 
is payable for performance over three years. The initial cash payment was financed from the Group’s internal resources. 

Based on an initial assessment, the fair value of the net assets and liabilities acquired (excluding intangible assets) are estimated to be €6.3 million 
(Stg£5.4 million) and consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, trade and other receivables, cash, and trade and other payables. The 
initial accounting of the STEM acquisition is incomplete at the date of approval of the financial statements, therefore, the Group are unable to 
disclose goodwill and information regarding revenue and profit and loss arising on this transaction.
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Note
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Profit for the financial year 93,559 103,934
Other comprehensive (expense)/income:
Company defined benefit pension schemes:
– Remeasurement loss on defined benefit pension schemes 47 (8,235) (712)
– Deferred tax on defined benefit pension schemes 41 757 89

Other comprehensive expense for the financial year (7,478) (623)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 86,081 103,311

 

Company Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 September 2016
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for the year ended 30 September 2016

Equity 
share 

capital 
€’000

Share 
premium 

€’000

Retained 
earnings 

€’000

Other 
reserves 

€’000

Total 
equity 
€’000

At 1 October 2015 12,621 152,164 246,609 54,900 466,294

Profit for the financial year – – 93,559 – 93,559
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit pension schemes – – (8,235) – (8,235)
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension schemes – – 757 – 757

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 86,081 – 86,081
Transactions with shareholders:
New shares issued 94 3,920 – – 4,014
Share-based payment expense – – – 1,957 1,957
Dividends paid to equity holders – – (27,386) – (27,386)
Release from share-based payment reserve – – 2,734 (2,734) –

At 30 September 2016 12,715 156,084 308,038 54,123 530,960

for the year ended 30 September 2015
Equity 
share 

capital 
€’000

Share 
premium 

€’000

Retained 
earnings 

€’000

Other 
reserves 

€’000

Total 
equity 
€’000

At 1 October 2014 12,485 147,176 165,462 56,107 381,230

Profit for the financial year – – 103,934 – 103,934
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit pension schemes – – (712) – (712)
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension schemes – – 89 – 89

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 103,311 – 103,311
Transactions with shareholders:
New shares issued 136 4,988 – – 5,124
Share-based payment expense – – – 1,775 1,775
Dividends paid to equity holders – – (25,146) – (25,146)
Release from share-based payment reserve – – 2,982 (2,982) –

At 30 September 2015 12,621 152,164 246,609 54,900 466,294
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Company Balance Sheet
as at 30 September 2016

Note
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

ASSETS
Non-current
Property, plant and equipment 38 1,084 415
Intangible assets 39 5,647 9,061
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 40 152,193 101,122
Deferred income tax assets 41 1,336 1,044

Total non-current assets 160,260 111,642

Current
Trade and other receivables 42 364,638 655,791
Cash and cash equivalents 118,066 –
Assets held for sale 37 – 42,545

Total current assets 482,704 698,336

Total assets 642,964 809,978

EQUITY
Equity share capital 18 12,715 12,621
Share premium 20 156,084 152,164
Other reserves 43 54,123 54,900
Retained earnings 43 308,038 246,609

Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the parent 530,960 466,294

LIABILITIES
Non-current
Employee benefits 47 18,315 6,766

Total non-current liabilities 18,315 6,766

Current
Trade and other payables 45 93,087 336,142
Current income tax liabilities 602 776

Total current liabilities 93,689 336,918

Total liabilities 112,004 343,684

Total equity and liabilities 642,964 809,978

On behalf of the Board

P. Gray  B. McAtamney
Director  Director 
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Note
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 93,062 105,618
Impairment of investment in subsidiary undertakings 40 1,270 2,896
Finance income (4) (46)
Finance expense 1,791 9,105
Exceptional items 35 – (43,372)
Transfer of defined benefit pension obligations (7,921) –

Operating profit (pre-exceptional items) 88,198 74,201
Depreciation charge 38 373 617
Amortisation charge 39 1,277 1,936
Impairment of intangible assets 718 –
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 197
Loss on disposal of intangible assets – computer software – 30
Share-based payment expense 47 – 1,119
Decrease in inventories – 2,216
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 291,153 (87,284)
Decrease in trade payables, provisions and other payables (231,291) (14,945)
Exceptional items paid – (1,793)
Profit on disposal of investments 36 (21,654) –
Interest paid (946) (8,663)
Income taxes received/(paid) 214 (772)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 128,042 (33,141)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 4 46
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 38 (1,042) (1,326)
Investment in intangible assets – computer software 39 (260) (17,545)
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 40 (18,179) (11,250)
Proceeds on transfer of business 37 – 67,817
Disposal of investment in subsidiary undertakings 36 32,873 –

Net cash inflow from investing activities 13,396 37,742

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares (including share premium thereon) 4,014 5,124
Proceeds from interest-bearing loans and borrowings – 10,000
Repayment of interest-bearing loans and borrowings – (10,000)
Dividends paid to equity holders of the Company (27,386) (25,146)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (23,372) (20,022)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 118,066 (15,421)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year – 15,421

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 118,066 –

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of:
Cash at bank and short term deposits 118,066 –

118,066 –
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Notes forming part of the Company Financial Statements

35. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Profit on transfer of certain business related assets and liabilities – (44,700)
Onerous leases – 1,238
Restructuring costs and other – 90

– (43,372)

On 31 July 2015, the Company transferred certain business related assets and liabilities to a subsidiary, UDG Healthcare Ireland Limited, giving 
rise to a profit on disposal of €44,700,000, see note 37 for further information.

Onerous lease costs were incurred the prior year in relation to a portfolio of leased properties that are no longer in use.

Restructuring costs and other for the prior year primarily related to redundancy costs.

36. PROFIT ON DISPOSAL
On 18 September 2015, the Group announced the proposed disposal of United Drug Supply Chain Services, United Drug Sangers, TCP Group 
and MASTA. 

The disposal was approved by shareholders at an EGM on 13 October 2015 and 1 April 2016 the Group completed the disposal of these businesses. 

UDG Healthcare plc was the immediate parent of TCP Group and Pemberton Marketing International Limited (part of United Drug Supply Chain 
Services) and the below table outlines the profit on disposal during the year:

2016 
€’000

Cash consideration 32,873
Disposal of investment (7,239)
Transaction and other related costs (2,964)
Provision for taxation (1,016)

Profit on disposal 21,654

See note 9 for further details.

37. TRANSFER OF CERTAIN BUSINESS RELATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
On 31 July 2015, the Company transferred certain business related assets and liabilities to a subsidiary, UDG Healthcare Ireland Limited, giving 
rise to a profit on disposal of €44,700,000 as follows:

2015
€’000

Property, plant and equipment 717
Inventories 54,328
Trade and other receivables 81,514
Cash and cash equivalents 27,525
Trade and other payables (113,442)

Net assets 50,642
Cash consideration 95,342

Profit on disposal 44,700

Net cash inflow on disposal:  
2015

€’000

Cash consideration 95,342
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of (27,525)

67,817
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37. TRANSFER OF CERTAIN BUSINESS RELATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE CONTINUED
On 18 September 2015, the Group announced the proposed disposal of United Drug Supply Chain Services, United Drug Sangers, TCP Group 
and MASTA. The Company has included the following amounts as assets held for sale at 30 September 2015:

2015
€’000

Property, plant and equipment 5,436
Intangible assets 37,109

42,545

See note 9 for further details.

38. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Computer 
equipment 

2016 
€’000

Total 
2016 

€’000

Cost
At 1 October 2015 797 797
Additions in year 1,042 1,042

At 30 September 2016 1,839 1,839

Depreciation
At 1 October 2015 382 382
Depreciation charge for the year 373 373

At 30 September 2016 755 755

Carrying amount
At 30 September 2016 1,084 1,084

Land and 
buildings 

2015 
€’000

Plant and 
equipment 

2015 
€’000

Motor 
vehicles 

2015 
€’000

Computer 
equipment 

2015 
€’000

Total 
2015 

€’000

Cost
At 1 October 2014 3,829 6,619 881 8,075 19,404
Additions in year – 84 – 1,242 1,326
Disposal in year – (3,234) (412) (2,531) (6,177)
Disposal on transfer of business – (3,676) (469) (2,657) (6,802)
Transfer to assets held for sale (3,829) – – (3,125) (6,954)
Reclassification – 207 – (207) –

At 30 September 2015 – – – 797 797

Depreciation
At 1 October 2014 1,174 5,255 881 6,038 13,348
Depreciation charge for the year 30 102 – 485 617
Eliminated on disposal – (3,037) (412) (2,531) (5,980)
Disposal on transfer of business – (2,320) (469) (3,296) (6,085)
Transfer to assets held for sale (1,204) – – (314) (1,518)

At 30 September 2015 – – – 382 382

Carrying amount
At 30 September 2015 – – – 415 415

No borrowings are secured on the above assets.
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39. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer 
software 

€’000

Cost
At 1 October 2014 33,548
Additions 17,545
Eliminated on disposal (35)
Transfer to assets held for sale (39,285)

At 30 September 2015 11,773
Additions 260
Eliminated on disposal (1,293)
Transfer to assets held for sale (2,156)

At 30 September 2016 8,584

Amortisation
At 1 October 2014 2,957
Amortisation charge for the year 1,936
Eliminated on disposal (5)
Transfer to asset held for sale (2,176)

At 30 September 2015 2,712
Amortisation charge for the year 1,277
Eliminated on disposal (1,293)
Impairment charge 718
Transfer to assets held for sale (477)

At 30 September 2016 2,937

Carrying amount
At 30 September 2016 5,647

At 30 September 2015 9,061

The assets held for sale relate to the disposal of United Drug Supply Chain Services, United Drug Sangers, TCP Group and MASTA. See note 37 
for further details.

40. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Cost
At beginning of year 101,122 92,112
Additions in year 77,286 11,250
Disposals in year (26,902) –
Impairment (1,270) (2,896)
Share options granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings 1,957 656

At end of year 152,193 101,122

The addition to investments in subsidiary undertakings during the year of €77,286,000 was comprised of cash consideration of €18,179,000, 
€39,444,000 relating to the reversal of a previous write-down of investments and €19,663,000 relating to a share-for-share exchange.

During the year the Company recorded an impairment charge of €1,270,000 relating to a subsidiary undertaking that is no longer trading.

The disposals during the year related to the disposal of subsidiary undertakings of €7,239,000 (note 9) and a share-for-share exchange of 
€19,663,000.
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41. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

At beginning of year 1,044 1,253
Temporary differences – arising in income (465) (298)
Employee benefits – arising in other comprehensive income 757 89

At end of year 1,336 1,044

42. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Current
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 362,081 651,009
Other receivables 1,425 2,133
Prepayments and accrued income 1,132 2,649

364,638 655,791

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the prior year was as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

At beginning of the year – 694
Impairment loss recognised during the year – 100
Transfer of business undertaking – (794)

At end of year – –

43. CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Other 
reserves 

€’000

Retained 
earnings 

€’000

At 30 September 2014 56,107 165,462
Profit for the financial year – 103,934
Release from share-based payment reserve (2,982) 2,982
Dividends paid to equity holders – (25,146)
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit pension scheme – (712)
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension scheme – 89
Share-based payment expense 1,775 –

At 30 September 2015 54,900 246,609
Profit for the financial year – 93,559
Release from share-based payment reserve (2,734) 2,734
Dividends paid to equity holders – (27,386)
Remeasurement loss on defined benefit pension scheme – (8,235)
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension scheme – 757
Share-based payment expense 1,957 –

At 30 September 2016 54,123 308,038
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Other reserves represents a share-based payment reserve of €4,040,000 (2015: €4,817,000), a treasury shares reserve of (€5,742,000) (2015: 
(€5,742,000)), a goodwill reserve of (€93,000) (2015: (€93,000)), a non-distributable reserve of €55,668,000 (2015: €55,668,000) and a 
capital redemption reserve of €250,000 (2015: €250,000).

The Company’s non-distributable reserve consists of €16,762,000 (2015: €16,762,000) transferred from the share premium account against 
which goodwill, arising from acquisitions in financial periods prior to 1 October 1999, is offset on consolidation and a transfer from the income 
statement of €38,906,000 (2015: €38,906,000) arising on the restructuring of Group activities.

Details of equity share capital are set out in note 18. 

44. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Details of how the Company manages risk exposures and accounts for financial instruments are set out in note 31.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT 
The majority of trade conducted by the Company is in Euro. Therefore, the level of transactional foreign exchange exposure is not material to  
the Company.

FUNDING AND LIQUIDITY
The following are the undiscounted contractual maturities of financial instruments, including interest payments and excluding the impact of 
netting arrangements:

30 September 2016

Carrying 
amount 

€’000

Contractual 
cash flow 

€’000

6 months 
or less 
€’000

6–12 months 
€’000

Between 
1–2 years 

€’000

Between 
2–5 years 

€’000

Trade and other payables 93,087 93,087 93,087 – – –

93,087 93,087 93,087 – – –

30 September 2015

Carrying 
amount 

€’000

Contractual 
cash flow 

€’000

6 months 
or less 
€’000

6–12 months 
€’000

Between 
1–2 years 

€’000

Between 
2–5 years 

€’000

Trade and other payables 336,142 336,142 336,142 – – –
Provisions – – – – – –

336,142 336,142 336,142 – – –

45. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Current
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 92,396 333,483
Accruals and deferred income 691 2,659

93,087 336,142



164 UDG Healthcare plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2016

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Notes forming part of the Company Financial Statements continued

46. PROVISIONS

Restructuring 
costs 
2016 

€’000

Onerous 
leases 

2016 
€’000

Total 
2016 

€’000

Total 
2015 

€’000

At beginning of year – – – 833
Charge to income statement – – – 1,328
Utilised during the year – – – (1,793)
Transfer of business undertaking – – – (368)

At end of year – – – –

47. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The aggregate employee costs recognised in the income statement are as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Wages and salaries 1,172 14,735
Social security contributions 107 1,343
Pension costs – defined contribution schemes 20 296
Pension costs – defined benefit schemes (1,266) 78
Share-based payment expense – 1,119
Redundancy payments – 79

33 17,650

The average number of employees, including executive directors, during the year was as follows:

2016 
Number

2015 
Number

Marketing, distribution and selling – 92
Administration 31 100

31 192

(I) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SCHEMES
The Company makes contributions to a number of defined contribution schemes, the assets of which are vested in independent trustees for the 
benefit of members and their dependants.

(II) DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEMES
The Company operates a number of defined benefit schemes which are funded by the payment of contributions to separately administered trust 
funds. The contributions to the schemes are determined with the advice of independent qualified actuaries obtained at regular intervals using the 
projected unit method of funding. Each defined benefit scheme is independently funded and the assets are vested in the independent trustees for 
the benefit of members and their dependants. The valuations are not available for public inspection but the results are advised to members of the 
schemes. The most recent full actuarial valuations for the principal schemes were conducted as at 31 December 2014. 

Assumed medical costs are not a component of the pension obligations of any of the Company’s pension obligations.

The valuation method used for Company defined benefit schemes is the projected credit unit method.

The principal long-term financial assumptions used by the Company’s actuaries in the computation of the defined benefit liabilities arising on 
pension schemes as at 30 September are as follows:

2016 2015 2014

Increase in salaries n/a 2.75% 2.75%
Increase in pensions 0–1.75% 0–1.75% 0–1.75%
Inflation rate 1.50% 1.75% 1.75%
Discount rate 1.25% 2.70% 3.00%
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The reduction in discount rates is reflective of changes in bond yields during the year. 

The composition of actual Company scheme assets is detailed below.

The mortality assumptions of the schemes have been discussed in detail in note 30.

The market value of the assets in the pension schemes at 30 September were:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Equities
– Developed markets 17,530 7,978
Bonds
– Government 7,105 2,382
– Non-government 1,007 347
Property 903 423
Other 8,807 3,175

Fair value of scheme assets 35,352 14,305
Present value of scheme obligations (53,667) (21,071)

Employee benefits liability (18,315) (6,766)
Deferred income tax asset 980 846

Net liability (17,335) (5,920)

MOVEMENTS IN FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

At beginning of year 14,305 14,649
Transfer of plan assets following disposal of subsidiary undertaking 20,160 –
Interest income on plan assets 665 422
Employer contributions 3,581 640
Employee contributions 8 31
Benefit payments (695) (1,870)
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 1,782 433
Settlements (4,454) –

At end of year 35,352 14,305

MOVEMENTS IN PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

At beginning of year 21,071 21,082
Transfer of defined benefit obligations following disposal of subsidiary undertaking 28,081 –
Current service costs 84 78
Interest cost on scheme obligations 903 604
Revaluation (gain)/loss on experience variations 1,262 (181)
Employee contributions 11 31
Benefit payments (694) (1,869)
Effect of changes in actuarial assumptions 8,753 1,326
Curtailment gain (328) –
Settlements (5,476) –

At end of year 53,667 21,071
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47. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS CONTINUED
MOVEMENTS IN PRESENT VALUE OF DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS CONTINUED
Reconciliation of the measurement gain to the plan assets and present value of the defined benefit obligation is as follows:

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Remeasurement gain on experience variations (1,262) 181
Return on plan assets excluding interest cost 1,782 433
Effect of changes in actuarial assumptions
– Changes in demographical assumptions – –
– Changes in financial assumptions (8,753) (1,326)

Total included in Company statement of comprehensive income (8,234) (712)

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

2014 
€’000

2013 
€’000

2012 
€’000

Fair value of scheme assets 35,352 14,305 14,649 11,577 10,218

Present value of scheme obligations 53,667 21,071 21,082 17,878 17,231

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company has related party relationships with its subsidiaries and with the directors of the Company. Details of the remuneration of the 
Company’s individual directors, together with the number of shares in the Company owned by them and their outstanding share options, are set 
out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

TRANSACTIONS WITH SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Charges to subsidiary undertakings with respect to information technology support and management services 587 25,695
Sales to subsidiary undertakings – 466,343

Details of balances outstanding with subsidiary undertakings are provided in note 42 and note 45. 

IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures requires the disclosure of compensation paid to the Company’s key management personnel. The details on key 
management personnel are outlined in note 33. 

REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

2016 
€’000

2015 
€’000

Salaries and other short term benefits – 6,253
Post-employment benefits – 698
Share-based payments (calculated in accordance with the principles disclosed in note 30) – 1,238

– 8,189

In the prior year the Company transferred a significant element of its business activities to a subsidiary, UDG Healthcare Ireland Limited. The key 
management personnel engaged in the business throughout the year were employed by UDG Healthcare Ireland Limited. 

49. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Guarantees have been given by the Company in respect of the borrowing facilities of certain subsidiary undertakings and customers.
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50. SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS
The following are the significant subsidiary undertakings of UDG Healthcare plc at 30 September 2016:

INCORPORATED AND TRADING IN THE REPUBLIC OF IRELAND

Name Nature of business Group share

Aquilant Analytical Sciences Limited* Distribution of specialist analytical chemistry equipment 100%
Aquilant Medical (ROI) Limited Distribution of medical and pharmaceutical equipment and consumables 100%
Aquilant Pharmaceuticals Limited Distribution of medical and pharmaceutical equipment and consumables 100%
Aquilant Scientific (ROI) Limited* Distribution of medical and scientific equipment and consumables 100%
Ashfield Healthcare (Ireland) Limited Contract sales outsourcing 100%

All of the above companies have their registered office at 20 Riverwalk, Citywest Business Campus, Dublin 24, NR23 D24.

All shares held are ordinary shares.

* Subsidiary undertakings owned directly by UDG Healthcare plc.

INCORPORATED AND TRADING IN THE UNITED KINGDOM

Name Nature of business Group share

Aquilant Endoscopy Limited (1) Distribution of medical equipment 100%
Aquilant Limited (1) Supply and distribution of medical devices and surgical products 100%
Aquilant Northern Ireland Limited (2) Distribution of medical equipment and consumables 100%
Aquilant Scientific (UK) Limited (1) Distribution of laboratory equipment 100%
Ashfield Healthcare Communications Limited (1) Healthcare communications and consultancy services provider 100%
Ashfield Healthcare Limited (1) Contract sales outsourcing 100%
Ashfield Insight & Performance Limited (1) Sales force effectiveness training services provider 100%
Ashfield Meetings & Events Limited (1) Event management services provider 100%
Galliard Healthcare Communications Limited (1) Specialist healthcare and scientific public relations business 100%
Ashfield Healthcare Communications Group Limited (1) Healthcare communications and consultancy services provider 100%
Mantis Surgical Limited (1) Supply and distribution of surgical products 100%
Pegasus Public Relations Limited (1) Healthcare communications business 100%
Pharmexx (UK) Limited (1) Contract sales outsourcing 100%
Pyramed Limited (1) Distribution of specialised medical equipment 100%
Sharp Clinical Services (UK) Limited (1) Clinical trials services provider 100%
UDG Healthcare (UK) Holdings Limited (1)* Investment holding company 100%
Watermeadow Medical Limited (1) Healthcare communications and consultancy services provider 100%

(1)  This company has its registered office at Ashfield House, Resolution Road, Ashby de la Zouch, Leicestershire, LE65 1HW.
(2) This company has its registered office at Maryland Industrial Estate, Ballygowan Road, Castlereagh, Belfast, BT23 6BL.

* Subsidiary undertakings owned directly by UDG Healthcare plc.
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50. SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS CONTINUED
INCORPORATED AND TRADING IN CONTINENTAL EUROPE

Name Nature of business Group share

Ashfield Healthcare GmbH (3) Contract sales outsourcing 100%
Ashfield Healthcare GmbH (4) Contract sales outsourcing 100%
Ashfield Iberia SLU (5) Contract sales outsourcing 100%
Ashfield Klinik Hizmetleri Tic.Ltd.Şti. (12) Contract sales company 100%
Ashfield Nordic AB (6) Pharmaceutical sales and marketing company 100%
Ashfield S.A (7) Pharmaceutical sales and marketing company 100%
Ashfield Saglik Hizmetleei Ticaret Limited Sirketi (8) Pharmaceutical sales and marketing company 100%
Enestia Belgium N.V. (9)* Packaging solutions provider 100%
Grupo Trebalia, S.L. (5) Contract sales company 100%
Kironfarma – Produtos Farmacéuticos Sociedade 
Unipessoal Lda (10)

Contract sales outsourcing 100%

Laboratorios Bimedipharma S.L. (5) Contract sales outsourcing 100%
Medical Expansis, S.L. (5) Contract sales company 100%
Pharma Logistics Investments B.V. (11) Packaging solutions provider 100%

(3)  This company has its registered office at Euro Plaza, Gebaude F, Technologiestrabe 5, 4. OG, 1120 Vienna, Austria.
(4)  This company has its registered office at Goldbeckstrasse 5, 69493 Hirschberg, Germany.
(5)  This company has its registered office at Calle Collado Mediano, s/n Edificio Prisma, Portal 2, 3a planta 28230 Las Rozas (Madrid) Spain.
(6)  This company has its registered office at Luntmakargatan 66, 5van, 11351 Stockholm, Sweden.
(7) This company has its registered office at Avenue Pastuer 2, 1300 Wavre, Belgium.
(8) This company has its registered office at Büyükdere Caddesi Yapı Kredi Plaza B Blok K:12/D:29 34330 Levent/İstanbul. 
(9)  This company has its registered office at Klocknerslyaat 1, 3930 Hamont-Achel, Belgium.
(10) This company has its registered office at Avenida Dom João Ii, Nº 44c – 2.3 Edificio Atlantis, Parque Das Naçoes, 1990-095 Lisboa, Portugal.
(11)  This company has its registered office at Neptunus, 8448 CN Heerenveen, the Netherlands.
(12) This company has its registered office at Tatlısu Mah.Şenol Güneş Bulvarı Mira Tower No :2 Zemin Kat D:534775 Ümraniye/İstanbul.

* Subsidiary undertakings owned directly by UDG Healthcare plc.

INCORPORATED AND TRADING IN NORTH AMERICA

Name Nature of business Group share

Ashfield Healthcare LLC (13) Pharmaceutical sales and marketing company 100%
Ashfield Healthcare Canada, Inc (14) Marketing, communications and sample and promotional material 

management services provider
100%

Ashfield Healthcare Communications Group, LLC (17) Healthcare communications and consultancy services provider 100%
Ashfield Meetings & Events Inc. (13) Event management services provider 100%
Ashfield Pharmacovigilance, Inc. (15) Safety and risk management services provider 100%
Informed Direct, Inc. (16) Healthcare communications and consultancy services provider 100%
Sharp Clinical Services, Inc. (18) Contract packaging company 100%
Sharp Corporation (19) Contract packaging company 100%
Synopia Rx, Inc. (20) Market access services provider 100%
Watermeadow Consulting, Inc. (17) Health communications and consultancy services provider 100%

(13) This company has its registered office at 1 Ivybrook Boulevard, Suite 100, Ivyland, Pennsylvania.
(14) This company has its registered office at 263 Labrosse Avenue, Pointe-Claire, Quebec, H9R 1A3.
(15) This company has its registered office at 5003 South Miami Blvd, Suite 500, Durham, North Carolina 27703.
(16) This company has its registered office at 7 Island Dock Road, Suite A, Haddam, Connecticut 06438.
(17) This company has its registered office at 125 Chubb Avenue, Lyndhurst, New Jersey, 07071.
(18) This company has its registered office at Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801.
(19) This company has its registered office at 7541 Keebler Way, Allentown, Pennsylvania 18106.
(20) This company has its registered office at 270 Cornerstone Drive, Suite 103, Cary, North Carolina 27519.

* Subsidiary undertakings owned directly by UDG Healthcare plc.
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51. AUDITOR REMUNERATION
The auditor’s remuneration for the audit of the Company is detailed in note 5.

52. SECTION 357 GUARANTEES
Pursuant to the provisions of Section 357, Companies Act 2014, the Company has guaranteed the liabilities of the following subsidiaries for  
the financial year ended 30 September 2016; Aquilant Analytical Sciences Limited, Aquilant Limited, Aquilant Medical (ROI) Limited, Aquilant 
Pharmaceuticals Limited, Aquilant Scientific (ROI) Limited, Ashfield Alliance Limited, Ashfield Healthcare (Ireland) Limited, Dublin Drug 
(Investments) Limited, Dublin Drug Company Limited, Dublin Drug Public Limited Company, Dugdale Trading Limited, Marker (U.D.) Ireland 
Limited, Pharmexx Ireland (Sales Solutions) Limited, UDG Healthcare Ireland Limited, United Care Limited, UDG Healthcare (US) Holdings 
Limited, UDG Healthcare Ayrtons (Dublin) Limited, UDG Healthcare Distributors Limited, UDG Healthcare Finance Limited, UDG Healthcare 
Nordic Limited, UDG Healthcare Packaging Group Limited and UDG Healthcare Property Holdings Limited. 

53. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Group and Company Financial Statements were approved by the directors on 6 December 2016.
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UDG Healthcare plc is an Irish registered company. The Company’s ordinary shares are quoted on the London Stock Exchange.

Ex-dividend date for 2016 final dividend 19 January 2017

Record date for 2016 final dividend 20 January 2017

Annual General Meeting 7 February 2017

Payment date for 2016 final dividend 13 February 2017

Interim Results Announcement for 2017 23 May 2017

Financial year end 30 September 2017

Preliminary Announcement of Results for 2017 28 November 2017
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Contacts for Shareholders

SECRETARY AND REGISTERED OFFICE
Damien Moynagh
UDG Healthcare plc, 20 Riverwalk, Citywest Business Campus, Citywest, Dublin 24, Ireland.
Tel: +353 1 468 9000
Website: www.udghealthcare.com

REGISTERED NUMBER
12244

REGISTRAR
Enquiries concerning shareholdings should be addressed to:
Computershare Investor Services (Ireland) Limited, Heron House, Corrig Road, Sandyford Industrial Estate, Dublin 18, Ireland.
Tel: +353 1 447 5100
Fax: +353 1 447 5571
Email: webqueries@computershare.co.uk

STOCKBROKERS
Davy, Davy House, 49 Dawson Street, Dublin 2, Ireland.
Goodbody Stockbrokers, Ballsbridge Park, Ballsbridge, Dublin 4, Ireland.
Jefferies Hoare Govett, a division of Jefferies International Limited, Vintners Place, 68 Upper Thames Street, London, EC4V 3BJ, UK.

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Ulster Bank, Ulster Bank Group Centre, George’s Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland.

SOLICITORS
A&L Goodbody, International Financial Services Centre, North Wall Quay, Dublin 1, Ireland.
Pinsent Masons LLP, 3 Hardman Street, Manchester, M3 3AU.

AUDITOR
KPMG, Chartered Accountants, 1 Stokes Place, St. Stephen’s Green, Dublin 2, Ireland.

WEBSITE
Further information on UDG Healthcare is available on the Group’s website: www.udghealthcare.com.
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The Group reports certain financial measures that are not required under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which represent 
the generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) under which the Group reports. The Group believes that the presentation of these 
non-GAAP measures provides useful supplemental information which, when viewed in conjunction with IFRS financial information, provides 
investors with a more meaningful understanding of the underlying financial and operating performance of the Group and its divisions. These 
measures are also used internally to evaluate the historical and planned future performance of the Group’s operations and to measure executive 
management’s performance based remuneration.

None of the non-GAAP measures should be considered as an alternative to financial measures derived in accordance with GAAP. The non-GAAP
measures can have limitations as analytical tools and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for an analysis of the results as
reported under GAAP.

The principal non-GAAP measures used by the Group, together with reconciliations where the non-GAAP measures are not readily identifiable
from the financial statements, are as follows:

NET REVENUE (CONTINUING)
Definition
This comprises of gross revenue as reported in the Group Income Statement, adjusted for revenue associated with pass-through costs for which 
the Group does not earn a margin.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Revenue (continuing) Income Statement 943,080 919,274
Pass through revenue (114,969) (125,910)

Net revenue (continuing) 828,111 792,364

ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT (CONTINUING)
Definition
This comprises of operating profit as reported in the Group Income Statement before amortisation of acquired intangible assets, transaction 
costs and exceptional items.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Operating profit (continuing) Income Statement 87,838 66,683
Transaction costs (continuing) Income Statement 1,993 1,225
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (continuing) Note 4 14,382 15,131
Exceptional items (continuing) Income Statement – 13,294

Adjusted operating profit (continuing) 104,213 96,333

ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT (DISCONTINUED)
Definition
This comprises of operating profit as reported in results from discontinued operations before amortisation of acquired intangible assets, 
transaction costs and exceptional items.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Operating profit (discontinued) Note 9 17,624 19,625
Transaction costs (discontinued) Note 9 – 3,817
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (discontinued) Note 4 – 477

Adjusted operating profit (discontinued) 17,624 23,919

Additional Information
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ADJUSTED PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUING)
Definition
This comprises profit before tax as reported in the Group Income Statement before amortisation of acquired intangible assets, transaction costs 
and exceptional items.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Profit before tax (continuing) Income Statement 75,202 53,624
Transaction costs (continuing) Income Statement 1,993 1,225
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets (continuing) Note 4 14,382 15,131
Exceptional items (continuing) Income Statement – 13,294

Adjusted profit before tax (continuing) 91,577 83,274

ADJUSTED PROFIT BEFORE TAX (DISCONTINUED)
Definition
This comprises profit after tax as reported in the Group Income Statement before amortisation of acquired intangible assets, transaction costs 
and exceptional items.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Profit after tax (discontinued) Income Statement 131,958 15,278
Profit on disposal of discontinued operations Note 9 (132,093) –
Impairment of assets held for sale Note 9 16,961 –
Transaction costs (discontinued) Note 9 – 3,817
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (discontinued) Note 4 – 477
Exceptional items (discontinued) Note 9 – 1,335
Tax on discontinued operations Note 9 747 2,896

Adjusted profit before tax (discontinued) 17,573 23,803

ADJUSTED OPERATING MARGIN (CONTINUING)
Definition
Measures the adjusted operating profit as a percentage of revenue.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Adjusted operating profit (continuing) Per above 104,213 96,333
Revenue (continuing) Income Statement 943,080 919,274

Adjusted operating margin (continuing) 11.1% 10.5%

NET OPERATING MARGIN (CONTINUING)
Definition
Measures the adjusted operating profit as a percentage of net revenue.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Adjusted operating profit (continuing) Per above 104,213 96,333
Net revenue (continuing) Per above 828,111 792,364

Net operating margin (continuing) 12.6% 12.2%

ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Definition
The Group defines adjusted earnings per share as basic earnings per share adjusted for the impact of amortisation of acquired intangible assets, 
transaction costs and exceptional items.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Adjusted earnings per share (continuing) Note 11 28.61 26.49
Adjusted earnings per share (discontinued) Note 11 6.80 8.41

Adjusted earnings per share 35.41 34.90
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NET INTEREST 
Definition
The Group defines net interest as the net total of finance costs and finance income as presented in the Group Income Statement.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Finance costs Income Statement (17,417) (42,569)
Finance income Income Statement 4,781 29,510

Net interest (continuing) (12,636) (13,059)
Net interest (discontinued) Note 9 (51) (116)

Net interest (12,687) (13,175)

ADJUSTED NET INTEREST
Definition
The Group defines adjusted net interest as net interest adjusted for the impact of the unwind of discount on provisions and the net finance cost 
on pension scheme obligations.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Net interest Per above 12,687 13,175
Unwind of discount on provision Note 6 (1,042) (823)
Net finance cost on pension scheme (continuing) Note 6 (11) (73)
Net finance cost on pension scheme (discontinued) (58) (125)

Adjusted net interest 11,576 12,154

EBITDA (CONTINUING)
Definition
EBITDA represents the continuing earnings before net interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation of intangible assets, exceptional items and 
transaction costs.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Adjusted operating profit Per above 104,213 96,333
Depreciation Note 4 18,032 16,637
Amortisation of computer software Note 4 2,013 1,877

EBITDA (continuing) 124,258 114,847

EBITDA (DISCONTINUED)
Definition
EBITDA represents the discontinued earnings before net interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation of intangible assets, exceptional items and 
transaction costs.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Adjusted operating profit (discontinued) Per above 17,624 23,919
Depreciation Note 4 – 7,285
Amortisation of computer software Note 4 – 1,324

EBITDA (discontinued) 17,624 32,528

Additional Information continued
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ANNUALISED EBITDA
Definition
Annualised EBITDA is continuing and discontinued EBITDA adjusted for the share of joint venture profits, transaction costs, profit/(loss)  
on disposal of fixed assets, the annualisation of the EBITDA of companies acquired during the year and the EBITDA of completed disposals.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

EBITDA (continuing) Per above 124,258 114,847
EBITDA (discontinued) Per above 17,624 32,528
Transaction costs (continuing) Income Statement (1,993) (1,225)
Transaction costs (discontinued) Note 9 – (3,817)
JV profit share (continuing) Income Statement (718) (292)
JV profit share (discontinued) Note 9 (1,493) (2,190)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets Cash Flow Statement 53 57
EBITDA of completed disposals (16,131) (1,600)
Annualised EBITDA of acquisitions 1,562 –

Annualised EBITDA 123,162 138,308

INTEREST COVER
Definition
The interest cover ratio measures the Group’s ability to pay interest charges on debt from cash flow.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Annualised EBITDA Per above 123,162 138,308
Adjusted net interest Per above 11,576 12,154

EBITDA interest cover (times) 10.6 11.4

NET CASH/(DEBT)
Definition
Net cash/(debt) represents the net total of current and non-current borrowings, current and non-current derivative financial instruments and 
cash and cash equivalents as presented in the Group Balance Sheet.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Non-current assets
Derivative financial instruments Balance Sheet 11,814 22,048
Current assets 
Derivative financial instruments Balance Sheet 7,382 4,750
Cash and cash equivalents Balance Sheet 384,131 214,078
Current liabilities
Interest bearing loans and borrowings Balance Sheet (58,133) (20,811)
Non-current liabilities 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings Balance Sheet (216,923) (415,840)

Net cash/(debt) 128,271 (195,775)

NET CASH/(DEBT) TO EBITDA
Definition
Net debt to EBITDA ratio measures the Group’s ability to pay its debt.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Annualised EBITDA 123,162 138,308
Net cash/(debt) 128,271 (195,775)

Net cash/(debt) to EBITDA (times) 1.04 (1.42)
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RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (ROCE)   
Definition
ROCE is the continuing adjusted operating profit expressed as a percentage of the Groups net assets employed. Net assets employed is the 
average of the opening and closing net assets in the period excluding net cash/(debt) adjusted for the historical amortisation of acquired 
intangible assets and historical restructuring charges.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Net assets Balance Sheet 722,953 608,744
Less discontinued net assets Balance Sheet – (193,487)
Less investment in Magir Limited joint venture – (16,391)
Net (cash)/debt Per above (128,271) 195,775

Assets before net (cash)/debt 594,682 594,641
Historical intangible amortisation 131,231 116,848
Historical restructuring costs 40,650 40,650

Total capital employed 766,563 752,139

Average total capital employed 759,351 713,395
Adjusted operating profit (continuing) Per above 104,213 96,333

Return on capital employed 13.7% 13.5%

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE (CONTINUING)     
Definition
The Group continuing effective tax rate expresses the income tax expense adjusted for the impact of exceptional items, transaction costs and the 
amortisation of acquired intangible assets as a percentage of adjusted profit before tax for continuing operations. 

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Adjusted profit before tax (continuing) Per above 91,577 83,274

Tax charge (continuing) Income Statement 13,888 16,125
Tax relief with respect to transaction costs (continuing) 82 109
Deferred tax credit with respect to intangible  

amortisation (continuing) 6,809 2,023

Income tax expense before exceptional, transaction  
costs and deferred tax attaching to amortisation  
of intangible assets 20,779 18,257

Effective tax rate (continuing) 22.7% 21.9%

WORKING CAPITAL (CONTINUING) 
Definition
Working capital represents the net total of inventories, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables as presented in the Group 
Balance Sheet.

Calculation
2016 

€’000
2015 

€’000

Inventories Balance Sheet 49,226 55,017
Trade and other receivables Balance Sheet 209,472 205,248
Trade and other payables Balance Sheet (183,190) (191,758)

Working capital (continuing) 75,508 68,507

Additional Information continued
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AGM Annual General Meeting

BCG Boston Consulting Group

CDP Carbon Disclosure Project

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CGU Cash Generating Unit

CHF Swiss Franc 

CMIC Current Medical Information Centre

CO2 Carbon Dioxide

CODM Chief Operating Decision Maker

The Code UK Corporate Governance Code 2014 issued  
by the UK Financial Reporting Council

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility

EBIT Earnings Before Interest and Tax

EBITA Earnings Before Interest, Taxes and Amortisation

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and 
Amortisation 

EC European Commission

EED Energy Efficiency Directive

EGM Extraordinary General Meeting

EHS Environmental Health and Safety

EPS Earnings per Share

ERP Enterprise Resource Planning

ESOP Executive Share Option Plan

ESOS Executive Share Option Scheme

EU European Union

FDA Food and Drug Administration

FTSE 250 Index Capitalisation – weighted index consisting  
of the 101st to the 350th largest companies  
on the London Stock Exchange

FY14 Financial Year 2014

FY15 Financial Year 2015

FY16 Financial Year 2016

FY17 Financial Year 2017

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

HCP Health Care Professional

HIPAA Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act

H&S Health and Safety

IAS International Accounting Standard 

IASB International Accounting Standards Board

IFRIC International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

Inc. Incorporated

IRT Interactive Response Technology

ISAs International Standards on Auditing

ISEQ Irish Stock Exchange Quotient

IT Information Technology

KPI Key Performance Indicator

LLP Limited Liability Partnership

LTIP Long Term Incentive Plan

MAH Marketing Authorisation Holder

NETS Network of Employers for Traffic Safety

N/A Not Available

NI Northern Ireland

OEB Occupational Exposure Band system

PA Pennsylvania

PAYE Pay As You Earn

PBCIT Profit Before Central costs, Interest and Tax

PBIT Profit Before Interest and Tax

PBT Profit Before Tax

PLC Public Limited Company

PPE Personal Protective Equipment 

PSQRA Product Safety and Quality Risk Assessment

ROCE Return on Capital Employed

ROI Republic of Ireland

SID Senior Independent non-executive Director

TCP Temperature Controlled Pharmaceuticals

TIS Together for Sustainability

TSR Total Shareholder Return

UK United Kingdom

US United States

USD United States Dollar

VAT Value Added Tax

VSI Vascular Solutions Inc

Glossary
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Citywest Business Campus
Citywest
Dublin 24
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T: +353 1 468 9000 
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